Loss of life estimation in flood risk assessment Theory and applications

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Delft, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof. dr. ir. J.T. Fokkema, voorzitter van het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen op maandag 18 juni 2007 om 15.00 uur

door

Sebastiaan Nicolaas JONKMAN civiel ingenieur geboren te 's-Gravenhage

Dit proefschrift is goedgekeurd door de promotoren: Prof. drs. ir. J.K. Vrijling Prof. ir. A.C.W.M. Vrouwenvelder

Samenstelling promotiecommissie:	
Rector Magnificus,	Voorzitter
Prof. drs. ir. J.K. Vrijling	Technische Universiteit Delft, promotor
Prof. ir. A.C.W.M. Vrouwenvelder	Technische Universiteit Delft, promotor
Dr. ir. M. Kok	Technische Universiteit Delft en HKV Lijn in Water
Prof. dr. B.J.M. Ale	Technische Universiteit Delft
Prof. M.L. Levitan	Louisiana State University, Hurricane Center
Prof. M.H. Faber	Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich
Prof. E. Penning-Rowsell	Middlesex University, Flood Hazard Research Centre
Prof. dr. ir. M.J.F. Stive	Technische Universiteit Delft, reservelid

Dr. ir. P.H.A.J.M. van Gelder heeft als begeleider in belangrijke mate aan de totstandkoming van het proefschrift bijgedragen.



Dit onderzoek is mogelijk gemaakt door Rijkswaterstaat, Dienst Weg- en Waterbouwkunde te Delft.

📂 Delft Cluster

Het onderzoek is uitgevoerd in het kader van het onderzoeksprogramma Delft Cluster.

Ontwerp en vormgeving omslag: Henk de Roij. Illustratie op de omslag: Een fotoboek op straat nabij de bres in de dijken langs het 17th Street Canal, New Orleans, februari 2006.

Opmaak en druk: Sieca Repro, Delft

ISBN 978-90-9021950-9

Copyright © S.N. Jonkman, 2007

Niets uit deze uitgave mag worden verveelvoudigd, opgeslagen in een geautomatiseerd gegevensbestand of openbaar gemaakt worden in enige vorm of op enige wijze, hetzij elektronisch, mechanisch of door fotokopieën, opname, of op enige andere manier, zonder voorafgaande schriftelijke toestemming van de auteur.

Table of contents

Su	mmary	1
Sa	menvatting	5
1	Introduction 1.1 Historical development of risk management 1.2 Risk: definition, perception and uncertainty 1.3 Risk assessment and management 1.4 Overview of this thesis	9 9 13 20 27
Pa	rt one: A general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification	
2	A general approach for loss of life estimation 2.1 A general approach for loss of life estimation. 2.2 Evacuation, escape, shelter and rescue 2.3 Estimation of mortality. 2.4 Combination of evacuation and mortality analysis. 2.5 Relationship between the number of fatalities and other consequence types. 2.6 Economic valuation of loss of life. 2.7 Concluding remarks.	35
3	A general approach for the quantification of individual and societal risk 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Definitions of individual and societal risk 3.3 General formulations for the quantification of individual and societal risk 3.4 The relationship between individual and societal risk 3.5 Extension of the general formulations for risk quantification 3.6 Examples 3.7 Concluding remarks	75 76 76 85 92 97 111
4	Uncertainties in loss of life estimates 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Deterministic application of the dose response function	113 113 115 128 132 132 137 139
Pa	rt two: Loss of life estimation and flood risk assessment	
5	Loss of human life in floods: Overview and analysis of the available information 5.1 General introduction: floods and flood damage 5.2 Global perspectives of loss of life caused by floods 5.3 Loss of life in historical floods in the Netherlands 5.4 Historical flood events and the determinants of loss of life 5.5 Causes and circumstances of individual flood disaster deaths 5.6 Evaluation of the available information	143 143 146 153 155 163 166

6	A review of models for the estimation of loss of human life caused by floods	169	
	6.1 Models developed in the Netherlands	169	
	6.2 International models	171	
	6.3 Human instability in flowing water	175	
	6.4 Evaluation of models for loss of life estimation	182	
7	A method for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods	187	
	7.1 Introduction and approach	187	
	7.2 Simulation of flood characteristics	189	
	7.3 Analysis of evacuation and the number of people exposed	191	
	7.4 Estimation of the mortality amongst the exposed population	197	
	7.5 Discussion of the proposed method for loss of life estimation	217	
8	Case study: Preliminary analysis of loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orl	leans after	
	hurricane Katrina	223	
	8.1 Introduction	223	
	8.2 General information regarding hurricane Katrina	224	
	8.3 Simulation of flood characteristics	228	
	8.4 Data regarding Katrina related fatalities	233	
	8.5 Causes and circumstances of Katrina related fatalities	235	
	8.6 Prediction and hindcast of the number of fatalities	239	
	8.7 Analysis of the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality for New O	Orleans240	
	8.8 Closing discussion	251	
9	Case study: Flood risk assessment for dike ring South Holland	257	
	9.1 Introduction		
	9.2 Method for flood risk analysis		
	9.3 Results of risk quantification		
	9.4 Comparison of the societal risk for flooding with other sectors		
	9.5 Evaluation of the flood risk		
	9.6 Concluding remarks		
10	Conclusions and recommendations	283	
	10.1 Conclusions		
	10.2 Recommendations		
Re	ferences	291	
Ap	pendices	307	
Li	st of symbols	347	
Cu	urriculum Vitae	351	
Nawoord			

Summary

Loss of life estimation in flood risk assessment – Theory and applications

Quantitative risk analysis is generally used to quantify the risks associated with accidents in a technical system. The resulting risk estimates, expressing the combination of probabilities and consequences of a set of possible accidents, provide the input for risk evaluation and decision-making. One of the most important types of consequences of accidents concerns the loss of human life. In general, there is limited insight in the magnitude of loss of life caused by accidents, and no general methodology that can be used to estimate loss of life for different event types is available. In particular in the field of flood risk assessment, limited insight exists in the number of fatalities that can result from the flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences. In the first part of this thesis a general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification is proposed. The second part focuses on the estimation of loss of life caused by floods.

Part one: A general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification

A general method has been proposed for the estimation of loss of life. It is generally applicable to 'small probability – large consequence' accidents within the engineering domain, such as floods, earthquakes and chemical accidents. An estimate of the loss of life caused by an event can be obtained based on three elements: 1) the intensity of physical effects (e.g. toxic gasses or water) and the extent of the exposed area; 2) the number of people exposed (sometimes reduced by evacuation, shelter and rescue) and 3) the mortality amongst the people exposed. Mortality (i.e. the number of fatalities divided by the number of people exposed) is usually determined with a so-called dose response function or mortality function. This gives the relationship between the intensity of physical effects and the mortality in the exposed population.

General analytical formulations have been developed for the quantification of individual risk¹ and societal risk² based on reliability theory. The formulations give insight in the properties of the FN curve, the individual risk contours and their mutual relationship. These insights can be used to verify the consistency of individual and societal risk calculations obtained from numerical models. The foundation of consequence and risk quantification has been improved with the developed general approach. It enhances the possibilities to assess the risks and the effects of risk reducing measures for various fields of application.

In section four of this thesis the effects of uncertainties in loss of life estimates on the outcomes of risk quantification have been investigated. It has been shown how uncertainties affect the distribution of the number of fatalities given an accident. Two types of uncertainty influence this distribution. Firstly, uncertainty arises in the consequences of the exposure of a group of people to physical effects due to the variation in individual responses

¹ Individual risk: The probability (per year) of being killed at a certain location assuming permanent presence of the population.

² Societal risk: The probability of exceedance (per year) of an accident with a certain number of fatalities. Societal risk is often shown by means of an FN curve. It displays the probability per year of accidents with N or more fatalities.

to exposure. The resulting probability distribution of the number of fatalities is determined by dependencies between individual failures. Secondly, model uncertainty can exist in the dose response function. These uncertainties do not have an effect on the expected number of fatalities, but they affect the value of the standard deviation of the number of fatalities. Thereby the uncertainties can affect compliance to risk averse risk limits, for example the limit line for risk acceptance with a quadratic steepness in the FN curve.

Part two: Loss of life estimation and flood risk assessment

The scarcely available information regarding loss of life in historical floods has been evaluated. Analysis of global data on natural disasters shows that the impacts of floods on a global scale are enormous. Coastal and river floods that affect low-lying areas protected by flood defences can cause many fatalities. Especially in the Netherlands, where large parts of the country are below sea level or the high water levels in the rivers, floods can have disastrous consequences. Based on available event statistics it has been shown that a first order estimate of loss of life due to coastal flood events can be obtained by assuming that 1% of the exposed population will not survive the event. This rule of thumb gives a good approximation of the overall number of fatalities for some historical events, e.g. the floods in the Netherlands in 1953 and the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in 2005.

By analysing historical flood events, the insight in the factors that influence the loss of life caused by floods of low-lying areas protected by flood defences has been improved. The number of fatalities caused by a flood event is determined by the characteristics of the flood (water, depth, velocity, rise rate), the possibilities for warning, evacuation and shelter, and the loss of shelter due to the collapse of buildings. Mortality rates are the highest near breaches and in areas with a large water depth, a high rise rate and a large number of buildings collapsed.

The existing models for loss of life estimation used in different regions and for different types of floods (e.g. for dam breaks, coastal floods, tsunamis) have been reviewed. This showed that the existing models do not take into account all of the most relevant factors (see above) and that they are often to a limited extent based on empirical data of historical flood events.

In section 7 of this thesis, a new method has been proposed for the estimation of loss of life caused by the flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences. An estimate of the loss of life due to a flood event can be given based on: 1) information regarding the flood characteristics; 2) an analysis of the exposed population and evacuation and 3) an estimate of the mortality amongst the exposed population. By analysing empirical information from historical floods, such as the floods in the Netherlands in 1953, mortality functions have been developed. These relate the mortality amongst the exposed population to the flood characteristics for different zones in the flooded area. Comparison of the outcomes of the proposed method with information from historical flood events shows that it gives an accurate approximation of the number of observed fatalities during these events. The outcomes of the proposed method are sensitive to the chosen flood scenario (especially to the number of breaches and the size of the flooded area) and the rise rate of the floodwater.

Consequently a preliminary analysis of the loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in the year 2005 has been presented. The hurricane caused more than 1100 fatalities in the state of Louisiana in the United States. The majority of these fatalities was elderly. A preliminary dataset that gives information on the recovery locations for 771 fatalities has been analysed. One third of the analysed fatalities occurred outside the flooded areas or in hospitals and shelters in the flooded area. These fatalities were due to the adverse public health situation that developed after the floods. Two thirds of the analysed fatalities were most likely associated with the direct physical impacts of the flood and mostly caused by drowning. Similar to historical flood events, the mortality rates were the highest in areas near severe breaches and in areas with large water depths. The total number of fatalities that is predicted for the New Orleans flood with the method proposed in section 7 of this thesis is within a factor 2 with the (preliminary) number of observed recoveries in the flooded area. Based on the available data for New Orleans, a relationship has been derived between the water depth and mortality. One difference with earlier findings is that the data for New Orleans do not show an influence of the rise rate on mortality. The available data for New Orleans do not support the claim that mortality during a contemporary flood event is lower than during historical events. The overall mortality amongst the exposed population for this event was approximately 1%, which is similar to the mortality for historical flood events. The presented results and analyses for New Orleans are preliminary: the analysed mortality dataset is incomplete and several assumptions have been made in the analysis of mortality. Despite these limitations, the reported results confirm earlier findings regarding the main determinants of loss of life and they give important insights in the relationship between mortality and flood characteristics.

The risks due to flooding of the dike ring area 'South Holland' in the Netherlands have been analysed in a case study. The method developed in section 7 of this thesis has been used to estimate the loss of life for different flood scenarios. Results indicate that a flood event in this area can expose large and densely populated areas and result in hundreds or even thousands of fatalities. Evacuation of South Holland before a coastal flood will be difficult due to the large amount of time required for evacuation and the limited time available. By combination with available information regarding the probability of occurrence of different flood scenarios, the flood risks have been quantified. The probability of death for a person in South Holland due to flooding, the so-called individual risk, is small. The probability of a flood disaster with many fatalities, the so-called societal risk, is relatively large. The societal risk of flooding for South Holland is high in comparison with the societal risks for other sectors in the Netherlands, such as the chemical sector and aviation. The societal risk of flooding appears to be unacceptable according to some of the existing risk limits that have been proposed in literature. These results indicate the necessity of a further societal discussion on the acceptable level of flood risk in the Netherlands. The decision has to be made whether the current risks are acceptable or whether additional risk reducing measures are necessary. The methods and results presented in this thesis provide the input information to make these decisions.

S.N. Jonkman, April 2007

Samenvatting

Inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers en de analyse van overstromingsrisico's – Theorie en toepassingen

Een kwantitatieve risico analyse wordt vaak gebruikt om de risico's van technische systemen te bepalen. Door middel van risico schattingen worden de kansen en gevolgen van mogelijke ongevallen gekwantificeerd. Deze informatie vormt de basis voor de evaluatie van het risico en de besluitvorming over de aanvaardbaarheid van het risico. Eén van de belangrijkste gevolgen van ongevallen betreft het verlies van mensenlevens. Over het algemeen is er weinig inzicht in het aantal slachtoffers dat door ongevallen veroorzaakt kan worden. Er is dan ook geen algemene methodologie beschikbaar om een schatting te maken van het aantal slachtoffers bij verschillende ongevalstypen. In het bijzonder voor grootschalige overstromingen van laaggelegen gebieden is er weinig inzicht in het aantal slachtoffers dat door een dergelijke ramp kan worden veroorzaakt. In het eerste deel van dit proefschrift is een algemene methode uitgewerkt waarmee het aantal slachtoffers bij ongevallen en de daarmee samenhangende risico's kunnen worden bepaald. Het tweede deel richt zich op de analyse van slachtoffers ten gevolge van grootschalige overstromingen.

Deel 1: Een algemene methode voor de inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers en de kwantificering van risico's

Allereerst is een voorstel gedaan voor een algemene methode voor de inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers ten gevolge van ongevallen. De methode is ontwikkeld voor zogenaamde 'kleine kans – groot gevolg' ongevallen in het technische domein en is toepasbaar voor bijvoorbeeld overstromingen, aardbevingen en chemische ongevallen. Een schatting van het aantal slachtoffers kan worden verkregen op basis van drie elementen: 1) de intensiteit van fysische effecten (bv. water of toxische stoffen) en de omvang van het getroffen gebied; 2) het aantal getroffen personen (dit kan mogelijk gereduceerd worden door evacuatie, opvang van mensen in het getroffen gebied en reddingsacties) en 3) De sterfte in de getroffen bevolking. De sterfte (het aantal slachtoffers gedeeld door het aantal blootgestelde personen) wordt over het algemeen bepaald met een zogenaamde dosis-respons functie, die ook wel slachtofferfunctie wordt genoemd. Een dergelijke functie geeft het verband tussen de intensiteit van fysische effecten en de sterfte onder de getroffen bevolking.

In hoofdstuk 3 zijn algemene analytische vergelijkingen ontwikkeld voor de kwantificering van het individueel risico¹ en maatschappelijk risico². Deze formuleringen geven inzicht in eigenschappen van de groepsrisico- (of FN-) curve en de individuele risicocontouren en hun onderlinge relatie. Door middel van de voorgestelde methode is de basis voor gevolg en risico schattingen verbeterd. Dit biedt mogelijkheden voor een betere analyse van risico's en risico reducerende maatregelen voor verschillende toepassingsgebieden.

¹ Het individueel risico geeft de kans per jaar dat een persoon die zich permanent op een bepaalde plaats bevindt, dodelijk wordt getroffen door een ongeval.

² Het maatschappelijk risico betreft de overschrijdingskans per jaar van een ongeval met een zeker aantal slachtoffers. Het maatschappelijk risico wordt vaak uitgedrukt met een zogenaamde groepsrisico- of FN-curve. Deze toont de kans per jaar op ongevallen met N of meer slachtoffers.

In hoofdstuk 4 zijn de effecten van de onzekerheid in slachtofferschattingen op de uitkomsten van risico kwantificering onderzocht. Er is aangetoond hoe onzekerheden de kansverdeling van het aantal slachtoffers gegeven een ongeval beïnvloeden. Twee typen onzekerheid hebben invloed op deze verdeling. Ten eerste is er onzekerheid in de gevolgen van blootstelling van een groep mensen aan fysische effecten door variatie in de individuele responsen. De resulterende kansverdeling van het aantal slachtoffers wordt bepaald door afhankelijkheden tussen individuele sterfgevallen. Ten tweede kan er sprake zijn van modelonzekerheid in de dosis-respons functie. Beide typen onzekerheden hebben geen invloed op de verwachtingswaarde van het aantal slachtoffers gegeven een ongeval, maar wel op de standaard deviatie van het aantal slachtoffers. Daarom kunnen deze onzekerheden invloed hebben op het voldoen van een situatie aan risico averse risiconormen, zoals de normlijn voor risico acceptatie in FN-curve met een kwadratische steilheid.

Deel 2: Inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers en de analyse van overstromingsrisico's

In het tweede deel van dit proefschrift is de beschikbare informatie met betrekking tot slachtoffers bij overstromingen onderzocht. Analyse van wereldwijde gegevens van natuurrampen laat zien dat de gevolgen van overstromingen op wereldwijde schaal enorm zijn. Vooral grootschalige overstromingen van laaggelegen gebieden die beschermd zijn door waterkeringen veroorzaken veel slachtoffers. Met name in Nederland, waar grote delen van het land onder de zeespiegel of de hoogwaterstanden in de rivieren liggen, kunnen grootschalige overstromingen vanuit deze wateren tot catastrofale gevolgen leiden. Op basis van de beschikbare gegevens is geconcludeerd dat een eerste orde schatting van de sterfte door grootschalige overstromingen vanuit de kust te geven is door aan te nemen dat 1% van de getroffen bevolking om het leven zal komen. Deze vuistregel geeft een goede benadering van het totaal aantal slachtoffers voor enkele historische rampen, zoals de Watersnoodramp in 1953 en de overstroming van New Orleans door orkaan Katrina in het jaar 2005.

Door middel van een analyse van beschikbare gegevens van historische overstromingen is het inzicht in de factoren die het aantal slachtoffers beïnvloeden verbeterd. Het aantal slachtoffers hangt met name af van de kenmerken van de overstroming (diepte, stroomsnelheid, stijgsnelheid), de mogelijkheden voor waarschuwing en evacuatie van de bevolking, de beschikbaarheid van vluchtplaatsen en het instorten van gebouwen. Bij historische overstromingen was de sterfte met name hoog nabij bressen in de waterkering en in gebieden met een grote waterdiepte, een hoge stijgsnelheid en een groot aantal ingestorte gebouwen.

Er is een overzicht gegeven van bestaande slachtoffermodellen die in verschillende landen en voor verschillende typen overstromingen (bv. voor stuwdam breuken, overstromingen vanuit zee, tsunamis) worden gebruikt. In de bestaande modellen zijn niet alle relevante factoren meegenomen. Daarnaast zijn de bestaande modellen over het algemeen slechts in beperkte mate gebaseerd op empirische gegevens van historische overstromingen.

In hoofdstuk 7 van dit proefschrift is een nieuwe methode voorgesteld voor de inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers ten gevolge van overstromingen van laaggelegen gebieden die worden beschermd door waterkeringen. Een inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers kan worden gegeven op basis van: 1) informatie met betrekking tot de kenmerken van de overstroming; 2) een analyse van evacuatie en de omvang van de door de overstroming getroffen bevolking; 3) de bepaling van de sterfte onder de getroffen bevolking. Op basis van empirische gegevens van historische overstromingen, zoals de Watersnoodramp in 1953, zijn zogenaamde slachtofferfuncties ontwikkeld. Hiermee is de sterfte te relateren aan de kenmerken van de overstroming voor verschillende zones in het overstroomde gebied. Vergelijking van de resultaten van de methode met gegevens van historische overstromingen laat zien dat de voorgestelde methode een goede benadering geeft van het aantal geobserveerde slachtoffers bij deze overstromingen. De uitkomsten van de methode zijn gevoelig voor het gekozen overstromingsscenario (vooral het aantal bressen en de omvang van het overstroomde gebied) en de stijgsnelheid van het water.

Vervolgens is een eerste analyse van het aantal slachtoffers door de overstroming van New Orleans door de orkaan Katrina in 2005 uitgevoerd. Deze orkaan veroorzaakte meer dan 1100 doden in de staat Louisiana in de Verenigde Staten. Het merendeel van deze slachtoffers waren ouderen. Een voorlopige dataset die informatie geeft over de bergingslocaties van 771 slachtoffers is geanalyseerd. Eén derde deel van de geanalyseerde groep slachtoffers werd geborgen buiten het overstroomde gebied of in ziekenhuizen en opvangplaatsen (shelters) in het overstroomde gebied. Deze slachtoffers zijn gevallen door de verslechterende omstandigheden en het gebrek aan gezondheidszorg vlak na de overstromingen. Twee derde van de geanalyseerde groep slachtoffers is direct gerelateerd aan de effecten van de overstroming. Het merendeel van deze slachtoffers is verdronken. Net als bij historische overstromingen was het sterftepercentage in New Orleans het grootst nabij bressen en in gebieden met grote waterdieptes. Het aantal slachtoffers is achteraf voorspeld met de methode die is voorgesteld in hoofdstuk 7 van dit proefschrift. Het voorspelde aantal slachtoffers wijkt minder dan een factor twee af ten opzichte van het voorlopig aantal geborgen slachtoffers. Daarnaast is op basis van de beschikbare gegevens voor New Orleans een relatie afgeleid tussen de waterdiepte en de sterfte in het overstroomde gebied. Een verschil met de eerdere analyse is dat er voor New Orleans geen invloed van de stijgsnelheid op de sterfte is gevonden. Uit de beschikbare gegevens voor New Orleans blijkt niet dat de sterfte bij een overstroming in de huidige tijd kleiner is dan bij overstromingen in het verleden. Bij de overstroming van New Orleans kwam ongeveer 1% van de getroffen personen om het leven. Deze waarde ligt in dezelfde orde van grootte als de sterfte bij historische overstromingen. De gerapporteerde analyses van de ramp in New Orleans hebben een voorlopig karakter. De informatie met betrekking tot slachtoffers is nog incompleet en bij de analyses zijn verschillende aannames gedaan. Ondanks deze beperkingen bevestigen de resultaten de eerdere bevindingen met betrekking tot de factoren die het aantal slachtoffers beïnvloeden. Daarbij geven ze ook belangrijk inzicht in de relatie tussen overstromingskenmerken en sterfte.

Tot slot zijn de overstromingsrisico's voor dijkringgebied Zuid Holland geanalyseerd. De in hoofdstuk 7 ontwikkelde methode is gebruikt om het aantal slachtoffers voor verschillende overstromingsscenario's te bepalen. Hieruit blijkt dat een overstroming van Zuid Holland kan leiden tot honderden of zelfs duizenden slachtoffers. Een volledige evacuatie van dit gebied bij een dreigende overstroming vanuit de kust is onhaalbaar (door de lange benodigde tijd en de korte beschikbare tijd voor evacuatie). De overstromingsrisico's zijn bepaald door de gevolgschattingen te combineren met de beschikbare informatie over de kans van optreden van de verschillende overstromingsscenario's. De kans voor een persoon in Zuid Holland om door een overstroming om het leven te komen, het zogenaamde individueel risico, is klein. Echter, de kans op een overstromingsramp met veel slachtoffers, het zogenaamde groepsrisico, is relatief groot. Het groepsrisico voor overstroming van Zuid Holland is namelijk groter dan de groepsrisico's voor andere sectoren in Nederland, zoals de luchtvaart en de chemische industrie. Het groepsrisico blijkt onacceptabel volgens een bestaande norm die in de literatuur is voorgesteld. De resultaten geven aan dat een verdere maatschappelijke discussie over de aanvaardbaarheid van overstromingsrisico's in Nederland noodzakelijk is. In deze discussie moet besloten worden of de huidige risico's aanvaardbaar zijn of dat aanvullende maatregelen noodzakelijk zijn. De methoden en resultaten die zijn beschreven in dit proefschrift leveren de informatie aan om deze besluiten te nemen.

S.N. Jonkman, April 2007

1 Introduction

To indicate the general background of this thesis the historical development of risk management (section 1.1), the interpretation of risk and uncertainty (section 1.2) and the risk assessment process (section 1.3) are outlined. Section 1.4 gives a description of the objectives of this thesis.

1.1 Historical development of risk management

Human existence involves exposure to many hazards. Since the beginning of civilization natural disasters ('acts of God'), such as floods and earthquakes, have threatened humanity. With technological progress new technologies and corresponding hazards were introduced. Since the industrial revolution, technical hazards, such as industrial accidents, train derailments, tunnel fires and airplane crashes also disrupt society on a regular basis. As a background to this study a brief historical overview of mans ways of dealing with risk and safety is outlined, based on work by Bernstein (1997), Covello and Mumpower (1985) and Ale (2003, 2005).

Early history: natural disasters and belief

Our prehistoric ancestors were mainly threatened by natural hazards originating from wild fires, floods and wild animals. Long ago, people tried to protect themselves with relatively simple and mainly intuitive methods, for example by building their houses on high grounds to protect them against floods. Various forms of belief and religion played an important role in the attempts to avert harm. In the 5th century BC Chinese government officials required the yearly sacrifice of a maiden virgin to propitiate the Yellow River Gods in order to prevent flooding. The ancient Greek consulted the Pythia, the oracle of Delphi, to advise them in important and difficult decisions.

Also more rational forms of risk management can be found in the earlier history in relation to man-made hazards. The concept of liability is recognized in the building code of Hammurabi, which was issued around 1780 BC. It stated: "If a builder builds a house for a man and does not make its construction firm and the house which he has built collapses and causes the death of the owner of the house, that builder shall be put to death" (Corotis, 2003). The concept of insurance of ships and cargoes was known in Babylonian and Greek civilizations.

Development of risk management and regulation

Since ancient times, government authorities have directly intervened to reduce, mitigate or control the risks associated with natural disasters, epidemic diseases, pollution and food contamination. Early civilizations developed instruments to deal with man-made hazards, such as fires and transportation accidents. Examples are the traffic safety regulations introduced in ancient Rome, and the already mentioned building code of Hammurabi. However, the level of development of risk management techniques differed between civilizations and corresponding geographical areas. In North Western Europe man mainly adapted to natural hazards until the Middle Ages. For example, until the 13th century protection against flooding in the Netherlands was mainly example achieved by living on dwelling mounds (in Dutch: terpen) or on higher grounds. In the 13th century a more

active approach was taken in this field. The first flood defences (dikes) were constructed and the organisational structures to maintain these dikes, the so-called water boards, were introduced.

Throughout time, the introduction of new technologies and the occurrence of the accompanying disasters led to the development of protection systems and regulation in a kind of longer-term trial and error process. Ale (2003) describes two examples of such situations in the Netherlands. In 1654 an explosion of the gunpowder tower demolished a large part of the city centre of Delft, see figure 1-1. About 1500 people were killed. After this disaster, the storage of gunpowder was removed outside the city boundaries.



Figure 1-1: The explosion in Delft in 1654

In 1807 a similar explosion destroyed a part of the city centre of Leiden. The event caused 150 fatalities, including 50 children whose school was demolished by the blast. The explosion led to an imperial decree issued by emperor Napoleon, in which a distinction was made between 1) industries forbidden in the city, 2) industries allowed to be located in the city centre if proven safe enough, and 3) industries always allowed inside the city centre. Despite the introduction of these regulations in the 19th century, another explosion of a fireworks storage inside the city of Enschede caused 12 fatalities in the year 2000.

The developments in the industrial revolution in the 19th century led to new regulations. Many people moved to the city to work in the factories. They lived and worked in very unhealthy circumstances. These conditions, especially for the child labourers, eventually led to the introduction of legislation on occupational safety and the recognition of employer's responsibility. Historically, the occurrence of disasters also triggered the improvement of protection systems. For example, the flood defence system in the Netherlands has mainly been shaped by flood disasters. The 30km long closure dam in the Zuiderzee (currently IJsselmeer) was constructed after the floods in that area in 1916. The storm surge disaster of 1953 flooded large parts of the southwest of the country and caused more than 1800 fatalities. As a reaction to this disaster, the Delta works were constructed to protect this region against flooding.

The quantitative understanding of risk

The development of algebra began in ancient Egypt and Babylon around 3000 BC. It was further developed in the Indian, Greek and Islamic world. The Hindu-Arabic numbering system reached Europe seven to eight hundred years ago and laid the foundation for the development of mathematics. These mathematical methods later provided the tools for the quantitative understanding of risk. It was not until the Renaissance that scientists gained understanding of the concepts of probability and chance. Although their knowledge mainly originated from the desire to understand gambling problems, it later provided the tools for quantitative risk analyses. Preceded by investigations of mainly Italian scientists, the Frenchmen Pascal and Fermat introduced the probability theory around 1660. The late 17th and the 18th century showed a rapid development of probability theory and its applications, with contributions from, for example, Arbuthnot, Halley and Bernoulli. In the 18th century the calculation of life expectancy tables (introduced in the Netherlands by Johan de Witt) was a common practice and a flourishing marine insurance industry developed in London. Another important milestone was the work of reverend Bayes in the second half of the 18th century. He showed how to update or revise beliefs based on new information. In 1792 Laplace analysed life expectancy with and without smallpox vaccination, providing a first prototype of comparative risk analysis (Simon, 1951). However, it was not until the late 20th century that these newly developed techniques were systematically applied in safety assessment and regulation.

The 20th century

In the early 20th century the probability theory was related to physical sciences for the first time. Einstein and others discussed how the mechanical behaviour of particles, such as atoms, could be given a statistical interpretation. One example is the so-called Brownian motion of gas particles, which is described as a stochastic or random process. In that period the probability theory was developed further, for example with the probability axioms of Kolmogorov and the philosophical and mathematical underpinnings of probability theory published by the economist J.M. Keynes. Von Neumann and Morgenstern (1943) proposed the theoretical foundations for decision-making regarding situations that involve uncertainty and risk. The early 20th century was also marked by disasters associated with the failure of large engineering systems, such as the sinking of the Titanic in 1912 and the disastrous loss of the Hindenburg zeppelin in 1937.

Corotis (2003) states that the first introduction of safety through probability was made in a publication by the American National Bureau of Standards in 1945. Important theoretical developments were made in the field of structural safety in the 1940's and 1950's, for example in the papers by Freudenthal. In this field probabilistic methods have been used in design codes since the 1970's.

The principles of risk management were also applied to other areas. After the storm surge in the Netherlands in 1953 (see above), the optimal protection level that the new Delta Works should provide, was determined in an econometric analysis. The costs of investments in dike safety were weighed against the benefits associated with risk reduction (van Dantzig, 1956). This approach resulted in an optimal level of safety with a corresponding failure probability of the dikes. Probabilistic techniques were used to design the Eastern Scheldt storm surge barrier, which is a part of the Delta Works. Bedford and Cooke (2002) describe the first applications of probabilistic risk analysis in other sectors. Basic probabilistic methods were developed in the aerospace sector in the 1960's. Risk analysis was fully applied for the first time by the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC, 1975). In this well-known Reactor Safety Study nuclear accident probabilities and consequences were assessed. In both fields of application, aerospace and nuclear engineering, the outcomes of quantitative risk analyses were heavily criticized and often rejected by decision makers. However, (near-) accidents, such as the incident with the Three Mile Island nuclear reactor in 1979 and the accident with the Challenger space shuttle in 1986, stimulated the further development and application of risk analysis.

The chemical sector has a similar history. A first full-scale risk analysis was undertaken in the United Kingdom in the Canvey Island study (HSE, 1978). Several accidents in 1970's, such as the Seveso accident in 1976, and the accident in Bhopal in India in 1984 triggered the further development of quantitative risk assessment and risk regulation in the chemical industry. Quantitative criteria for judging the tolerability of risks were proposed in the 1970's and they were implemented in regulation in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. At the end of the 20th century risk management techniques became more wide-spread in other engineering systems, such as flood defence, energy supply and information technology.

Parallel with the technical development of the quantitative approach of risk in engineering, other disciplines, such as psychology and economy, have also explored the concept of risk. In the late 1970's social scientists started to get involved in acceptable risk debates, which were until then mainly the domain of the physical scientists and engineering community. Psychologists have explored the perception of risk and the associated factors (see also section 1.2.2). Risk management techniques are also widespread in economic applications. In 1952 Harry Markowitz performed important work for the application of risk analysis in economics. He demonstrated mathematically that the diversification of a portfolio of stocks was a better and more profitable strategy than putting all your eggs in one basket. Risk management is now widely applied to corporate finance and investment decisions and it forms an essential part of almost every larger company's policy.

Since September 11 2001 a new challenge to risk analysts has emerged in the form of terrorism. Although the prediction of (the probability) of terrorist acts is difficult, probabilistic techniques can provide useful information for protection of vulnerable parts of society (Wilson, 2005).

Some important concluding remarks

Safety can be considered a basic need for societal and economic development¹. Situations that are insufficiently safe require repeated and exceedingly high investments in reparation and compensation of damage. Thereby such situations limit possibilities for societal and economic development. Throughout history it can be seen that scarce resources are allocated first to reduce the risks from basic threats such as famine and disease, which have a large influence on public health and life expectancy. With societal development life expectancy will increase and more attention will be given to small probability- large consequences

¹ Safety is also an important need for personal development. In the hierarchy of needs of psychologist Maslow the need for safety follows after the basic physiological needs, such as air, water and food.

accidents. Although those types of accidents, such as chemical and nuclear disasters, have a marginal contribution to overall life expectancy they can cause large damages and societal disruption.

Risk management decisions in the early history were based primarily on common sense, ordinary knowledge, trial and error, or non-scientific knowledge and beliefs. The concept of risk analysis originates from the urge to understand gambling problems, but important scientific progress was made in the 18th and 19th century. In the second half of the 20th century the introduction of new techniques, such as chemical and nuclear engineering also implied a shift from natural risks to more technological ones. In these emerging fields risk analysis provided useful in attempts to provide systematic and consistent criteria for the design and management of these systems. As a result, quantitative risk assessment techniques became widely applied in different sectors in the late 20th century.

Note that in modern societies an absolute division between technological or man-made hazards ('acts of God') and natural hazards ('acts of nature') is less appropriate. Although natural disasters may be triggered by natural causes, the magnitude of natural risks will depend on human (man-made) decisions and actions. For example, the decision to live near a volcano or to build dikes along a river, will affect the magnitude of these 'natural' risks.

History also shows that the applications of risk analysis techniques, risk regulation and the development of protection systems have been driven by accidents. In the aftermath of accidents society often demands new and improved defence systems, and more strict risk regulation. Based on risk analyses, protection systems can be designed that offer sufficient protection to societal values. The application of risk management techniques could thereby contribute to a more pro-active approach than reacting after disasters only.

1.2 Risk: definition, perception and uncertainty

This section discusses the interpretation of risk and related issues. In section 1.2.1 existing meanings attributed to risk are explored and a working definition is proposed. Consequently, risk perception (1.2.2), uncertainty (1.2.3) and the treatment of uncertainty in risk analysis (1.2.4) are discussed.

1.2.1 The definition of risk

Existing definitions

Risk is often associated with the occurrence of disasters. In general the word disaster refers to an event that significantly interferes with human and societal activity. More specific medical definitions exist that define disasters in terms of the magnitude of adverse consequences resulting from the exposure and the efforts required to correct these consequences (Combs *et al.*, 1999; de Boer, 1990). In general terms, risk refers to the dangers associated with processes with uncertain outcomes (Reid, 1992), but "risk definition depends on who defines" (Kelman, 2003a). Below, some interpretations of risk in different sectors are discussed.

In economics, different main meanings are attributed to risk. Firstly, risk is generally associated with a deviation from an expected value (of return). In the second definition (based on the work of the Basel Committee) it is defined as: risk is the quantifiable likelihood of loss or less than expected return. Within the insurance sector risk is treated as expected loss, which is similar to definition used in some other sectors (see below).

The risk concept adapted by social scientists considers risk as a contextual notion and a social construct. Therefore the perceived risk (and the adopted definition) will depend on several underlying determinants of perception (see section 1.2.2). Vlek (1996) has summarized 11 formal definitions used in social sciences, see table 1-1. Examples of other, more informal risk definitions used in psychology are "the lack of perceived controllability", "set of possible negative consequences" and "fear of loss" (Vlek, 1996).

1	Probability of undesired consequence
-	Trobability of undeslied consequence
2	Seriousness of (maximum) possible undesired consequence
3	Multi-attribute weighted sum of components of possible undesired consequences
4	Probability x seriousness of undesired consequence ('expected loss')
5	Probability-weighted sum of all possible undesired consequences ('average expected loss')
6	Fitted function through graph of points relating probability to extent of undesired consequences
7	Semi variance of possible undesired consequences about their average
8	Variance of all possible consequences about mean expected consequence
9	Weighted sum of expected value and variance of all possible consequences
10	Weighted combination of various parameters of the probability distribution of all possible
10	consequences
11	Weight of possible undesired consequences ('loss') relative to comparable possible desired
	consequences

Table 1-1: Forma	l definitions	of risk used	in social	sciences	(Vlek,	1996) ²
------------------	---------------	--------------	-----------	----------	--------	--------------------

The definitions applied in the research on natural hazards, often define risk in terms of hazard and vulnerability. Hazard refers to a source of danger or alternatively to something that can cause risk. The difference between the hazard and risk concepts is that most risk definitions explicitly include the probability or likelihood of an undesired event. Vulner-ability relates to potential consequences in case of an event.

In the view adopted in physical sciences and engineering risk is determined by measurement and calculation. A widely used definition considers risk as the product of the probability of an event and its consequences, i.e. as expected loss. However narrowing risk to this fixed product excludes the possibility to model risk as a distribution of outcomes. Probabilities and consequences of an event are quantified and combined in a risk number or graph, which forms the basis for decision-making. Kaplan and Garrick (1981) define risk as a set of scenarios (*s*_i), each of which has a probability (*p*_i) and a consequence (*x*_i).

An ongoing debate between social and physical scientists, sometimes indicated as subjectivists and objectivists, focuses on the interpretation of risk. Many "subjectivists" claim that "there is no such thing as real risk or objective risk" (Slovic, 2000). Some argue that risk quantification is a subjective activity, which can lead to misleading results. However, in this thesis the quantitative approach of risk is adopted, which is used in the domain of physical sciences and engineering. It offers the possibility to quantify (estimates of) observable characteristics of the risk, e.g. the frequency of occurrence of accidents with certain conse-

² Note that definitions 1 and 4 characterize risk for one single undesired event, while the other definitions concern a set of multiple undesired events. Of course one single event is a specific case of a set of events. Therefore definition 4 can be considered a special case of definition 5; and definition 1 as a special case of 6.

quences³. The approach also has the benefit that outcomes are verifiable based on rules and assumptions laid down beforehand. As such, the objective approach is believed to give the best for a rational quantification and presentation of (characteristics of) the risk. Aspects related to risk perception can be taken into account in the evaluation and decision-making regarding the risk (see further discussion in section 1.3).

Proposed definition in this study and risk measurement

It is not the objective, nor pretension of this study to establish a uniformly accepted definition of risk. Nevertheless, the following working definition is used:

"Risk is a function of the probabilities and consequences of a set of undesired events."

Within quantitative risk assessment risks are often expressed with a so-called (quantitative) **risk measure**: "an expression or graph which quantifies or depicts risk as a mathematical function of the probabilities and consequences of a set of undesired events". Synonyms include measure of risk and risk indicator. The risk measure plays an important role in communicating the risk analysis, and it constitutes the basis for evaluation of risks and decision-making (see section 1.3).

The above definitions allow the inclusion of several existing risk concepts / definitions⁴, such as risk as the product of an independent probability and a consequence magnitude (i.e. expected loss). Also the so-called risk curve, which graphically shows the probability of exceedance of a certain level of consequences, fits within the definition. A well-known example of such a risk curve is the FN curve, see figure 1-2. It displays the probability of exceedance of N fatalities and is mostly shown on a double logarithmic scale. The FN curve was originally introduced for the assessment of the risks in the nuclear industry (Farmer, 1967; Kendall *et al.*, 1977) and is now used to display and limit risks in various countries and sectors.



Figure 1-2: FN curve

³ This is also how insurance premiums are calculated for events that occur relatively frequently. Based on observed accident statistics, the expected losses are assessed.

⁴ The proposed general definition also encompasses the majority of psychological risk definitions from table 1-1 (see also Suddle and Waarts, 2003). Most of these definitions can be directly derived from the probability density function of consequences It is noted that definitions in which zero weight is assigned to probability or consequence (e.g. definition 2 in table 1-1), are not considered valid risk definitions, because they do not differ from the expression of probability or consequence.

Probability and consequences

The proposed definition of risk requires further discussion of the elements probability and consequences. In general the probability of an event can be defined as the (observer's judgment of the) likelihood of that event occurring (French, 1998). Two main interpretations of probability exist: the frequentist and Bayesian, see e.g. Bedford and Cooke (2002) for further discussion. In the frequentist (or objective) approach probability is considered an observable or countable entity to be obtained from experiments or historical events. In the Bayesian (or subjective) meaning probability is used to express a 'degree of belief' or a 'state of confidence'. In this study a Bayesian interpretation is adopted, in which the reported probability is an estimate of the actual probability of an event. This estimate can be based on both objective and subjective elements. For example, an estimated probability of failure of a certain system can be based on a limited number of observations on historical failures combined with expert judgments related to system-specific failure mechanisms, see also (Apostolakis, 1990). The benefit of the Bayesian probability interpretation is that it can also be used when the available amount of statistical data is limited, which is the case in most practical situations (e.g. in a design of a structure). In the context of quantitative risk analysis probability is generally expressed as probability of occurrence per unit time⁵, generally per year.

The **consequences** of an undesired event can include the loss of human life and the loss of economical, ecological and societal values. These consequences can be considered the different dimensions of the risk, see also (Kaplan and Garrick, 1981) and section 1.4.1 for further discussion.

1.2.2 Risk perception

The concept of perception can be characterised as "a subjective, personal, representation of some concrete and agreed reality or stimulus" (Pidgeon, 1992). The basic dimensions underlying risk perception (or perceived riskiness) have been investigated by various authors (Slovic, 1987; Vlek, 1996) and are shown in table 1-2.

1	Potential degree of harm or fatality
2	Physical extent of damage (area affected)
3	Social extent of damage (number of people involved)
4	Time distribution of damage (immediate and/or delayed effects)
5	Probability of undesired consequence
6	Controllability (by self or trusted expert) of consequences
7	Experience with, familiarity, imaginability of consequences
8	Voluntariness of exposure (freedom of choice)
9	Clarity, importance of expected benefits
10	Social distribution of risks and benefits
11	Harmful intentionality

Table	1-2:	Basic	dimens	sions o	f risk	percer	otion	(Vlek.	1996)
Table	1-2.	Dasic	unnens	10113 0	1 115K	perce	puon	(VICK,	1))))

Dimensions 1 to 4 are related to the consequences of undesired events, and dimension 5 concerns the probability. It is argued here that dimensions 7 to 11 describe the nature of the (risky) activity, rather than the risk itself. Especially those factors clarify the interpretation of risk as a contextual notion. Several attempts have been undertaken to cluster the

⁵ Note that probability (*P*) still differs from frequency (*f*) as: $0 \le P \le 1$ and $0 \le f \le \infty$. For values of *P* and *f* that are much smaller than one probability and frequency can be used interchangeably.

above factors. According to Slovic (1987) risk attitudes depend on two factors, indicated as dread risk (including factors such as perceived lack of control, dread, catastrophic potential, fatal consequences and the inequitable distribution of risks and benefits) and unknown risk (characterized by unobservable, unknown, new, delayed hazards).

Risk aversion is related to the perception of risk. It concerns the aversion against accidents with multiple fatalities⁶, because these cause large societal disruption⁷. In general, risk aversion refers to a situation where one accident with 100 fatalities is perceived as more dreadful (and less acceptable) than 100 accidents with one fatality. In some countries⁸ the quantitative limits for acceptable risk reflect this risk aversion, as they allow these large accidents with a more than (linearly) proportional smaller probability. Apart from aversion to large numbers of fatalities, there could also be an aversion towards large consequences in general, e.g. towards large economic damage. For example the loss of 1000 Euros in one bet will be valued worse than 1000 losses of 1 Euro in 1000 separate bets. Faber and Maes (2004) give a somewhat different interpretation of risk aversion. They relate it to the follow-up consequences triggered by extreme events.

1.2.3 Uncertainty

Uncertainty concerns something that it is not known definitely, such as the outcome of a throw with a dice. In general two main types of uncertainty are distinguished: inherent and knowledge uncertainty.

Inherent or aleatory uncertainty arises through the (natural) variability or randomness in the states of a system. The (theoretical) probability of each outcome (1,2...6) when throwing a dice is 1/6 per throw, but the exact outcome of one throw is never certain. Similarly, tossing a coin can result in a head or tail and the maximum river discharge differs from year to year. In theory, this probability can be observed frequentistically if the amount of observations is infinite. **Knowledge** or epistemic uncertainty arises from a lack of knowledge. Estimated probabilities may be based on limited data, or models of not fully understood processes and thus they are uncertain. Knowledge uncertainties can be reduced or even eliminated with measurements, as certainty in a scientific meaning is achieved through observation (Bedford and Cooke, 2002). Inherent uncertainties represent the randomness of nature and they cannot be reduced.

Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling (2000) show that the above subdivision between the two main types of uncertainty applies to different sectors, although different words may be used for these types of uncertainty. Van Gelder (2000) proposes a further categorisation of uncertainties, see also (Apostolakis, 1990). Inherent uncertainties exist both in time and space. Knowledge uncertainties are subdivided into model and statistical uncertainty. The model uncertainty represents the fact that processes and phenomena may not be completely known and understood. Statistical uncertainty arises from the uncertainty whether the chosen statistical function gives an adequate description of the phenomenon. In this respect the statistical uncertainty can be subdivided in uncertainty in the distribution type

⁶ Other interpretations of the concept of risk aversion exist. For example, Bedford (2005) considers the type of aversion described above as disaster aversion, and refers to risk aversion as the aversion against knowledge uncertainties in the rates of different accident types.

⁷ Faber and Maes (2004) relate the risk aversion to the follow-up consequences triggered by extreme events.

⁸ For example in the Netherlands the FN limit line has a quadratic steepness.

and in the parameters of this distribution. The described uncertainties are summarized in figure 1-3. It is noted that the boundaries between the subcategories of uncertainty are not totally distinct. For example, "Inherent" natural variations in soil characteristics can be reduced with measurements. Nevertheless, the proposed classification of uncertainties is found to be a useful framework for a structured identification of uncertainties and their treatment in risk management (see also next section).



Figure 1-3: Overview of classification of uncertainties, based on van Gelder (2000)

1.2.4 Treatment of uncertainties in risk analysis

Different levels of treatment of uncertainty can be identified in the context of risk analysis, see also (Benjamin and Cornell, 1970; Ditlevsen and Madsen, 1996). Based on (Kaplan and Garrick, 1981; Paté Cornell, 1996) three approaches are distinguished:

- 1. Assessment of inherent uncertainties only
- 2. Separated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties
- 3. Integrated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties

1. Assessment of inherent uncertainties only

Inherent uncertainty is expressed by means of a probability of occurrence of a certain event or outcome. In this approach it is assumed that the value of the probability of a certain outcome is exactly known and knowledge uncertainty is neglected. A probability distribution and a corresponding single risk curve can be used to express and display the probabilities over a range of different outcomes (see the left part of figure 1-4).

2. Separated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties

In this second approach the knowledge uncertainties in probability and consequence estimates are explicitly addressed. These uncertainties may be associated with limitations in the model or the number of observations. Knowledge uncertainty in an outcome is expressed by means of a conditional distribution⁹. The conditional distribution expresses the knowledge uncertainty in the estimate of the inherent uncertainty (therefore they are indicated here as being treated separately). These knowledge uncertainties can be displayed with a family of risk curves (see right part of figure 1-4), where each curve represents a confidence level. For example for the 5% curve, we estimate with 5% confidence that in reality the combined probability and damage level will be below this curve. This approach

⁹ The probability of a certain outcome (i.e. inherent uncertainty) is generally expressed with a frequency. Knowledge uncertainty is generally expressed by means of a probability without units. Therefore Kaplan and Garrick (1981) indicate this concept as 'probability of frequency'.

also implies that for each loss level a conditional distribution of the corresponding probability of exceedance can be depicted.



Figure 1-4: left: Single risk curve to display inherent uncertainty; right: family of risk curves to show the effects of epistemic uncertainty (based on Kaplan and Garrick, 1981; Paté Cornell, 1996)

3. Integrated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties

In the third approach both types of uncertainty are integrated into one numerical estimate of the probability of an outcome by means of Bayesian probability theory, see also (van Gelder, 2000) for further background. The resulting probability represents an estimate of the actual or inherent uncertainty, with the effects of knowledge uncertainty added to it.

Discussion

It is important to realize that failure probabilities and the uncertainties are elements in decision problems. The probabilistic analysis gives insight in the factors that determine the eventual probability and risk estimate. In this context it is less desirable to fully neglect knowledge uncertainties. This is done in the first approach which only involves inherent uncertainties. The second approach (separated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties) gives insight in the extent of knowledge uncertainties. Several policy studies (e.g. Chauhan and Bowles, 2003; Paté Cornell, 2002; RIVM, 2004) have shown the application of these ideas. A possible disadvantage is that the median (50%) risk curve is often considered the actual risk curve. An advantage¹⁰ of the third approach (integrated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties) is that the effects of uncertainty are explicitly included in the determination of failure probabilities and risk levels. This inclusion generally results in an increase of the probability value and thus a conservative estimate¹¹. Reduction of knowledge uncertainties will lead to a reduction of probability and risk estimates. This implies that the effectiveness of reduction of knowledge uncertainty, e.g. due to field measurements or improvement of the model, can be compared with physical measures (that reduce the inherent probability). This concept is insightful for decision makers, as it gives guidance on the effectiveness of different risk reduction options.

Overall, it is recommended to include the knowledge uncertainty in the risk analysis. Depending on the available information and the level of detail of risk assessment the second (separated assessment) or third approach (integrated assessment) can be chosen (see

¹⁰ A possible disadvantage of integrating knowledge uncertainties in a reliability analysis is that their influence on the final outcome cannot be directly observed. Therefore it is suggested to carry out two analyses: one that includes knowledge uncertainties; one hypothetical situation without knowledge uncertainties, so with assumed average values. The difference between the outcomes of these two calculations shows the influence of knowledge uncertainty on the system reliability or risk. 11 van Gelder (2000; pp. 33-37) shows how knowledge uncertainties will lead to an increase of the probability value.

also Paté Cornell, 1996). It is noted that uncertainties may be treated differently in risk analyses in different sectors, which can lead to problems in the comparison of risk levels between sectors.

Apart from the influence of uncertainties, other factors can also influence estimates of the failure probability. Probability estimates could deviate from the inherent (or actual) failure probability due to inaccurate schematisations. For example, certain failure mechanisms that contribute to failure could be omitted in the analysis¹² or wrong (average) input values could be used. Due to such issues the estimated failure probability can vary over time. Seife (2003) discusses in an illustrative example how the initial estimate of the space shuttle failure probability ranged from 1 in 100 flights to 1 in 100.000 flights in the 1980's. Following the loss of the Challenger (1986) and Columbia vessels (2002) the official estimate moved to 1 in 250 flights, while the actual space shuttle failure record amounts 2 in 113 flights. Overall, failure probability estimates need to be interpreted in the context of the chosen schematisations, the available historical observations and the knowledge uncertainties (Vrijling *et al.*, 2004).

1.3 Risk assessment and management

1.3.1 Risk management and its applications

The risk assessment encompasses the identification, quantification and evaluation of risks associated with a given system. It is carried out because involved parties (designers, managers, decision makers) want to identify and evaluate the risks and decide on their acceptability. Outcomes of risk assessment can be used in the design process to decide on the required safety levels of new systems (e.g. a new tunnel) or to support decisions on the acceptability of safety levels and the need for measures in existing systems (e.g. a flood defence system). A quantitative measure of some form is needed to transfer decisions on acceptable safety into a technical domain (Voortman, 2004). Examples are choices in the design of civil structures, such as the height of a flood defence or the strength of a building. Overall, the risk assessment aims to support rational decision-making regarding risk-bearing activities (Apostolakis, 2004).

In general the following elements can be identified within risk assessment (figure 1-5) (based on (CUR, 1997; CIB, 2001; Faber and Stewart, 2003; Jongejan, 2006)):

- **System definition:** Definition and description of the system, its elements and the scope and objectives of the analysis.
- Qualitative analysis: Hazards, failure mechanisms and scenarios are identified and described.
- **Quantitative analysis:** The probabilities and consequences of the defined events are determined. The risk is quantified in a risk number or graph as a function of probabilities and consequences.
- **Risk evaluation:** With the results of the former analyses the risk is evaluated. In this phase the decision is made whether the risk is acceptable or not.

¹² Omission of failure mechanisms could lead to an underestimation of the failure probability. This is undesirable, because it suggests that the system is safer than it actually is. The result could be an insufficient level of protection.

In addition, risk management also includes the element 'risk reduction and control':

• **Risk reduction and control:** Dependent on the outcome of the risk evaluation measures can be taken to reduce the risk. It should also be determined how the risks can be controlled, for example by monitoring, inspection or maintenance.



Figure 1-5: Schematic view of steps in risk assessment and risk management

Probabilistic and deterministic approach

The risk assessment is often indicated as the probabilistic approach. It is based on an inventory of probabilities and consequences for all possible accident scenarios. Next to the probabilistic approach a deterministic or scenario analysis is sometimes used for evaluation of the safety in the design phase. The deterministic approach analyses one (or a limited number of) design scenario(s) for which all conditions are uniquely given. This scenario is generally elaborated in a mostly qualitative and descriptive way and gives useful insight in (possible) event development. It mainly focuses on specific phases of the event development, such as escape or rescue actions. As the event's causes are generally not involved in the analysis, it becomes difficult to give a complete analysis of measures.

The two approaches are complementary as the deterministic analysis focuses on one of the scenarios investigated in the probabilistic analysis. The application of one single accident scenario (i.e. a purely deterministic analysis) as a basis for a design without inclusion of probabilities and consequences does in general not contribute to an effective design. This implies that the uncertainty that is always present is neglected. In practice, the probability of a scenario is often implicitly considered in the deterministic analysis with the selection of the "representative" or design scenario. If the chosen design scenario is very severe but highly unlikely, the design becomes needlessly conservative at too high cost (and vice versa). Therefore it is assumed here that the probabilistic risk analysis (based on all scenarios) provides the best basis for rational decision-making regarding risks.

1.3.2 System definition

The first step in the risk assessment concerns the definition of the system, and the scope and objectives of the analysis. An accurate modelling of the system allows the identification of critical events and it provides insight in the range of possible measures to be taken in the system. A system is decomposed in a number of smaller components and / or subsystems. Based on (Vrijling and Stoop, 1997) a system can be defined in terms of its physical components and the related (human) organisation to make the system function.

Firstly, there are the **physical components** of a system, generally involving fixed objects such as infrastructure, buildings or flood defences. For transport systems it is possible to additionally distinguish moving artefacts, such as trains and airplanes. Another distinction can be made between components used for the regular functioning of the system and those that are included for use during calamities only. Examples of the latter type of components are the ventilation system in a tunnel or lifeboats on ships. Also, the **location** of a system and its interaction with the surroundings has to be considered.

An organisation is required for the functioning of the system. The organisation concerns different parties in the system. First, there are the **professionals** responsible for the normal operation of the system (e.g. operators of the train). They will have certain responsibilities and roles when an accident occurs in the system. A specific category of professionals concerns the **emergency services**, such as the fire brigade and medical services. They only take action if an accident occurs in the system in order to provide relief and aid. As a third category the internal users of the systems can be identified, for example the passengers in an airplane or the persons in a tunnel. Finally, certain **external parties**¹³ can be exposed to the effects of the critical event, without being a direct user of a system. Generally the distinction is made between internal and external risk with regards to risk acceptability as well, e.g. for people inside and outside a tunnel. For some systems, e.g. flood defences, the distinction between internal users and external parties is less appropriate, as the exposed persons are all part of the same public. Also the influence of the circumstances in the **natural environment** (weather, day or night) during an accident have to be considered, as these can for example influence dispersion of physical effects and presence of the population.

Interactions between physical and organizational components have to be taken into account in the design and consequent risk analysis. For example, exit doors in a tunnel (physical components) will only be effective if the users of the tunnel receive a warning and know how to use the doors during the calamity (organisational factors). As every design is characterised by limited budget, the limited resources have to be distributed in an effective way over the different system elements. Preferably, the choice of the system layout and / or measures should be based on an optimisation process in which the risk reduction and costs of both physical and organizational measures are assessed. For example, this implies that the available capacities for emergency response are also a part of a risk optimisation process.

¹³ The terms internal and external have a basis in economics. An externality occurs when a decision causes costs or benefits to stakeholders other than the person making the decision. In the context of risk analysis, internal users make a decision to undertake a decision to undertake a risk bearing activity (e.g. as a user of a system or as personnel).

1.3.3 Qualitative analysis

In the analysis of hazards in a system one or multiple critical events will be defined. A critical event occurs if a limit state is exceeded, i.e. if the load is larger than resistance. The distinguished critical event(s) in the risk assessment depends on the purpose and scope of the analysis. Within the engineering domain generally a distinction is made between the Serviceability Limit State (SLS) and Ultimate Limit State (ULS). Exceedance of the SLS leads to temporary and/or partial failure or disfunctioning of the system. SLS mostly relates to interruption and delay of a system's processes and these can reduce the availability of the system. Consequences may concern delay and economic damages, which can be restored within reasonable time. The ULS is related to the occurrence of extreme events and the reliability of a system. If the ULS is exceeded, an object permanently ceases to function through failure and collapse. This will form a direct threat to safety and the consequences will potentially involve fatalities and economic damage. The difference between both limit states is illustrated with a simple example: the waves in a harbour could be too high for shipping during some hours or days (SLS) or the breakwater in front of the harbour could be destroyed in a storm (ULS). Risk assessments mostly consider the ULS.

Risk analysis can be applied to different phases of a project's lifetime. It can be divided in the following phases: 0) initiative; 1) design; 2) construction; 3) exploitation; 4) demolition. Different critical events will apply to different phases. Within one of these phases a critical event can occur resulting in a transition from normal operation to failure (figure 1-6). Thereby a second time axis is introduced, the accident sequence, which is elaborated in the next section.



Figure 1-6: Project's lifetime and occurrence of a critical event

The next step is the identification and inventory of critical events that can occur in the system. Several techniques can be used to identify the possibilities of system failure. Examples of available techniques are the Preliminary Hazard Analysis (PHA), Failure Modes and Effect Analysis (FMEA), Failure Mode, Effect and Criticality Analysis (FMECA) and Hazard and Operability Studies (HAZOP). Also information from past incident data(bases) can be used to improve the knowledge and understanding of the (mal)functioning of the system.

1.3.4 Quantitative risk analysis

A quantitative risk analysis¹⁴ (QRA) aims to provide a quantitative estimate of the risk level in a given system. It tries to answer the following questions (Kaplan and Garrick, 1981):

- 1) What can happen apart from the normal course of events?
- 2) How likely is it that it will happen?
- 3) What are the consequences if it does happen?

Figure 1-7 shows the accident sequence indicating the events leading to and following after a critical event. Certain causes can result in the occurrence of a **critical event** in an originally normally operating system¹⁵. This event can lead to the dispersion of **physical effects**¹⁶ (e.g. heat and smoke from fire) within the exposed area. When people and/or objects are exposed to them, this can result in consequences. Certain consequence dimensions are quantified as a schematisation of the full range of **consequences**. By combining the probabilities and consequences of the elaborated scenarios the probability density function of consequences is obtained, as is schematically shown on the right hand side of figure 1-7. Here it is shown as a continuous probability density function (pdf), while in most cases it will be based on a number of deterministic accident scenarios, leading to multinomial pdf. The probability of zero damage is found by summation of the probability density function is probability function of consequences provides the basis for calculation of several risk measures, for example the expected losses or the risk curve (see also section 3).



Figure 1-7: Evolvement of critical event and the accident sequence. The right part of the figure shows the probability density function of consequences that results from the risk analysis.

Techniques for risk analysis

Figure 1-7 schematically shows a connected fault and event tree. A fault tree is often used to determine the probability occurrence of a certain critical "top event", taking into account the possible causes and their sequence (i.e. it traces back in time). In an event tree all possible events following an initiating event are shown, and it is generally used to

¹⁴ Different terms are used in literature to refer to this process, such as probabilistic risk analysis (PRA) or probabilistic safety analysis (PSA).

¹⁵ A critical event can induce other critical events. These are sometimes indicated as "secondary events", "chain reactions", "domino effects", or "cascading consequences".

¹⁶ In many other works the term "effects" signifies the combination of physical effects and consequences. However, a clear separation of these two phases is proposed in order to allow a systematic analysis of consequences and measures.

assess the effects and consequences of a critical event (it goes forward in time). By connecting the fault and event tree a so-called bowtie model is obtained, with the intersection of the two trees at the critical event. Although the bowtie model gives an intuitively clear presentation, some remarks can be made with regards to this approach¹⁷. For some applications other presentations / modelling techniques might be more suitable, for example the application of an event tree only, or the use of cause consequence charts (CUR, 1997) and Bayesian Belief Networks (Jensen, 1996).

1.3.5 Risk evaluation and decision-making

In the risk evaluation phase it is determined what level of risk associated with a certain activity is acceptable. Or, in other words, it is attempted to answer the question "how safe is safe enough?" (Starr, 1967). The results of the quantitative risk analysis provide the input for risk evaluation and decision-making. Several political, psychological and social processes play an important role in the evaluation of the risk, making it a subjective process. Some important issues are outlined below:

- Judgement and acceptance of risks associated with certain (new) techniques or activities involves a societal trade-off between risk **costs** and **benefits**, or pros and cons. Examples are decisions with respect to genetic modification, the construction of a new polder, or the extension of an airport. It was first shown by (Starr, 1967) that the public is willing to accept larger risks from voluntary and beneficial activities than from involuntary activities. It is also important that expenditures on safety have to compete with other public interests, for instance public health and the development of new infrastructure.
- A specific concern is the **distribution** of the risks of the activity over the different parties involved. The concepts of equity and efficiency are related to the distribution of effects. Efficiency concerns the effective distribution of the risks over the population, while equity is concerned with the fact that an individual will not be disproportionally exposed to the risks.
- **Responsibilities** and **competencies** concerning the activity, for individuals, corporations or government. This will relate to the distribution of benefits of an activity, the associated risk and costs of measures over different parties. Individual considerations dominate the acceptance of the risks of drinking, smoking, or hazardous driving, although many governmental interventions are undertaken. However the decision-making on the acceptability of more large-scale public activities, such as the use of nuclear energy or the construction of flood defence systems will generally take place on a more aggregated societal level.

The process that generates the risk may be an important determinant in the acceptance of risks. In addition, risks seem to be evaluated differently when they are presented in different ways, as is shown in numerous experiments by Tversky and Kahneman. The choices with respect to the risk measurement techniques and the communication of results of risk analyses can thus have implications for the outcomes of decision-making. In this context

¹⁷ Two issues related to the bowtie model are: 1) One critical event is identified in the bowtie model. In reality many critical events can occur in a system, which are sometimes spatially distributed. For example a series of flood defences can fail through breaches at different locations. 2) All probabilities in the event tree are conditional on previous events. Elements in the event tree may be dependent on elements in fault tree. It is difficult to model these dependencies without repetition of elements.

we note that risk communication can be used to 'manage' the perception of a risk, but that it will not affect the periodically observable consequences of manifesting hazards (if no changes in the system are made).

Approaches for decision-making

Several quantitative approaches can be used to support decisions regarding the acceptability of risks associated with an activity. These are outlined below. More qualitative approaches for risk evaluation are summarized by Jongejan (2006).

A methodical framework for rational decision-making is available in the form of formal decision theory, see e.g. (Von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1943; Raiffa and Schlaifer, 1961; Benjamin and Cornell, 1970; Ditlevsen, 2002; Faber *et al.*, 2007). Decisions are treated in a utility framework. Decision alternatives can be ranked based on their expected utility. The optimal decision alternative is the one that leads to maximisation of utility (or the minimisation of disutility) (Maes and Faber, 2003). In a similar way the acceptable risk level can be determined in an (economic) optimisation, see e.g. (van Dantzig, 1956; Ditlevsen and Madsen, 1996). If the costs of measures to reduce the probability or consequences of an accident are known, an implicit or explicit optimisation can lead to a decision on the optimal level of protection and consequently to accepted level of risk. This prevents the choice of a safety level that is too high at too high cost, or too low with too much associated expected damage.

Alternatively, societal views on acceptable risk levels can be expressed in quantitative risk limits or regulatory safety goals. These indicate the acceptable probability of an event with certain consequences (e.g. by means of an FN limit line) or the acceptable level of personal risk. Such limits reflect the societal value judgement regarding an activity in a quantitative risk limit. As such, these risk limits will likely lead to a different outcome than the application of formal decision theory.

1.3.6 Risk reduction and control

Based on the outcomes of the risk evaluation phase, different decisions can be made:

- Avoid the risk by not proceeding with the system or adopting other technologies. In these cases the risks of the alternative or existing system also have to be considered;
- Reduce the risk: either by reducing the probabilities, physical effects or consequences;
- Accept the risk. One can also choose to transfer the risk through insurance or other financial mechanisms. The risk itself is not reduced but redistributed.

It is noted that certain mechanisms and regulations could be needed to assure that signals that indicate exceedingly high risk levels are transferred into actual decisions to reduce the risk. Different examples in history have shown that decision makers neglected such signals. An example concerns the recognition of deficiencies of the heat shield of the space shuttle. This problem later resulted in loss of the space shuttle Columbia in 2003, because the earlier signals regarding these problems were neglected (CAIB, 2003). Another example concerns the prediction of the possibility of extreme storm surges on the North Sea and the bad state of the flood defences by the Dutch engineer van Veen in the 1940's. In both cases the signals were neglected until the predictions became reality during a catastrophe (the loss of the space shuttle in 2003 and the floods in the Netherlands in 1953).

Risk reduction can be related to regulatory objectives. In some countries, e.g. the United Kingdom, it is required that risks are 'as low as reasonable achievable' (ALARA) if a certain risk level is exceeded. Application of the ALARA principle implies an (implicit) analysis of cost effectiveness.

A systematic analysis of risk reduction measures can be performed using the proposed system elements (section 1.3.2) and accident sequence model (figure 1-7). It should be investigated how either the probabilities of a critical event, the physical effects or consequences can be reduced by means of various measures. For every measure the costs and effects on the system risk level have to be determined. Measures have to be considered in the context of a project's life cycle. **Reversibility** and **flexibility** of decisions and measures will be important. For example, decisions on the location and route of infrastructure cannot be changed after the construction phase (except at very high cost). Certain measures are more flexible and can be included after the construction phase, for example fire extinguishers, evacuation procedures or emergency response capacity.

Risk control involves the continuous inspection and monitoring of the risks produced by a system. Information from inspection and monitoring should be used to re-evaluate risks and fed back into the risk assessment process. For corrective systems maintenance will influence the resistance of the system and thus the risk level.

1.4 Overview of this thesis

First, the background and problem definition are described (1.4.1). Consequently, the objectives and scope of the study are outlined in more detail (1.4.2). Finally, the research questions and outline of this study are presented (1.4.3).

1.4.1 Background and problem definition

Background: loss of life within risk assessment

The risk assessment process aims to support rational decision-making regarding risks. An important part of the evaluation of risk is the valuation of multidimensional consequences, such as the loss of life, economic damage, environmental damage and cultural losses. These consequences can be considered the different dimensions of the risk. Some authors suggest the combination of different consequence types into one indicator for severity by means of multi-attribute utility theory (Vlek, 1990)¹⁸. Unfortunately, limited insight exists in the relationship between the extent of different types of damage and the perception of the severity of an event¹⁹.

Therefore a more simple approach is often adopted, in which risk is quantified in a onedimensional number or graph, implying that one of the consequence categories is considered, e.g. loss of life. This outcome can be considered a schematisation²⁰ of the accident

¹⁸ Thereby, risk can be defined as a weighed combination of value judgements over different consequence types and the probabilities of occurrence of these consequences.

¹⁹ This relationship could be further substantiated due to psychometric research in the field of (social) psychology.

²⁰ In analogy: a person's length is a schematic measure for the person, not a complete schematisation of the whole person that includes character and appearance.

footprint, which involves the full range of consequence types. In the context of risk assessment consequences are generally quantified in terms of economic damage and / or loss of life (Jonkman *et al.*, 2003). The advantages of using loss of life and economic damage as indicators in the risk assessment is that those types of consequences are: 1) quantifiable in an objective way (i.e. fatalities or monetary valuation) and 2) considered to be the most relevant and important losses in the public perception of disasters.

It is also expected that loss of life is related to other types of consequences, as accidents with large number of fatalities will generally cause large damage for other consequence types. Therefore loss of life can be considered a compound indicator (or proxy) for the (perceived) severity of an event. However, the above does not necessarily imply that a <u>constant</u> ratio exists between the number of fatalities and other consequence dimensions, e.g. where 1 fatality is on average accompanied by 10 injuries (see section 2.5 for a more detailed discussion). Moreover, the relative magnitude of various types of consequences could also differ between event types, as these will result in different accident footprints with regards to consequences. For example, for chemical accidents the loss of life and environmental pollution will rank amongst the most important consequence dimensions. For floods, economic damage and loss of life will be the most important consequence dimensions.

Overall, an accurate estimation of loss of life is important in order to be able to determine the risk level in a system and the effects of risk reducing measures. To allow a complete evaluation of the risk, it is advocated to present all relevant consequence types in their (qualitative or quantitative) dimensions to the decision makers (Walker *et al.*, 1994). Techniques such as multi-criteria analysis can be used to weigh the relative importance of the various types of consequences and to evaluate the effects various decision alternatives.

Problem definition

In general there is limited insight in the consequences of accidents. Especially loss of life estimates are uncertain (see below), while loss of life is a very important factor in risk evaluation and decision-making. Within risk assessment the methods for estimation of probabilities, such as the fault tree and event tree, are relatively well established and used in different fields. General methodologies for consequence and loss of life estimation have been standardized to a much lesser extent. There is some literature dealing with the quantification of loss of life consequences from technical failure for individual event types (see section 2 for an overview). However, parallels existing between different cases have mostly been neglected, and relatively little attention has been paid to the general principles of loss of life estimation. When trying to predict the number of lives lost due to accidents in the engineering domain and the associated risks it would be helpful to rely on some kind of general methodology.

When trying to estimate loss of life due to accidents it is attempted to predict the outcomes of disastrous situations that we try to avoid as much as possible. Due to ethical concerns, such accidents never occur in conditioned circumstances. This implies that the availability of empirical data for lethal accidents is limited. As a result, many of the existing loss of life models are validated to a limited extent, leading to fundamental problems with calibration and validation. In contrast to other engineering fields (where basic physical laws can be used to develop models), there is limited insight in the basic processes that influence loss of life. Human behaviour during disasters has an important influence on loss of life and this will remain uncertain to some extent. As an implication of the above, existing loss of life models often do not include all relevant factors that influence loss of life, such as the possibilities for evacuation. Therefore it is often difficult to give a good estimate of the loss of life and a complete analysis of the effectiveness of various risk reducing measures.

The general principles of life estimation methods and their application to risk quantification require further attention. Given the variety of factors involved and complexity of underlying processes, existing QRA models in different sectors mainly rely on numerical risk calculations. These approaches do not show how loss of life estimates are included in risk quantification. In addition, these is a lot of discussion in literature about how risk estimates can be properly presented and used for rational risk evaluation and decision-making (see e.g. Benjamin and Cornell, 1970; Vrijling *et al.* 1998; Evans and Verlander, 1997; Rackwitz, 2002; Pandey and Nathwani, 2004; Bedford, 2005).

Some of the general problems discussed above are particularly apparent in the assessment of flood risks in the Netherlands and for other low-lying areas protected by flood defences. Limited insight exists in the loss of life caused by potential floods and no uniformly established model for loss of life estimation is available. The existing methods in this field do not take into account the effects of all relevant factors, such as flood characteristics and possibilities for evacuation (see section 6). This is expected to cause inaccuracy in consequence and risk estimates. Methods for quantification of flood risk have been developed in the Netherlands in the last decades, see e.g. (van Manen and Brinkhuis, 2005; Rijkswaterstaat, 2005). However, these have not yet been established for standardized use and application in regulation. There is a discussion ongoing about the acceptable level of flood risk in the Netherlands (MinVenW, 2006; Adviescommissie Water, 2006). An important issue in this discussion is whether and how the risk of loss of life can be taken into account in risk evaluation and decision-making regarding flood risk in the Netherlands. One question is whether specific risk limits for the risks to people should be adopted.

1.4.2 Objectives and scope

Objectives

This thesis concerns the estimation of loss of human life within the context of (quantitative) risk assessment, with a focus on applications to the field of flood protection. Based on the above problem definition, the general objectives of this study are defined as follows:

- 1. To develop a general method for the estimation of loss of life in the context of quantitative risk analysis.
- 2. To investigate the possibilities for the improvement of methods for loss of life estimation and risk quantification for floods of low-lying areas protected by flood defences, with specific applications to the Netherlands.

Following these two general objectives the thesis is divided into two parts. The first part deals with general methods and the second with applications to floods.

Scope of the first part: general methods for loss of life estimation and risk quantification

Following up on the objectives, the event types considered in the first general part are defined further. This study focuses on:

- 1. Unintentional hazards, implying that intentional events, e.g. terrorism, vandalism and riots, are excluded.
- 2. Applications to systems within the engineering domain, where issues with respect to safety are often (partly) related to engineering design and technical measures. This implies that e.g. epidemics, famine and diseases are excluded, as these risks are not directly related to engineering design.
- 3. Events in which most fatalities occur directly due to exposure to the effects of a single accident. This implies that events with chronic exposure (e.g. to air pollution) and delayed mortality (e.g. due to nuclear radiation) are not explicitly considered. A further discussion on the categorisation of event types based on exposure and mortality after exposure is provided in appendix 1.I.
- 4. Events with large consequences due to a single event, i.e. accidents with multiple fatalities and large economic damage²¹. Sectors where multiple single fatality events occur with relatively high probability, e.g. traffic accidents, are not included.

Examples of considered events which comply with all four of the above criteria are: floods, tunnel fires, accidents with transport and storage of chemical substances, airplane crashes, and earthquakes. These often correspond to the category of societal risks or so-called "small probability – large consequences" in the engineering domain as is also shown in figure 1-8. It ranks different activities based on the probability of an accident, and their consequences.

bility	High	Traffic accident Falling Smoking	Famine Epidemic	
Probat	Small	Bee sting Lightning	Flood Airplane crash Chemical accident Nuclear accident	
		Small	Large	
		Consequences		

Figure 1-8: Different activities and accidents ranked by accident probability and consequences per accident (based on (Ale, 2000))

The result of the first part of this thesis will be a general method for loss of life and risk quantification. It explicitly exhibits what kind of information is needed to estimate the loss of life for these types of accidents. The approach can thus be applied to various (and also new) terrains. The proposed general method can be used to estimate the loss of life and risk levels in a consistent way and thereby the foundation of consequence and risk quantification will be improved. Based on the proposed methods the effectiveness of different risk reduction strategies, e.g. evacuation or structural measures, can be assessed in a systematic way. The results can be used as input for the risk evaluation and decision-making. The elaborations in this thesis mainly focus on the quantification of risk levels. Some aspects related to the evaluation of risk (e.g. risk limits) are briefly discussed. However, given the

²¹ Indicative boundaries that indicate large consequences can be given. These concern events for which the number of fatalities N>10 fatalities; economic damage D>10 million Euro;
complexity of the evaluation and decision-making regarding risks, this study does not aim at a complete analysis of the risk evaluation and decision-making process.

Scope of the second part: applications to floods

The second part of this thesis focuses more specifically on loss of life estimation for floods and it illustrates the applications of the general methods developed in the first part. There is a specific focus on (potential) loss of life caused by floods in the Netherlands, but the investigation will be presented from a more general and international perspective. The method developed in the second part of this thesis will be specifically applicable to assess the consequences and risks of flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences (see section 7.1.1 for a further discussion). These areas can be found in different areas around in the world, especially in river deltas. Breaching of flood defences in these areas can lead to flooding of extensive areas with severe consequences. A recent example of such a disastrous event was the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in 2005. The method developed in this thesis could improve the possibilities to estimate the loss of life caused by floods and the associated flood risks. These insights will contribute to the ongoing discussion regarding the acceptability of flood risks in the Netherlands.

1.4.3 Research questions and outline

Based on the general objectives and the defined scope specific research questions are formulated.

Research questions related to the first objective (general methods for loss of life estimation):

- What are the main factors that determine the loss of life? Which elements should be included in a general approach for loss of life estimation for 'small probability large consequence' events within the engineering domain? (section 2)
- How can the general approach for loss of life estimation be applied to risk quantification? (section 3)
- How will uncertainties in loss of life estimates affect the outcomes of risk quantification? (section 4)

Related to the second objective (applications to floods):

- Which information is available regarding loss of life caused by floods? Which factors should be taken into account in a model for loss of life estimation for floods? (section 5)
- Which models are available for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods? Are they applicable to estimate the loss of life caused by flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences? (section 6)
- Is it, based on empirical data, possible to develop an improved method for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods? (section 7)
- Which factors determined the loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina? What was the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality? (section 8)
- How can the proposed method for loss of life estimation be applied to the quantification and evaluation of the flood risk in the Netherlands? (section 9)

The outline of this study follows the research questions, see also figure 1-9. Each section addresses one of the research questions indicated above. This thesis is divided into two parts. The first part presents the general methodology for loss of life estimation and risk quantification. An approach for the estimation of loss of life for single accidents is developed in section 2. In section 3 it is described how this approach can be further applied to the quantification of the risks to people (the individual and societal risk). Section 4 investigates the effects of uncertainties in loss of life estimates on the outcomes of risk quantification.

The second part deals with the application of the general approach to flood hazards. Sections 5 and 6 review the available information and existing models related to the loss of life caused by floods. In section 7 a new method is proposed for the estimation of loss of life caused by the flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences. During the course of this study hurricane Katrina caused catastrophic flooding in the city of New Orleans in the year 2005. A preliminary analysis of loss of life caused by this flood is included in section 8. Applications of the developed method for loss of life estimation to flood risk assessment in the Netherlands are presented for a case study area (South Holland) in section 9. Section 10 contains conclusions and recommendations.

1. Introduction

General approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification				
2. General approach for loss of life estimation				
3. General approach for risk quantification				
4. Uncertainties in loss of life estimates				
Applications to floods				
5. Analysis of information regarding loss of life				
6. Review of existing loss of life models for floods				
7. Development of a method for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods				
8. Case study: Analysis of loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans due to hurricane Katrina				
9. Case study: Flood risk assessment for South Holland				
10. Conclusions and recommendations				

Figure 1-9: Schematic outline of this study

Part one: A general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification

2 A general approach for loss of life estimation

Research question: What are the main factors that determine the loss of life? Which elements should be included in a general approach for loss of life estimation for 'small probability – large consequence' events within the engineering domain?

Keywords: loss of life, mortality, dose response function, evacuation, damage, consequence modelling

In this section a general approach is proposed for the estimation of loss of life for small probability – large consequences events within the engineering domain (section 2.1). In order to estimate loss of life it is often necessary to analyse the number of people exposed and the effects of evacuation, shelter and rescue (section 2.2). Methods for the estimation of the number of fatalities amongst the exposed population (so-called dose response functions) are described in section 2.3. The combination of evacuation and mortality analysis is discussed in section 2.4. The relationship between loss of life and other consequence categories (such as injuries) is explored in section 2.5. Section 2.6 summarizes the methods for the economic valuation of loss of life. Concluding remarks are given in section 2.7.

2.1 A general approach for loss of life estimation

2.1.1 Introduction and terminology

This section investigates the estimation of loss of human life within the context of quantitative risk analysis (QRA). Within the earlier proposed accident sequence (see also figure 1-6) the occurrence of a **critical event** leads to the release of physical effects at a risk source. The **physical effects** (e.g. smoke for fire or floodwater) can be dispersed over a certain area. When people are exposed to the effects in this area certain **consequences**, including loss of life, can occur.

The **exposed area** includes all locations exposed to the physical effects that are associated with the critical event. It represents the spatial footprint of the event, and for some types of events (e.g. airplane crashes) it is referred to as the **crash area**. It is noted that safe locations may exist that are surrounded by exposed area, for example high grounds in a flooded area (see also figure 2-2). For some events the extent of the exposed area will be similar for different critical events. An example is the flooding of a (small) polder¹ with a uniform terrain height. The polder will be completely filled due to breaches at different locations. For other events the extent of the exposed area could depend on: 1) the spatial variation in accident locations and 2) the dependency of effects on meteorological conditions (e.g. dispersion of toxic gasses due to wind). In this context the concept of **threatened area** is introduced. It includes all locations that are potentially exposed to a certain level of physical effects or harm. This implies that the notion of probability is included in the determination of the threatened area. Approaches for indication of the threatened area, for example by individual risk contours, are further discussed in section 3. Figure 2-1 illustrates the difference

¹ Polder: relatively low-lying area protected from flooding by flood defences such as dikes. Drainage systems are needed to discharge rainwater from the polder and to prevent rise of the groundwater table.

between the threatened and exposed area for a hazardous installation and a flood prone area.



Figure 2-1: Schematic difference between exposed and threatened area

It is noted that certain indirect consequences could also occur outside the directly exposed area. For example, due to a flood, areas outside the flooded area could sustain damage due to the loss of electricity and the loss of business to customers inside the flooded area. This implies that the consequence analysis might have to be expanded outside the exposed area. However, for most disasters the majority of consequences occurs within the exposed area.

All the individuals that are present in the exposed area before any signs or warnings can be perceived are referred to as the **population affected**, **population at risk** or **people at risk**: N_{PAR} . For larger exposed areas it can often be approximated by the registered population in the area (N_{POP}) , so that $N_{PAR} \approx N_{POP}$. However, in some cases it might be necessary to take into account population dynamics. The number of people at risk might be smaller than the original population. For example, when a part of the reference population will be working elsewhere most of the time. In other cases N_{PAR} might be larger than N_{POP} , for example when many people visit the exposed area. For other fields N_{PAR} can equal the (maximum) number of people expected to be present in a certain type of facility (people in cars during a traffic jam in a tunnel; all employees affiliated to an office etc.). More specific approaches for determining N_{PAR} are discussed in (Lentz, 2003; Lentz and Rackwitz, 2004a).

The actually **exposed population** involves all people exposed² to the physical effects of the disaster. The number of people exposed can be deduced from the population affected by taking into account the effects of evacuation, shelter, rescue and escape. A first description of these elements is given below, further explanation is provided in section 2.2.

Evacuation is defined in this study as: "the movement of people from a (potentially) exposed area to a safe location outside that area before they come into contact with physical effects". Within the area people may find protection within **shelters.** These are constructed facilities in the exposed area, which offer protection. Examples of shelters are high-rise buildings during floods, or emergency niches in a tunnel that are safe during a fire. In ad-

² Exposure does not necessarily have to imply immediate and direct contact with the physical effects. For example during floods and earthquakes people inside buildings can be indirectly exposed to the physical effects.

dition (natural) **safe areas** may exist that offer protection, e.g. high grounds in a flooded area. A sketch of a flood prone area is given in figure 2-2 to illustrate the terminology.



Figure 2-2: Sketch of the exposed area for a flooded area

After initial exposure of people to the event, the population exposed could be reduced due to escape and rescue. **Escape** refers to the movement of people by themselves through the exposed area, for example people running through a toxic cloud or moving through a flooded area. **Rescue** concerns the removal of people by others from an exposed area. Rescue and escape only prevent loss of life if people are rescued or escape before they will lose their life due to exposure.

Finally, the exposure of people to the physical effects of a disaster can result in **loss of life**. To provide an estimate, a mortality fraction is usually determined. **Mortality** is defined throughout this thesis³,⁴ as the fraction of fatalities amongst the exposed population⁵. It can be determined for one event ('event mortality') or on a more detailed level for different groups of the population ('subpopulations'), or locations affected by the event. In literature the following synonyms are used:

- Loss of life: fatalities, (number of) killed, (number of) deaths;
- Mortality: lethality, death rate, fatality rate, proportion of lives lost.

2.1.2 Existing approaches for loss of life estimation

A selection of loss of life models used in various sectors has been studied in order to derive general principles for loss of life estimation. An overview is given in table 2-1. All these models have been developed in the context of risk assessment. Special reference is made to the work by Friedman (1975) and Petak and Atkisson (1982) (both quoted in McClelland

³ Other studies might define mortality as a fraction of the population affected. The disadvantage of such a definition is that it does not take into account the actual number of exposed persons and effects of evacuation. In other contexts mortality is defined alternatively, for example as the number of killed per capita per year.

⁴ A slightly different definition has been used in section 4. There, mortality is also used to indicate the individual probability of death due to exposure.

⁵ Or alternatively: the proportion of the exposed population that does not survive.

and Bowles, 2002) as these discuss the general principles of loss of life modelling for different sectors on a conceptual level.

Field / disaster type	Model description and applications	Reference(s)
Various natural disasters	Broad (conceptual) models that could be applied to different hazards	Friedman (1975), Petak and Atkisson (1982)
Floods	Overview of methods for loss of life estimation for river, coastal and dam break floods	Jonkman <i>et al.</i> (2002), McClelland and Bowles (2002), section 6 of this thesis
Earthquakes	Earthquake Protection	Coburn and Spence (1992), Takahashi and Kubota (2003)
Volcanic eruption	Estimation of physical impacts and fatalities	Spence <i>et al.</i> (2005)
Tunnel accidents	Assessment of consequences for fires and explosion in road tunnels	Persson (2003)
Airport Safety	Method for determination of fatalities on the ground due to airplane crashes near Schiphol airport (NL)	Piers <i>et al.</i> (1992);
Chemical accidents	Dutch guidelines for estimation of consequences for chemical accidents	de Weger <i>et al.</i> (1991); CPR (1990); PGS (2003) (AIChE, 2000)

Table 2-1: Overview of models for estimation of loss of life for different fields of application

For some types of event, event mortality will be predictable without further extensive modelling: for example for airplane crashes the mortality amongst people present in the exposed or crash area appears to be relatively constant (Piers *et al.*, 1992). For other types of event, mortality shows a larger variation between different single events, due to their dependence on various event-specific variables. As an illustration, the number of fatalities is plotted against the number of people exposed for tunnel fires in figure 2-3. Combinations with constant mortality are plotted with dashed lines in this figure.



Figure 2-3: Fatalities and estimated number of people exposed ⁶ in tunnel fires ((Amundsen, 2001, analysis by O. Kübler) For some characteristic events tunnel name and year are indicated.

⁶ In this approach the number of people in the tunnel is assumed to be proportional to the tunnel length and traffic intensity.

Similar figures are available in literature for floods (Jonkman, 2005; see also section 5) and earthquakes (Coburn and Spence, 1992). These analyses indicate large variations in mortality between events within one domain. For these types of event, case-specific mortality can obviously only be predicted with sufficient accuracy when the event modelling itself moves into a sufficient level of detail and tries to include the relevant event-specific variables. Depending on these issues, loss of life modelling can be performed at different levels of detail:

- 1. **Individual level.** By accounting for individual circumstances and behaviour it is attempted to estimate the individual probability of death. For example, Assaf and Hartford (2002) propose a model for the assessment of the consequences of dam failure, which simulates individual escape behaviour.
- 2. **Group or zone level.** Groups of people, locations or zones with comparable circumstances are distinguished and mortality is estimated for these groups / zones. For example, Takahashi and Kubota (2003) estimate earthquake mortality for groups of people in different states (in home, car or in open air). Jonkman (2005) distinguishes different zones within a flooded area, applying a specific mortality function for each location (see also section 7 of this thesis).
- 3. **Overall event level.** One mortality fraction is applied to the exposed population as a whole. For the assessment of third party fatalities due to airplane crashes Piers *et al.* (1992) use one constant mortality fraction within the area affected by the crash.

It is important to note that for a proper calibration and validation of a loss of life model, the amount of available data has to be sufficient relative to the number of parameters included in the model. The eventually chosen level of detail of analysis depends on the available data for calibration of the model and the required ability to take into account the effects of risk reducing measures. In this respect so-called mechanistic⁷ or causal models are mentioned (see e.g. Piers *et al.*, 1992). These models generally analyse accident processes at a detailed (often individual) level and take into account causes of death. In practice, accident processes are often complex and involve many factors, whilst the availability of accident data is limited. Therefore a mechanistic approach is generally not feasible on a fully empirical basis.

2.1.3 Proposal for a general approach for loss of life estimation

When trying to predict the number of lives lost due to accidents in the engineering domain, it is helpful to rely on a general methodology. Such an approach is useful to estimate loss of life and to measure the effect of a risk reduction strategy in a systematic and consistent way. It is explicitly shown what kind of information is necessary to estimate the loss of life for an activity. Therefore a general approach is proposed for the estimation of loss of life due to 'small probability – large consequence' accidents in the engineering domain, such as floods, tunnel fires and chemical accidents (see also section 1.4.2 regarding the scope of this thesis). The proposed approach is mainly applicable to accidents that are characterised by dispersion of harmful physical effects and some possibilities for evacuation or escape.

⁷ Covello and Merkhoffer (1993) use a more narrow definition for mechanistic models as being dose response functions that are developed based on theoretical assumptions concerning biological processes.

It has been observed that the existing approaches of life estimation in different fields include three general elements⁸, which correspond to general elements in the QRA (see also section 3):

- 1. The assessment of **physical effects** associated with the critical event, including the dispersion of the effects and the extent of the exposed area;
- 2. Determination of the **number of people exposed** in the exposed area, taking into account the initial population at risk and the possibilities for evacuation, shelter, escape and rescue;
- 3. Estimation of the **mortality** and **loss of life** amongst the exposed population⁹, taking into account the extent of physical effects and the number of people exposed.

By combining these three main elements loss of life can be estimated as is shown in the general framework in figure 2-4. A critical event with physical effects (*c*) is assumed to occur. *c* Is a general vector signifying the event's intensity of physical effects, and it represents dimensions, such as arrival time of effects, concentration, spatial extent, etc.. The number of people at risk depends on the extent of the exposed area, which is a function of the physical effects, leading to $N_{PAR} = N_{PAR}(c)$. The exposed population (N_{EXP}) is found by correcting the population at risk for the population fractions that are able to evacuate $(F_E(c))$ or shelter $(F_S(c))$. Both fractions depend on the development of physical effects *c*:

$$N_{EXP}(c) = (1 - F_E(c))(1 - F_S(c))N_{PAR}(c)$$
(Eq. 2-1)

After initial exposure the exposed population could be further reduced by rescue and escape. These phenomena could be accounted for in quantitative modelling in the same way as evacuation and shelter, so formulas are omitted below for reasons of brevity.

Event-specific mortality is generally determined by means of so-called dose response functions, which determine mortality (F_D) as a function of the (intensity of) physical effects: $F_D(c)$. In this section¹⁰ we assume that the dose response function returns one certain (expected) number of fatalities. The number of fatalities (*N*) for an event with intensity *c* is now found by estimating the number of evacuated and sheltered people, in combination with the mortality amongst the exposed population (see also (Lentz and Rackwitz, 2004a)):

$$N(c) = F_D(c)N_{EXP}(c) = F_D(c)(1 - F_E(c))(1 - F_S(c))N_{PAR}$$
(Eq. 2-2)

 F_D , F_S and F_E can be formulated as typical distribution functions, with values: $0 \le F \le 1$. Their forms and characteristics are discussed in later sections. Based on the above elements the general framework for loss of life estimation is shown in figure 2-4.

⁸ Other authors have proposed frameworks that include similar elements, see for example (Friedman, 1975) and (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003).

⁹ This step is often indicated as vulnerability assessment, see e.g. (Friedman, 1975; Nussey et al., 1995)

¹⁰ Further implications of the uncertainty in the number of fatalities for a single release are discussed in section 4.



Figure 2-4: Framework for loss of life estimation (Note: For clarity of the figure shelter, rescue and escape are not included in figure 2-4, i.e. it is assumed that $F_{s}(c)=0$.)

In loss of life estimation the influence of **system characteristics** on evacuation, development of physical effects, and mortality has to be considered, as is shown in the upper part of the figure. Relationships between system characteristics and evacuation or dose response functions can be quantified. For example, evacuation progress will depend on the capacity of roads and exits; development of physical effects will depend on the topography and configuration of the area (e.g. tunnel or polder dimensions) and meteorological conditions.

Figure 2-4 forms the basis for further elaborations of the next section. Section 2.2 describes the assessment of the number of people exposed and evacuation, including shelter and rescue (the left part of the figure). Section 2.3 discusses the methods for estimation of mortality (the right part of the figure). The combination of both evacuation and mortality analysis is outlined in section 2.4.

2.2 Evacuation, escape, shelter and rescue

In order to estimate the extent of exposed population the number of people at risk and the effects of evacuation, escape, shelter and rescue have to be considered. Approaches for determining the number of people at risk (N_{PAR}) have been discussed in section 2.1.1 and in (Lentz, 2003; Lentz and Rackwitz, 2004a). This section concerns the analysis of evacuation, escape, shelter and rescue. First, general definitions (2.2.1) and modelling approaches (2.2.2) for evacuation and escape are described. Consequently the factors that influence the time available for evacuation (2.2.3) are analysed. Based on a literature review (Frieser, 2004) the phases that determine the time required for evacuation are outlined in section 2.2.4 to 2.2.8. Finally, shelter (2.2.9) and rescue (2.2.10) are discussed.

2.2.1 General definitions of evacuation and escape

Evacuation is defined in this study as: "the movement of people from a (potentially) exposed area to a safe location outside that area before they come into contact with physical effects"¹¹. Different 'types' of evacuation are distinguished based on the timing of displacement of people relative to the occurrence of the event:

- A) **Preventive evacuation**: Evacuation before occurrence of the event. An example is the preventive evacuation of a flood prone area before dike breach.
- B) **Forced evacuation**: Evacuation during event development, where evacuating people are not exposed to physical effects. An example is the evacuation of people out of a building during a fire, before they are exposed to smoke.
- C) **Escape** refers to the movement of people through an exposed area, for example people running through a toxic cloud or moving through a flooded area. Movement can be impeded by physical effects, e.g. due to limited visibility, reduction of walking speed or sustained injury. Eventually the exposure can lead to the death of the escaping person.

For a schematised situation, figure 2-5 shows the development of physical effects as a function of location (x) and time (t) in a so-called x,t diagram. In the left figure the development of physical effects (grey line), and different evacuation situations are depicted. In the right figure some examples of individual evacuation paths are shown with lines 1 to 4. These show 1) preventive evacuation; 2) Forced evacuation; 3) Failed escape. Line 4 shows that combination of evacuation and escape is possible, e.g. when an initially evacuating person is "overtaken" by the physical effects, but still manages to move out of the exposed area.



Figure 2-5: *x*,*t* diagram showing different evacuation phases (left) and examples of individual evacuation paths (right)

In general the possibilities for successful evacuation will depend on the time available until occurrence and arrival of the physical effects (T_A) and the time required for evacuation (T_B).

¹¹ In contrast to other studies the level of organization is not considered as a separate variable in the definition. For example, COT (1995) defines evacuation as the organised displacement of persons before event consequences occur.

The **time available** (T_A) is the time between the first signs and the occurrence of physical effects (at a location). It depends on the extent of spatial and temporal development of physical effects, i.e. $T_A = T_A(c)$. The time available depends on the type of hazard. Obviously, an event with a fast development (e.g. an explosion) leads to potentially lethal conditions faster than a slower developing event, see also section 2.2.3.

A general timeline for elements in the analysis evacuation is shown in figure 2-6. It shows the different phases of evacuation and the situations that mark the boundaries between the phases. Lindell *et al.* (2002) and Opper (2000) suggest similar evacuation timelines. A general classification of the phases of the evacuation process is supported by the literature, as the relevant evacuation phases are very similar for different disasters. For example, Mileti and Peek (2000) state that the principles of how humans respond to warnings remain constant across hazard agents as diverse as floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, explosions, and toxic chemicals. The classification proposed below is believed to be useful for the analysis of evacuation for different types of event and at different levels of detail (for individuals and fpr a whole population, see next section).



Figure 2-6: General evacuation timeline (Frieser, 2004)

The **time required** (T_R) for evacuation equals the time needed to complete the following four phases (abbreviations for the phases are indicated in the figure):

- 1. **Detection and decision-making:** A critical event is often preceded by signs, which can lead to its prediction, detection and consequent decision-making on an evacuation;
- 2. **Warning:** Following the above decision or direct warning by signs the threatened population is warned;
- 3. **Response:** This phase includes perception, interpretation and reaction to warning and / or the threat of the hazard;
- 4. **Actual evacuation:** This phase concerns the movement of people from an initial location to a safe area.

For some applications, e.g. tunnel and fire safety, the first three phases are jointly indicated as the wake up time. The different phases that determine the time required are discussed in more detail in sections 2.2.4 to 2.2.7.

2.2.2 Modelling of evacuation

Depending on the event characteristics, evacuation can be analysed at different levels of detail.

Analysis of the evacuation of a population

For larger affected populations the different phases of time required can be described by distribution functions, which can be combined in one overall distribution for evacuation $F_E(t)$. It describes the fraction of the population that can be evacuated as a function of time *t*. Figure 2-7 schematically shows the distribution curve of the time required for the evacuation process. The different phases are distinguished. The partial "failure" of different phases of evacuation has to be accounted for by including the failure of warning (fraction not-warned) and the fact that people do not respond to warnings (fraction of non-compliance). In case of a successful evacuation, the time required is smaller than the time available. Thus, the probability of successful evacuation is found as follows:

 $P(T_R \le T_A) = F_E(T_A)$ $0 \le F_E(t) \le 1$ (Eq. 2-3)

If the time available is deterministically known, $F_E(T_A)$ describes the fraction of the population at risk (N_{PAR}) that is able to leave the exposed area before conditions become potentially harmful.



Figure 2-7: Distribution function of time required for evacuation $F_E(t)$, based on different phases of evacuation

If the time available is uncertain it is possible to give a probabilistic evaluation of equation 2.3. A probability density function (pdf) describes the uncertainty in the time available. By combining the pdf with the distribution curve for the time required, the probability density function of the fraction of the population that has evacuated is obtained, see figure 2-8 (A more extensive discussion of a similar elaboration is given in section 3). From this pdf the distribution function of the number of evacuated people and the expected magnitude of the evacuated population can be obtained.



Figure 2-8: Analysis of the evacuated fraction of the population based on the pdf of time available and the distribution function of time required

Analysis of the evacuation of an individual

For certain events, such as fires in tunnels or buildings, a more detailed analysis of evacuation at an individual level is preferable. In this case, the progress of an escaping individual can be schematically shown in an x, t diagram and it can be combined with development of physical effects, see figure 2-9. Assume that the event occurs at a certain location or origin x = 0 and that the exit location lies at distance $x_{E'}$. The time available until exposure to physical effects depends on a persons' location relative to this origin. The required evacuation time is found as follows: $T_{EVAC} = x_E/v$ (i.e. distance to the exit divided by the movement speed of the evacuating person v). The distance to the exit depends on the size of the area exposed. The figure shows that evacuation will become particularly hazardous when the dispersion velocity of physical effects is larger than the movement speed of people (see also section 2.2.3). There are also situations, in which a person escapes through physical effects and still manages to reach a safe area. In that case, it is often difficult to treat the analysis of effects, evacuation and injury / mortality completely independently. The combination of these elements is discussed in more detail in section 2.4.



Figure 2-9: *x*,*t* diagram indicating development of physical effects and escape progress for a person who starts to evacuate before the occurrence of the event.

The above analysis treats evacuation and escape of an individual in one spatial dimension. In practical situations the problem has to be analysed in two dimensions or even three dimensions when both horizontal and vertical movement are possible. The possibilities for evacuation will be determined by the location of escape routes and exits relative to the development direction of physical effects. Some conceptual situations are shown in figure 2-10. For example for dam break in a narrow canyon, it is only safe to move out of the canyon up the hill. In a tunnel fire or toxic release safe escape might be possible in directions opposite or perpendicular to development of effects.



Figure 2-10: Safe escape routes relative to exposed area and development of physical effects

Choice of a modelling approach for evacuation

In practice a choice between the two modelling approaches (individual vs. population analysis) has to be made. It will depend on the characteristics of the situation and the preferred level of detail of output. For example, for flood evacuation one can choose to model the spatial and temporal development of individual evacuation in a detailed traffic model or to use the general population evacuation curves for the whole area. The first approach results in a spatial distribution of the evacuated fraction. The second approach results in one constant evacuated fraction for the whole area, which is independent of the location of people in that area. It can be shown that both approaches (individual and population analysis) are equivalent. Appendix 2.I proofs that the distribution of the number of evacuated people over time can be obtained by combining the analysis of the individual escape in an x,t diagram with the population density.

2.2.3 Time available for evacuation

The **time available** is the time between the first signs and the occurrence of physical effects. Two elements determine the time available for evacuation at a certain location, see figure 2-11 for an example:

- 1) The time available between the first signs and the initial release of physical effects at the hazard source;
- 2) The time available between occurrence of the critical event (at the hazard source) and the arrival of effects at a certain location.



Figure 2-11: Elements determining the time available for location x*

Ad 1) The time available before onset of the critical event is an essential variable determining the possibilities for evacuation. Petrucelli (2003) states "evacuation can be simple to perform before a catastrophic event – if the event can be predicted sufficiently in advance with reasonable certainty". The possibility to predict, warn and evacuate before the event occurs largely depends on the type of hazard (see also table 2-2).

Ad 2) The time span between occurrence of an event and arrival of physical effects at a location depends on the dispersion velocity of physical effects $v_{effects}$ [m/s]¹². Approximate indications of dispersion velocity of physical effects for different types of event are given in table 2-2. Evacuation after initiation of an event could be effective if the evacuation speed is larger than the dispersion velocity of physical effects, so if: $v > v_{effects}$ As movement speed of people approximately varies between ±1 m/s (walking) and ±10 m/s (car), only events with lower dispersion velocities will allow evacuation after occurrence of the event. For practical development of evacuation strategies, contour plots can be used that show the arrival time of physical effects for an area.

¹² Events with very large movement speeds of the physical effects, e.g. explosions, can be considered as acting instantaneously. Event development can be approximated in the x,t diagram (Figure 2-9) with an (almost) horizontal line as dx/dt is very large (and $dt/dx \approx 0$).

Table 2-2: Approximations of time available before occurrence of critical event and dispersion velocity of effects for different hazards

Type of event	Time available between first signs and occurrence of event	Dispersion velocity of effects	
Airplane crash	0 to seconds	Instantaneous	
Explosion	0 to seconds ¹³	100 to 2000 m/s	
Earthquake	Seconds to minutes	100 to 1000 m/s (from epicentre)	
Toxic release dispersed by wind	Seconds to minutes	several m/s (depends on wind speed)	
Fire	Seconds to minutes	1 to several m/s (depends on ventilation)	
Dam breach	Seconds to hours	10-100 m/s	
Tsunami	Seconds to hours (depends on warning system)	several m/s (on land)	
Coastal flood Hours		1 to several m/s (on land)	
River flood	Hours to days	1 to several m/s (on land)	

The possibilities to reduce loss of life by evacuation will differ between types of event. Sudden events with rapidly moving effects will allow neither evacuation before the event, nor sufficient time for escape after the event. These can be characterised as "self-reporting accidents" (Ale, personal communication). Examples are explosions, airplane crashes and earthquakes. For such events it is reasonable to assume that $F_E = 0$, thus the whole population at risk is exposed. For cases where the time available is too small to allow evacuation, shelter might be an option to reduce the number of people exposed. For example, during fires in long road tunnels people are unable to leave the tunnel by foot, but they might find shelter in emergency niches. Other events, such as river floods will be predictable in advance and the physical effects develop relatively slowly. For these events evacuation will be an important factor for the reduction of loss of life and it has to be taken into account in loss of life estimation.

The above issues are supported by analyses of statistics on natural disasters. On a global scale average event mortalities appear to be relatively high for events with little or no warning possibilities, such as earthquakes and flash floods (Jonkman, 2005). With regard to landslides, Guzzetti (2000) and Alexander (2004) show that fast-moving failures were responsible for more than 80 percent of deaths and injuries, while slow-moving landslides rarely resulted in casualties.

2.2.4 Time required for evacuation: Detection, prediction and decision-making

Signs of a possible disaster could initiate the evacuation process if they are noticed. An example of such sign is a high river discharge in a river. The possibility to detect and predict an event depends on the event signs, the awareness of the potential danger and the availability of prediction systems. For some events, accurate prediction is not achievable as the time between the signs and occurrence of the event is too short (e.g. for an explosion or airplane crash).

¹³ Not all explosions will occur suddenly and unexpectedly. Some types of explosion, e.g. a so-called boiling liquid expanding vapour explosion (BLEVE), can be caused by heating of vessel containing gas. This type of explosion can sometimes be predicted in advance.

After detection of a hazard it will be observed and monitored (e.g. water levels on a river). This information needs to be communicated to the responsible decision makers to consider the necessity of an evacuation. Early warning and evacuation can prevent serious consequences, but on the other hand it can result in unnecessary evacuation with the associated costs if the event does not occur. Postponement of the decision will allow the collection of more information. This can result in a better prediction (of the probability of) occurrence of disaster. However, the consequences might be larger if the disaster occurs because evacuation was initiated too late or not at all. Decision-making is concluded by a notification to the appropriate community officials in order to start spread evacuation warning

A review of literature by Frieser (2004) showed that the time between the detection of the first signs and final decision-making may span several days for threatening natural disasters. However, if an event has already occurred the time required for this phase ranges from a few minutes to several hours. For example, for accidents with hazardous materials Bellamy (1986) concludes that official warnings after the disaster come with a delay of about 1,5 to 3 hours.

2.2.5 Time required for evacuation: Warning

People at risk can be warned by either by direct perception of the threat (for example smoke, heat, smell) or indirectly by other sources, which can include:

- Media: television, radio, internet;
- Warning systems: loudspeakers, sirens;
- Personal dissemination: by emergency personnel, or the social network;
- Other communication systems: (mobile) telephones, e.g. with text messages.

The effectiveness of warning depends on warning characteristics and it differs between the different warning sources. In general, the possibilities to spread the official warning amongst the whole affected population depends on the level of preparation (e.g. on the presence of disaster plans) and the possibilities for communication between authorities and the public. Warning is crucial for the initiation of the evacuation process. Due to difficulties in the dissemination of the warning a certain fraction of the population may not be warned at all. For example, during river floods in 2000 in the UK, only 30% of the questioned people did receive warning prior to their house being flooded (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003).

For larger scale events (hurricanes, floods) most people will be warned within several hours. However, for more immediate and small-scale events, such as building or tunnel fires warning times might be much smaller due to direct warning, e.g. by alarm systems or direct perception.

2.2.6 Time required for evacuation: Response

The response phase includes the perception, interpretation and reaction to warning and / or the threat of the hazard. The principles of how humans respond to warning remain constant across diverse hazards such as floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, explosion, and chemical accidents (Mileti and Peek, 2000). Therefore a general framework for the response phase is shown in figure 2-12, which is based on work by Rogers and Sorensen (1989) and (Canter, 1990).



Figure 2-12: framework for response to warning in case of an emergency (based on (Rogers, 1989) and (Canter, 1990))

Within the response phase two sub-phases are distinguished: 1) the interpretation and perception and 2) the response behaviour selection. Barriers exist between different phases. These are shown with dashed lines to account for people who do not receive the warning, and non-compliance to the warning.

Interpretation and perception of warning

The response phase starts with the receipt of a warning (either by official warning or direct warning by the physical effects). The interpretation / perception of the warning and the corresponding hazard strongly depends on the type of warning. When the danger is imminent, for example when the heat is felt and the smoke is seen and smelt, people tend to respond relatively fast. For less immediate threats people may respond slower. In many cases "The initial response to a disaster warning is disbelief" (Drabek, 1986). Rogers and Sorensen (1989) give empirical evidence for two accidents with the transportation of hazardous materials, in which the majority of the warned population (59% and 81%) disregarded initial warning information. In order to improve perception of the warning people tend to seek confirmation of the warning from other sources. It has been observed for fire cases (Fischer et al., 1995) that people tend to move to the accident site in order to investigate the hazard. A related form of behaviour concerns so-called 'disaster tourism', when people move towards the hazard source to observe the event unfolding. Thereby they might become part of the exposed population themselves. This type of behaviour has been reported during relatively recent events, for example the fireworks disaster in Enschede (Netherlands) in 2000.

According to Fischer *et al.* (1995) several variables appear to increase the likelihood of warning being taken seriously and acted on properly. These variables include the clarity and consistency of the warning message(s), the frequency of warning and the type of authority which is giving the message, the accuracy of past warnings, and the frequency of the disaster. In addition to these the time of the day (day / night) is considered as an important factor in compliance to warnings.

Response

Figure 2-12 shows that the warning-response process is not a direct stimulus response process, as it follows a series of decisions (Mileti and Peek, 2000). Behaviour selection includes an (implicit) weighing of costs and benefits, as people will attempt to minimize their damage and injury. As an outcome of the decision, different actions can be under-taken. Apart from actual evacuation, other possible actions include: "warn others", "fight" or "wait" (Canter, 1990). Several aspects may influence people's responses and the resulting behaviour. People in emergency situations have the tendency to continue the behaviour they show in normal situations. This normal role taking behaviour can have an important influence on their behaviour during emergencies. It is often argued that experience with the event and its effects are important determinants for compliance and behaviour selection. However, for the case of hurricanes no consistent relationship has been documented for whether or not individuals who experienced a hurricane before are more likely to evacuate (Whitehead *et al.*, 2000).

Non-compliance

Figure 2-12 indicates two types of non-compliance. Firstly a warning can be received but not perceived, believed or understood. Observations from different types accidents and experiments showed that people neglected observable signs of immediate danger (Boer, 2002). In the case of the second type of non-compliance the warning is perceived, but is consciously decided to undertake action other than evacuation. "Property binding", the fear of theft or lack of options to evacuate might motivate people to stay inside the (potentially) exposed area.

The above considerations may partly form an explanation of non-compliance to warning orders observed in multiple cases. Lindell *et al.* (2002) report non-compliance rates for hurricane warnings in the United States between 35% and 64%. For chemical accidents the range of non- evacuees was between 2 and 74% of those warned (Bellamy, 1986).

The actions (or non-actions) of people in the response phase can be crucial for survival. Psychological studies stress the importance of providing people with information to facilitate decision-making and effective actions. The information should be informative and given rapidly, and early action should be emphasised.

Response time

The time required for response can be characterised as the passage of time between the receipt of the warning message and the start of actual evacuation. The response time is needed for interpretation of the warning and the preparation of evacuation. Rogers and Sorensen (1989) indicate an average response time of an hour for two hazardous materials transportation accidents in the United States. Lindell *et al.* (2002) give distributions of response times for hurricanes in the United States, showing that 90% of the population was prepared to leave about 6 hours after warning. If immediate danger is perceived lower response times can be expected. Thus, estimates of response times are case specific and they are generally not directly transferable to other types of event.

2.2.7 Time required for evacuation: Actual evacuation

This phase covers the actual movement from an initial location to a safe area. Several characteristics of the population at risk can influence the development of an evacuation. These include the magnitude and the spatial and age distribution of the population. Evacuation will also depend on the area size and type, and capacity and configuration of escape routes and exits. Other conditions, such as weather and time of the day, may play an important role in the evacuation development. Some authors have analysed the relevance of some of the above factors. For chemical accidents, Bellamy (1986) concludes that the number of evacuated people does not appear to have a very large effect on increasing evacuation times. The data on different types of accidents provided by Hans and Sell (1974) indicates that more time is required for evacuation as population density decreases. Firstly it is suggested that road networks decrease as population density decreases leading to an increase of warning may become more difficult as population density decreases leading to an increase of warning time.

Furthermore organizational aspects may influence escape and evacuation. An example is the management of evacuation traffic flows to prevent clogging of cars at bottlenecks in the road network. Also specific difficulties may be associated with the evacuation of vulnerable groups such as disabled people, elderly or tourists who are not familiar with local circumstances. Experience from practical evacuations (Fischer *et al.*, 1995; COT, 1995) suggests that during mass evacuation only a small percentage of the evacuated population uses public transportation (in the order of magnitude of 10%) and that most people evacuate by themselves.

Behavioural aspects of evacuation: panic

Often panic¹⁴ is indicated as a major factor in accidents, which has an important influence on behaviour. Sime (1990) argues that observed "panic" behaviour is in fact often an adequate and predictable¹⁵ reaction (e.g. pushing others to run away from a nearby fire). (Hans and Sell, 1974) and (Mileti and Peek, 2000) state that systematic research of real crowds in emergencies has failed to find empirical support for the existence of this type of behaviour. However, Bellamy (1986) gives some observations of inappropriate behaviour during chemical accidents, for example running towards the danger, and estimates that about 20% of the people show inappropriate behaviour.

Escape

In the case of escape people move through the physical effects. Firstly, the effects can reduce escape speed since movement through the exposed area is impeded, e.g. by water or smoke¹⁶. The reduction of escape route capacity due to physical effects should be accounted for (Urbanik, 2000): for example roads that are flooded or damaged by an earthquake. Another factor concerns the limited orientation and visibility of escape routes and exits, e.g. a room full of smoke. In addition, injuries sustained due to exposure to physical effects might decrease movement speed. Finally, the physical effects might lead to an altered perception, change of consciousness, and thus changes in behaviour.

¹⁴ Panic is a sudden irrational feeling of great fear.

¹⁵ In this respect Canter (1990) mentions that behaviour is defined by the setting in which it takes place.

¹⁶ Jin (1997) shows how walking speed of people in fire smoke is reduced due to limited visibility.

Estimation of the evacuation time

An estimation of the time required for (actual) evacuation has to account for the main factors mentioned above. Several models have been developed to provide evacuation time estimates (ETE's) for different fields of application. These models generally contain relationships between the number of vehicles or people on the escape way and the possible evacuation rate (people / time unit). Three types of evacuation models can be distinguished (Petrucelli, 2003):

- Dissipation rate models: aggregate formula for estimating evacuation time based on size and shape of the system and number of people in it;
- Manual capacity modelling: uses techniques to allocate people to the escape network, while taking into account capacities;
- Micro simulation: simulates evacuation on a micro-, often individual level.

Existing evacuation models mainly consider technical elements, (number evacuating people and the capacity and configuration of the escape ways and exits). Helbing *et al.* (2000) have developed a model for the movement of people through exits in which psychological aspects (e.g. group behaviour) as well as physical aspects (interacting "push" forces between humans, and exit capacity) are integrated. In general, analyses of evacuation time have to address technical as well as behavioural elements.

2.2.8 Time required for evacuation: Summary of main factors

Based on the above review of literature some main factors that influence the time required for evacuation are summarized in table 2-3. Factors have been categorised¹⁷ according to the evacuation phase, and category of system elements. Physical effects are included as a separate category as these can also have an important influence on evacuation progress.

	System configuration	Procedures and organisation	Physical effects
Prediction and decision-making	 Prediction and detection systems 	Decision-making	• Signs
Warning		 Official warning systems Warning source Fraction not- warned 	Direct warning by physical effects
Response		 Warning message and characteristics and belief of warning Selection of action Fraction non-compliance Level of preparation 	Perception and awareness of physical effects
Evacuation	 Configuration and capacity of escape routes and exits 	 Evacuation management Number of people and characteristics Behaviour (direction of flight) 	 Threat of physical effects Reduction of escape routes

Table 2-3: Main factors influencing the time required for evacuation.

From the overview it can be seen that organisational factors are most relevant in the warning and response phases. The final evacuation / escape phase is dominated by the interac-

¹⁷ The categorisation by system element is a generalisation, because there will always be interactions between the different types of system elements. For example, prediction itself will require a physical measurement system (for example for gauges for water levels), people interpreting the data, and a decision-making structure.

tion between system configuration and organisational factors. The (threatening) physical effects can strongly influence all four stages.

2.2.9 Shelter

Within the exposed area people may find protection in **shelters.** These are constructions¹⁸ in the exposed area, which offer protection to people. Examples of shelters are high-rise buildings during floods, or emergency niches in a tunnel that are safe during a fire. For floods, shelter within the exposed area is often indicated as **vertical evacuation**. Given the meaning attributed to evacuation in this study, that term is not adopted here.

Different types of shelters can be distinguished, see also FEMA (2001). Single-use shelters are constructed with the sole purpose to provide shelter during disasters. Examples are special cyclone shelters constructed in Bangladesh and emergency niches in the tunnel. In many cases it is more efficient to develop facilities that have a certain regular function during normal conditions, but serve as shelter during an disastrous event. These are indicated as multi-use shelters. An example is the use of a sports stadium as a hurricane shelter. These types of shelter facilities should be designed to withstand the loads in disaster conditions safely. For some types of event constructions that were originally not designed as shelters could provide shelter, for example high-rise buildings during floods.

There are some important issues related to the effects shelters on loss of life. For an adequate utilisation of shelters it is important that people are warned before the disaster and that they have information regarding the presence of shelters and the accessibility of shelters before the onset of the event. During the disaster shelters should preferably still be accessible and recognisable. For example during a tunnel fire the visibility of emergency niches is a point of concern. Another issue is that shelters may only offer partial protection, as people in the shelter may still be exposed to a certain level of physical effects. For example during nuclear or chemical accidents, radiation or concentration levels may be only partially reduced by the shelter. Finally, it is noted that adverse health conditions may develop in shelters when many people have to stay there for a long period. Sheltering is generally an attractive risk reduction strategy when evacuation of the whole population is not feasible (see also section 2.2.3).

2.2.10 Rescue and emergency actions

The emergency services include the police, fire brigade, medical services and professional rescuers. Their actions can influence loss of life in several ways. Based on the general steps for loss of life estimation, the effects of rescue and emergency operations can be categorised. These can:

- Reduce physical effects (*c*) or prevent their further development;
- Reduce the number of people exposed (N_{EXP}) by rescue;
- Influence mortality (F_D) and loss of life, by means of treatment of injured people that would not have survived otherwise and / or due to the occurrence of additional fatalities amongst the rescuers.

¹⁸ Shelters concern human built constructions. The absence of a shelter at a considered location would imply that a person at that specific location would be exposed.

Given the scope of this section, the reduction of the number of people exposed and loss of life are further discussed. Rescue (often indicated as search and rescue) concerns the removal of people by others from (potentially dangerous locations inside) an exposed area. For example, removing people from houses or trees in a flooded area can reduce the number of people exposed. Rescue can only prevent loss of life if people are rescued before they become a (potential) fatality. Thus, the effects of rescue on loss of life have to be considered relative to survival of people as a function of time after the disaster. For example, Kuwata and Takada (2004) analyse the effectiveness of rescue after earthquakes based on the probability of survival under debris as a function time. This implies that there will be a certain critical period in which rescue is still possible. For example for earthquakes search and rescue are reported to be critical within the first 48 hours (Tsai et al., 2001). Slager (1992) reports that for the 1953 flood in the Netherlands most people were rescued within the first 48 hours. For other types of event, such as tunnel and building fires, less time is available to save people from the exposed area. In this respect the delay in the initiation of rescue actions will be very important. Depending on the event type and region, the delays in the actions of emergency services can range from about 15 minutes (e.g. for tunnel and building fires) to hours or even days (e.g. for floods and earthquakes). In addition, the capacity of emergency services has to be taken into account relative to the number of people that have to be rescued. In the analysis of search and rescue actions the environment in the exposed area is important. The physical effects in the area could hamper rescue operations (e.g. limited visibility) or require the use of special equipment. Whether mortality can be prevented by medical treatment of injured people will also depend on the type of injury.

Additional fatalities may occur amongst those that perform rescue actions. Experiences with some large accidents (Twin Towers 9-11-2001, Mont Blanc tunnel fire in 1999) have shown that additional deaths may occur amongst rescuers who undertake, when analysed afterwards, inappropriate action. An investigation in the Netherlands (IOOV, 2004) showed that in the period 1989-2003 (16 years) 28 firemen lost their lives during operation. Knowledge of appropriate rescue operations in difficult circumstances (e.g. swift water rescue) could contribute to reduction of fatalities amongst rescuers.

Depending on the type of event and the level of detail of analysis, the actions of emergency services could be considered in loss of life estimation. In this context it is noted that the influence of rescue actions might already be included in some loss of life models, because these were empirically derived using data from historical disasters in which emergency services operated.

2.3 Estimation of mortality

2.3.1 General approach

The physical effects of a critical event could affect people and various types of objects and assets. Different damage types could result, such as loss of life, economic damage and damages to ecological, cultural and historical values. This thesis focuses on the estimation of loss of life.

In the reporting and analysis of fatalities due to disasters a distinction is often made between fatalities caused by either the direct or indirect exposure to the event, see e.g. Combs *et al.* (1999). **Directly** related deaths are those (directly) caused by the physical effects of the event. **Indirectly** related deaths are those caused by unsafe or unhealthy conditions that occur because of the anticipation to, or actual occurrence of the disaster. The occurrence of direct fatalities can be conceptually modelled with the load-resistance concept (which is similar to the hazard-vulnerability approach), see figure 2-13. If the load of physical effects exceeds the resistance of an individual, mortality will occur due to a certain failure mechanism or medical cause. For example, the hydraulic load on a person in flowing water could exceed a person's resistance to withstand the flow and lead to instability (failure mechanism) and possibly consequent drowning.



Figure 2-13: Load and resistance factors that result in loss of life due to a specific medical cause

In the analysis of loss of life different death causes might be accounted for. Direct fatalities can be caused by (van der Torn, 2002):

- Mechanical impacts: energetic impact of shock waves, projectiles and other physical impacts;
- Radiological, Nuclear, Biological, Chemical (RNBC) impacts;
- Thermal impacts due to temperature and heat radiation;
- Other impacts: asphyxiation, drowning and others.

Indirect fatalities might also be associated with psychological effects (e.g. stress leading to heart attacks) and diseases and illnesses caused by the event. Based on the above general approach it is possible to define more specific categorizations of death causes for event types, see for example (Jonkman and Kelman, 2005) for floods and (Chan *et al.*, 2003) for earthquakes.

2.3.2 Dose response functions

A **dose response function** gives a relationship between the (intensity of the) physical effects and the mortality in the exposed population¹⁹. It shows how the occurrence of mortality in the population is associated with the degree of exposure to physical effects. In this thesis **mortality function** is used as synonym. A dose response function is conceptually similar to so-called fragility or vulnerability curves. These are used to model the probability of structural failure of buildings as a function of loads, e.g. for earthquakes.

A dose response function forms the distribution function of resistances in a population. Its shape reflects the variability of resistances in a population. A general formulation for the dose response function can be given based on the load-resistance approach. We assume

¹⁹ In other contexts dose response functions are also used to model other non-lethal health effects, such as injury and hindrance due to noise. A more general definition, not restricted to mortality, is given in (Covello and Merkhoffer, 1993): "A dose response model is a functional relationship between the dose and an adverse health response."

exposure of a population to a certain intensity²⁰ of physical effects *c*. This represents the load. The lethal resistance intensity for a human is c_R . Now the dose response function can be formulated as follows²¹:

$$F_D(c) = P(c_R < c)$$
 $0 \le F_D(c) \le 1$ (Eq. 2-4)

Dose response functions are usually applied to estimate one certain (expected) number of fatalities in an exposed group. It is also possible to analyse the uncertainty in the outcome of exposure of people to a given load, e.g. due to model uncertainty in the dose response function. This topic is further elaborated in section 4.

The intensity of physical effects c is generally characterized by means of one variable, which is expected to be associated with the main causes of death. For example, flood mortality is estimated as a function of water depth because drowning becomes more likely when the water gets deeper. For some applications, the combined influence of multiple characteristics of the physical effects will be relevant for loss of life. If one variable is included in the dose response function, other variables could be implicitly included because these are associated with the primary variable²². Some characteristics of the physical effects could have a certain physical relationship with each other. For example, it is expected that floods with large water depths are also characterised by larger rise rates and flow velocities (see section 7.2).

Two main types of variables are used within the dose response function to indicate the intensity of effects: the instantaneous intensity of physical effects and the dose of physical effects over a certain time period²³. The **instantaneous** intensity is used for phenomena where instantaneous exposure is important and injury / mortality occurs when some threshold value is exceeded. For toxic substances the intensity is generally expressed as a concentration, but depending on the field of application other determinants can be used to express intensity, e.g. water depth for a flood (see section 7) or air pressure associated with an explosion. Usually the maximum intensity during exposure is representative.

The **dose** of physical effects is considered when the cumulative effect of exposure over a certain time frame is relevant. This could be the case for the assessment of the adverse health effects due to an inhaled dose of toxic substances over time. When the intensity of effects varies over time it must be specified by a time-varying concentration, i.e. c(t). The dose is found by integrating this concentration over time. This approach is generally used in the estimation of mortality due to exposure to toxic substances for chemical accidents, for example with so-called probit functions (see also below).

The dependency of mortality on the intensity of physical effects has been discussed above. For many applications the probability of getting killed due to exposure will also depend on the state or situation in which a person is present. Dose response functions can be developed for various relevant situations. For example, Takahashi and Kubota (2003) estimate

²⁰ The intensity of physical effects could refer to a (instantaneous) concentration of physical effects or to a dose of effects sustained over a certain time. (exposure concentration over a certain period).

²¹ Equation 2-4 gives the probability that the lethal intensity cR is smaller that the exposure intensity c.

²² In epidemiology, these implicitly included variables are indicated as uncontrolled confounding factors (Hennekens and Buring, 1987).

²³ An analogy is found in mechanics where the (instantaneous) force on a construction can be considered or the impulse associated with a force acting over a certain time period.

earthquake mortality for groups of persons in different states (in home, car or in open air). Sometimes it is possible to relate the dose response function directly to the physical failure mechanism that results in failure or loss of life. An example is the function used for the determination of human instability in flowing water. It can be derived from the momentum equilibrium of a person standing in a water (Abt *et al*, 1989; section 6.3 of this thesis). At a detailed level the eventual estimation of consequences to humans, might necessitate an assessment of the impacts of physical effects on structures or objects in which the humans are present. However, in many applications it is chosen to develop one general dose response function, which is applicable over the exposed population as a whole, regardless of the exact states of the individuals.

2.3.3 Derivation of dose response functions

General

Theoretically, a dose response function could be derived by testing the response of a population to exposure to physical effects in controlled settings. For phenomena with direct and acute response a fictitious experiment could be defined. The intensity of physical effects is gradually increased and it is recorded when members of the tested population perish as a function of the measured intensity. The result would be a cumulative distribution of the number of fatalities as a function of the intensity of physical effects. Scaling of the number of fatalities to the exposed population results in the mortality or response fraction. The resulting series of observations could be connected by a stepwise cumulative distribution. Especially if there are a large number of measurements, the line can be reasonably approximated by a continuous distribution. Figure 2-14 shows a fictitious example for 10 observations regarding exposure to a dose of certain physical effects. Each observation represents roughly a 10 percent response fraction. The connecting (stepwise) cumulative distribution and a normal distribution as a continuous approximation are shown.



Figure 2-14: Example of mortality distribution as a function of exposure dose.

For phenomena where the response follows with some delay after exposure a typical test layout is as follows (see e.g. Zwart and Woutersen (1988)); Multiple populations are exposed to various levels of physical effects. Over a certain period the occurrence of mortality is observed. Mortality fractions are plotted as a function of the sustained doses and a bestfit dose response function is derived from this dataset.

The above shows that a dose response function is generally derived based on data obtained from a specific population. Formally, this dose response function can only be applied to populations that have the same characteristics as the original population. In practice it is often (implicitly) assumed that the studied population has the same characteristics as the original population.

Data sources for derivation of dose response functions

Obviously, due to ethical concerns, it is impossible to undertake controlled and repeated lethal experiments with humans in practice. Therefore, two types of sources are generally used to derive dose response functions: empirical data from observations regarding human mortality during past disasters or the results of animal tests.

Observations regarding human mortality during past disasters²⁴ have the advantage that they are realistic²⁵, but data are often difficult to obtain during crisis situations and will be collected under uncontrolled circumstances. As a result data on important determinants of loss of life could be unavailable. Biases might be introduced in the derivation of the dose response function because data from specific events are selected, e.g. only high fatality events are included in the analysis. In addition, the available measurements from different disasters could represent different (unmeasured) conditions and populations with different vulnerabilities. As few toxicity data for man are available, especially in the higher response fractions, human dose response functions can be derived by extrapolating data from **animal tests**. Scaling factors have been established to account for differences in breathing volume, lung area and body weight. These tests have the advantage that they can be performed in controlled settings. However, large uncertainties exist with respect to scaling the results to humans (mechanisms, routes of transportation). A more extensive discussion of strengths and limitations of animal tests and epidemiological studies is provided by Covello and Merkhoffer (1993).

2.3.4 Characteristic forms of dose response functions

The simplest form of a dose response function assumes a constant mortality fraction F_D amongst the exposed population, irrespective of the magnitude of physical effects. Examples of such functions are the values applied to ground fatalities for airplane crashes $(F_D = 0,28 \text{ within the crash area (Piers$ *et al.* $, 1992))}$. For some other types of event variations in mortality could exist between locations or situations. Nevertheless, it could sometimes still be reasonable to assume a constant mortality, because average event mortalities are generally in the same range. For example for storm surge floods, a mortality value $F_D = 0,01$ seems a good first order approximation (see section 5).

²⁴ Within epidemiology such analyses would indicated as a retrospective cohort study (Hennekens and Buring, 1987). Retrospective because they are carried out after exposure. Cohort study because only the people that are exposed are included. 25 In this respect Dominici *et al.* (2005) mention: "High exposures associated with disasters can provide a natural experiment." and "Ultimately, as perverse as it may sound, epidemiologists must view disasters as important opportunities to learn."

The dependency of F_D can also be displayed in discrete form with a step function. When no harmful effect occurs until a certain level of exposure is exceeded, a so-called threshold phenomenon is observed. If the critical threshold value of physical effects (c_{α}) is exceeded, mortality equals a certain (constant) value q [-]:



Figure 2-15: Discrete dose response function

An example of such a discrete dose response function is the so-called threshold exposure limit, see for example (SAVE, 2002) and the Acute Exposure Guideline Level (AEGL) system proposed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency²⁶. The threshold exposure limit is used to express the dose level at which the general population could experience certain health effects. Such values are used in emergency response to express the dose or concentration at which the general population could experience certain health effects. In general three limits are proposed to account for 1) discomfort; 2) health effects; 3) life threatening health effects or death. The suggested values are aimed at the more susceptible groups of the population²⁷. In using the threshold exposure limit for loss of life estimation it is often assumed that the whole exposed population will decease if the limit is exceeded. It is questionable whether this is a correct representation of the variation in population's response as the resistance distribution over the population is neglected. If the exposure intensity exceeds the threshold limit higher resistances of certain persons in the exposed group are neglected, and consequence and risk levels might be overestimated. Similarly consequences can be underestimated, for dose values below the threshold limit. Given these considerations it seems that the resistance distribution of the population gives a more appropriate representation of the variability of responses. A further discussion on the application of discrete threshold exposure limits is provided in appendix 2.II.

Discrete mortality values for different situations and levels of physical effects can be displayed in a table, resulting in a multinomial distribution. Graham (1999) gives an example of this approach for dam break floods. Earthquake-induced building collapse includes so many side constraints that it is impossible to express F_D other than in tables listing typical values for different building types, failure mechanisms, etc., see e.g. (Coburn and Spence, 1992; Murakami, 1992).

²⁶ http://www.epa.gov/oppt/, accessed July 2006.

²⁷ Therefore they are generally considered to be equivalent to a lethal response in small fractions of the population. The life threatening AEGL value is assumed to correspond to a mortality of 10-2 (PGS, 2003).

In some cases, data are insufficient for establishing an absolute dose response function over the whole range of response values between 0 and 1. Then, one can alternatively relate a change in dose to a change²⁸ in response over a limited exposure range with a linear relationship, i.e. $\Delta F_D / \Delta c$ =constant. Such an approach is generally used, when an epidemiological study is concerned with a phenomenon associated with chronic exposure and small response fractions. An example is a study on the effects of air pollution on mortality, see e.g. (Samet *et al.*, 2000).

Dose response functions have been developed which express mortality as a (continuous) function of the intensity of physical effects. Some typical shapes found in literature are discussed below.

Lind and Hartford (2000) use a **normal distribution** function to account for uncertainties in occurrence of instability of people in flowing water.

Empirical analysis of historical data shows that the correlation between flood mortality and water depth can be described with a rising **exponential distribution** (Jonkman, 2004; see also section 7 of this thesis), see equation 2-6. A disadvantage of this type of function is that mortality F_D >0 for *c*=0:

$$F_D(c) = e^{\frac{c-A}{B}} \qquad 0 \le c \le A$$

$$F_D(c) = 1 \qquad c > A$$
(Eq. 2-6)²⁹

Where: *h* - water depth [m]; *A*,*B* - parameters of the distribution curve [m](Note that A equals the intensity of effects for which mortality becomes 1).



Figure 2-16: Exponential dose response function

Covello and Merkhoffer (1993) describe some additional shapes of dose response function that are not discussed in detail here. These functions include the logit and Weibull distributions.

 $F_D = Ce^{Dh} \qquad 0 \le h \le -\ln(C)/D$

²⁸ This approach encompasses the determination of the derivative of the dose response function over a small range of exposures.

²⁹ Often the exponential distribution is written in another form:

where $C = \exp(-A/B)$ and D = 1/B. The benefit of the formulation in eq.2-6 is that it directly indicates the domain of the function.

Probit function (=lognormal dose response function)

The most commonly used dose response function is the probit function (Finney, 1972). This model assumes that the relationship between the logarithmic value of the dose and mortality can be described with a cumulative normal distribution. The result is an S-shaped relationship between dose and mortality, see figure 2-17. Probits are used to model both lethal and non-lethal health effects for different substances. In (CPR, 1990) probit functions are given for the response of humans to explosions, toxic substances and heat radiation. The general expression for the probit value is:

$$\Pr = a + b \ln(c^n t)$$
 (Eq. 2-7)³⁴

Where: a, b, n - probit constants that are used to influence shape and position of the distribution function (see below)[-]; c - concentration (often expressed in [mg/m³] for toxic substance, but e.g. [kN/m²] for explosion pressure); t - exposure duration (often expressed in [min])

The mortality fraction (F_D) is found as follows:

$$F_D(\mathbf{Pr}) = \Phi_N \left(\frac{\mathbf{Pr} - \boldsymbol{\mu}_D}{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_D}\right)$$
(Eq. 2-8)

Where: Φ_N – Cumulative normal distribution, Pr - probit value [-], μ_D = 5, σ_D = 1.



Figure 2-17: Probit or lognormal function

It can be shown that the current probit approach can also be formulated by means of the **lognormal distribution** with two constants. It is also interesting to note that the product of (a large number of) independent stochastic variables has a lognormal distribution. The probit represents the combined influence of different factors on mortality. For exposure to a constant concentration, the terms *c* and *t* can be separated and we find (**Eq. 2-9**):

$$F_{D}(c) = \Phi_{N}\left(\frac{a+b\ln(c^{n}t)-\mu_{D}}{\sigma_{D}}\right) = \Phi_{N}\left(\frac{a+bn\cdot\ln(c)+b\ln(t)-\mu_{D}}{\sigma_{D}}\right) = \Phi_{N}\left(\frac{\ln(c)-\frac{1}{bn}(\mu_{D}-a-b\ln(t))}{\sigma_{D}/(bn)}\right)$$

Thus, mortality can be determined as a function of the intensity of physical effects with a lognormal distribution with two constants:

$$F_{D}(c) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(c) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$\mu_{N} = \frac{1}{bn} (\mu_{D} - a - b \ln t) \qquad \sigma_{N} = \sigma_{D} / (bn)$$
(Eq. 2-10)

³⁰ The original general expression for the probit can also be formulated as: Pr=a+b1ln(c)+b2 ln(t); with b=b2 and n=b1/b2.

In this formulation the mortality has a normal distribution when it is plotted as a function of ln(c). Mortality has a lognormal distribution when it is plotted as a function of $c(^{31})$. The value of *a* mainly influences the horizontal position of the dose response function. The values of *b* and *n* indicate the relative importance of concentration and exposure duration and they influence the standard deviation. In practical applications values of *b* and *n* are held constant, e.g. bn=2 (PGS, 2003). This implies that the standard deviation of the lognormal distribution is fixed. For some typical values of *b* and *n* that are applied in practice, the corresponding lognormal distributions functions have been derived in Appendix 2.III. Equation 2-9 shows that for a given probit function (*a*,*b* and *n* known) and a known exposure duration *t*, mortality can be directly expressed as a function of the concentration with the lognormal distribution.

The existing probit approach uses two equations, which include five constants (*a*, *b*, *n*, μ_D and σ_D). Instead, a direct derivation of a lognormal distribution of mortality based on the available observations is more insightful. This limits the number of equations (one) and constants (two).

Fractional effective dose

The Fractional effective dose (FED) approach is used to model the individual injuries caused by smoke and heat (ISO, 2002). It is generally applied to the assessment of fire hazards for buildings. The FED values are determined by integrating sustained concentration of toxicants or heat exposure over time for an individual. As the accumulated sum of the substances exceeds a predefined threshold value of 1,0 a sufficient dose of toxic substances has been inhaled to cause incapacitation through confusion and loss of consciousness. The general expression for the FED is as follows³²:

$$FED = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t_1}^{t_2} c_i / (ct)_i \Delta t$$
 (Eq. 2-11)

Where: n – number of toxic gases; t_2 , t_i – boundaries of the investigated exposure duration [min]; c_i - The average concentration of an toxic gas *i*, expressed as a volume fraction [ppm]; Δt The chosen time increment [min]; $(ct)_i$ - The critical exposure dose that would prevent occupants' safe escape [ppm*min]

The above formulation shows a linear relationship between dose and FED value³³. Application of the FED function requires the determination of a value for the critical dose $(ct)_i$. Although FED's are used to determine incapacitation³⁴, different studies (e.g. Persson, 2003) assume that a FED value of 1,0 corresponds to a lethal value. This seems a somewhat conservative but appropriate assumption for events for which the physical effects increase over time, for example for tunnel fires.

32 Note that the formula included in (ISO, 2002) includes a printing error: $FED = \Delta t \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t=1}^{t^2} c_i / (ct)_i \Delta t$

³¹ Then the mean and standard deviation of the lognormal distribution (μ_{LN} and σ_{LN}) have the following values: $\mu_{LN} = \exp(\mu_N + 0.5\sigma_N^2)$ and $\sigma_{LN} = \mu_{LN} (\exp(\sigma_N^2) - 1)^{0.5}$. The median value of the lognormal distribution (i.e. the value where mortality is 0,5) equals $\exp(\mu N)$. In the remainder of this thesis the format of equation 2-10 is used.

³³ Other forms of FED's are available which take into account the non-linear relation between sustained dose and response (i.e. FED value).

³⁴ The determination of incapacitation by means of the FED approach corresponds conceptually to the analysis of the so-called Service Limit State (SLS) as a person has temporary lost consciousness. Estimation of mortality corresponds to the Ultimate Limit State (ULS).

2.4 Combination of evacuation and mortality analysis

Finally, to estimate loss of life the analyses of evacuation and mortality have to be combined. For this combination there is the choice between the two modes static and dynamic (named sudden and non-sudden by Lentz and Rackwitz (2004a)).

Static approach

For some applications it is possible to analyse evacuation and mortality independently and as separated steps. This approach is static; people are either exposed or evacuated. In this case, the framework proposed in figure 2-4, is elaborated linearly. First, the evacuated fraction of the population is estimated. Then, the mortality amongst the exposed population is predicted by means of the dose response function. In this type of application usually a dose response function is used which uses a instantaneous or maximum intensity of physical effects as input. The static approach is especially appropriate for instantaneous events with little possibilities for evacuation, and for larger-scale events where evacuation predominantly takes place before arrival of physical effects. As an implication the presence of population during event becomes static and independent of time.

Dynamic approach

In some situations it is often difficult to treat the analysis of effects, evacuation and consequence completely independently. Then, a dynamic approach could be used, in which the spatial and temporal developments of physical effects, evacuation and the sustained injury have to be considered. For cases such as slowly rising floods or tunnel fires, people can escape/survive the danger in a certain zone at a given moment, and have to undertake another escape/survival in the next moment due to the spatial propagation of the danger zone (see also the *x*,*t* diagram in figure 2-9). An individual can only survive the whole event, if he/she survives each single time step. In this application, the sustained dose of physical effects over time will be relevant and it might be necessary to account for weakening of a person due to progressive exposure. For example, when a person escapes through fire, walking speed might be reduced due to limited visibility and irritation of airways. Possible reductions of movement speed due to a sustained level of injury could be accounted for.

It is possible to schematise the dynamic approach using the previously introduced x,t diagram, as is shown in figure 2-18. The concentration at a distance x from the risk source at a time t can be plotted in a three dimensional graph. In addition an escape path of an individual who moves through the area can be depicted. By integration of the exposure concentration during the escape path over time the sustained dose is obtained. By combination with a dose response function, this can be used to assess the level of injury. A further elaboration is this approach is given in appendix 2.IV.



Figure 2-18: x,t diagram indicating escape path and exposure concentration during escape

Modelling considerations

In practice a choice between the static and dynamic approaches has to be made, depending on characteristics of the event and the situation and the preferred level of detail of analysis. For some detailed elaborations a full modelling of the exposed population over time is necessary. In such an approach the movement of people between different states (safe area, exposed area, shelter) has to be modelled by means of dynamic balancing account. In the period after the event, the extent of the exposed population will be reduced, because rescue and escape progress over time. For example for floods, it is expected that all people who were initially present in the flooded area will eventually be removed from it at some point in time. The effects of rescue and escape on loss of life have to be considered relative to the survival of people over time within the exposed area in the conditions after the disaster.

However, for many applications the initially exposed population at the time of the occurrence of the event is used in loss of life estimation, because a) a large part of loss of life occurs during or shortly after initial exposure; b) the number of escaped and rescued people during the first phase of the disaster are often relatively small relative to the exposed population. In this case the initially exposed population is found by correcting the population at risk for evacuation and people who find shelter before the event. So if no evacuation and shelter occur $N_{EXP} = N_{PAR}$.

2.5 Relationship between the number of fatalities and other consequence types

General

The risks associated with different consequence categories can be presented conceptually in a multi-dimensional graph with the probability of exceedance on the vertical axis and the consequence categories on the horizontal axes, see figure 2-19a. Because the same indicator can be used for fatalities, injuries and exposed (i.e. number of people) they can be presented in a simpler two-dimensional graph, see figure 2-19b. Such curves can provide useful information for emergency management. They show the probability of scenarios with a certain number of killed, injured and people exposed. This provides information regarding the number of people that require treatment and on required rescue and shelter capacities. It is thus interesting to investigate the relationship between the number of fatalities and the extent of other consequence types. The existence of such relationships would allow a relatively easy estimate of the accident footprint in terms of different types of consequences (see also section 1.4.1).



Figure 2-19: a) three dimensional display of probability of injuries and fatalities; b) FN curve in which the probability of number of injuries and exposed are also shown³⁵.

The **number of people exposed** is related to the number of fatalities via mortality³⁶. Economic damage in an exposed area is often related to the number of people exposed and fatalities, because densely inhabited areas generally have a large economic value³⁷ as well.

Relationship between the number of fatalities and injuries

Another important consequence category concerns the number of injuries, although it might be difficult to give a uniform operational definition of injury. Some authors suggest that it is also appropriate to assume that a constant ratio exists between the number of fatalities and injuries per accident. For example in (SAVE, 2001; pp.52) it is mentioned that on average 1 fatality is accompanied by 10 injuries for toxic releases. In this case is it is possible to directly draw an F-injury curve on the basis of the FN curve. Below, the existence of such a constant relationship between fatalities and injuries is further investigated.

Jongejan (2006) investigated data on the number of injuries and fatalities for industrial accidents in the European Union. His analysis did not indicate a constant relationship between the number of injuries and fatalities. Instead, he found that the most industrial accidents resulted in either injuries or fatalities, see figure 2-20.

³⁵ The same intersection with the vertical axis is assumed for all the curves. However, the curves for different consequence types can intersect at different points, e.g. because accidents can occur that lead to injuries but not to fatalities.

³⁶ Mortality = nr. of fatalities / nr. of exposed;

³⁷ It is noted that the effects of evacuation could reduce the number of fatalities, while economic damage remains.


Figure 2-20: Number of injuries versus number of killed for industrial accidents in the European Union (data from EM-DAT, figure by Jongejan (2006))

The existence of a constant relationship between injuries and fatalities can also be analysed from a more theoretical point of view by comparison of dose response functions for injury and mortality. Schematically the number of people exposed during a disaster will be distributed over three categories: fatalities, injuries, and healthy people:

fatalities + injuries + healthy people = Number of exposed (Eq. 2-12)

At every moment in time these three groups are mutually exclusive. A person killed in accident cannot become an injured or healthy person. We assume a mortality ratio F_D and an injury ratio in the surviving population F_T . When determining the injuries as a fraction of the original population, the fraction of the population that has already been killed has to be taken into account. If equation 2-12 is divided by the exposed population, the following expression is obtained:

fatalities + injuries + healty people =
$$N_{EXP}$$

 F_D + $F_I(1-F_D)$ + $(1-F_D)(1-F_I) = 1$
(Eq. 2-13)

The second term in the equation is indicated as the corrected injury ratio (F_I^*) and it indicates the fraction of the original population that is injured, so that $F_I^*=F_I(1-F_D)$. The ratio between the number of fatalities and injuries can be expressed as follows:

$$\frac{N}{N_{I}} = \frac{F_{D}N_{EXP}}{F_{I}^{*}N_{EXP}} = \frac{F_{D}}{F_{I}(1 - F_{D})}$$
(Eq. 2-14)

With this equation the ratio between the number of fatalities and injuries can be examined using typical formats for dose response functions for mortality and injury. Available literature (PGS, 2003) suggests that the occurrence of mortality and injury³⁸ can both be modelled by a probit function. The probit for injury is then generally shifted horizontally

³⁸ In literature few dose response functions are given for injury.

relative to the mortality probit, by varying the value of parameter a, while keeping the values of b and n identical (see also section 2.3.4). The ratio between the number of fatalities and injuries is considered as a function of the exposure dose, assuming exposure of the population to one deterministic dose. For two hypothetical probit functions the resulting value of the ratio between fatalities and injuries is plotted in figure 2-21.



Figure 2-21: Mortality and injury fractions, and ratio between the number of fatalities (Hypothetical probits used: injury: a = -8,5; b=1,69; n=1; mortality a=-12,1; b = 1,69; n=1)

For these conditions it is shown that the ratio between the number of fatalities and injuries will not be constant for different exposure doses. With equation 2-14 it can also be shown that the ratio between fatalities and injuries will not be constant for other types of dose response functions that are shifted horizontally, such as linear or quadratic functions.

Figure 2-21 shows that the ratio between fatalities and injuries is a function of the dose of physical effects. It equals 0 at some interval and than quickly rises to infinity. This can be interpreted as follows: there are either fatalities or injuries, because the interval where they occur both is relatively small. The magnitude of the exposure dose determines whether fatalities or injuries occur. It is interesting that practical observations from industrial accidents from figure 2-20 confirm the theoretical findings.

A constant relationship between fatalities and injuries is only expected when the intensity of physical effects is the same for each accident, i.e. every accident leads to the same release³⁹. However, the concentration to which people are exposed will generally differ between accidents. In addition, the spatial distributions of population density and exposure concentration affect the consequences. Overall, neither empirical data nor the analysis of dose response functions support the existence of a constant ratio between fatalities and injuries.

³⁹ This corresponds to a Bernoulli distribution for the initial release, see also section 4.3.

2.6 Economic valuation of loss of life

As a first step in the evaluation of the risk it is important to know the (potential) number of fatalities. After that it is possible to give an economic valuation of loss of life. In literature on risk management the economic valuation of human life is often depicted as a difficult problem as it raises numerous moral questions. Some claim it is unethical to put a price on human life because life is priceless. The actual expenditures on risk reducing prospects show however that the investment in the reduction of risks to humans is always finite. Based on earlier work (Jongejan *et al.*, 2005a) this section presents an overview and discussion of methods for the economic valuation of loss of life. Two types of methods can be distinguished 1) behavioural valuation; 2) valuation based on macro-economic indicators. These approaches are described in the first two sections. Consequently a discussion of the methods is provided.

2.6.1 Behavioural valuation

Human life can be valued based on either stated or revealed preferences concerning the expenditures on risk reduction.

Stated preferences can be obtained from contingent valuation surveys. This method is used in economics to value facilities, services or other benefits for which prices cannot be obtained from the market. A survey can reveal how much people are willing to pay, e.g. for safety measures. Such a study makes it possible to calculate the Value of a Statistical Life (VoSL) by comparing the willingness to pay (WTP) for certain measures and the resulting reduction of the expected number of fatalities ($\Delta E(N)$)⁴⁰:

$$VoSL = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{R} WTP_i}{R \cdot \Delta E(N)}$$
(Eq. 2-15)

Where: R – number of respondents [-]; WTP_i – willingness to pay for respondent i [\notin /yr]

Pidgeon and Hopkins (2000) give an example of contingent valuation for traffic safety. However, in this study no relationship between the WTP and the expected number of fatalities could be found.

Revealed preferences are obtained by an a-posteriori evaluation of expenditures related to risk reduction. These methods are based on the assumption that economic behaviour reflects the values implicitly assigned to intangibles. For instance, compensating wage differentials for more dangerous professions could be assumed to reflect people's willingness to accept (WTA) certain occupational risks.

Investments in safety measures can be related to their resulting reduction of potential loss of life, by expressing the cost of saving an extra statistical life (CSX) (see also Vrijling and van Gelder, 2000):

⁴⁰ Instead of the change in the expected number of fatalities, also the change in the expected number of life years lost can be taken into account. Then, the value of a statistical life year (VoSLY) is calculated.

$CSX = I / \Delta E(N)$

Where: I – investments in safety measures, expressed here per year [\notin /yr] The cost of saving an extra life year (CSXY) can be determined by involving the life expectancy. For large exposed populations⁴¹ the expected number of fatalities can be converted to a number of life years, by multiplication with the average life expectancy of the average population.

Tengs *et al.* (1995) performed an extensive study of CSXY values in various sectors. This study showed that CSXY values vary widely across and within different sectors. As regards the use of CSX / CSXY values, it should be noted that the benefits of measures not only consist of saving human lives, but also of the prevention of damage in other fields (economics, environment). A better approach would be to look at societal decisions where the only benefit is an increase in human safety, thus a decrease of the probability of loss of life. Decisions in the field of public health can be of such nature. The effectiveness of medical treatments or precautions is often represented with Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALY's) and Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALY's) (Hofstetter and Hammit, 2001). One QALY is the increase of the life expectancy with a year of optimal quality. DALY's measure the lost life years and years lived with disability compared to a hypothetical life quality profile.

2.6.2 Macro-economic valuation

The valuation of loss of human life can be based on macro-economic indicators. According to the human capital approach, life is valued in proportion to a person's potential economic production. Van Manen and Vrijling (1996) proposed a method of valuation according to the Nett National Product per capita. For the Netherlands they estimate a value of a statistical life of approximately 500.000 Euros. Ramsberg (2000) argues that a person's contribution to the national economy should be calculated by discounting the production minus consumption over the years the person had lived if he hadn't died. The result is a lower economic value of loss of life. Application of these macro-economic valuation methods implies that the value of human life depends on a nation's wealth. This may seem unethical, but the advantage is that risk reduction measures are affordable in the context of the national economy.

A disadvantage of macro-economic valuation is that people are only seen as production factors and that life quality is not valued. A method that links life quality to macro-economic indicators is the Life Quality Index (LQI) approach (Pandey and Nathwani, 2004). The LQI is a social indicator for life quality. The method can be used to evaluate risk reduction initiatives that would improve safety and quality of life. The LQI method can be applied to quantify the societal willingness to pay, which is an acceptable level of public investment for an increase of life expectancy. For developed countries the value of a statistical life according to the LQI would be between 1 and 4 million euros depending on the adopted discount rate (Pandey and Nathwani, 2003).

⁴¹ For a large exposed population and accidents with multiple fatalities it is reasonable to assume that the fatalities have the characteristics of the average population.

2.6.3 Discussion of methods for the valuation of loss of life

Different methods can be used to give an estimate for the value of human life. Table 2-4 gives an overview of typical ranges of estimates for the economic value of a statistical life for developed countries.

Valuation method		Approximate value of a statistical life (million Euro)	
Behavioural valuation	Stated preference (WTP)	Not available	
	Revealed preference (CSX)	0 - 10 ¹⁰	
Macro-economic valuation	Macro-economic valuation	0,5	
	Life Quality index	1-4	

Table 2-4: Value of a statistical life according to different valuation methods (Jongejan et al., 2005a)

The values according to macro-economic valuation will be relatively stable as they depend on macro-economic indicators. The value of human life based on macro-economic valuation can be used as input for the cost benefit analysis and economic optimisation (Vrijling and Van Gelder, 2000). The value of loss of life is added to other damage types such as direct economic damage. Neglecting the economic value of loss of human life in the economic optimisation will lead to lower expected damages and thus to a lower optimal safety level.

The values obtained by means of behavioural valuation will depend on contextual factors related to the activity, such as the risk perception. Especially the CSX values vary widely across and within different sectors. Vrijling and van Gelder (2000) show how the determination of CSX can be linked to the economic optimisation⁴². They derive the following expression for CSX:

$$CSX = \frac{I}{(p_{f,0} - p_{f,opt})N \cdot PV}$$
(Eq. 2-17)

Where: $p_{f,0}$ – initial failure probability [1/yr]; $p_{f,opt}$ – optimal failure probability following from economic optimisation [1/yr]; N – number of fatalities in case of failure; PV – present value factor [-]

The above equation shows that the CSX value strongly depends on the initial risk level, represented by $p_{f,0}$. It is also expected that the initial risk level will be related to the perception of the activity. Activities for which the risks are perceived as dreadful, e.g. nuclear accidents, are expected to have a low initial risk level. Measures in such a sector are expected to result in a high CSX value. Activities that are perceived as less dreadful, e.g. traffic accidents, will have a higher initial risk level. Then safety can be improved at relatively low cost. Therefore it is expected that at least part of the variation in CSX values between sectors can be explained by relating them to the initial safety level of the system and the risk perception of the activity, see figure 2-22 and also (Bohnenblust and Slovic, 1998). The perception of the severity activity can be characterised by a so-called policy factor β , see (Vrijling *et al.*, 1995) and section 9.5.1 for further details. Some bandwidth in the observed CSX values will probably remain, due to differences in the effectiveness of measures

⁴² Vrijling and van Gelder (2000) also show that the CSX value is not equal to the macro-economic valuation of loss of life.

implemented in the past⁴³. Future research on the above relationship is recommended, in order to evaluate whether typical ranges of CSX values can be found for different activities based on their risk perception characteristics and initial risk level.



Figure 2-22: Relationship between CSX and risk perception expressed by the policy factor β .

The cost effectiveness of measures can be specifically related to the reduction of loss of life with the CSX. Given the dependence on initial safety level and risk perception, the CSX does not seem suitable to compare the effectiveness of measures between different sectors. However, it seems to be a useful measure to assess the cost effectiveness of measures within one domain. For a certain project, the CSX values for alternative measures can be determined to provide insights for decision-making regarding the effectiveness of measures that reduce loss of life.

2.7 Concluding remarks

Based on the observation that the existing approaches for loss of life estimation in different fields include similar elements, a general approach for loss of life estimation is proposed. It can be used for various applications and provides a general basis for efficient and standardised consequence estimation for different fields. The methodology takes into account the intensity of physical effects, the reduction of the number of people exposed due to evacuation, shelter and rescue and the estimation of mortality amongst those exposed. The method can be applied to small probability – large consequence events within the engineering domain, particularly to types of event that are characterised by dispersion of harmful physical effects and some possibilities for evacuation or escape.

The general characteristics of evacuation have been discussed. Evacuation is possible when there is sufficient time before the initiation of the event and / or when physical effects are dispersed slowly. These insights can be used to develop effective emergency strategies for different types of events, for example by means of evacuation and shelter plans.

Dose response functions are used in different fields to relate mortality in the exposed population to the intensity of physical effects. A dose response function generally indicates the distribution of resistances over the population. The use of a discrete dose response

⁴³ An important assumption when using the observed CSX values for future decision-making is that the risk level obtained after measures in the past represents an acceptable level of risk.

function (or threshold value) in consequence or risk estimates can lead to an over- or under estimation of consequence and risk levels. One often-used type of dose response function is the probit function, which is equivalent to a lognormal distribution. The existing probit approach uses two equations, which include five constants. It has been discussed that a direct derivation of a lognormal distribution for the dose response function based on the available observations could be more insightful, as this limits the number of equations (one) and constants (two).

In order to achieve more realistic consequence estimations a further empirical foundation of loss of life models based on past accidents is important. Recording and storage of data on loss of life and evacuation and the use of this information in validation of the existing methods is recommended. Estimation of loss of life often requires a multi-disciplinary approach, which expands outside the traditional engineering domain. For example, knowledge from toxicology is needed to establish dose response functions. Study of evacuation requires insight in psychological issues regarding human reaction to disasters. Further cooperation between such involved disciplines is encouraged in order to improve the analysis and estimation of loss of life.

This section mainly dealt with the estimation of loss of life for one single event. The next section will demonstrate how the approach can be integrated in risk quantification. Uncertainties in loss of life and risk estimates are discussed further in section 4.

3

A general approach for the quantification of individual and societal risk

Research question: How can the general approach for loss of life estimation be applied to risk quantification?

Keywords: Quantitative risk analysis, individual risk, societal risk, risk measures

3.1 Introduction

Within a quantitative risk analysis (QRA) the risks for a given system are quantified as a basis for risk evaluation and decision-making. In different sectors, e.g. the chemical and aerospace sector, there is substantial experience with QRA, see e.g. (Bedford and Cooke, 2002). To indicate the risks to people, the outcomes of the QRA are generally expressed by means of the measures individual and societal risk. Individual risk is concerned with the probability that an individual (at a certain location) gets killed, whereas societal risk is concerned with the probability of a multi-fatality accident. Definitions are described in more detail in section 3.2.

Given the variety of factors involved and the complexity of underlying processes, quantitative risk analyses (QRA's) mainly rely on numerical risk calculation models. However, these models provide limited insight in the underlying schematisations and the consistency of the outcomes. This section proposes general analytical formulations that can be used to quantify individual and societal risk. The novelty of this approach is that existing elements are combined in one coherent and broadly applicable framework. As such it will strengthen the foundation of methods for risk quantification. The proposed approach gives insight in the factors that determine individual and societal risk and it will allow the improvement of the consistency of risk analyses. It also offers the possibility to clarify the relationship between individual and societal risk.

The general approach can be used for different existing domains and it will also allow a relatively easy application of QRA to new terrains. It is mainly applicable to situations in which most fatalities occur directly due to exposure to the physical effects of an accident. In these cases mortality can be estimated with a dose response function. The approach is most suitable for large-scale disasters that expose larger areas with many people exposed and multiple (potential) fatalities. The formulations can be used for events characterised by dispersion of physical effects (e.g. a toxic gas plume) from a risk source and / or for events characterized by a spatially variable accident locations (e.g. airplane crashes). Approaches discussed in this section are thereby most applicable to small probability – large consequence accidents in the engineering domain, such as floods, chemical accidents and airplane crashes (see also section 1.4.2 regarding the scope of this thesis). The elaborations in this section mainly focus on risk quantification, although some aspects related to risk evaluation (e.g. risk limits) are briefly discussed.

Section 3.2 gives an overview of definitions for individual and societal risk. In section 3.3 general formulations for risk quantification are derived based on reliability theory. Section 3.4 explores the relationship between individual and societal risk. Section 3.5 shows how specific elements (evacuation, spatially distributed risk sources, and meteorological conditions) can be incorporated in the general formulations. To illustrate the application of the general formulations several schematised but indicative examples are presented in section 3.6. Concluding remarks are given in section 3.7.

3.2 Definitions of individual and societal risk

A risk measure is defined as an expression or graph which quantifies or depicts risk as a mathematical function of the probabilities and consequences of a set of undesired events (see section 1). Different risk measures have been proposed in literature that deal with various consequence types, see Jonkman *et al.* (2003) for an overview. Given the scope of this thesis, risk measures related to loss of (human) life are further elaborated. These are generally expressed as individual or societal risk.

Individual risk

The individual risk is used to indicate the distribution of the risk over the various individuals in the population at risk. Ichem (1985) defines the individual risk as "the frequency at which an individual may be expected to sustain a given level of harm". In the external safety domain¹ in the Netherlands it is defined as "the probability that an average unprotected person, permanently present at a certain location, is killed due to an accident resulting from a hazardous activity"² (Bottelberghs, 2000). Due to the assumption of permanent presence, the individual risk becomes a property of a location³ and as such it may be useful in land use planning. Following this above definition the individual risk can be shown on a map with so-called (iso-) risk contours.

In order to determine the risk to an actual person, other definitions consider whether or not the individual is actually present (see e.g. TAW, 1985; Bohnenblust, 1998). In these cases the individual risk can still be displayed as a function of a location by correcting for the (probability of the) actual presence of persons at that location. Presence of the population can be influenced by time of the day and / or be reduced by means of evacuation, as will be discussed further below. For some applications, for example for the estimation of risks for passengers in tunnels, the individual risk becomes a characteristic of a specified user, and it is often indicated as personal risk. Covello and Merkhoffer (1993) mention some alternative definitions for individual risk. Examples are the maximal individual risk, expressing the highest risk to the (hypothetical) person in an exposed population, and the average individual risk in a population. Bedford and Cooke (2002) give an overview of other measurements to express individual risk, such as the fatal accident failure rate (FAFR) and the activity specific hourly mortality rate.

¹ The external safety domain is concerned with (the risks) of transport and storage of dangerous goods, and airport safety in the Netherlands.

² Following the definition of Ichem (1985), the probability is expressed with a frequency: [yr-1]

³ It is than often labeled "local" risk.

Societal risk

Ichem (1985) defines societal risk as "the relationship between frequency and the number of people suffering from a specified level of harm in a given population from the realization of specified hazards". Often a more narrow definition is used, and societal risk is expressed as the probability of exceedance (in one year) of a certain number of fatalities due to one event in a given population. Then, societal risk can be depicted in the FN curve, which shows the probability of exceedance of a certain number of fatalities on a double logarithmic scale. Various other measures are used as well to express societal risk, for example the expected number of fatalities. These are discussed in more detail in section 3.3.3.

3.3 General formulations for the quantification of individual and societal risk

3.3.1 Elements in quantitative risk analysis

In a quantitative risk analysis the probabilities and consequences of a set of defined critical events are determined as a basis for risk evaluation. More specific, the following general elements can be distinguished within risk quantification.

1. Determination of the probability of occurrence of a critical event and the intensity of released physical effects: The occurrence of a critical event at the risk source⁴ will lead to failure of the system and a consequent release of physical effects. The probability of failure is indicated by p_f , which is generally considered for a period of one year. Following failure, certain initial physical effects with intensity⁵ (c_0) will be released at the risk source. The intensity of such effects can, for example, be expressed as the heat release rate of a fire, explosion pressure, or the inflow discharge of water through a breach. The conditional pdf of the intensity of initial effects in one year $f_{C0|f}(c_0)$. One (deterministic) initial release is generally indicated as a scenario. The (non-conditional) pdf of the intensity of initial effects in one year $f_{C0}(c_0)$.may be obtained as follows if p_f is small (see figure 3-1a for a sketch of the pdf):

$$f_{C0}(c_0) = 1 - p_f \qquad c_0 = 0$$

$$f_{C0}(c_0) = p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) \qquad c_0 > 0$$
(Eq. 3-1)

- 2. Assessment of the dispersion of physical effects: Spatial and temporal dispersion of effects can be assessed with a dispersion model. The dispersion pattern depends on the substance properties, local topography, and climatic conditions, etc.. The intensity of physical effects *c* at location (x,y) depends on the intensity of the initial release and the dispersion model and it is indicated as: $c(c_0, x, y)$. The intensity of effects generally decreases with the distance to the risk source, see figure 3-1b.
- 3. Determination of the number of people exposed (N_{EXP}): This is determined based on the extent of the area exposed to physical effects (*A*) and the population density m(x,y) in that area. If relevant, the effects of evacuation and shelter could be taken into account.

⁴ In the general formulations one risk source at a fixed location is assumed. Spatially distributed risk sources and corresponding spatially variable failure probabilities are treated in section 3.5.

⁵ The intensity of physical effects could refer to a (instantaneous) concentration of physical effects or to a dose of effects sustained over a certain time.

4. Estimation of mortality and loss of life amongst the exposed population. Mortality depends on the local intensity of physical effects. It can be estimated by means of a dose response function $F_D(c)$, which gives a relationship between the intensity of physical effects and the mortality in the exposed population (see figure 3-1c). By combining it with the number of people exposed the actual number of fatalities can be estimated.



Figure 3-1: Schematic presentation of a) pdf of intensity of initial effects b) dispersion of physical effects c) dose response function.

It is noted that the four elements overlap above with the general elements needed for loss of life estimation (see section 2). Here, the first step has been added to allow quantification of the probability of a critical event. These four elements are also useful to analyse risk reduction measures in a systematic way. One can try to reduce the probability of occurrence of effects, limit the dispersion of effects, or reduce consequences by decreasing the number of people exposed (e.g. with evacuation) and mortality amongst those exposed (e.g. by building protective facilities).

Assumptions

In the consequent elaboration general formulations for the above elements are adopted. It is assumed in this section that the dose response and dispersion functions give a **deterministic outcome**. For example, this implies that the dose response function results in one deterministic mortality fraction for every exposure intensity. Possible uncertainties in loss of life estimates, e.g. due to model uncertainties in the dose response function, are not further treated in this section, but elaborated in section 4.

The formulations in this section are developed for events with a small probability of occurrence, so the value of p_f is small. It is also assumed that the pdf of the intensity of the initial release $f_{CO|f}(c_0)$ and the dose response function $F_D(c)$ are continuous and differentiable functions. In many applications of QRA the whole spectrum of possible initial releases is split into a limited number of discrete failure scenarios, or exemplified discrete failures. In this case a multinomial distribution is obtained, e.g. different fire heat release rates (small, medium and large) or flood scenarios with corresponding probabilities of occurrence.

As a result of the above assumptions concerning continuous functions, the analysed risk measures, such as individual risk and the FN curve, are also presented as continuous functions in this section. However, in practice the FN curve will only exist for whole numbers of fatalities.

3.3.2 General approach for risk quantification

General formulations for risk quantification can be obtained based on reliability theory. Expressions for individual and societal risk can be derived from the classical load – resistance paradigm. The probability of death can be derived using the limit state function Z in its standardized form:

$$Z = R - S \tag{Eq. 3-2}$$

Here, R is the resistance and S the load (or solicitation). In the applications considered here the load consists of physical effects to which people are exposed and the resistance concerns the human resistance. The limit state function can be reformulated as:

$$Z = c_R - c_S \tag{Eq. 3-3}$$

In this equation c_s represents the (random) load on human beings and it consists of the intensity of physical effects. The critical intensity at which human failure or death occurs equals $c_{R'}$. The distribution of human resistance is represented by the dose response function, leading to the general formulation of the dose response function:

$$F_D(c) = P(c_R < c)$$
 (Eq. 3-4)

The probability density function of mortality is obtained by combining the pdf of physical effects and the dose response function, see figure 3-2. The area under the pdf of mortality signifies P(R < S) = P(Z<0), and gives the probability of death. This concept forms the basis for further determination of the general expressions for individual and societal risk.



Figure 3-2: Combination of load (S - pdf of physical effects c) and resistance $(R - in this case the dose response function <math>F_D(c)$ to obtain the pdf of mortality. Note that: 1) the pdf of mortality can also be found by combining $(1-F_C(c))$ and $f_D(c)$ 2) Regions I to IV indicate specific areas of probability density⁶.

To elaborate the limit state function (equation 3-2) it is necessary to obtain a load and resistance term. The four general elements can be combined in two different ways (see figure 3-3), which lead to the same results. Firstly, for some applications it might be insightful to obtain a probability density function for exposure of location (x,y) to intensity *c*, i.e. $f_c(c,x,y)$. In this case, the pdf of the intensity of initial effects and the dispersion model are combined. This first approach is discussed in appendix 3.I but not further elaborated in this section.

A second approach is used in this study and it combines the dispersion model and dose response function by substitution. The resulting expression gives the probability of death at location (x,y) for a certain initial release (c_{ρ}):

$$F_D(c) = F_D^*(c_0, x, y)$$
 for $c(c_0, x, y)$ (Eq. 3-5)

This expression is indicated as the combined dose response function and it can be used as the distribution for the resistance term in equation 3-3. The pdf of the intensity of initial effects $f_{C0}(c_0)$ is used as the load term. This approach has the advantage that the initial release term remains intact, and it forms the basis for further elaboration of individual and societal risk below. For the assessment of societal risk the actual presence of people (represented by the population density) is taken into account.

⁶ Region I: $f_{C}(c)$ has a peak c=0, signifying the density of no failure and no physical effects; II: probability density corresponding to intensities where no mortality occurs; III: probability density corresponding to an intensity c with $0 < F_{D}(c) < 1$; IV: probability density corresponding to an intensity where $F_{D}(c) = 1$.



Figure 3-3: Schematic view of determination of individual and societal risk.

3.3.3 Determination of individual and societal risk

In this section it is shown how individual and societal risk can be determined analytically.

Individual risk

Individual risk gives the probability of death at location (x,y) in one year and it can be found based on the limit state function derived above. Following assumptions stated in section 3.3.1, the IR is calculated for an individual permanently present. The probability of "failure of the individual" (i.e. death) at location (x,y) is found by integrating all initial releases that can expose the location:

$$IR(x,y) = P(Z(x,y) < 0) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{C0}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0,x,y) dc_0 = \int_{0}^{\infty} p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0,x,y) dc_0$$
(Eq. 3-6)

Calculation of individual risk basically involves the multiplication of the probability of failure and the mortality given failure. As the mortality fraction is never larger than 1, it is therefore logical that individual risk can never become larger than the probability of failure of a system.

Societal risk

The number of people exposed $(N_{EXP})^7$ to a certain accident can be found by integrating the population density over the exposed area *A*:

$$N_{EXP} = \iint_{A} m(x, y) dx dy$$
 (Eq. 3-7)

The number of fatalities N will be a certain function of the initial release (c_0) . It can be found by combining the dose response function, the dispersion model and the number of people exposed. Thus, the number of fatalities for one initial release (scenario) yields:

$$N = g(c_0) = \iint_A F_D^*(c_0, x, y) m(x, y) dx dy$$
(Eq. 3-8)

⁷ We assume that all people living in the area are actually exposed, thus *NEXP=NPAR* (see also section 2). The effects of evacuation are not accounted for here. It is shown in section 3.5.2 how these can be incorporated in risk quantification.

Derivation of the probability density function and the expected number of fatalities

Most of the existing risk measures of societal risk are based on (moments of) the probability density function of the number of fatalities in one year (Jonkman *et al.*, 2003; Vrijling and van Gelder, 1997).

The pdf of the number of fatalities $f_N(n)$ can be obtained from the pdf of initial effects by using the Jacobian, see also (CUR, 1997). If a relationship exists between variables u and v, the Jacobian can be used to derive the pdf of variable v from the pdf of variable u. Suppose that variable v is a function h of variable u, so that v = h(u) and $u = h^{-1}(v)$, see also figure 3-4.

Figure 3-4: Schematic presentation of derivation of the pdf of v from the pdf of u

Equation 3-9 can be used to derive the pdf of the number of fatalities. The functional relationship between initial effects and the number of fatalities is given by equation 3-8 $(n=g(c_0))$. As a result, the following expression is obtained:

$$f_N(n) = f_{C0}(c_0) \frac{dc_0}{dn} = f_{C0} \left(g^{-1}(n) \right) \frac{d\left(g^{-1}(n) \right)}{dn}$$
(Eq. 3-10)

The distribution function⁸ of the number of fatalities is obtained by integration:

$$F_N(n) = \int_0^n f_N(n) dn = \int_0^{g^{-1}(n)} f_{C0}(c_0) dc_0$$
 (Eq. 3-11)

Societal risk is often expressed in an FN curve, showing the probability of exceedance in one year of a certain number of fatalities, so $1-F_N(n)$. The FN curve is thus a way of presenting the complement of the distribution curve of the number of fatalities⁹. The various criticisms concerning the FN curve (see e.g. Evans and Verlander, 1997; Bedford, 2005) can therefore only refer to the application of FN limit lines to risk evaluation and decision-making. The above elaboration shows that the FN curve can be derived analytically from the pdf of initial physical effects and that it can be modelled as a continuous function. Societal risk can also be expressed with the first moment of the pdf of fatalities, the expected number of fatalities (E(N)):

⁸ Note that a different convention can be found in other published works, in which the symbol F signifies the probability of "x or more" fatalities per year, so the CCDF.

⁹ The probability in the FN curve is generally expressed as a probability per unit time, i.e. as a frequency (per year). For values much smaller than 1 probability and frequency can be used interchangeably. However, for accidents that occur frequently (more than once per year), the curve displaying the frequency of N or more fatalities cannot be directly related to the distribution function of the number of fatalities any more.

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_N(n) n dn \qquad (Eq. 3-12)$$

In literature Potential Loss of Life (PLL) is often used as a synonym for expected value of the number of fatalities. Vrijling and van Gelder (1997) prove mathematically that the expected value of societal risk can also be found by integrating the area under the FN curve and this is also discussed by (Ale *et al.*, 1996a). Other statistical moments of this probability density function, such as the standard deviation of the number of fatalities, are used in other risk measures.

Derivation of the distribution of the number of fatalities given failure

For some purposes, for example decisions regarding emergency capacity, it might be interesting to have information regarding the likelihood of a certain number of fatalities in the case of an accident. The above approach also allows the derivation of the conditional pdf of the number of fatalities given failure $f_{MF}(n)$:

$$f_{N|f}(n) = f_{C0|f}(c_0) \frac{dc_0}{dn} = f_{C0|f}\left(g^{-1}(n)\right) \frac{d\left(g^{-1}(n)\right)}{dn}$$
(Eq. 3-13)

Comparison of previous equations (3-13, 3-10 and 3-1) shows that the transition from the conditional pdf of fatalities given failure to the non-conditional pdf corresponds to multiplication by the failure probability p_f (for $c_0 > 0$ and n > 0). In the FN curve this can be shown as a vertical transition by a factor p_f as will be shown in the example in section 3.6.1. Consequently, also the expected number of fatalities given failure can be determined. Different types of distributions that can be used to model the number of fatalities given failure are discussed in more detail in section 4.6.

3.3.4 Other measures of societal risk

Several authors have proposed alternative measures of societal risk. Many of these give more weight to large accidents with many fatalities to account for societal risk aversion. Most of these measures can be (re)formulated as an "expected disutility criterion" (Jonkman *et al.*, 2003) or an " α -disutility function" (Bedford, 2005), with the following general expression:

$$U = \int_{0}^{\infty} Cn^{\alpha} f_{N}(n) dn$$
 (Eq. 3-14)

Where: U – Disutility; C - constant [-]; α - risk aversion coefficient [-]

The value of α expresses the disutility of experiencing *n* fatalities. A situation where α =1 is called risk neutral and (if *C*=1) the above equation gives the expected number of fatalities. Risk aversion can be modelled by weighing the number of fatalities with α >1 (see figure 3-5). Table 3-1 summarizes the risk measures proposed by different authors and these are reformulated using the above general expression.



Figure 3-5: Conceptual presentation of disutility and risk aversion

name / reference	Expression	α	С
Risk integral (Carter and Hirst, 2000)	$RI = \int_{0}^{\infty} n(1 - F_N(n)) dn$	2	0.5
RI _{COMAH} (HSE) (Carter, 2002)	$RI_{COMAH} = \int_{0}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} f_{N}(n) dn$	≥1	1
Smets (Stallen <i>et al.</i> , 1996)	$\int_{1}^{1000} n^{\alpha} f_N(n) dn$	1-2	1
Bohnenblust (1998) Bohnenblust and Slovic (1998)	$R_{P} = \int_{0}^{\infty} n\varphi(n) f_{N}(n) dn$	1	φ(n)
Kroon and Hoej (2001)	$RI_{COMAH} = \int_{0}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} f_{N}(n) dn$	1-2	P(n)

Table 3-1: Summary of some proposed measures of societal risk

Vrijling and van Gelder (1997) have shown that the risk integral an be expressed as:

$$RI = \int \frac{1}{2} n^2 f_N(n) dn = \frac{1}{2} (E^2(N) + \sigma^2(N))$$
 (Eq. 3-15)

It is striking that some authors propose a value of constant *C* that is also dependent on *n*, see the measures of Bohnenblust and Kroon and Hoej in table 3-1. In these cases the risk aversion coefficient α is partly 'hidden' in the other constant. For example, for the values

of $\phi(n)$ proposed by Bohnenblust (1998), it can be deduced that $\phi(n) \approx \sqrt{0.1n}$, resulting in *C*=0,32 and α =1,5.

Vrijling *et al.* (1995) propose an alternative measure, indicated as Total Risk (TR). It is composed of the expected value of the number of fatalities and the standard deviation, which is multiplied by a dimensionless risk aversion factor k:

 $TR = E(N) + k\sigma(N) \tag{Eq. 3-16}$

The total risk takes a risk aversion index k [-] and the standard deviation into account and is therefore called risk averse. It is noted that when the number of fatalities has a binomial distribution, the units of the expected value and standard deviation (of the number of fatalities) are not the same, see appendix 3.II for further explanation. For accidents with small probabilities and large consequences the standard deviation $\sigma(N)$ is large relative to E(N), so that $TR \approx k\sigma(N)$. As $E(N^2) = E^2(N) + \sigma^2(N)$ we can write that: $\sigma^2(N) \approx E(N^2)$. Then, the expression of TR becomes:

$$TR^{2} \approx k^{2} \sigma^{2}(N) \approx k^{2} \int n^{2} f_{N}(n) dn \qquad (\text{Eq. 3-17})$$

This formulation shows some similarity with the general formulation of the expected disutility function given by equation 3-14, with $C=k^2$ and $\alpha=2$.

Above, the possibilities to determine the risk to people have been discussed. Similar principles can be used to determine several risk measures for the expression of economic risk, such as the frequency-damage (or FD) curve, expected economic loss and standard deviation of losses, see also Jonkman *et al.* (2003).

3.4 The relationship between individual and societal risk

This section explores the relationship between individual and societal risk. The general relationship is investigated in section 3.4.1. Implications for practical risk analyses are treated in section 3.4.2. More specifically, the relationship between the individual risk contours and the FN curve (3.4.3) and the possibilities to determine and display local contributions to societal risk (3.4.4) are investigated.

3.4.1 General discussion on the relationship between individual and societal risk

Individual risk, according to the definition of Bottelberghs (2000), gives the probability of death at a certain location regardless of the presence of people. Individual risk contours can be shown on a map and IR is therefore directly applicable for land use planning and corresponding zoning purposes. Societal risk takes into account the actual presence of people and gives a risk number for a whole area, no matter precisely where the harm occurs within that area. The difference between individual and societal risk is schematically shown in figure 3-6. Both situations A and B have the same individual risk levels (shown by IR' and IR). Due to the larger population density of situation B, it has a larger societal risk than situation A.



Figure 3-6: The difference between individual and societal risk (based on Stallen et al. (1996))

Several authors discuss that individual and societal risk are linked via the expected value of number of fatalities (see e.g. Ale *et al.*, 1996a, 1996b; Alp and Zelensky, 1994; Ball and Floyd, 1998; CIB, 2001; Francis *et al.*, 1999; Trbojevic, 2004, 2006). However, a final confirmation of their precise relation is not given other than with numerical calculations (Ball and Floyd, 1998). In order to check the mutual consistency of individual and societal risk calculations, the formulations for the expected number of fatalities that are obtained with both approaches are compared¹⁰.

The expected value of the number of fatalities <u>from individual risk</u> follows from integration of individual risk contours with population density (see e.g. Ale *et al.*, 1996a; Laheij *et al.*, 2000; CIB, 2001):

$$E(N) = \iint_{A} IR(x, y)m(x, y)dxdy = \iint_{0}^{\infty} \iint_{A} f_{C0}(c_0)F_D^*(c_0, x, y)m(x, y)dxdydc_0$$
(Eq. 3-18)

Many authors, e.g. (Francis et al., 1998), now state that this equation must be identical to

3-12 (i.e.
$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_N(n)ndn$$
), but they do not give a further substantiation of this statement. This check can be achieved by using this expression for the expected number of fatalities from societal risk. Substitution of the expression for the number of fatalities for one initial release (equation 3-8) yields:

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{N}(n)ndn = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{N}(n) \iint_{A} F_{D}^{*}(c_{0}, x, y)m(x, y)dxdydn$$
(Eq. 3-19)

Consequent substitution of the Jacobian of eq. 3-10 (i.e. $f_N(n) = f_{CO}(c_0) dcO/dn$) gives¹¹:

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \iint_{A} f_{C0}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0, x, y) m(x, y) dx dy dc_0$$
 (Eq. 3-20)

¹⁰ A similar comparison is made in (Ale *et al.*, 1996b). The difference is that in this thesis the general formulations and the Jacobian (eq. 3-10) are used to show that expected values from individual and societal risk are fully equivalent.

¹¹ It is reasonable to assume that no fatalities will occur if there is no initial release: n=0 if $c_0=0$.

Since equation 3-20 is identical to equation 3-18 we conclude that the expected values obtained from individual and societal risk are equivalent. This confirms the relationship between individual and societal risk.

3.4.2 Practical implications: comparison of expected values from individual and societal risk

Although it is theoretically obvious that individual and societal risk calculations should lead to identical expected values, several assumptions and modelling choices in risk calculations might influence this relationship in practice. Ale *et al.* (1996a) give a comparison between expected values obtained from individual and societal risk (indicated as PLLI and PLLF respectively) using outcomes of risk analyses for different hazardous installations in the Netherlands. It is stated that the results for PLLI and PLLF are not necessarily equal, since the individual risk is calculated for an unprotected individual, whereas the societal risk is calculated by taking into account protection e.g. by buildings (Laheij *et al.*, 2000). Thus, it would be expected that PLLI is larger PLLF for all installations. Other limitations may weaken the relationship between PLLI and PLLF, e.g. the limited availability of data and the simplifying assumptions used in these calculations. Figure 3-7 gives a (modified version of) the comparison between PLLI and PLLF values from Ale *et al.* (1996a). The dashed line represents situations where PLLI=PLLF.



Figure 3-7: Comparison between expected values based on individual risk (PLLI) and societal risk (PLLF). Dots represent calculations for single installations (figure modified from Ale *et al.*, 1996a)

It is striking that for some installations the PLLF is larger than PLLI. This might be due to the fact that the actually calculated risk contours for installations have been schematised in (Ale *et al.* 1996a) as circular contours. This can lead to an underestimation of the individual risk levels at population concentrations and thus to an underestimation of PLLI. In

addition, the differences between both PLL's span orders of magnitude for some cases. For example, for the location indicated in the upper left part of the figure they deviate a factor 10⁷.

Given all the limitations mentioned above, a complete explanation of these deviations cannot be given for the above. However, such analyses indicate the relevance of a verification of the relationship between PLLI and PLLF. The two different "routes" of calculating the expected number of fatalities can be followed to verify the consistency of individual and societal risk calculations for a given installation. After consistency is assured, assumptions in individual and societal risk calculations could be differentiated, e.g. with respect to presence and protection of people.

3.4.3 The relationship between individual risk contours and the FN curve

The two previous sections have described the general relationship between individual and societal risk. A related issue is the relationship between individual risk contours and the FN curve. This is further explored in this section. The issue considered here is how the FN curve changes when new housing developments are added outside a certain IR contour.

For clarity we use a simplified notation for individual and societal risk in a one-dimensional system. Individual risk is calculated for an (hypothetical) individual permanently present at location *x*:

$$IR(x) = P_E(x)F_{D|E}(x)$$
 (Eq. 3-21)

Where: $P_E(x)$ – probability of exposure at location x in one year; $F_{D|E}(x)$ – probability of death given exposure at location x (integrated over all intensities of physical effects) The (expected) number of fatalities at location x equals:

$$N(x) = F_{D|E}(x)N_{EXP}(x)$$
 (Eq. 3-22)

Where: $N_{EXP}(x)$ – number of people exposed at location x^{12}

The relationship between the individual risk contours and the FN curve is considered for two typical situations, see figure 3-8. The first situation consists of a risk source at a fixed accident location, e.g. a hazardous installation. The accident leads to exposure of an area, in which both the intensity of physical effects and mortality will generally decrease with distance from the risk source due to the dispersion of effects. The second situation considers a spatially variable accident location, in which a relatively small area is exposed (see more details in section 3.5.3). An example of this type of accident is the crash of an airplane. The probability of exposure decreases with distance from the risk source (e.g. because the probability of a crash becomes smaller at larger distance from the airport). The probability of death given exposure is the same for all accident locations. Both situations lead to identical individual risk contour. However, the FN curves for the two situations will change in different ways when additional population(s) of 100 people are added at the 10⁻⁵ and 10⁻⁶ IR contours. These additional populations are $N_{EXP,II}$ and $N_{EXP,III}$ respectively, so that $N_{EXP,II} = N_{EXP,III} = 100$.

¹² It is assumed that a group of people is exposed in one single location.



Figure 3-8: Individual risk and FN curve for two situations

It is shown that for the fixed installation addition of populations II and III leads to an increase of the consequences. For the spatially distributed accidents, addition of people at more distant risk contours increases the probability of an accident, while the consequences in case of an accident remain identical.

The effects on the FN of adding new populations at a certain known IR contour value can be determined based on the ratios of IR values at two locations:

$$\frac{IR(x)}{IR(0)} = \frac{P_E(x)P_{D|E}(x)}{P_E(0)P_{D|E}(0)}$$
(Eq. 3-23)

Where: $P_E(0)$ – probability of exposure at the risk source in one year; $P_{D|E}(0)$ – mortality at the risk source.

In the above typical situations it can be assumed that either the probability of exposure (for a fixed installation) or the mortality (for spatially distributed accidents) is constant for all locations. In these situations the effects on the FN curve of addition or movement of

population can be derived from the above formula. Further explanation and examples are given in appendix 3.III.

The above analyses give insight in the relationship between IR contours and the FN curve. Based on the above findings it will be possible to develop rules of thumb to show the effects in the FN curve of adding population at a certain IR contour value. It has also been shown how zoning measures have different effects for different situations. For a fixed installation, zoning measures reduces the consequences of an accident and leads to a horizontal shift in the FN curve. For situations where the probability of an accident is spatially variable, zoning leads to a change in the probability of exposure and a vertical shift of the FN curve. For cases where both the probability of exposure and mortality are spatially distributed, it will be less straightforward to determine the effects of zoning on the FN curve.

3.4.4 Presentation of local contributions to societal risk

It is interesting to investigate how the contribution of certain locations to the societal risk of the whole area can be analysed and presented. This offers the possibility of effective reduction of societal risk due to spatial measures and (in combination with risk limits) could provide insight in tolerable housing developments at certain locations within an area. Several authors have investigated (aspects of) the so-called area specific approach to societal risk (Piers, 1998; Post *et al*, 2005; van Vliet *et al*., 2005; Wiersma *et al*., 2005).

In order to assess the local contribution a location to societal risk, the studied area is generally divided into a number grid cells¹³ with limited surface, e.g. 1 hectare or 1 km². The most straightforward and undisputed way to show the local contribution to societal risk is to calculate and plot the local contribution of one grid cell to the expected value of the number of fatalities. However, societal risks in the Netherlands are generally expressed in an FN curve, which is based on the cumulative distribution of the number of fatalities for the whole area. The possibility to depict the local contribution to the FN curve depends on whether the exposed area by an accident is smaller than the size of a grid cell or not, see figure 3-9.



Figure 3-9: Extent of exposed area relative to grid cell size (based on van Vliet et al., 2005)

If the exposed area in one accident is smaller than the size of a grid cell, the contribution to the FN curve can be easily shown. This is generally the case for accidents with a limited

¹³ Note that these grid cells thus represent (smaller) areas within the whole study area. It might thus be misleading to mention the contribution of one location, as a location basically consists of one smaller area. Here both terms are used as interchangeable.

accident footprint, such as airplane crashes. Each accident is assigned to one grid cell¹⁴. The contribution of one grid cell to the probability of exceedance of a certain number of fatalities can be determined directly and plotted in a graph. An example is given in figure 3-10 for the Dutch national airport Schiphol (Piers, 1998). Such a figure gives the spatial distribution of contributions of single gridcells. Summation of the probabilities of all grid cells in the area for the considered number of fatalities yields the corresponding probability (of exceedance) that is also shown in the FN curve.



Figure 3-10: Contribution of grid cell of 1 km² to the FN curve of Schiphol for N=200 fatalities (situation 1990) (Piers, 1998)

If the exposed area in one accident is larger than the size of a grid cell, the local contribution to the FN curve is less straightforward to determine. This is generally the case for accident types that expose larger areas (and thus multiple grid cells) at once, such as floods and chemical gas plumes. In this case the fatalities for one accident scenario are distributed over multiple grid cells. This implies that the contribution of one grid cell to the FN curve cannot be depicted in a straightforward manner.

To overcome this issue it is proposed to assign a probability (of exceedance) to each grid cell that is proportional to its contribution to the total number of fatalities for the considered scenario, see also Jonkman and Vrijling (2005). This approach has the benefits that 1) the grid cell with the most fatalities has the highest contribution to the probability; 2) summation over the whole area of probabilities per grid cell for a certain number of fatalities N results in the probability shown in the FN curve.

Discussion

Above, the possibilities for presentation of local contributions to the societal risk in an area have been investigated. Especially for accidents where the exposed area is larger than the size of a grid cell, further investigation of methods for the quantification and presentation

¹⁴ Although an airplane crash could also expose multiple grid cells, their number will be relatively limited. Therefore it seems reasonable to assign the fatalities to one grid cell.

of the local contribution to societal risk is recommended. Also the relationship between local contributions to societal risk and the FN limit line for the whole area could be further investigated. Practical indicators could be developed to indicate how much housing developments at a location are still tolerable within the societal risk limit. However, societal risk is the summation of contributions to probabilities and consequences of all accidents in a certain area. This implies that it will not be easy to judge if additional housing is tolerable at a specific location, as this depends on (increases in) the presence of housing at other locations. Until these issues have been further explored and solved a more iterative approach is favourable. In this approach the effects of each new housing development on societal risks are assessed by means of a new calculation with a (numerical) risk analysis model.

3.5 Extension of the general formulations for risk quantification

Based on the general formulations for risk quantification, several extensions for specific situations are proposed, that allow a broader application of the approach. These extensions include alternative definitions for individual risk (3.5.1), the correction for reduction of actual presence of people e.g. due to evacuation (3.5.2); inclusion of the spatially distributed accidents (3.5.3) and direction dependent hazards (3.5.4).

3.5.1 Alternative definitions for individual risk

In literature several alternative definitions for individual risk are proposed, for which mathematical expressions can be formulated. The maximum individual risk (IR_{MAX}) in the exposed area is found as follows:

$$IR_{MAX} = \max_{A} \left(IR(x, y) \right)$$
(Eq. 3-24)

The average individual risk (IR_{AV}) in an area becomes:

$$IR_{AV} = \frac{\iint_{A} IR(x, y)m(x, y)dxdy}{\iint_{A} m(x, y)dxdy} = \frac{E(N)}{N_{EXP}}$$
(Eq. 3-25)

This clearly shows that this definition or IR does not give the actual risk for a specific individual or location, but that it in fact expresses a characteristic of societal risk. The average individual risk is often used to indicate the risks associated with certain activities, such as smoking, driving or mountain climbing.

For tunnels and other transport systems the individual risk becomes a characteristic of a specific or typical user, and it is necessary to define a number of travels per year for that user. Individual risk for tunnels (IR_{τ}) is found as follows:

$$IR_T = \frac{E(N)R_P}{R_T}$$
(Eq. 3-26)

Where: R_p – number of travels per year through the tunnel for the specific user; R_T – total number of travels per year through the tunnel

Generally, individual risk contours are drawn in two dimensions (x,y), as land use planning traditionally focused on building near or along transport routes and installations. Especially in densely populated areas, multiple use of space of infrastructure (buildings above roads and railways) has gained attention. Therefore, development of risk contours in three dimensions (x,y,z) has been proposed (Suddle, 2004; Suddle and Ale, 2006).

3.5.2 Correction for the actual presence of people

Permanent presence of persons has been assumed in elaborations in previous sections. However, some alternative definitions concern the actual presence of people in an area in order to determine the actual individual risk. Within the individual risk calculation an occupation factor (Carter and Hirst, 2000) or residence time fraction (Matthijsen, 2003) can be introduced that indicates the fraction of the time that people are present¹⁵ at a certain location. Similarly, the effects of evacuation can be discounted in risk quantification. Especially for events that are predictable and for which the effects are developing relatively slow, evacuation might be possible (see section 2). The exposed population at a location can be reduced by evacuation, so that:

$$\gamma(x, y) = 1 - F_E(x, y)$$
 (Eq. 3-27)

Where: $\gamma(x,y)$ – occupation factor [-]; $F_E(x,y)$ – fraction of the population evacuated at location (x,y) [-]

This occupation factor can be included to correct for the actual exposure of the population and evacuation in the expressions for individual and societal risk:

$$N_{EXP} = \iint_{A} \gamma(x, y) m(x, y) dx dy$$
 (Eq. 3-28)

$$IR(x,y) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{C0}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0,x,y) \gamma(x,y) dc_0 = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{C0}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0,x,y) \left(1 - F_E(x,y)\right) dc_0 \quad (\text{Eq. 3-29})$$

Inclusion of the effects of evacuation or the occupation factor in expressions for societal risk is straightforward.

Finally, the presence of buildings may offer some protection against the physical effects of the event and thus reduce mortality. In assessing the effects of protection it can be chosen to determine either the reduction of physical effects or the reduction of mortality via the dose response function. Van Leeuwen (1992) gives an example of the first type of application and assesses the reduction of toxic concentrations due to presence indoors. In the second type of application the effects of protection can be considered in an alternative version of the dose response function: $F_{DP}(c)$, where indicator P used to indicate effects of protection.

3.5.3 Risk quantification for spatially distributed accidents

The presented general formulations in the previous sections assumed one risk source at a fixed location, i.e. 'a point source'. This situation is representative for a stationary installation, where the physical effects develop as coming from one source. However, for many applications, for example transport of dangerous materials, flood protection or airport safety,

¹⁵ The complement of the factor: 1 - $\gamma(x,y)$ indicates the time of the day that people are elsewhere, e.g. for school or work.

accidents can occur at different locations (e.g. sections of the road or dike, or all locations near an airport). Then it is necessary to take into account in risk quantification the spatial distribution of accident locations and the exposed area for an accident.

To show the conceptual approach for spatially distributed accidents the situation is elaborated for a one-dimensional example. Assume that an accident occurs at location $x^{2}(^{16})$. The effects occur within an exposed area with a "footprint" *A*. All locations within the accident footprint are exposed to the effects of the accident at x^{2} , see figure 3-11.



Figure 3-11: Schematic view of exposed area A in case of an accident at location x'

The probability of exposure at a certain location to the effects of spatially distributed accidents can be determined as follows. Assume that the probability of an accident equals p_f in one year. The (conditional) distribution of the accident location given an accident can be described with: $f_{xy}(x)$ for a one dimensional situation¹⁷. The probability of an accident in a certain area is found by integration of all accidents that can occur in that area. The probability of **exposure** at location *x* equals the probability that location *x* will be within the accident footprint. The probability of exposure at location *x* in one year becomes:

$$P(exposure \ at \ x) = P(x - A/2 < x' < x + A/2) = p_f \int_{x - A/2}^{x + A/2} f_{x'|f}(x') dx'$$
(Eq. 3-30)

If the accident footprint *A* becomes larger this leads to an increase in the probability of exposure and consequently the level of individual risk. Exposure of a larger area can also lead to an increase of the number of fatalities in case of an accident.

For some applications, e.g. for transport routes, an alternative notation might be preferable, because the accident probability is a function of location. Then, a failure intensity $\lambda_f(x)$ per vehicle with unit [1/length] can be used, see also (JCSS, 2001) and below for an example. The dependency on length x expresses the variability in circumstances along the length, leading to variations in accident intensity (JCSS, 2001). For example, for a transport route the accident intensity might be larger in bends than on straight roads. The continuous function for the failure intensity $\lambda_f(x)$ can also be split into discrete probabilities indicating the probability of failure of a section of dike, or the accident probability at a road section, for example per kilometre.

¹⁶ Index (') is used to denote the difference between crash location (x') and location of exposure (x).

¹⁷ Of course the analysis can be extended into two dimensions (x,y).

Example: transport route

To illustrate the application of this approach a conceptual example is given for a transport route as representative for a line shaped risk source¹⁸. We assume a certain accident intensity $\lambda_f(x')$ per vehicle. We consider a location x at a distance y from the transport route. The location (x,y) can be exposed due to accidents occurring between locations x_1 and x_2 , see figure 3-12.



Figure 3-12: Example of transport route and accident intensity

The probability of an accident at that stretch of the route in one year and thus the probability of exposure at location (x,y) is found as follows¹⁹:

$$P_{accident[x1,x2]} = n_v \int_{x1}^{x2} \lambda_f(x') dx'$$
(Eq. 3-31)

Where: $P_{accident[x1,x2]}$ – probability of an accident in one year between locations x_1 and x_2 ; n_v – number of vehicles per year on transport route per year [yr⁻¹]

The individual risk at location (x,y) is now found by combining the probabilities of different accidents that expose (x,y) with the possible initial accident intensities and the dispersion and the dose response model. For a line shaped risk source the risk contours are obtained by summation over a large number of different accident locations. If the probability of an accident and the dispersion are constant along the considered stretch, risk contours will be located parallel²⁰ to the risk source, e.g. the road or dike.

The above analysis clearly shows that in the risk quantification for location (x,y) all accidents that can lead to exposure of the location have to be considered. This indicates that it is not sufficient to perform a risk analysis for one single section of a road nearest to the considered location, when accidents at other sections of the road can also contribute to exposure of the location. This implies that all accident locations within the maximum effect range have to be included in risk quantification. It is recommended to investigate this issue further, especially for transport safety in the Netherlands, where risks are generally assessed for arbitrary and separate sections of one kilometre.

¹⁸ A similar conceptual elaboration can be given for a line shaped flood defence structure.

¹⁹ If $\lambda_{\lambda}(x) << 1$ we may assume that equation 3-31 results in a probability.

²⁰ There is a similarity with a wave pattern, see also (Jonkman, 2001). While one single wave source gives a circular wave dispersion, a combination of many wave sources at one line give a wave front that disperses parallel relative to that line.

3.5.4 Meteorological conditions and direction dependent hazards

For some hazards meteorological conditions can influence the dispersion of physical effects and the extent of the exposed area, see also (Alp and Zelensky, 1994) for an extensive discussion. For example for the release of toxic gasses, the wind direction will determine the contour of the released gas plume and the exposed area (Vilchez *et al.*, 2004). For such situations the exposed area, consequences and risk levels are direction dependent.

The influence of meteorological conditions can be included in risk quantification. The occurrence of certain meteorological conditions, e.g. wind direction θ_w , can be described with a probability density function: $f_w(\theta_w)$. A polar coordinate system is generally used in which the angle and distance relative to the risk source are described with angle θ [rad] and radius R [m] respectively. The exposed area or "footprint" stretches out with radius B/2 on both sides of the occurring wind direction. It is assumed here that effects disperse over very large distance, so that R approaches infinity, see figure 3-13.



Figure 3-13: Area exposed to effects in case of wind direction θ_W in a polar coordinate system

Suppose that we analyse the risks for some location at radius θ . Similar to equation 3-30 the probability of exposure in this direction θ in one year is found by summing over all wind directions that result in exposure and combination with the probability of an accident²¹:

$$P(exposure \ at \ \vartheta) = p_f \int_{\vartheta-B/2}^{\vartheta+B/2} f_W(\vartheta_W) d\vartheta_W$$
(Eq. 3-32)

Individual risk at location (R, θ) is assessed by combining the probability of exposure, with the dose response function and the dispersion model (formulated as $c(c_0, R, \theta)$ and substituted in the dose response function):

$$IR(R,\vartheta) = \int_{\vartheta-B/2}^{\vartheta+B/2} \int_{0}^{\infty} p_f f_W(\vartheta_W) f_{C0|f}(c_0) F_D^{*}(c_0, R, \vartheta) dc_0 d\vartheta_W$$
(Eq. 3-33)

The direction dependent character of the hazards can also influence the societal risk. For example for toxic releases the consequences of the event will depend on the meteorological

²¹ It is assumed that the probability of an accident p_{t} and the wind direction are independent.

situation at the moment of occurrence of the event, and the dispersion of effects relative to population concentrations. Then, the number of fatalities for one initial release becomes conditional on the wind direction. This implies that the number of fatalities given one initial release (c_0) cannot be represented by a deterministic number. Instead it will have a certain conditional distribution. A schematic example is presented in figure 3-14, where a hazardous facility is located at the western side of the city. Consider one single initial release with a certain footprint. If the wind blows in the eastern direction the city will be maximally exposed (situation 1). For other wind directions the city will be partly exposed (situation 2) or not be exposed at all (situation 3). By combining information regarding the distribution of wind directions and the population density, the conditional pdf of fatalities given release is obtained.



Figure 3-14: Schematic example for a facility: Conditional pdf of the number of fatalities for a given initial ease

For some applications, for example transport of dangerous gasses over transport routes or through pipelines, accidents will be spatially distributed and effects will be direction dependent. In this case the exposed area will depend on the accident location and the occurring wind direction. It is possible to combine both previously elaborated approaches by expressing the polar coordinates (R, θ) used for direction dependent hazards with the Cartesian (x,y) coordinates used for spatially distributed accidents.

3.6 Examples

To demonstrate the application of the general formulations and the proposed extensions to various sectors, different examples are elaborated in this section. The examples are conceptual and highly schematised, but characteristic for different applications. The examples and their main characteristics are summarized in table 3-2.

Section	Example	Risk source	Dispersion of physical effects
3.6.1	Fictitious example	Point source	Point
3.6.2	Chemical installation	Point source	Spatial (radial)
3.6.3	Chemical installation	Point source	Spatial (radial) incl. Meteorological conditions
3.6.4	Airport	Plane source one- and two- dimensional	Spatial

Table 3-2: Summary of elaborated examples and their main characteristics

For reasons of brevity and clarity individual and societal risk calculations are only fully elaborated for the first two examples. For the other examples the most characteristic and relevant results are presented.

3.6.1 Simple fictitious example

First, a simple and fictitious example is elaborated. It is assumed that effects and population density are uniformly distributed over a certain area. This situation can be schematised as a point source in a "point city", i.e. a city with an infinitely small surface.

The probability of failure of a risk source in one year equals $p_f = 0.5.10^{-3}$ [yr⁻¹]. The conditional pdf of the intensity of initial effects given failure is described with an inverse quadratic Pareto pdf:

$$f_{C0|f}(c_0) = 0 \qquad 0 \le c_0 < 1$$

$$f_{C0|f}(c_0) = \frac{a}{c_0^3} \qquad c_0 \ge 1$$
(Eq. 3-34)

Where: a – constant with value 2 and a unit corresponding to one divided by the squared unit of c_0 ; c_0 – intensity of physical effects released at the risk source (in more practical examples this could for example be a concentration [mg/m³]).

The (non-conditional) pdf of the intensity of initial effects in one year is then obtained as follows (see also figure 3-1a):

$$f_{C0}(c_0) = 1 - p_f = 1 - 0, 5 \cdot 10^{-3} \qquad 0 \le c_0 < 1$$

$$f_{C0}(c_0) = p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) = \frac{p_f a}{c_0^3} = \frac{10^{-3}}{c_0^3} \qquad c_0 \ge 1$$
 (Eq. 3-35)



Figure 3-15: Probability density function of the intensity of initial effects

Given the chosen schematisation of a point city the dispersion of physical effects is not relevant, so $c_0=c$. The mortality for an event can now be directly estimated as a function of initial effects with a dose response function (figure 3-16):

$$F_D(c_0) = b\sqrt{c_0} \qquad 0 \le c_0 \le 1/b^2$$

$$F_D(c_0) = 1 \qquad c_0 > 1/b^2$$
(Eq. 3-36)

Where: b – constant with a unit corresponding to one divided by the square root of the unit of c_o .

In further elaboration it is assumed that *b* is very small and the second part of equation 3-36 is neglected in further analyses²². The number of people in the exposed area equals N_{EXP} .



Figure 3-16: Dose response function

Derivation of individual risk

The individual risk is found by combining the pdf of initial effects with the dose response function (see also eq. 3-6):

$$IR = \int_{0}^{\infty} p_{f} f_{C0|f}(c_{0}) F_{D}(c_{0}) dc_{0} = \int_{1}^{\infty} p_{f} \frac{a}{c_{0}^{3}} bc_{0}^{0.5} dc_{0} = \left[-2/3abp_{f} c_{0}^{-3/2}\right]_{1}^{\infty} = 2/3abp_{f}$$
(Eq. 3-37)²⁴

The expected value of the number of fatalities from individual risk is found by multiplication with the number of people exposed :

$$E(N) = \int_{1}^{\infty} p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) F_D(c_0) N_{EXP} dc_0 = 2/3abp_f N_{EXP}$$
(Eq. 3-38)

Derivation of societal risk

Following equation 3-8 the number of fatalities N is found as a function of initial effects and exposed population:

$$N = g(c_0) = F_D(c_0) N_{EXP} = b N_{EXP} c_0^{0.5}$$
(Eq. 3-39)

The probability density function of the number of fatalities in one year can be derived as follows (note the transition of integration boundaries):

22 It is thereby assumed that $\int_{1/b^2}^{\infty} f_{C0}(c_0)$ is negligibly small relative to $\int_{1}^{1/b^2} f_{C0}(c_0)$

23 A check shows that IR has unit $[a][b][p_f]^*c_0^{-3/2} = c_0^2 c_0^{-1/2} yr^{-1}c_0^{-3/2}$ leading to a unit for IR of yr⁻¹

$$f_{N}(n) = 1 - p_{f} \qquad n = 0$$

$$f_{N}(n) = f_{C0}(c_{0}) \frac{dc_{0}}{dn} = f_{C0}(c_{0}) \frac{2c_{0}^{1/2}}{bN_{EXP}} = \frac{2ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{4}}{n^{5}} \qquad d \le n < \infty \qquad (Eq. 3-40)$$

$$d = n(c_{0} = 1) = bN_{EXP}$$

Integration of this pdf yields the expected value of the number of fatalities in one year:

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} nf_{N}(n)dn = \int_{d}^{\infty} \frac{2ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{4}}{n^{4}}dn = \left[-\frac{2/3ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{4}}{n^{3}}\right]_{d}^{\infty} = 2/3abp_{f}N_{EXP}$$
(Eq. 3-41)

Following the discussion in section 3.4.1 it is shown that expected values obtained from individual and societal risk (i.e. equations 3-38 and 3-41) are equivalent. The distribution function of the number of fatalities and the FN curve are found by integration of the pdf:

$$1 - F_N(n) = 1 - p_f \qquad n = 0$$

$$1 - F_N(n) = \int_n^\infty f_N(n) dn = \frac{2ap_f(bN_{EXP})^4}{4n^4} \qquad d \le n < \infty \qquad (Eq. 3-42)$$

Below, the corresponding FN curves are shown for a=2; $b=10^{-5}$; $p_f = 0.5.10^{-3}$ per year and $N_{EXP}=10^5$. Similarly, the pdf, distribution and FN curve²⁴ for the number of fatalities given failure can be derived. Note that the FN curves have a slope of -4. This can be derived from the combination of the pdf of effects, the Jacobian and the (square rooted) format of the dose response function. This shows that the steepness of the FN curve depends on the pdf of initial effects and the dose response function. Note that the (non-conditional) FN curve for the number of fatalities intersects the vertical axis at the value of the probability of failure $p_f=0.5.10^{-3}$ per year of killing at least one person. The conditional FN curve given failure is shifted by that same factor p_f .

²⁴ number of fatalities given failure: pdf: $f_{N|f}(n)$; distribution $F_{N|f}(n)$; FN curve: 1- $F_{N|f}(n)$



Figure 3-17: FN curve for the simplified example

Finally the standard deviation can be determined (Eq. 3-43):

$$\sigma^{2}(N) = E(N^{2}) - E^{2}(N)$$
$$E(N^{2}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} n^{2} f_{N}(n) dn = \int_{d}^{\infty} \frac{ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{4}}{n^{3}} dn = \left[-\frac{ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{4}}{n^{2}}\right]_{d}^{\infty} = ap_{f}(bN_{EXP})^{2}$$

As it follows that $E^2(N)$ is small relative to $E(N^2)$ we find that $\sigma(N) \approx \sqrt{ap_f} bN_{EXP}$. Similarly, the expected value and standard deviation for the number of fatalities given failure can be derived analytically.

3.6.2 Point source with radial dispersion of effects

In the second example a point source is treated as representative for a chemical installation. The same pdf for intensity of initial effects and dose response function are used as in the previous section (3.6.1). It is assumed that effects disperse radially, which could for example correspond to dispersion of gas in a situation without wind. The intensity of effects decreases exponentially as a function of (radial) distance to the source:

$$c(c_0, R) = c_0 e^{-\alpha * R}$$

$$F_D(c) = b\sqrt{c} \implies F_D^*(c_0, R) = bc_0^{0.5} e^{-0.5\alpha * R}$$
(Eq. 3-44)

Where: R – radial distance to source [m]; α^* – constant determining decrease of effects as a function of distance [m⁻¹].

Determination of effect distance

Based on the above functions an analytical expression for the so-called effect distance can be obtained. This concept is used for risk mapping and communication in the external

safety policy in the Netherlands (SAVE, 2002) and gives the distance from the risk source within which fatalities are expected for a certain initial release. As a boundary for this area generally the 1% mortality fraction is used. An analytical expression for effect distance is obtained by combining the dispersion and mortality functions. For the above example this results in:

$$R_{1\%} = -\frac{2}{\alpha *} \ln\left(\frac{0.01}{bc_0^{0.5}}\right)$$
(Eq. 3-45)

Where: $R_{1\%}$ - effect distance: distance from risk source to a location where a intensity value is reached that corresponds to 1% mortality [m]

The above equation shows that the effect distance depends on the chosen value of the initial intensity of physical effects c_0 and that it is thus a deterministic concept, i.e. the distribution of initial releases is not accounted for. Using the above concept analytical expressions for effect distances for lethal and non-lethal injury can be developed if the response function and dispersion model are given.

Individual risk

The individual risk is now determined as a function of radial distance to the source:

$$IR(R) = P(Z(R) < 0) = \int_{1}^{\infty} p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) F_D^*(c_0, R) dc_0 = \int_{1}^{\infty} p_f \frac{a}{c_0^3} bc_0^{0.5} e^{-0.5aR} dc_0$$
$$= \left[-2/3abp_f e^{-0.5aR} c_0^{-3/2} \right]_{1}^{\infty} = 2/3abp_f e^{-0.5aR}$$
(Fa. 3)

 $(Eq. 3-46)^{25}$

As an example, individual risk levels are shown in figure 3-18 (left figure) as a function of distance to the risk source for a=1,5; $b=10^{-4}$; $p_f=10^{-2}$; $\alpha=0.015$. Based on the previous equation the distance to an individual risk contour is determined as follows:

$$R(IR) = -\frac{2}{\alpha *} \ln\left(\frac{3IR}{2abp_f}\right)$$
(Eq. 3-47)

The above formulation shows that for this case (exponential decay of physical effects) the distances between successive individual risk contours is identical. Distances to individual risk contours are shown in figure 3-18 (right figure). At the location of the installation (R=0) IR=10⁻⁶ per year. Because radial dispersion and no influence of wind are assumed, the risk contours have a radial shape. This shows that individual risk contours are two-dimensional projection on a map of the three dimensional distribution of individual risk.

²⁵ For this example it is shown in appendix 3. I that the same result is obtained when the dispersion model and initial effects are combined (see also figure 3-3).


Figure 3-18: Individual risk levels as a function of location (left) and distance to individual risk contours (right)

Societal risk

In order to determine societal risk a circular city is assumed with an infinite surface and with a homogeneous uniform population density, so that $m(R)=m_0$ for all values of *R*. The number of fatalities is expressed as a function of the initial release term:

$$N = g(c_0) = \int_0^\infty F_D^*(c_0, R) m(R) dR = \int_0^\infty b \sqrt{c_0} e^{-1/2\alpha R} m_0 dR$$

$$= \left[\frac{-4b\pi m_0 \sqrt{c_0}}{\alpha} e^{-1/2\alpha R} \right]_0^\infty = \frac{4b\pi m_0 \sqrt{c_0}}{\alpha}$$
(Eq. 3-48)

The pdf of the number of fatalities is obtained from the Jacobian and by substitution of equation 3-48 (²⁶) in equation 3-10:

$$f_{N}(n) = 1 - p_{f} \qquad n = 0$$

$$f_{N}(n) = f_{C0}(c_{0})dc_{0} / dn = \frac{ap_{f}}{c_{0}^{3}} \frac{\alpha \sqrt{c_{0}}}{2b\pi m_{0}} = \frac{512ap_{f}}{n^{5}} \left(\frac{b\pi m_{0}}{a}\right)^{4} \qquad i \le n < \infty$$

(Eq. 3-49)

Note that the domain of the pdf of initial effects (eq. 3-35) has to be taken into account. If $c_0=1 \rightarrow n=i=4F_D\pi m_0/\alpha$. Integration of all values of *n* yields the expected value::

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} nf_N(n)dn = \left[\frac{-512ap_f}{3n^3} \left(\frac{b\pi m_0}{\alpha}\right)^4\right]_i^{\infty} = 8/3ap_f \frac{b\pi m_0}{\alpha}$$
(Eq. 3-50)

For confirmation the expected value is also determined from the expression obtained for individual risk (see eq. 3-46):

26 It follows that: $c_0 = \left(\frac{n\alpha}{4b\pi m_0}\right)^2$ and $dn/dc_0 = \frac{2b\pi m_0}{\alpha\sqrt{c_0}}$

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} IR(R)m(R)dR = \left[-\frac{8ap_{f}b\pi m_{0}e^{-0.5aR}}{3\alpha}\right]_{0}^{\infty} = 8/3ap_{f}\frac{b\pi m_{0}}{\alpha}$$
(Eq. 3-51)

This again shows that individual and societal risk approaches are consistent. Following from the pdf of fatalities the distribution function and the FN curve can be derived. Given the format of the pdf of the number of fatalities, the FN curve has a steepness of -4, which is the same as in figure 3-17. As $E^2(N)$ is small relative to $E(N^2)$ we approximate the standard deviation with $\in^2(N) \approx E(N^2)$, where:

$$E(N^{2}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} n^{2} f_{N}(n) dn = \left[\frac{-256ap_{f}}{n^{2}} \left(\frac{b\pi m_{0}}{\alpha} \right)^{4} \right]_{i}^{\infty} = 16ap_{f} \left(\frac{b\pi m_{0}}{\alpha} \right)^{2}$$
(Eq. 3-52)

3.6.3 Point source with direction dependent dispersion of effects

The above example concerns the (hypothetical) situation of radial dispersion without the influence of wind. Released (toxic) substances will be dispersed by the wind and consequence- and risk levels depend on the wind direction. Following the proposals in section 3.5.4, the inclusion of direction dependent hazards is illustrated in the following example. In this example the already introduced schematisations are used for the occurrence of initial effects ($f_{C0}(c_0)$), dispersion of effects ($c(c_0, R)$) and the dose response function ($F_D(c)$). We assume that the pdf of the occurring wind direction (θ_W [rad]) can be described by:

$$f_W(\Theta_W) = \frac{1}{\pi} \cos^2 \frac{1}{2} \vartheta_W \qquad 0 \le \vartheta_W \le 2\pi$$
(Eq. 3-53)

The dominating wind direction is the western wind (θ_W =0) and integration of the pdf over all wind directions yields 1. The probability of occurrence of a certain wind direction for each rounded degree²⁷ is obtained as follows (see figure 3-19a):

$$P(\vartheta_W) = \int_{\vartheta_W = 0.5/180\pi}^{\vartheta_W + 0.5/180\pi} f_W(\vartheta_W) d\vartheta_W = \left[\frac{1}{\pi} \left(\frac{\vartheta_W}{2} + \frac{\sin(\vartheta_W)}{2}\right)\right]_{\vartheta_W = 0.5/180\pi}^{\vartheta_W + 0.5/180\pi}$$
(Eq. 3-54)²⁸

The actually exposed area or "footprint" stretches along 45° (or $\pi/4$ in radians) on both sides of the occurring wind direction (see figure 3-9). Thus the probability of exposure in a direction θ in case of a failure is found as follows, results are shown in figure 3-19b. It is assumed that the occurrence of an initial release and the wind direction are independent.

$$P(exposure in \, dir. \vartheta \mid f) = \int_{\vartheta - \pi/4}^{\vartheta + \pi/4} f_W(\vartheta_W) d\vartheta_W = \left[\frac{1}{\pi} \left(\frac{\vartheta_W}{2} + \frac{\sin(\vartheta_W)}{2}\right)\right]_{\vartheta - \pi/4}^{\vartheta + \pi/4}$$
(Eq. 3-55)

Based on this equation the probability of a certain wind direction (θ_w) can be compared with the probability of exposure at direction (θ). Note that the probability of exposure is higher than the probability of a certain wind direction due to the add-on effects associated with the width of the exposed area.

²⁷ The probability of occurrence of a wind direction θ_w within a rounded degree is determined by taking into account all wind directions within $\theta_w - 0.5^\circ \le \theta_w \le \theta_w + 0.5^\circ$

²⁸ Scaling of degrees leads to the formulation in the equation, because $1/360*2\pi=1/180\pi$



Figure 3-19: a) Probability of a occurrence of a certain wind direction; b) probability of exposure given failure in a certain direction.

The individual risk at radius *R* in direction θ can be assessed by combining the probability of an initial release, the probability of exposure, the dispersion model and the dose response function. By combination with equation 3-46 we obtain (Eq. 3-56):

$$IR(R,\vartheta) = \int_{\vartheta-\pi/4}^{\vartheta+\pi/4} \int_{\vartheta}^{\infty} p_f f_{C0|f}(c_0) f_W(\vartheta_W) F_D^*(c_0, R) dc_0 d\vartheta_W = 2/3abp_f e^{-0.5aR} \int_{\vartheta-\pi/4}^{\vartheta+\pi/4} f_W(\vartheta_W) d\vartheta_W$$

Based on the above equation the individual risk contours can be plotted as is shown in figure 3-20 for values used in the previous section. It shows the 10^{-6} and 10^{-7} risk contours for the parameter values that have been given in earlier examples. The figure clearly shows the effects of the dominating western wind direction. This causes the IR contours to reach much further at the eastern side of the facility, as the wind direction is often west. There is a bend in the 10^{-8} contour at the western side of the origin. This is due to the fact that the eastern wind direction does not occur. Wind directions that are nearly east can still expose the western side of the installation (see also figure 3-19 – right).



Figure 3-20: Individual risk contours for a hazardous facility taking into account the dominating wind direction.

Societal risk is not elaborated in further detail here. In more practical situations the societal risk will depend on the situation of population concentrations in areas that have a high probability of being exposed, see also section 3.5.4.

The above elaboration is mainly conceptual. In the Netherlands standardized guidelines have been developed with more advanced methods for quantification of probabilities, dispersion of effects (e.g. for explosion, fire, toxic gas) and consequences (CPR, 1999). In practical applications advanced numerical models are generally used for the risk analysis of hazardous installations in the Netherlands, such as SAFETI, Riskcalc and SAVEII (Ale *et al.*, 2001).

3.6.4 Spatially distributed accidents: Airport risk analysis

In previous applications the hazard source could be schematised as a point source. For some applications the accident location can be spatially distributed, for example the occurrence of airplane crashes in the vicinity of an airport. To demonstrate the approach for a spatially distributed risk source, the individual and societal risks are estimated in an example for a schematised airport "Schippolder". A mainly one-dimensional elaboration is given to improve understanding of the basic concepts²⁹.

The hypothetical airport "Schippolder" consists of one runway. Based on the number of airplane movements and accident frequencies, a crash is expected once in 20 years on average ($p_f=0.05 \text{ yr}^{-1}$). In the one-dimensional elaboration only the distribution of the crash location relative to the flightpath centre line is considered, see also figure 3-22. The location of the crash (x') given an accident is normally distributed relative to the flightpath centre line with a standard deviation $\sigma_c=300\text{ m}$. The pdf of a crash at location x' given an accident equals:

$$f_{x|f}(x') = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{C}}} \exp\left(-\frac{(x')^{2}}{2\sigma_{C}^{2}}\right) = \phi(x'; 0; \sigma_{C})$$
(Eq. 3-57)

The probability of a crash within a stretch of a metre in one year is thus found as follows: $P(crash \ at \ x') = p_f \int_{x'=0.5m}^{x'+0.5m} f_{x'|f}(x') dx'$

The probability of exposure in one year is determined as follows. A person at location x will be exposed to crash effects of a crash at location x' if he is present within the crash area (see also section 3.5.3 and figure 3-11), leading to:

$$P(exposure \ at \ x) = P(x - A/2 < x' < x + A/2) = p_f \int_{x - A/2}^{x + A/2} f_{x'|f}(x') dx'$$
(Eq. 3-58)

The probability of exposure at a location and the probability of a crash are depicted in figure 3-21. The width of the crash area A equals 50 metres and it represents the footprint of the crash. The probability of exposure at a location is higher than the crash probability due to the "add-on" effects associated with the crash area. The probability of being killed when present in the crash area is assumed constant (Piers *et al.*, 1992), leading to a dose response

²⁹ The elaborations in this section are based on notes by prof. J.K. Vrijling

function: F_D =0,5. The individual risk is also shown in figure 3-21 and follows from the combination of the accident probability, the probability of exposure and the dose response function:

$$IR(x) = p_f F_D \int_{x-A/2}^{x+A/2} \varphi(x', 0, \sigma) dx'$$
 (Eq. 3-59)

Results in figure 3-21 show that the curves for accident probability, exposure and individual risk all have the same shape as that of the normal pdf of the crash location given an accident (note that the vertical axis has a logarithmic scale). It is also remarked that the individual risk will be equal to the probability of exposure if mortality F_D =1.



Figure 3-21: Probabilities of airplane crash and exposure and individual risk as a function of distance to the flightpath centre line.

Societal risk

Societal risk is determined for Schippolder airport. For this airport the individual risk limit is set at 10^{-5} (at 960m) and no new housing developments are tolerated within this contour. A residential area is present just outside the IR= 10^{-5} contour. It has a width in *x* direction of 1000m and an infinite length in *y* direction, see figure 3-22. The population density in the area equals 200 people/ha. or 0,02 person / m². The population density in can thus be expressed as follows (see also figure 3-23a):

$$m(x) = 0 pers / m^{2} \qquad 0 \le x < 960 \quad and \quad 1960 < x < \infty$$

$$m(x) = m_{0} = 0,02 pers / m^{2} \qquad 960 \le x \le 1960$$
(Eq. 3-60)



Figure 3-22: Situation of Schippolder airport showing location of residential area and the crash area

The airplane crash affects an area A with dimensions $y_A = 100$ m in y direction and $x_A = 50$ m in x direction. The number of fatalities due to a crash at location x' is found by multiplying the mortality with the number of people present inside the crash area:

$$N(x') = F_D y_A \int_{x'-x_A/2}^{x'+x_A/2} m(x) dx$$
 (Eq. 3-61)

If the airplane crashes in the centre of the area residential the number of fatalities equals: $N = F_D m_0 A$. If the crash occurs at the boundaries of (or just outside) the area, the number of fatalities is smaller when the crash area partially covers the populated area is exposed, see figure 3-23b.



Figure 3-23: A): Population density; B): Number of fatalities in case of a crash at location x'; C): probability density function of crash at location x'

The probability of a certain number of fatalities is obtained by taking into account the pdf of a crash at location x' (see figure 3-23c). By combining the pdf of the crash location and the resulting number of fatalities, the probability density function of the number of fatalities is obtained (figure 3-24). The regions of probability density in figure 3-24 can be derived from the spatial pdf of the crash location. The probability density of 0 fatalities equals the probability of no crash $(1-p_f)$ with the probability of a crash outside the populated areas (area I) added to it. The density of the maximum number of fatalities corresponds with a crash of which the effects are fully within the populated area (III). Area II represents situations where the crash area is partly within a populated area. The FN curve is derived from the probability density function and shown in figure 3-24. This implies that the probability at the intersection with the vertical axis of the FN curve corresponds to a probability of a crash which hits the residential area.



Figure 3-24: Probability density function of the number of fatalities due to a crash (left) and FN curve (right)

Integration of all possible crash locations and the consequently exposed areas yields the expected value of the number of fatalities:

$$E(N) = p_{f} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{x'|f}(x')n(x')dx' = p_{f}F_{D}y_{A} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{x'|f}(x') \int_{x'-x_{A}/2}^{x'+x_{A}/2} m(x)dxdx'$$

= $p_{f}F_{D}y_{A} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi(x',0,\sigma_{C}) \int_{x'-x_{A}/2}^{x'+x_{A}/2} m(x)dxdx' = 1,7 \cdot 10^{-3} fat / yr$ (Eq. 3-62)

From numerical approximation it follows that $\sigma(N) \approx 0.34$ *fat./yr*. The standard deviation is large relative to the expected value, due to the small probability of an event with a large number of fatalities.

The above shows how IR contours and the FN curve are related to the spatial distribution of accident locations and the population density. From this information insight can be gained in the relationship between individual and societal risk. For the example, increase of the population density near the IR=10⁻⁵ contour would significantly increase the societal risk because the accident probability is relatively high. However, it can also be shown that crashes at larger distances (> 2000m) from the flight path centre line do hardly contribute to the societal risk due to their low probability of occurrence. Thus, in this example, build-

ing additional houses east of the existing residential area would not substantially increase societal risk.

Discussion

The above text discussed simplified concepts related to risk quantification for external risk from airports. The example treated the problem in one dimension, but it can be easily extended to two dimensions. For more realistic modelling of airport risks reference is made to (Ale and Piers, 2000; Piers *et al.*, 1992; Piers, 1998). In more advanced calculations other distributions can be used to model the crash probability (e.g. Binomial) and the (conditional) spatial distribution of crash locations (e.g. Gamma and Pareto). The spatial distribution of the crash location is dependent on the airplane's flight path. As a result, the individual risk contours will generally follow the spatial runway and flightpath patterns. In risk quantification, multiple aircraft types and corresponding variation in crash areas should be accounted for. For realistic results the population density around the airport has to be included. In ongoing research the possibilities for causal risk modelling for Schiphol airport are explored, aiming to take into account the influence of other factors on accident probabilities in more detail. Examples of investigated issues are the effects of human factors (e.g. crew alertness) and weather conditions on crash probabilities (Roelen *et al.*, 2003).

Although the risk measures that are used for airports in the Netherlands are constantly changing, IR contours and the FN curve remain important indicators for representation of the risk of an airport. Currently the FN curve is only determined for external fatalities, i.e. those present on the ground. In this context it is also recommended to draw an FN curve for the internal risk (i.e. for passengers and crew). The FN curves for both the internal and external risk can be presented separately in the same FN curve to provide a more complete overview of the risks for different parties.

3.7 Concluding remarks

In this section a general approach for the quantification of individual and societal risk has been proposed. Analytical formulations for individual and societal risk have been derived based on the principles of reliability theory. Such a general set of formulations was not available in literature and thereby the foundation of risk quantification has been improved.

Risks to people can be quantified by combining four general elements: the probability of occurrence of physical effects at a risk source, the dispersion of effects, the number of people exposed, and the mortality amongst the exposed population. This subdivision also makes it possible to analyse the effects of risk reduction measures in a systematic way. It has also been shown how additional factors such as evacuation, meteorological conditions and spatially distributed accidents can be taken into account in risk quantification. The framework proofs applicable to different terrains and provides insight in the factors that influence the individual and societal risk levels.

It has been shown how the shape of individual risk contours is determined by the spatial dispersion of physical effects and / or the spatial distribution of accident locations. Individual risk can be plotted as a function of a location in a three dimensional graph and individual risk contours are obtained by projection of individual risk levels on a map³⁰. It has also been shown in an example (section 3.6.2) how the general formulations can be used to derive analytical expressions for related indicators such as the effect distance and the distance to individual risk contours, which are currently mainly determined numerically. The individual risk for a system can never become larger than the probability of failure of the system.

Societal risk concerns the probability of a multiple fatality accident. Societal risk is often shown in the FN curve. It has been shown how the FN curve can be analytically derived. In theory, the steepness of the FN curve depends on the shape of the pdf of initial effects, the dispersion function and the dose response function. In practice an FN curve is often generated based on information regarding probabilities and consequences for various accident scenarios. The shape of the FN curve depends on the probability that accident scenarios will expose populated areas. Figure 3-25 shows an exemplar FN curve. The intersection with the vertical axis equals the cumulative probability of lethal accidents (this is often equal to the overall probability of failure of a system). The curve remains horizontal up to the fatality number that corresponds to the scenario with smallest consequences. The intersection of the curve with the horizontal axis corresponds to the accident scenario with the largest number of fatalities.

³⁰ It is noted that this is similar to the concept of a joint probability density function of two variables. The joint probability density can be displayed in a three-dimensional graph as a function of both variables or it can be by projected in a two dimensional figure.



Figure 3-25: FN curve for flooding of South Holland (see also section 9)

For spatially distributed accidents (e.g. airplane crashes) and direction dependent hazards (e.g. toxic releases) the influence of the extent of the exposed area (or accident footprint) *A* has been investigated. If *A* becomes larger this leads to an increase of the probability of exposure and consequently the individual risk. Exposure of a larger area can also lead to an increase in the number of fatalities given an accident and thus to an increase of societal risk.

The proposed formulations have been used to give a theoretical confirmation of the relationship between individual and societal risk. The expected values obtained from individual and societal risk must be identical. It is noted that in risk calculations in practice the expected values calculated from individual and societal risk are sometimes not the same, because different assumptions are used for the calculations of individual and societal risk. More specifically the relationship between individual risk contours, which are generally used for zoning, and the FN curve has been clarified. For a fixed installation, zoning measures affect the consequences of an accident and lead to a horizontal shift of the FN curve. For situations where the probability of an accident is spatially distributed, zoning leads to a change in the probability of exposure and lead to a vertical shift of the FN curve. The above insights in the properties of the FN curve and individual risk contours and their mutual relationship can be used to verify the consistency of individual and societal risk calculations obtained from numerical models.

This section focused on the quantification of individual and societal risk. Eventually the acceptability of these risks has to be evaluated. The results of individual and societal risk calculations can be used as input for decision-making. Several of the proposed evaluation methods are directly based on the expected value of loss of life, such as the Life Quality Method (Nathwani *et al.*, 1997; Rackwitz, 2002). In other approaches specific risk limits for individual and societal risk are proposed, see e.g. (Vrijling *et al.*, 1998; Bottelberghs, 2000; Jonkman *et al.*, 2003; Trbojevic, 2004). An example of the analysis and evaluation of flood risks in the Netherlands with the latter type of limits is presented in section 9.

4 Uncertainties in loss of life estimates

Research question: How will uncertainties in loss of life estimates affect the outcomes of risk quantification?

Keywords: uncertainty, dose response function, loss of life, quantitative risk analysis

4.1 Introduction

This section investigates the effects of uncertainties in loss of life estimates on the outcomes of risk quantification. Dose response functions are generally used to estimate loss of life caused by a critical event. They give a relationship between the intensity of physical effects and the mortality in the exposed population. In most applications it is assumed that the dose response function returns a deterministic response fraction for every intensity level of physical effects, see e.g. (CPR, 1990; AIChE, 2000; PGS, 2005). Such a schematisation neglects the potential uncertainties in loss of life estimates. In this section two types of uncertainty are considered: 1) uncertainty due to the randomness in the outcome of the exposure of people to physical effects and 2) model uncertainty in the dose response function. Within the proposed classification for uncertainties (see section 1.2.3) the first type is an inherent uncertainty, the second a knowledge uncertainty. Both types of uncertainties are described in more detail below.

Randomness in the outcome of the exposure of a group of people

The possible randomness in the outcome of the exposure of people can be illustrated with a simple example. Suppose that we have a population of 100 objects and that the dose response function for these objects is known. The objects (e.g. concrete cubes) are exposed to a load that is expected to lead to a probability of failure for each object of 0,2. The experiment (exposure of all 100 objects) is repeated for 100 populations. Different distributions of the number of failures could result as outcome of the series of experiments. These distributions all give the same number of total failures. A few examples of the many possible outcomes are:

- All 100 experiments result in 20 failures;
- 50 experiments result in 10 failures, 50 experiments result in 30 failures;
- 80 experiments result in 0 failures, 20 experiments result in 100 failures.

The example above shows that there can be variation in the outcomes of individual experiments. The same concept applies to the use of dose response function for the estimation of the number of fatalities within an exposed population. If the dose response function is applied to an exposed **group** (or population) as a whole, it is used to determine the expected number of people in that group that does not survive. This type of application has been used in the previous section. It is indicated as a deterministic application as it is assumed that there is no variation in the consequences. Alternatively, the dose response function can be used to estimate the **individual** probability of death¹. The total number of fatalities in a group is found by summing up the individual outcomes. The consequence will be a ran-

¹ Thereby this differs somewhat from the mortality definition that has been used in sections 2 and 3. There it has been defined as the fraction of fatalities amongst the exposed population.

dom number due to variation in individual responses to exposure. The resulting distribution of the number of fatalities is determined by dependencies between individual failures, as will be discussed in more detail in sections 4.3. The two above types of applications are schematically depicted in figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1: Schematic difference between the application of a dose response function to an exposed group of people or to individuals

Figure notes: * - A deterministic consequence is only obtained if the model uncertainty in the dose response function is not considered, see below. # - It will be shown in section 4.4 that the result of the application of the dose response function to individuals approximates the deterministic outcome for independent resistances and a large number of people exposed.

Model uncertainty in the dose response function

A dose response function is conceptually similar to a so-called fragility curve. Such a curve is used to model the probability of structural failure of structures as a function of the load, e.g. for earthquakes. A fragility curve can be derived from field observations after disasters or from experimental data. In a similar way a dose response function can be derived from observations on human mortality from past disasters or from (scaled) data from animal tests (see also section 2). Available observations will generally be scattered around the bestfit function that is derived from the observations. This results in model uncertainty in the dose response function. Due to the effects of model uncertainties in the dose response function, the consequences of exposure of a group could also be uncertain (see figure 4-1). Model uncertainty can arise due to the fact that the observations that are used to derive the dose response function represent different circumstances (that are not captured as variables in the dose response function) and /or populations with different vulnerabilities (see further discussion in section 4.5). The model uncertainty in the dose response function can be represented by means of a conditional distribution of the response fraction for a given intensity of physical effects, see figure 4-2. Over the whole range of intensities, the uncertainty can be displayed with confidence intervals around the average² dose response function. Thereby the uncertainty is quantified and displayed by means of a family of distribution curves, where each curve represents a confidence level (see also section 1.2.4). Bayesian probability theory offers the possibility to integrate these uncertainties in the dose response function, as will be explained in more detail in section 4.5.

² In the further elaborations in this thesis a symmetrical conditional distribution for model uncertainty is assumed. In that case the average and median dose response functions are the same. However, for other cases the average and median curve do not need to be the same, see also (Paté Cornell, 2002).



Figure 4-2: Model uncertainty in the dose response function

Outline of this section

Above, general concepts related to uncertainty in loss of life estimates have been introduced. In the following sections these are further elaborated. For completeness, first the application of the deterministic dose response function is elaborated in section 4.2. Consequently, the effects of **randomness** in individual responses are investigated for the application of the dose response function to individuals in section 4.3. In this section different situations related to dependencies between failures are elaborated. The practical interpretation of these dependencies is explored in section 4.4. **Model uncertainties** and possibilities for their integration in the dose response function are discussed in section 4.5. Section 4.6 gives an overview of different distributions that can be used to represent uncertainty in loss of life estimates and investigates the influence of uncertainties on compliance to risk limits. A closing discussion is provided in section 4.7.

4.2 Deterministic application of the dose response function

In this approach it is assumed that application of the dose response function to a group of people exposed returns one deterministic number of fatalities for each load. Outcomes are shown for a deterministic and probabilistic load situation.

Deterministic load situation

We first assume the occurrence of one single event (f) and a deterministic load case. The number of fatalities given failure (N|f) is found by multiplying the mortality fraction (F_D) with the number of people exposed (N_{EXP}) . The corresponding probability density function³ (pdf) of the number of fatalities is depicted in figure 4-3. Note that in this section the probability mass at *n* is presented as a density over the range $n-\frac{1}{2}$ to $n+\frac{1}{2}$.

³ For situations with discrete stochastic variables (variables that can have discrete value) formally a probability mass function should be used. For continuous stochastic variables a probability density function (pdf) is used. To avoid confusion in terminology, the general term of probability density function is used for both situations in this thesis.



Figure 4-3: Probability density function of the number of fatalities given an event for a deterministic load

$$P(N = F_D N_{EXP} | f) = 1$$
$$P(N \neq F_D N_{EXP} | f) = 0$$
$$E(N | f) = F_D N_{EXP}$$
$$\sigma(N | f) = 0$$

(Eq. 4-1)

Probabilistic load situation

In a probabilistic calculation both the randomness of load situations and human resistances have to be considered. For this schematisation the application of dose response function in risk quantification, has been extensively discussed in section 3. For clarity, the concept is briefly repeated in figure 4-4. The load consists of physical effects with a certain intensity, and the dose response function represents the human resistance. For each given load intensity, a response fraction follows from the dose response function. The number of fatalities is determined by multiplying the mortality (F_D) by the magnitude of the exposed group (N_{EXP})⁽⁴⁾. The pdf of the number of fatalities ($f_N(n)$) is obtained by combining the pdf of intensity of physical effects, the dose response function, and the magnitude of the exposed population, see figure 4-4 and section 3 for formulas.



Figure 4-4: Determination of the pdf of the number of fatalities by combing load (physical effects) and resistance (the dose response function), for a constant exposed population N_{EXP} .

⁴ It is assumed that the magnitude of the exposed group is constant, independent of the load and that no evacuation occurs.

4.3 Application of the dose response function to individuals

4.3.1 General

The dose response function can also be applied to estimate the probability of death of an individual person. This can be appropriate when there is a large variation between the intensities of physical effects to which individuals are exposed. An analysis at the individual level can also be carried out to consider the variation in responses that is associated with variability between persons. Application of the dose response function to an individual implies that it is assumed that the considered individual has the resistance (properties) of an arbitrary person from the population for which the dose response function has been derived⁵.

When the dose response function is applied to individuals, the total number of fatalities in the group may be random, even if the load is deterministic. The key issue is that the distribution of the number of fatalities will be determined by dependencies in load intensities and human resistances.

Correlation is used as a measure for dependency. In general, correlation expresses the degree to which one phenomenon or random variable is associated with or can be predicted from another. Here, linear correlation is used to express the dependency. It refers to the degree to which a linear predictive relationship exists between random variables, as measured by a (linear) correlation coefficient ρ . The terms dependency and linear correlation are not fully equivalent. If two stochastic variables are independent the value of the linear correlation coefficient is 0. However, examples can be given where stochastic variables are dependent but not correlated, e.g. when there is a quadratic relationship between them. In the following elaborations the term dependent is used to denote situations that are linearly dependent and (linearly) correlated. The effects of dependencies on the distribution of failures are investigated in the following sections. This is first illustrated in an example for a deterministic load scenario. After that, a probabilistic load situation is elaborated.

Deterministic load situation

In a first example it is assumed that all the people in a group are exposed to the same deterministic load. The schematic experiment (exposure of a person to physical effects) is repeated for every person⁶. We assume a non- deterministic resistance function, i.e. with standard deviation larger than 0. For each individual (*i*) there are two possible outcomes, namely death (with probability $F_{D,i}$) or survival (with probability $1-F_{D,i}$). Summation of individual "failure probabilities" for the whole exposed group yields the expected number of fatalities:

$$E(N \mid f) = \sum_{i=1}^{N_{EXP}} F_{D,i}$$
 (Eq. 4-2)

⁵ Note that it is possible to develop a dose response function that takes account of an individual's or a subgroup's specific resistance characteristics, see also appendix 2.III.

⁶ In analogy: the experiment can be considered as repeated loadings of single elements, which all have a probability of failure.

Application of the dose response functions to a group as a whole or to individuals leads to the same **expected value**, for given values of mortality (F_D) and the magnitude of the exposed population (N_{EXP}) . However, the distribution of consequences is determined by dependencies between failures of elements, as is shown below.

We consider a situation where people have independent resistances⁷ and are exposed to the same deterministic load. Then the **Binomial** distribution can be applied to describe the overall distribution of consequences (see figure 4-5). The probability density function, expected value and standard deviation of the Binomial distribution are as follows:

$$P(N = n \mid f) = \frac{N_{EXP}!}{n!(N_{EXP} - n)!} F_D^{n} (1 - F_D)^{N_{EXP} - n}$$

$$E(N \mid f) = F_D N_{EXP}$$

$$\sigma(N \mid f) = \sqrt{N_{EXP}} F_D (1 - F_D)$$

$$f_N(n \mid f)$$

$$f_{N}(n \mid f)$$

$$f_{N}(n \mid f)$$

$$M \mid f$$

$$N \mid f$$

Figure 4-5: probability mass function for the Binomial distribution

Note that the standard deviation is small relative to the expected value for large values of $N_{\rm EXP}$ and / or large values of F_D . For large values of $N_{\rm EXP}$ the Poisson distribution⁸ is a good approximation. The normal distribution gives a good approximation for the binomial for larger values of $N_{\rm EXP}$ and values of F_D close to 0,5.

Alternatively, one may consider full dependence⁹ between the outcomes of the individual experiments, i.e. between persons' resistances. In the present case this means that the death of one person also implies the death of the whole population. As a result, exposure of the population has two possible discrete outcomes: all persons die with probability F_D or all persons survive with probability $(1-F_D)$. This situation can be modelled with the **Bernoulli** distribution (figure 4-6):

$$P(N = 0 | f) = 1 - F_D$$

$$P(N = N_{EXP} | f) = F_D$$

$$E(N | f) = F_D N_{EXP}$$

$$\sigma(N | f) = N_{EXP} \sqrt{F_D - F_D^2}$$
(Eq.

4-4)

⁷ This example also concerns a non-deterministic resistance function, with standard deviation larger than 0.

⁸ Poisson distribution: $P(N = n | f) = \frac{(F_D N_{EXP})^n}{n!} e^{-F_D N_{EXP}}$; $E(N|f) = F_D N_{EXP} = VAR(N|f)$:

⁹ A and B are fully dependent when: P(A|B)=1, thus $P(A \cap B)=P(A)=P(B)$



Figure 4-6: Probability density function of the Bernoulli distribution

The above results show that the distributions obtained when the dose response function is applied to individuals differs from the distribution that is obtained when the dose response function is applied to a group of people. The expected values of the two approaches are identical.

Probabilistic load situation

In another situation both load and resistance are both stochastic variables. In this case the distribution of consequences depends on the dependency between failures of two elements.

Therefore, it is relevant to understand which factors determine the dependency between the failures of two elements. Let us now consider the most general case, in which loads and resistances are stochastic variables. Let us introduce a formal approach by defining:

$$Z = R - S \tag{Eq. 4-5}$$

Here, R is the resistance and S the load. The variable Z is called the limit state function of the element or object. Such a type of approach is generally followed in (structural) reliability analysis. The general formulation to determine the correlation between the Z-values of two elements is:

$$\rho_{ZZ} = \frac{COV(ZZ)}{\sigma_Z^2} = \frac{\rho_{RR}\sigma_R^2 - 2\rho_{RS}\sigma_R\sigma_S + \rho_{SS}\sigma_S^2}{\sigma_R^2 + \sigma_S^2 + 2\rho_{RS}\sigma_R\sigma_S}$$
(Eq. 4-6)

Where:

COV(ZZ) – Covariance between the Z values of elements

 $\sigma_{_{R}}$ - standard deviation of the resistance

 σ_s - standard deviation of the load

 σ_z - standard deviation of the Z value of the element

 $\rho_{\scriptscriptstyle RR}$ - correlation between the resistances of elements

 $\rho_{\mbox{\tiny RS}}$ - correlation between the loads on and resistances of elements

 ρ_{ss} - correlation between loads on elements

For most applications it is realistic to assume that load and resistance are independent, so $\rho_{RS}=0$. This reduces the equation to:

$$\rho_{ZZ} = \frac{\rho_{RR} \sigma_R^2 + \rho_{SS} \sigma_S^2}{\sigma_R^2 + \sigma_S^2}$$
(Eq. 4-7)

Based on equation 4-7 we can conclude that two variables determine the dependency between the failure of two (or more) elements or persons, and thus the distribution of failures:

- 1. The standard deviations of load (σ_s) and resistance (σ_R);
- 2. The mutual correlations between loads (ρ_{ss}) and resistances (ρ_{RR}) of the elements.

1) Standard deviations of load and resistance: Load and resistance can either be expressed deterministically ($\sigma=0$) or with a distribution ($\sigma>0$). Four situations are distinguished, based on variations in load and resistance. Table 4-1 shows the pdf of load and the distribution of resistance for these situations.



Table 4-1: Combinations of load (S) and resistance (R)

2) Mutual correlations between loads and resistances

Possible combinations of mutual correlations between loads and resistances are shown in table 4-2 for positive correlation values. Negative correlation values (ρ <0) are not considered in table 4-2 and the remainder of this section. A negative correlation value implies a negative relationship between loads or resistances respectively. For exposure of humans such negative correlations are considered less realistic. Note that there are situations in other applications where negative correlations are more relevant. Consider for example a system consisting of two elements, where one element absorbs the load in the system and reduces the load on the other element¹⁰.

¹⁰ A related example of negative correlation between failures could be given for dike ring areas in the Netherlands. Flooding of one dike ring could imply a reduction of loads on the other dike ring, and thereby reduce the probability of flooding of that dike ring. In that case, the failures of the two dike rings will have a negative correlation.

	ρ _{ss} =0	$\rho_{ss} = 1$
ρ _{<i>RR</i>} = 0	Loads and resistances independent	Loads dependent resistances independent
$\rho_{RR}=1$	Loads independent resistances dependent	Loads and resistances dependent

Table 4-2: Possible combinations of (positive) correlations between load and resistance

Next sections

The next sections will further outline the application of dose response functions to individuals. The situations distinguished in table 4-1 are used as a framework. Quadrants II, III en IV¹¹ are elaborated in section 4.3.2 to 4.3.4. For each situation it will be shown how the distribution of consequences depends on the mutual correlations between loads and resistances (table 4-2). For completeness and comparison, the outcomes of the deterministic application of the dose response function are also presented.

4.3.2 Deterministic load and variable resistance

As the combination of deterministic load and variable resistance has already been discussed in the previous section, an example of this situation is given here. Suppose that an explosion occurs in a tunnel with 100 people present (N_{EXP} =100). The explosion has a peak pressure of 400 kPa. The corresponding mortality is found from the probit function derived from (CPR, 1990) and shown in figure 4-7. The corresponding mortality equals F_D =0,4. For the different situations that have been discussed previously, the resulting distribution of the number of fatalities given an accident is determined.



Figure 4-7: Dose response function used for estimation of mortality due to explosion pressures (CPR, 1990) and deterministic load.

When the dose response function is applied to the **group** as a whole (section 4.2), this leads to the following expected outcome: $E(N|f)=F_D N_{EXP}$ with probability 1; and $\sigma(N|f)=0$, see figure 4-8.

¹¹ As the combination of a deterministic load and resistance gives a known outcome, this situation is not treated.



Figure 4-8: Probability density function of the number of fatalities for application of the dose response function to a group (deterministic load, variable resistance)

Application of the dose response function to **individuals** with fully **dependent resistances** (ρ_{RR} =1) results in a Bernoulli distribution. The possible outcomes are 0 fatalities with probability 0,6 or 100 fatalities with probability 0,4, see figure 4-9.



Figure 4-9: Probability density function of the number of fatalities for application of the dose response function to individuals with fully dependent resistances (deterministic load, variable resistance)

In case of repeated **individual** experiments and **independent resistances** ($\rho_{RR}=0$) the Binomial distribution can be applied. In the case of the application to independent individuals the same experiment (i.e. exposure to the explosion) is repeated for every person present. The individual experiment has two possible outcomes: the person either survives or dies. The probability of failure of each individual thus equals $F_D=0,4$ and the number of experiments equals $N_{EXP}=100$. The resulting Binomial probability density function of the number of fatalities is shown in figure 4-10.



Figure 4-10: Probability density function of the number of fatalities for application of the dose response function to individuals with independent resistances (deterministic load, variable resistance)

The expected values for the Binomial and Bernoulli distributions are equal:

 $E(N \mid f) = F_D N_{EXP} = 40$

The standard deviations become:

Binomial distribution: $\sigma(N \mid f) = \sqrt{N_{EXP}F_D(1-F_D)} = 4,89$ Bernoulli distribution: $\sigma(N \mid f) = N_{EXP}\sqrt{F_D - F_D^2} = 48,9$

4.3.3 Variable load and deterministic resistance

This case represents a deterministic resistance and a variable load (Figure 4-11). The dose response function is modelled the deterministically, i.e. $F_D = 1$ when a critical dose or concentration threshold of effects (c_p) is exceeded.



Figure 4-11: Variable load and deterministic dose response function

For this situation application of the pdf of load and dose response function to a **group** results in the Bernoulli distribution, see see figure 4-12. The event 'death of the whole exposed population' occurs with a probability that is equal to the probability of exceedance of c_{cr}

$$P(N = 0 | f) = P(c \le c_{cr}) = \int_{0}^{c_{cr}} f_{C}(c)dc = F_{c}(c_{cr})$$

$$P(N = N_{EXP} | f) = P(c > c_{cr}) = \int_{c_{cr}}^{\infty} f_{C}(c)dc = 1 - F_{c}(c_{cr})$$
(Eq. 4-8)



Figure 4-12: Probability density function of the number of fatalities for application of the dose response function to a group (variable load, deterministic resistance)

When the dose response function is applied to **individuals** with deterministic resistances, who are exposed to fully **dependent loads** ($\rho_{ss}=1$), that same Bernoulli distribution results. When **individuals** are exposed to **independent loads** ($\rho_{ss}=0$) from the pdf $f_c(c)$, each exposure leads to probability of failure $P(c>c_{cr})$. Then, a Binomial distribution for the number of fatalities in the population is obtained, see e.g. figure 4-5.

4.3.4 Variable load and variable resistance

This section discusses a situation with variable load and resistance distributions. The elaboration for the deterministic application of the dose response function to a group has been discussed in section 4.2.

When dose response functions are applied to individuals, the distribution of consequences (i.e. the number of fatalities) will be determined by dependence between failures of different elements. Figure 4-13 shows correlation between failures (ρ_{ZZ}), as a function of correlations between loads (ρ_{SS}) and resistances (ρ_{RR}) for positive correlation values. ρ_{ZZ} is determined according to formula 4-7 and it is assumed that load and resistance have the same standard deviation.



Figure 4-13: Correlation between failure of elements as a function of mutual correlations between loads and resistances, for $0 \le \rho_{SS} \le 1$ and $0 \le \rho_{RR} \le 1$ and $\sigma_R = \sigma_{SS}$.

The effect of correlation on the distribution of consequences is examined by considering the probability of mutual failure of two elements. A standard situation is elaborated with two identical elements representing two persons. The probability of failure of each element is denoted by P(Z1<0) = P(Z2<0). Failure of an element represents the death of a person and the corresponding probability represents mortality. In order to determine the distribution of consequences, the probability that both elements fail simultaneously (P(Z1<0 and Z2<0)) is of interest. This probability, derived from the standard solution for the failure of a series system, is depicted in figure 4-14 as a function of the correlation between failures of elements ρ_{ZZ} .



Figure 4-14: Failure probability of a series system of two elements as a function of correlation coefficient (schematic display) modified after (Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling, 1996)

A few standard situations are recognisable in figures 4-14. If two elements are mutually exclusive (ρ_{ZZ} = -1) simultaneous failure is impossible. If elements are independent (ρ_{ZZ} = 0) the resulting distribution of failures is binomial. If failure of the elements is fully dependent (ρ_{ZZ} = 1) the Bernoulli distribution can be applied. Figure 4-14 shows that only for values of ρ_{ZZ} near 1, the probability of mutual failure of elements becomes significant. Situations with correlations values $0 < \rho_{ZZ} < 1$ cannot be described with standard distribution types.

Table 4-3: Distribution of outcomes for different correlation values

	ρ _{ss} =0	$\rho_{ss} = 1$
$\rho_{RR}=0$	Binomial	
$\rho_{RR} = 1$		Bernoulli

For other values of correlation $(0 < \rho_{ZZ} < 1)$ the probability of mutual failure of elements and the corresponding distribution of failures can be determined numerically or approximated¹². Ditlevsen (1977) developed a method to approximate the bounds of probability of mutual failure of two elements (see also e.g. CUR, 1997). For two identical elements, this probability can be approximated as follows:

$$\Phi(-\beta)\Phi(-\beta^*) \le P(Z1 < 0 \cap Z2 < 0) \le 2\Phi(-\beta)\Phi(-\beta^*)$$

$$\beta^* = \frac{\beta - \rho_{ZZ}\beta}{\sqrt{1 - \rho_{ZZ}^2}}$$

(Eq. 4-9)

For smaller correlation values, the lower Ditlevsen bound gives a good approximation. For larger correlations the upper bound can be used¹³. The effects of mutual correlations between loads and resistances on the distribution of the number of failures are examined in a simplified example.

¹² It is thus possible to combine figures 4-13 and 4-14. It is then possible to show the probability of mutual failure of two elements in a three dimensional graph as a function of correlations between loads and resistances.

¹³ If ρ_{ZZ} approaches 1, β^* approaches 0, and $\Phi(-\beta^*)$ becomes 0,5, the upper bound becomes approximately $\Phi(-\beta)$, which equals the failure probability of an element, see also figure 4-14.

Example

An example is elaborated as an illustration of a situation with variable load and resistance, for different values of the correlations. Exposure of two persons is considered schematically. For both persons identical normal distributions for load and resistance are applied:

$$\mu_R = 196 \qquad \sigma_R = 20$$

$$\mu_S = 160 \qquad \sigma_S = 20$$

The probability of death of a single person (i.e. the probability of failure of one element) is found as follows:

$$\mu_{Z} = \mu_{R} - \mu_{S} = 36 \qquad \sigma_{Z} = \sqrt{\sigma_{R}^{2} + \sigma_{S}^{2}} = 28,28$$
$$\Rightarrow \beta = 1,27 \qquad P(Z < 0) = 0,101$$

For different dependence situations and corresponding correlation values the following items are shown in table 4-4:

- Correlations between loads on (ρ_{ss}) and resistances of (ρ_{RR}) the two elements
- Correlation between mutual failure (ρ_{77})
- The probability of mutual failure of the two persons: $P(Z1<0 \cap Z2<0)^{14}$
- A sketch of the probability density function of consequences, and the expected number of fatalities and standard deviation.

In all cases the same expected value is found. It is shown that the probability of mutual failure of elements and standard deviation increase with correlation. The standard deviation of the number of fatalities is maximal for the fully dependent case, which results in the Bernoulli distribution. The results confirm an observation that has also been done in other studies, e.g. (Egorova, 2004); the distribution becomes wider when dependency between failures increases.

¹⁴ This probability is given exactly for the fully dependent (ρ_{ZZ} =1) or independent (ρ_{ZZ} =0) cases when possible, and approximated with the Ditlevsen bounds for other correlation values ($0 < \rho_{ZZ} < 1$).

Table 4-4: Effects of correlation on the distribution of failures for variable load and variable resistance. Table summarizes correlations between loads, resistances and failures. Last column shows the mutual probability of failure of two elements and pdf of the number of fatalities (μ_R =196; μ_S =160; σ_R = σ_S =20)



4.4 Practical interpretation of dependencies between failures

In this section the practical interpretation of dependencies between failures in the context of loss of life estimation is discussed. These dependencies can concern the load conditions (e.g. the concentration to which people are exposed) or the resistance properties (human response to exposure) and are discussed below. This issue is somewhat similar to the consideration of dependencies in engineering applications. For example in the probabilistic assessment of flood protection, mutual correlations between loads (wave height) and resistances (soil parameters) have to be considered over different individual dike sections, see e.g. (Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling, 1996; Vrijling, 1996; Vrijling and van Gelder, 1998). In these applications the effects of uncertainties on the failure probability of a system are investigated. Here, the influence of dependencies on the distribution of the number of failures (i.e. fatalities) is examined.

Dependencies between resistances

Smaller groups of people may show dependencies between individual resistances, which could be related to age, condition or heredity. For example during a tunnel fire the exposed population could concern a bus with elderly or disabled people, or a twin in one car. In general, resistances for people in special facilities, such as schools, hospitals or elderly homes, might be dependent due to similarities in physical condition¹⁵. If the people exposed are part of a larger arbitrary population it is reasonable to assume that persons' resistances are independent and not correlated, so $\rho_{RB}=0$.

Dependencies between loads

Dependencies between loads to which individuals are exposed can concern spatial and temporal correlations. These describe how certain loads are correlated at two locations or moments in time respectively. For the description of **spatial correlation** a so-called correlation function can be used which describes the correlation between loads at two locations as a function of their mutual distance, see figure 4-15. When the distance Δx between locations is small, ρ_{ss} approximately equals 1. For larger distances it decreases to 0. A correlation length can be defined indicating the distance from an origin to a location to reduce the correlation to a certain predefined value, e.g. 0. For specific event types, it might be interesting to determine typical correlation lengths for loads, for example for floods, tunnel fires, etc..



Figure 4-15: Correlation as a function of distance between two locations (Vanmarcke, 1983)

¹⁵ Dose response functions that have been derived based on a limited number of observations from past disasters could reflect such correlations.

The concept of spatial correlation is further illustrated in figure 4-16. Assume a certain probability density function of load at the origin. The figures show the load as a function of distance to the origin. In figure 4-16a the loads at locations 1 and 2 are (almost) identical and fully correlated. Here the correlation length is larger than the distance between the two locations. In figure 4-16b fluctuations in loadings are so high that loads at locations 1 and 2 are considered (linearly) independent. Correlation length is smaller than distance between persons. For completeness it is noted that loads at two locations can be fully correlated, e.g. via the dispersion model or terrain topography, but they need not be identical. An example is given in Appendix 4.1 for a flood prone area.



Figure 4-16: Fluctuation in load as a function of distance

Applications considered in this study generally concern one risk source. Loads at different locations will be fully correlated via the dispersion model. As the correlation length is generally larger than the size of the exposed area, it is often reasonable to assume that $\rho_{ss} \approx 1$.

With respect to **temporal correlation**, especially the moment of exposure of different locations is relevant. This determines the available time for evacuation. For some events the effects occur (nearly) simultaneously at different locations, for example for an explosion or earthquake. Thus, for such sudden disasters with rapidly evolving events it seems reasonable to assume temporal correlation between loads. Also when the arrival time at two locations is fully linearly dependent via the dispersion model, full correlation is applicable.

Implications for modelling of uncertainties in loss of life estimates

Below, it will be discussed for which situations dependency between death of different people needs to be taken into account in loss of life estimation. Except for very rare occasions it seems reasonable to assume that people's resistances are not correlated, so $\rho_{RR}=0$. Therefore equation 4-7 simplifies further to:

$$\rho_{ZZ} = \frac{\rho_{SS} \sigma_s^2}{\sigma_R^2 + \sigma_s^2}$$
(Eq. 4-10)

The occurrence of fatalities (or failure of elements) will be fully dependent if:

- 1) The loads to which the people are exposed are fully correlated ($\rho_{ss} \approx 1$)
- AND
- 2) The variation in resistance is small relative to the variation in load ($\sigma_R << \sigma_{s'}$)

Ad 1) $\rho_{ss} \approx 1$ when the correlation length is larger than the exposed area. This seems to be a reasonable assumption for most cases because elements are exposed by the same event (see also discussion above). Also, in most practical risk analyses a limited number of (deterministic) event scenarios is considered, e.g. various fire magnitudes or dike breaches. For a given release of effects (i.e. for one scenario) exposure loads can be assumed to be fully correlated.

Ad 2) If the first condition is fulfilled, the variations in load and resistance become important. An illustration is shown in figure 4-17, where it is assumed loads are fully correlated. It follows that when $\sigma_R << \sigma_S$ the correlation between failure of two elements is $\rho_{ZZ} \approx 1$. This is also true for a deterministic resistance function, so if $\sigma_R = 0$. If the variation in resistance is large relative to variation in load: $\sigma_R >> \sigma_S$, then the failures are independent. So also for a deterministic load scenario ($\sigma_S = 0$), deaths of different people can be considered as independent. The Binomial distribution is appropriate to model variation in consequences for the independent failures.



Figure 4-17: two cases illustrating the influence of variations on correlation, resulting in dependent failure (upper figure) and independent failure (bottom figure). Pdf's of load $f_s(x)$ and resistance $f_R(x)$ are shown.

Discussion

Full dependence between loads seems to be a reasonable assumption in various cases (see above). Therefore the variations in load and resistance need to be examined case-by-case to determine whether fully dependent modelling is appropriate, and whether the corresponding Bernoulli pdf can be used. If the failures are independent, e.g. when there is a deterministic load (σ_s =0), the Binomial distribution can be used for the modelling of variation in consequences and application to loss of life estimation. Using equation 4-3 it can be shown for the Binomial distribution that:

$$\frac{\sigma(N \mid f)}{E(N \mid f)} = \frac{\sqrt{F_D(1 - F_D)N_{EXP}}}{F_D N_{EXP}} = \sqrt{\frac{(1 - F_D)}{F_D N_{EXP}}}$$
(Eq. 4-11)



Figure 4-18: Ratio between standard deviation and expected value as a function of exposed population for the Binomial distribution

Figure 4-18 shows the ratio between standard deviation and expected value for different values of mortality (F_D) and exposed population (N_{EXP}). For small mortality values and relatively small exposed populations (N_{EXP}) standard deviation is large relative to the expected value. In this case the effect of individual variation in response is substantial. For larger exposed populations the standard deviation becomes very small relative to the expected value. For example for a flood we assume a typical mortality of $F_D=10^{-2}$ and a large exposed population of $N_{EXP}=10.000$ people, leading to $\sigma(N|f)/E(N|f)=0.31$. For these cases the Binomial distribution can be approximated with a deterministic outcome. This corresponds to the deterministic outcome that is associated with the application of the dose response function to a group.

Many practical situations will be partly dependent $(0 < \rho_{ZZ} < 1)$. Above, it has been shown that the distribution of failures becomes wider when correlation increases. Therefore it is suggested to use a normal distribution for partly dependent cases, with a standard deviation that is larger than that of the Binomial distribution.

4.5 Model uncertainties in dose response functions

4.5.1 General

This section discusses model uncertainty in the dose response function. Model uncertainty is caused by the fact that not all physical phenomena are known, or because some variables of lesser importance are omitted in the model for reasons of efficiency (van Gelder, 2000).

Model uncertainty could originate because data from different populations is used to derive a dose response function. Theoretically, a dose response function could be derived by testing the response of a population to exposure to physical effects in controlled settings, see also section 2.3.3. In theory this type of experiment could be repeated multiple times with other populations. If populations and test circumstances are exactly identical the previously obtained dose response function will be reproduced exactly in every experiment. However, in practice it is unlikely that the outcomes of all experiments will be exactly the same because exposed populations or test circumstances (e.g. temperature, humidity) will differ between experiments. Therefore the resulting dose response function from each experiment will be different.

Figure 4-19 (upper figure) gives an example for measurements and derived dose response functions for two fictitious populations A and B. It assumed that both populations consist of 40 people exposed. Each dot represents the death of one person and a 0,025 response fraction. When measurements from both populations are used for derivation of dose response function, model uncertainty arises. An example is given in the lower part of figure 4-19. Various observations are sampled from populations A and B. The resulting dataset contains 12 observations and the derived best-fit dose response function is shown in figure 4-19 (lower). It is clear that the observations are somewhat scattered around the derived average dose response function. This shows how mixing data from different populations and different circumstances can introduce model uncertainty in the dose response function.



Figure 4-19: Dose response functions for populations A and B (upper figure). Resulting average dose response by taking samples from the populations is shown in the lower figure.

In practice a limited number of measurements from animal tests or observations from disasters are generally available to derive a dose response function. As a consequence, the measurements used are expected to represent different situations and populations. In addition, variables that affect mortality could be omitted in the dose response function. For example, dose response functions for floods are mainly based on water depth. In reality, other potentially important factors, such as water temperature and the effects of waves, are not included in the functions. Due to the above factors, observations will not be situated exactly at the average dose response function. In that case there is model uncertainty associated with the average dose response function, see also figure 4-2.

4.5.2 Integration of model uncertainties in the dose response function

In this section it is investigated how model uncertainties can be included in the dose response function by using Bayesian probability theory. Van Gelder (2000) gives an extensive discussion of the underlying methods and additional possibilities for inclusion of statistical uncertainties.

First, we assume that a distinction can be made between inherent uncertainties in load (S) and resistance (R), and model uncertainties. As an implication the model uncertainty can be represented by a separate term I, which schematically represents the confidence inter-

vals of the dose response function that are shown in figure 4-2. The limit state function can be formulated as follows (see also Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling, 2000):

$$Z = R - S - I \tag{Eq. 4-12}$$

Where: *I* - variable in the limit state function that represents the knowledge uncertainty, $\mu(I)=0$, var(I)>0

Following section 3 the limit state function can be rewritten with the inclusion of a resistance concentration c_p and the load: the random exposure concentration c_s :

$$Z = c_R - c_S - I \tag{Eq. 4-13}$$

The dose response function now gives the probability that the exposure concentration is larger than the resistance concentration (i.e. $F_D(c)=P(c_R < c)$). First, we consider a situation where a dose response function is used, which gives the bestfit trendline through a series of measurements regarding exposure dose and response. This type of dose response function is called the average dose response function and it represents the response given an average level of information or knowledge I:

$$F_D\left(c \mid I = \mu_I\right) = P\left(c_R < c \mid I = \mu_I\right)$$
(Eq. 4-14)

The average value of model uncertainty is $\mu_i=0$. The above dose response function does not account for uncertainty in the response. Application of this type of average dose response function for loss of life estimation implies that the effects of knowledge uncertainty are neglected. It is possible to take into account the effects of knowledge uncertainty in the dose response function. Using a Bayesian approach, a predictive dose response function can be derived, in which the knowledge uncertainty is integrated (van Gelder, 2000):

$$F_{DP}(c) = \int F_D(c \mid I = i) f_I(i) di$$
 (Eq. 4-15)

Where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} F_{DP}(c) & \text{Predictive dose response function with uncertainty integrated} \\ F_{D}(c|I=i) & \text{Dose response function, which gives response for a given level of uncertainty i} \\ f_{I}(i) & \text{pdf representing knowledge uncertainty} \end{array}$

Example

As an example exposure of an object to a deterministic load is assumed. Three shapes of average dose response functions are considered: normal, lognormal and exponential, see table 4-5. The model uncertainty is modeled with a normal distribution¹⁶.

¹⁶ In this example model uncertainty I is modelled here in the horizontal the direction, so in the load. It could for example indicate the measurement error in concentration. It can be shown that uncertainty in horizontal direction is equivalent to uncertainty in the vertical direction (i.e. In the response fraction) and vice versa, see appendix 4.III. Thus, the (conditional) distribution of responses for a given load can be derived based on the (conditional) distribution of load and the dose response function. The advantage of modelling the uncertainty term in the horizontal direction is that the response fraction will always be . $0 \le F_{DP}(c) \le 1$

Table 4-5: Distributions used in simplified example

	μ	σ			
Average dose response functions					
Normal	5	1			
Lognormal*	4,36	1,13			
Exponential (λ=0,25)	4	4			
Knowledge uncertainty I					
Normal**	0	1			
	1 / / 1 - 0	DELL			

*: So that Y=ln(x) has a normal distribution, with μ_y =1,44 and σ_y =0,2566

**: It is noted that the model uncertainty is assumed to be independent of the load value. In reality the uncertainty (standard deviation) could be dependent on the value of the load.

Consequently, the predictive dose response function, in which uncertainty is integrated, is determined with formula 4-15. It gives P(Z<0) and it includes the effects of uncertainty *I*. For the normal distribution the following formula for reliability index β is obtained (Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling, 2000):

$$\beta = \frac{\mu_R - \mu_S - \mu_I}{\sqrt{\sigma_S^2 + \sigma_R^2 + \sigma_I^2}}$$
(Eq. 4-16)

As $\mu_{I}=0$ and the load is deterministic ($\mu_{S}=S$; $\sigma_{S}=0$), the equation simplifies to:

$$\beta = \frac{\mu_R - S}{\sqrt{\sigma_R^2 + \sigma_I^2}}$$
(Eq. 4-17)

For the lognormal and exponential distributions of the average dose response functions the predictive dose response functions are found by numerical integration¹⁷. Results are presented in figure 4-20.

¹⁷ Analytical approximation methods for the predictive function of several distributions are presented by van Gelder (2000)



Figure 4-20: Integrating uncertainties in dose response functions with the Bayesian approach

All cases show a similar pattern: the predictive dose response function is widened compared to the average dose response. When model uncertainties are included, the response fraction becomes higher than the average for smaller loads and lower for higher loads. In general, the effects of the inclusion of uncertainty on the failure probability of a given system depend on the specific distributions of load and resistance. For most practical cases the failure probability of a system will increase due to inclusion of uncertainty (see e.g. Vrijling *et al.*, 2005), but examples can be found where the system's failure probability decreases, as is shown in appendix 4.II.

Remarks regarding the inclusion of model uncertainty in the dose response function

At this moment, most consequence and risk analyses use the average dose response function and they do not explicitly account for uncertainties. It can be questioned whether the effects of model uncertainties should be included in the dose response function and the resulting loss of life and risk estimates. This depends on the chosen treatment of uncertainties in risk analysis (see also section 1.2.4 and Paté Cornell, 1996, 2002):

- Assessment of inherent uncertainties (or randomness) only: If one chooses to present best estimates for probabilities and consequences, the average dose response function can be used. This results in one single risk curve, implying that model uncertainties in the dose response function are neglected.
- Separated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties: It can be chosen to display knowledge uncertainties in probability and consequence estimates, by a family of risk curves. In this case, uncertainty in the dose response curve can be modeled with a conditional distribution.

• Integrated assessment of inherent and knowledge uncertainties: Using a Bayesian approach the model uncertainties can be integrated in the consequence estimate.

4.6 Uncertainty in loss of life estimates and compliance to risk criteria

The previous sections have investigated the backgrounds of uncertainty in loss of life estimates. It has been shown how certain distribution types (Bernoulli, Binomial) can be used to model randomness in consequences for specific cases. Several (other) distribution types can be used to model the uncertainty in the number of fatalities given an accident. Based on earlier work by Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling (1995) and Vrijling *et al.* (1998), some distribution types for the number of fatalities given failure (N|f) are summarized in table 4-6. All these distributions have the same (conditional) expected value of the number of fatalities.

Distribution type	Pdf or distribution of number of fatalities given failure	Exp. value <i>E(N</i> <i>f</i>)	Standard deviation <i>σ(N</i> <i>f</i>)
Deterministic	$P(N = F_D N_{EXP} f) = 1$ $P(N \neq F_D N_{EXP} f) = 0$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	0
Binomial	$P(N = n \mid f) = \frac{N_{EXP}!}{n!(N_{EXP} - n)!} F_D^{\ n} (1 - F_D)^{N_{EXP} - n}$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	$\sqrt{F_D(1-F_D)N_{EXP}}$
Exponential	$f_N(n \mid f) = \frac{1}{F_D N_{EXP}} \exp\left(-\frac{n}{F_D N_{EXP}}\right)$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	$F_D N_{EXP}$
Inverse quadratic Pareto	$P(N > n \mid f) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{F_D N_{EXP}}{n} \right)^2 \text{for } n \ge \frac{1}{2} F_D N_{EXP}$ $P(N > n \mid f) = 1 \text{for } n < \frac{1}{2} F_D N_{EXP}$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	x
	$1 (1 \times n \times j) = 1 jor n < 2 2^{1 D^{1} \times EXP}$		
Normal (with $\sigma(n f) / E(n f) = 1$)	$f_N(n \mid f) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} \exp\left(-\frac{(n-\mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	$F_D N_{EXP}$
Lognormal (with $\sigma(n f) / E(n f) = 1$)	$F_N(n \mid f) = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln(n) - a}{b}\right)$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	$F_D N_{EXP}$
	$a = \ln(F_D N_{EXP}) - 0,5b^2$ $b = \sqrt{\ln(1 + (\sigma_N / \mu_N)^2)}$		
Bernoulli	$P(N=0 \mid f) = 1 - F_D$	$F_D N_{EXP}$	$\sqrt{F_D(1-F_D)N_{EXP}}$
	$p(N = N_{EXP} \mid f) = F_D$		

Table 4-6: Probability density functions for the conditional number of fatalities for some distribution types (based on Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling (1995))

Application of a conditional distribution for the number of fatalities will logically affect the distribution of fatalities and thus the calculated FN curve. The shape of the calculated FN curve can affect compliance to an FN limit line, which limits the tolerable probability of exceedance of a certain number of fatalities. This is illustrated in an example. Assume an installation with a certain accident with probability of occurrence of $p_f=10^{-3}$ per year. The accident exposes $N_{EXP}=1000$ people and mortality is $F_D=0,1$, leading to E(N|f)=100 people. FN curves are drawn for the distributions types of table 4-6, see figure 4-21. Some of the previously discussed situations are recognizable, i.e. a deterministic¹⁸ number of fatalities given failure, the Binomial distribution for independent failures and the Bernoulli distribution for dependent fatalities.

In the FN curve a limit line with a quadratic steepness is drawn, by which the deterministic situation is just acceptable. As has also been concluded by Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling (1995) the situation complies to the limit line for the first six distributions in table 4-6 (i.e. deterministic, binomial, exponential, inverse quadratic Pareto, normal and lognormal). The FN limit line can be exceeded especially for normal and lognormal distributions with standard deviations that are large compared to the average¹⁹. In this considered example, the limit line in the FN curve will be exceeded if $\sigma(N|f)\approx 1,45 \ \mu(N|f)$ for the normal distribution and for the lognormal distribution if $\sigma(N|f)\approx 2 \ \mu(N|f)$. For the Bernoulli distribution, the number of fatalities equals N_{EXP} and the corresponding probability of occurrence equals $p_f F_D$. As a result, the limit line in the FN curve will be exceeded for this distribution.

All distributions shown in table 4-6 and figure 4-21 have identical expected values. However, different distributions of consequences might be valued differently in decision-making. Some proposed risk criteria, such as the total risk, risk integral, and the quadratic limit line in the FN curve, include the standard deviation of the number of fatalities (see section 3.3.4). In these cases the acceptable probability of failure depends on the conditional distribution of the number of fatalities given failure and thus on the uncertainty in the number of fatalities given failure²⁰. Overall, this shows that the inclusion of uncertainty and the choice of the conditional distribution type could influence compliance to risk criteria.

¹⁸ If the number of fatalities given failure is deterministic, the (unconditional) distribution of the number of fatalities corresponds to a Bernoulli distribution (Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling, 1995).

¹⁹ Large standard deviations could be chosen e.g. if the loss of the mortality estimate is based on a large sample of statistical data with much variation. For example statistical analyses of global data for floods (section 5 of this thesis) showed that standard deviation of event mortality is large for data for one type of flood.

²⁰ It is noted that for the inverse quadratic distribution type the standard deviation approaches infinity and this can give problems in combination with certain risk limits that include the value of the standard deviation.


Figure 4-21: FN curves for several conditional distribution types for the number of fatalities (DET – deterministic; BIN – Binomial; NORM – normal; EXP – exponential; LOGN – lognormal; BERN – Bernoulli; INV QUA – Inverse quadratic Pareto).

4.7 Concluding remarks

In this section issues related to uncertainties in loss of life estimates have been discussed. Firstly, uncertainty in the consequences of the exposure of a group of people to physical effects can arise due to the variation in individual responses. Secondly, model uncertainty can exist in the dose response function.

Application of a dose response function to a group as a whole results in a deterministic outcome. Application of a dose response function to individuals could lead to uncertainty in the consequences due to variation (or randomness) in individual responses. This has no effect on the expected number of fatalities. However, the uncertainty affects the distribution of the number of fatalities and thereby the value of the standard deviation. The resulting distribution of the number of fatalities is determined by dependencies between individual failures. More specifically it has been shown how the conditional distribution of consequences (i.e. of the number of fatalities given failure) depends on a) the standard deviations of load and resistance; b) dependencies between loads and resistances. Results for different combinations are summarized in table 4-7.

Table 4-7: Overview of resulting distributions for different combinations of load and resistance; and	d
levels of dependency between loads and resistance	

		σ _R =0	σ _R >0	
			ρ _{RR} =0	ρ _{RR} =1
σ _s =0		Known outcome	Binomial	Bernoulli
- >0	ρ _{ss} =0	Binomial	Binomial	*
0,-0	ρ _{ss} =1	Bernoulli	*	Bernoulli

* - These situations cannot be described with standard distribution types.

If failures of elements are independent, this results in a Binomial distribution. For large exposed populations the Binomial distribution approximates the deterministic outcome. In case of complete dependence between failures, the resulting distribution is a Bernoulli type. It is shown that the distribution of failures becomes wider and the standard deviation becomes higher, when dependencies between failures increase.

Model uncertainty can originate because the number of available measurements is limited or because the available measurements represent different conditions and population vulnerabilities. Model uncertainty can be integrated in the dose response function by means of a Bayesian approach. It has been shown that this results in a widened dose response function (i.e. lower response fractions increase, higher response fractions decrease).

The effects of randomness and model uncertainty could occur jointly. Randomness indicates that the outcome of each individual exposure is uncertain, i.e. each single exposure results in a certain probability of death. Model uncertainty refers to the fact that the exact value of this probability is uncertain. The analogy of a dice can be used: the outcome of one throw is uncertain due to randomness. The value of the probability of a certain outcome can be uncertain due to model uncertainty, e.g. because the dice is imperfect. Even when all knowledge uncertainties have been eliminated, the outcome of one throw remains uncertain due to randomness.

Uncertainties in estimates of the number of fatalities given failure could affect compliance to risk averse risk limits, such as the limit line in the FN curve with a quadratic steepness. In general, the chosen treatment of uncertainties in risk calculation could affect the acceptability of a situation according to risk limits. For example, a flood defence could be safe according to the safety standard when knowledge uncertainties are neglected. When knowledge uncertainties are included in the probability estimate the flood defence could be judged as unsafe according to the standard because the failure probability has increased. Then, it would be required to reduce the knowledge uncertainties or carry out (expensive) physical measures, see also section 1.2.4 and Vrouwenvelder and Vrijling (2000) for further discussion and examples. The above implies that it would be good if guidelines for risk analysis, such as (CPR, 1999), would also prescribe whether and how uncertainties should be accounted for in the risk calculation.

At this moment, most consequence and risk analyses use the average dose response function and they do not explicitly account for uncertainties in loss of life estimates. It is recommended to assess and present these uncertainties in consequence and risk estimates. Different approaches can be chosen for the treatment of uncertainties in risk estimates (see section 1.2.4). Goldman (1997) and Egorova (2004) provide a discussion on the inclusion of uncertainty in flood damage estimates.

The issues discussed in this section might have a wider relevance than loss of life estimation only. For example, in the assessment of hurricane damage, dependencies in wind loads (e.g. due to location) and structural resistances (e.g. due to similarities in the design and construction) could influence the distribution of the number of buildings collapsed. These dependencies are referred to as loss interactions (RMS, 2005). Therefore, further investigation of the proposed concepts is recommended for other domains of reliability analysis where dose response functions, damage models and fragility curves are used. Part two: Loss of life estimation and flood risk assessment

5 Loss of human life in floods: Overview and analysis of the available information

Research question: Which information is available regarding loss of life caused by floods? Which factors have to be taken into account in a model for the estimation of loss of life for floods?

Keywords: loss of life, floods, flood disasters, damage

This section presents an overview and analysis of the available information regarding loss of life caused by floods. The aim is to determine the factors that are most relevant for the estimation of loss of life, and to discuss the applicability of different types of information for the development of a method for the estimation of loss of life for floods.

After a general discussion of floods, types of floods and flood damage in section 5.1, different aggregation levels of available information are reviewed. Global information regarding the loss of life in floods is discussed in section 5.2. An overview of historical flood events in the Netherlands is provided in section 5.3. Section 5.4 discusses available information from international flood events. At a more detailed level, the causes and circumstances of individual flood disaster deaths are discussed in section 5.5. These types of information are evaluated in section 5.6, and the major determinants of loss of life are summarised.

5.1 General introduction: floods and flood damage

5.1.1 Defining floods and flood types

OED (2003) defines a flood as "the presence of water where water does not normally appear". Two other examples of flood definitions are:

- "A temporary covering of land by water as a result of surface waters (still or flowing) escaping from their normal confines or as a result of heavy precipitation" (Munich Re, 1997).
- "Significant rise of water level in a stream, lake, reservoir or a coastal region." (UN DHA, 1992).

Given the complex interrelated processes that can cause and influence floods, defining and classifying them is not simple. It is not surprising that no standardised definitions of "flood", "flood disaster", or "flood fatality" exist. Working definitions are proposed below, based on an intuitive understanding and the generally accepted vocabulary. These definitions are imperfect, but provide a useful and necessary starting point for analysis of flood fatalities.

- Flood: The presence of water on land which is usually dry, as a result of surface waters escaping from their normal confines.
- Flood disaster: A flood which significantly disrupts or interferes with normal human and societal activity.

• Flood fatality or flood-related fatality: A fatality which would not have occurred without a specific flood event. Synonyms for the plural form include "flood deaths", "loss of life in floods".

Types of floods

Flood type definitions often reflect both the source of the event (coast, river) and the flood characteristics (water depth, rise rate, e.g. in the case of flash floods). (Berz *et al.*, 2001) and (French and Holt, 1989) distinguish three types: coastal, river and flash floods. Tsunamis and tidal waves are generally treated as separate hazards, although they also result in flooding. Also dam breaks are often considered as distinct hazards, as they are considered "manmade" events and floods as "natural" disasters¹. An attempt to provide a categorisation and a set of descriptions for the different types of floods is given below:

- Coastal floods or storm surges: These occur along the coasts of seas and big lakes. Wind storms (for example hurricanes or cyclones) and low atmospheric pressure cause set-up of water levels at the coast. When this situation coincides with an astronomical high tide at the coast, this can lead to (extremely) high water levels and flooding of coastal areas.
- Flash floods: These occur after local rainfall with a high intensity, often in mountainous areas. They are characterised by a quick rise of water levels causing a threat to the lives of those exposed. The time available to predict flash floods is limited.
- River floods: These are characterised by the flooding of a river outside its regular boundaries, sometimes due to breaching of flood defences. River floods can be associated with various causes: high precipitation levels, not necessarily in the flooded area, or other causes (melting snow, blockage of the flow).
- Tsunamis (or seismic sea waves): Series of large waves generated by sudden displacement of seawater (caused by earthquake, volcanic eruption or submarine landslide); capable of propagating over large distances and causing a destructive surge when reaching land (EMDAT, 2004).
- Tidal wave / bore²: Abrupt rise of tidal water caused by atmospheric activities rapidly moving inland from the mouth of an estuary or from the coast (EMDAT, 2004).
- Dam break / failure: Breach of a (large) human-built dam, resulting in the rapid propagation of a flood wave through the exposed area.

The general flood definition implies that drainage problems are considered as a distinct category:

• Drainage problems: caused by high precipitation levels that cannot be handled by regular drainage systems.

Low-lying areas, such as the Netherlands, are sometimes threatened by multiple types of floods, e.g. coastal and river floods and drainage problems. Finally, it is noted that floods can be related to other types of disasters. For example, coastal floods are often caused by storms, and flash floods might trigger landslides and mudflows. The broader scope of water-related disasters also includes other types of events, such as avalanches and droughts.

¹ It has been discussed in section 1.1 that this distinction between manmade and natural disasters is inappropriate.

² Note the distinction between a tidal wave and a tsunami. A tidal wave is caused by the natural tide, a tsunami is caused by an extreme event, e.g. a landslide or earthquake.

5.1.2 Categorisation of damage caused by floods

The consequences of a flood encompass multiple types of damage, i.e. they are multi-dimensional. An overview of different types of consequences is given in table 5-1. All these different types of consequences can be observed after large flood disasters, for example after the flooding of New Orleans due to hurricane Katrina in 2005. The damage is divided into tangible and intangible damage, depending on whether or not the losses can be assessed in monetary values. Another distinction is made between the direct damage, caused by physical contact with floodwaters, and damage indirectly following from the flood. Indirect damage can be defined as damage that occurs outside the flooded area³ (Merz *et al.*, 2004; Morselt and Evenhuis, 2006). For example companies can lose supply and demand from the flooded area.

Table 5-1: General	classification of	f flood damage,	based on	(Morselt and	Evenhuis,	2006) an	d (Vrouwen-
velder and Vrijling,	1996)						

	Tangible	Intangible
Direct	 Residences Structure inventory Vehicles Agriculture Infrastructure and other public facilities Business interruption (inside flooded area) Evacuation and rescue operations Reconstruction of flood defences Clean up costs 	 Fatalities⁴ Injuries Animals Utilities and communication Historical and cultural losses Environmental losses
Indirect	 Damage for companies outside flooded area Substitution of production outside flooded area Temporary housing of evacuees 	Societal disruptionDamage to government

Methods for the estimation of direct economic damage to physical objects (such as structures, houses) are well established, and the use of so-called stage damage curves is widespread, see e.g. (Penning-Rowsell and Chatterton, 1977; Dutta *et al.*, 2003; Kok *et al.*, 2005). In addition, losses due to business interruption can be very significant, for example in the case of long-term closure of a national airport. Van der Veen *et al.* (2003) propose a method for the analysis of indirect economic damage. The methods for the estimation of intangible damage are less well developed. Recent research has focused on different types of intangible flood damage in the Netherlands, such as environmental damage (Stuyt *et al.*, 2003). Hajat *et al.* (2004) and Ahern *et al.* (2005) give comprehensive overviews of the available information regarding the general health impacts of floods. Some evidence exists regarding connections between psychological health effects and post flood mortality, see e.g. (Bennet, 1970).

Table 5-1 does not account for the damage caused by secondary events or so-called chain reactions. Floods can damage industrial installations or disrupt critical industrial processes.

³ Alternative definitions of indirect consequences exist. Parker *et al.* (1987) define indirect losses as those that are caused trough interruption of and disruption of economic and social activities. Some authors, e.g. (Kelman, 2004), argue that the distinction between direct and indirect consequences is inappropriate. They mention that irrespective of how the damage occurred, it occurred directly as a result of the flood disaster.

⁴ Fatalities may also occur indirectly due to the flood. These are fatalities outside the flooded areas, for example deaths from traffic accidents during evacuation and those due to post flood stress. As most fatalities will be due to direct causes (i.e. physical contact with flood waters), it is categorised as direct damage in table 5-1.

Stored substances can be released, and potentially undergo chemical reactions with water or air. Such effects can harm ecological systems, pollute drinking waters and even lead to additional fatalities (Reinders and Ham, 2003).

5.2 Global perspectives of loss of life caused by floods

5.2.1 Introduction

Every year floods cause enormous damage and loss of life on a global scale. Berz *et al.* (2001) have documented general statistics of various natural disasters on a worldwide scale, but a comprehensive analysis of global statistics on loss of human life caused by floods is not yet found in literature. As floods can occur in different forms, sizes and at various locations with different vulnerabilities, their impacts will differ strongly. Although every flood can be considered a unique event with unique characteristics, patterns may be observed when a large number of floods is studied on a global scale. This provides insight in 1) the magnitude of loss of life in floods on a global scale; 2) the mortality caused by flood events with respect to their type and location.

Information from the OFDA / CRED International Disaster Database (EM-DAT⁵) has been used for a large number of flood events that occurred worldwide. EM-DAT only included information regarding the number of affected people per event. It has been assumed that the number of affected equals the number of exposed⁶, leading to mortality = number of killed / number of affected.

5.2.2 Inland floods⁷

Introduction

The statistical analysis presented in this section is limited to three types of inland (or freshwater) flood events: drainage problems⁸, flash floods and river floods. No representative sample of coastal flood events could be retrieved from EM-DAT as many significant coastal flood events are classified as windstorms in the database. Coastal floods are analysed separately in section 5.2.3.

The data have thus been evaluated with respect to flood type and location. Overall, information regarding 1883 flood events, which occurred between January 1975 and June 2002, has been considered. Over this period the inland flood events in the database are reported to have killed 176.864 people and affected 2,27 billion people. The event with most fatalities occurred in 1999 in Venezuela: about 30.000 people died during flash floods and extensive land and mudslides.

⁵ EM-DAT contains data on international disasters and is maintained by the Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters in Brussels (CRED) in cooperation with United States Office for Foreign Disaster Assistance (OFDA). A disaster is included in the database when at least one of the following four criteria is fulfilled: 10 or more people are killed, 100 or more people are affected, there is a declaration of a state of emergency, or there is a call for international assistance.

⁶ Due to evacuation the actual number of people exposed could be smaller than the reported number of affected people. The presented mortality statistics could be underestimations.

⁷ This section is a summary of (Jonkman, 2005).

⁸ Given the proposed definition in section 4.1 drainage problems are formally not considered as floods.

Analysis by region

Flood impacts can depend on the characteristics of the flooded area. Relevant factors include population magnitude and density, warning and emergency systems and potentially other socio-economic factors (Haque, 2003). However, no significant differences in average mortality per flood event could be observed between different continents, as average event mortality ranges between 0,011 (Americas) and 0,014 (Europe). The impacts in terms of the number of people killed and affected differ by continent. European floods are often relatively small-scale, Asian floods affect and kill more people than events in other continents as they affect substantially larger areas with large populations. The first 45 floods with the highest number of people affected all occurred in China, India, Bangladesh and Pakistan. Larger differences are obtained when the average flood mortality per event is assessed for the 17 world-regions defined in EM-DAT. The differences are mainly caused by the dominance of some high mortality events in the regional datasets. These results do not indicate a relationship between mortality and the underlying determinants, such as socio-economic development of the region. For example, the dataset for the European Union has a high average mortality (0,02), due to the inclusion of some high mortality flash flood events.

Analysis by flood type

The impact of a flood will be strongly influenced by the characteristics of the flood itself. On a general level, typical flood characteristics will differ between event types. For example, rapidly rising flash floods can cause more devastation than small-scale floods due to drainage problems. Figure 5-1 indicates the impacts by flood type, for the events with one or more fatalities. The total number of people exposed is shown on the x-axis and the number of fatalities on the y-axis. The dashed lines indicate different mortality levels.





Figure 5-1 shows that floods with large numbers of exposed people are river floods, mainly occurring in Asia. Flash floods form a majority of the floods with lower numbers of affected people. Event mortality is in the order of magnitude of 10⁻³ to 10⁻⁴ for events with 100.000 people affected, while mortality is in the order of magnitude of 10⁻⁵ for events

with 100 million affected. With the population affected, the size of the affected area also increases. This will therefore include areas where the flood effects will be less lethal (Graham, 1999). Secondly, more time for warning and evacuation will be available when a large area is affected, since the flood will need considerable time to progress through the area.

For the three flood types the (cumulative) probability distribution of event mortality is plotted in figure 5-2. The intersection at the left side of the figure equates the probability mass of the events with $F_D=0$ (due to the logarithmic scale $F_D=0$ cannot be displayed in the figure).



Figure 5-2: Distribution of event mortality for different flood types

For all three flood types the distribution of mortality can be approximated with a (modified) lognormal distribution, which has the following general expression:

$$F = a + (1 - a)LOGN(F_D, \mu, \sigma)$$

(Eq. 5-1)

a constant representing the probability mass of $F_D=0$ μ, σ the average and standard deviation of the lognormal distribution

Average event mortalities and the derived constants for the distribution function are shown in table 5-2. Average mortality from dataset can be compared with average mortality approximated from the lognormal distribution. The latter equals: $(1-A)exp(\mu+0,5\sigma^2)$. Results correspond relatively well. These derived lognormal distributions or their corresponding pdf's can be used as a very general description of conditional mortality for a certain type of event. However, the variation in such an approximation is large due to the variation in mortality between events for one flood type.

	Dataset		Lognormal bestfit trendline		
Event type	Events	Average event mortality (<i>F_D</i>)	A	μ	σ
Drainage problems	70	5,3.10-4	0,62	-7,92	2,46
River floods	392	4,9.10 ⁻³	0,23	-7,95	1,41
Flash floods	234	3,6.10 ⁻²	0,091	-5,23	2,23

Table 5-2: Dataset statistics, and the derived lognormal bestfit trendlines for three event types.

Table 5-2 shows that average mortality is highest for flash floods, as these generally occur unexpectedly and are often rapidly developing events, which severely affect smaller areas. River floods affect larger areas and more people, but result in relatively low values for numbers of fatalities and mortality per event. In general they are better predictable and have less severe effects. Average mortality is low for drainage problems. More than half of the drainage events in the dataset causes one or zero fatalities. It is interesting to note that average mortality approximately varies one order of magnitude (a factor ten) between event types.

Cross analysis by region and flood type

A cross analysis of the combination of region and flood type shows that event mortality is relatively constant by flood type considered over the different continents. For example, flash floods result in the following average mortality values for the different regions: Africa (0,042), Americas (0,027), Asia (0,032) and Europe (0,056). These results do not indicate a relationship between mortality and the underlying determinants, such as socio-economic development of the region. The impact in terms of absolute numbers killed differs by continent due to differences in the extent of the populations affected. These differences depend on the number of people present in the exposed areas and the local protection level. The cross analysis shows that river floods in Asia are the most significant in terms of absolute impact, as they caused 40% of the deaths in the considered dataset and 96% of the total people affected.

5.2.3 Coastal floods

Coastal floods are generally caused by windstorms, including hurricanes, cyclones and typhoons. Strong winds and low atmospheric pressure cause set-up of water at the coast. Most of the fatalities due to these storms are caused by the flood effects (Rappaport, 2000). Some available statistics regarding the impacts of some large coastal floods in the 20th century are summarised in table 5-3. Rappaport (2000) and Schultz *et al.* (2005) provide more comprehensive discussions on the impacts of coastal floods.

Date	Location	Cause	Fatalities ⁹	People exposed ¹⁰	Event mortality
1-2-1953	Netherlands, Southwest	Storm surge	1836	250.000	0,0073
1-2-1953	United Kingdom, East coast	Storm surge	315	32.000	0,0098
26-9-1959	Japan, Ise Bay	Typhoon	5101	430.000	0,012
12-11-1970	Bangladesh	Tropical cyclone	300.000		
18-9-1974	Honduras	Tropical cyclone	8.000		
12-11-1977	India, southern	Tropical cyclone	14.000	9.000.000(4)	0,0016
25-5-1985	Bangladesh	Tropical cyclone	10.000	1.800.000	0,0056
30-4-1991	Bangladesh	Tropical cyclone	139.000	4.500.000	0,031
End of October 1998	Central America	Tropical cyclone	19.000		
29-10-1999	India, Orissa	Tropical cyclone	9800	12.600.000(11)	0,008

Table 5-3: Overview of coastal floods (sources: EM-DAT and sources listed in section 5.4).

Although this dataset only includes a small sample of coastal floods, the total number of killed far exceeds the accumulated number of killed for inland floods. Coastal floods are capable of causing large numbers of fatalities, as they are often characterised by severe flood effects (large depths and velocities) when low-lying coastal areas are flooded. In addition, in the past they often occurred unexpectedly without substantial warning. This allowed little or no time for warning and preventive evacuation and resulted in large exposed populations. Especially developing countries have been severely affected by coastal floods. It is noted that temporal trends might be reflected in the data, as improvements are made on a global scale in the prediction of storms and typhoons and warning and evacuation of the population (Schultz *et al.*, 2005). For example, Chowdhury *et al.* (1993) relate the reduction over the years in the numbers of flood deaths in Bangladesh to the development of better warning systems.

Figure 5-3 shows the number of killed people versus the number of exposed people for the events from table 5-4. Results show that the average event mortality for the considered events is in the order of magnitude of about 1% (average mortality F_D = 0,0097) for the considered events. For the events in the Netherlands, United Kingdom and Japan the deviation from the observed mortality is less than 40%. For events in India and Bangladesh the estimates of the exposed population and thereby mortality are considered as less reliable¹¹. The 1% mortality value can be used as a first rule of thumb to estimate the number of fatalities for large-scale coastal flood events.

⁹ The reported numbers of fatalities may include considerable uncertainty, especially for the developing countries. For example, for the 1991 floods in Bangladesh the estimated death toll ranges between 67.000 and 139.000 (Chowdhury *et al.*, 1993), resulting in a mortality between 1,5% and 3,1%.



Figure 5-3: Number of fatalities and people exposed for coastal floods from table 5-4. Events are indicated in the figure.

5.2.4 Discussion: comparison of mortality for different flood types

In this section event mortalities for different flood types are compared. Figure 5-4 gives a schematic presentation of the probability density functions of mortality given the occurrence of an event by flood type. Results are based on information presented in the previous sections and Graham's (1999) data for dam breaks. Average mortality is indicated with a dot and the 10% and 90% confidence boundaries are shown with horizontal lines. The spikes at the bottom represent the probability mass of an event with F_D =0.



Figure 5-4: Probability density functions of event mortality for different flood types (pdf's are indicated schematically)

The (average) mortalities can be related to 1) the possibility of warning and evacuation and 2) the severity of flood effects. Severity refers to the intensity of the physical flood effects (e.g. depth, velocity and rise rate) and their potential to cause damage and harm (injury, mortality) to the exposed population. Qualitative comparison of the event types shows that those with the most severe physical effects, and limited possibilities for evacuation, result in the highest (average) mortality¹⁰. Examples are dam breaks and flash floods. Although tsunamis are not included in the figure above, recent investigations of the consequences of the Indian Ocean tsunami of 2005 (Rofi et al., 2006; Guha Sapir et al., 2006) show that mortality locally could exceed $F_{D}=0,1$ (or 10%). These high mortality values could be related to the unexpected occurrence of the event and the deadly flood effects associated with the tsunami wave. Average mortality for coastal floods is approximately 0,01. Mortality for river floods shows large variation. It can be in the order of 10⁻² for sudden and unexpected flooding, larger and more predictable events generally result in much lower mortality. Examples of the latter events are the 2002 Germany floods (mortality in the order of magnitude: 10⁻⁴), or large-scale floods in China (10⁻⁵). Drainage problems are well predictable and the severity of their effects (e.g. flood depth) is mostly limited. Although large areas can be exposed mortality is often low or even zero.

The extent of consequences is also related to the type of area that is affected. The consequences of flooding can be particularly large when low-lying areas protected by flood defences are flooded. Such low-lying areas protected by flood defences are often indicated as so-called polders¹¹. In these areas the land level is below the (high) water levels. In case of a breach in the flood defences extensive areas will be flooded up to large flood depths. These low-lying areas are mainly found in delta areas, such as the Netherlands. It is expected that the consequences of floods in such delta areas will be larger than those in non-delta areas (e.g. upper catchment of a river), both in absolute (fatalities, damage, exposed population) and relative (mortality, damage fraction) terms The difference between flooding potential of delta and non-delta areas is schematically illustrated in figure 5-5.

	Delta: e.g. the Netherlands	Non-Delta
River	populated area river	populated area river
Coast	populated area	populated area

Figure 5-5: Schematic difference between Delta and non-Delta areas with respect to topography and potentially flooded areas

¹⁰ It is interesting that differences in average mortality between events may also be reflected in protection standards of flood defences. For example, in the Netherlands safety standards for coastal flood defences are more stringent than the standards for river dikes.

¹¹ Polder: low-lying area protected from flooding by flood defences such as dikes. In addition, drainage systems are needed to discharge rainwater from the polder and to prevent rise of the groundwater table.

Overall, the averages and distributions indicated in figure 5-4 can be used to give first-order estimates of the overall event mortality and loss of life for different event types without detailed input needed. For coastal floods the assumption of 1% mortality seems to give a good first order estimate (see previous section). Such general indicators could provide a rough but useful first estimate for mortality for an event type. However, variation in event mortality remains large. To estimate mortality and loss of life more accurately for one event, case-specific circumstances (flood characteristics; possibility of warning and evacuation) have to be taken into account¹².

5.3 Loss of life in historical floods in the Netherlands

The Netherlands is situated in the deltas of the rivers Rhine and Meuse. Large parts of the Netherlands have been reclaimed from rivers and sea. Without the protection of dikes, dunes and hydraulic structures large parts of the country would be frequently or even permanently flooded. Due to its situation, parts of the country have been regularly exposed to floods from the rivers and the coast throughout history. Several sources provide mainly anecdotal insight in the occurrence of floods in the history of the Netherlands. One of the first reported floods dates from the 3rd century before Christ (SNSD, 1956). The most comprehensive source is the study by Gottschalk (1971). This shows that the number of river floods in the 14th, 15th and 16th century amounted to 40,50 and 65 respectively. Since then, the number of river floods has been reduced due to river regulation. Table 5-4 gives an overview of some characteristic floods in history, for which estimates of the numbers of fatalities are available.

¹² For example for dam breaks this is clearly demonstrated by the analysis of Graham (1999). He shows that severe dam breaks without possibilities for evacuation will result in event mortalities between 0,3 and 1. However, for dam breaks with lower severity and no warning mortality is around 0,01

Year	Name	Flooded area	Type / origin	Fatalities ¹³	Source
838		Coast, Frisia	Storm surge		*
1228			Storm surge	100.000	Mitchell, 2003
1287	St. Luciavloed	Waddensea	Storm surge	50.000	Mitchell, 2003
1404	1 st St. Elisabethsvloed	Vlaanderen en Zeeland	Storm surge		*
1421	2 nd St. Elisabethsvloed	Southwest Nederland	Storm surge	>10.000	Slager, 1992
1530	St. Felixvloed	Zeeland	Storm surge	More than 100.000	Slager, 1992
1570	Allerheiligenvloed	Whole coast: Zeeland, Friesland	Storm surge	20.000	Van der Heijden, 2003
1686	St. Maartensvloed	North- Netherlands	Storm surge	1558	Mulder, 1954
1717		Western coast	Storm surge	11.000	Mitchell, 2003
1784		Betuwe, Tielerwaard, Maas en Waal	River	10 tot 20	Van der Ven, 1995
1809		River area: Ooijpolder to Ablasserwaard	River	275	Van der Ven, 1995
1825		Noord Holland, Overijssel	Storm surge	305	Mulder, 1954
1855		Betuwe en Land van Maas en Waal	River	13	Commissie Rivierdijken, 1977
1861		Bommelerwaard, Land van Maas en Waal	River	37	Van der Ven, 1995
1880		Land van Heusden en Altena	River	2	Commissie Rivierdijken, 1977
1916		Zuiderzee	Storm surge	15	*
1926		Maas	River	?	Commissie Rivierdijken, 1977
1953	Watersnoodramp	Southwest Netherlands	Storm surge	1835	Slager, 1992

Table 5-4: Overview of some historical floods in the Netherlands with respect to their loss of life.

*: source http://proto.thinkquest.nl/~jrb144/stormvloedrampen.htm, accessed December 2005.

The table shows that especially storm surges from sea resulted in a large number of fatalities. The number of fatalities for historical river floods is much lower. Due to their relatively frequent occurrence people in river areas were relatively well prepared for these floods. Furthermore, deeper parts of the polder were generally not inhabited before the 18th century and most people lived on higher grounds.

It is difficult to derive directly applicable indicators for the estimation of loss of life for floods in the current situation from the historical figures presented. Several developments have influenced the flood hazards. These include: improvements of prediction and warning systems, evacuation routes and transport systems and quality of buildings. However, also disadvantageous developments can be indicated such as the intensive habitation of the deepest polders¹⁴, limited awareness of calamities in the populations and the vulnerability of modern communication systems during crises. The committee on improvement of the river dikes (Commissie Rivierdijken, 1977) states that "experiences from the past indicate that in the past floods have never occurred without loss of human life". Based on the available data the committee estimates that the number of fatalities caused by a river flood will

¹³ The available sources show large variations in the number of reported fatalities per event. For example for the first St. Elisabeths flood in 1421 the reported number of fatalities varies between 10.000 and 100.000

¹⁴ van den Hengel (2006) analysed the consequences of the 1953 storm surge disaster that flooded large parts of the Southwest of the Netherlands. He found that, if that same flood would occur nowadays, the number of fatalities would increased more than the population has increased since 1953. This is due to the fact that most new housing developments took place in deeper (and more vulnerable) parts of the area.

vary between one and decades. However, (according to the author of this thesis) it would be incorrect to assume that a limited number of fatalities will occur for river floods by definition. If a deep river polder is flooded unexpectedly and without warning, the death toll could be very high. This has also been confirmed by recent case studies (Asselman and Jonkman, 2003; Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006). These showed that, depending on the area, extreme floods from the river could lead to hundreds or even thousands of fatalities if no evacuation is performed.

5.4 Historical flood events and the determinants of loss of life

Specific flood events for which documentation is available are discussed below. This provides more insight in the determinants of loss of life. Given the scope of this study the examined cases concern floods in low-lying areas protected by flood defences.

5.4.1 North Sea floods 1953

From 31 January to 1 February 1953, a North Sea storm surge devastated coastal areas of the United Kingdom, Belgium and the Netherlands. Apart from enormous economic damage and severe societal disruptions, this event claimed over 2000 lives in the three countries. The event is relatively well documented, and relevant findings and data concerning fatalities in the three countries are outlined below.

Netherlands

Large parts of the Southwestern part of the Netherlands were flooded (figure 5-6). The disaster caused enormous economic damage and 1835 fatalities. About 250.000 people were affected, more than 47.000 cattle en 140.000 poultry were killed in the floodwaters. 3000 Residences and 300 farms were destroyed, and more than 40.000 houses and 3000 farms were damaged. Approximately 200.000 hectares were flooded and the total material damage was estimated at 1,5 billion guilders (1953 prices - Source: www.delta2003.nl).



Figure 5-6: Flooded areas (indicated in dark) during the 1953 storm surge in the Netherlands (Source: Rijkswaterstaat)

Mainly due to individual initiative, some villages were adequately warned and suffered a limited number of fatalities. However, at many locations very little or no warnings were given in advance. No preventive evacuation could be executed, but people took refuge in higher buildings and grounds locally. Most fatalities occurred at locations where there was insufficient warning and where the water rose rapidly to form a deep flood. Descriptions of the 1953 floods in the Netherlands by Slager (1992) show that at high-mortality locations, large numbers of buildings collapsed due to the severe conditions and the poor quality of buildings. As a consequence the poorest communities suffered most fatalities.

Duiser (1989) and Waarts (1992) collected data regarding the loss of life in the Netherlands due to this disaster from memorial volumes and official reports. Both reports give loss of life and hydraulic circumstances by municipality. Official death tolls have been listed in the dataset published by the Delta 2003 project¹⁵. By combining available sources a dataset has been obtained that includes 91 locations and 1795 fatalities. The difference between the totals 1835 and 1795 is accounted for by a number of people that died in a period after the disaster because of the illness and suffering they experienced during the first hours or days. Based on the descriptions from memorial volumes and the analysis of Waarts (1992), fatalities in three zones are distinguished: in a zone with high flow velocities, a zone with rapidly rising waters, and a remaining zone (see also section 7.4.1). Table 5-5 shows the distribution of reported fatalities over the three categories.

Table 5-5: Categorised data regarding fatalities caused by the 1953 disaster in the Netherlands, based on (Waarts, 1992)

Zone	Fatalities	Fraction
Rapidly rising waters	1047	0,58
High flow velocities	260	0,15
Remaining zone	488	0,27
Total	1795	1

An official record, which lists all 1795 individual fatalities, is available at an internet website¹⁶. Based on these data a comparison between the age distribution of fatalities and the age distribution of the overall population in the Netherlands¹⁷ is given in figure 5-7. This shows that during this event, especially the elderly over the age of 60 years were more vulnerable. A reason might be the decreased possibilities of self rescue of elderly. Further analysis showed that 49% of the fatalities were male and 46% were female. The gender of 5% of the victims was unknown. This does not necessarily indicate an increased vulnerability of one of the genders.

¹⁵ www.delta2003.nl, accessed January 2006.

¹⁶ http://www.zeeuwsarchief.nl/strijdtegenhetwater/ramp/slachtoffers-lijst.htm, accessed December 2004.

¹⁷ obtained from <u>www.cbs.nl</u>, accessed December 2004.



Figure 5-7: Comparison of distribution over the age categories for fatalities of the 1953 flood disaster and the 1953 population

Belgium

Also in Belgium the 1953 storm surge caused flooding. Of the 66 kilometres of coast line, 4,6 km were severely damaged. Martens (2003) mentions that in total 8 fatalities occurred in the coastal area: 7 in Oostende, and 1 at sea. Of the 7 fatalities in Oostende, 3 died in the city centre: 2 due to drowning and 1 due to a heart attack. The other 4 people drowned when a house in Sas Slijkens was flooded. Other sources report higher death tolls for Belgium: between 10 and 22, see (Gerritsen *et al.*, 2003) for an overview.

United Kingdom

The 1953 storm surge floods also caused large damage at the East coast of the United Kingdom. The following numbers give an idea of the extent of damage in the United Kingdom: 32.000 people were evacuated, 24.000 homes were damaged and 65.000 hectares of agricultural land were flooded. The economic damage is estimated at 50 million pounds. Figure 5-8 shows the flooded areas.



Figure 5-8: Flooded areas at the east coast of the United Kingdom during the 1953 floods (source: Environment Agency)

Kelman (2003b) gives a comprehensive overview of statistics on loss of life in the UK 1953 floods. The reported death toll ranges between 304 and 313. In addition 160 people deceased at sea, of which 130 when the ferry Princess Victoria sank. The high death toll is mainly due to the unexpected occurrence of the floods at night, without warning. Death tolls were highest at seaside towns with low quality buildings, often consisting of wooden prefabricated houses. The following quotation gives an indication of the importance of collapse of buildings: *"It is significant that the stretches along the stretches of coast where the casualties were heaviest – the Mablethorpe Sutton area of Lincolnshire, the Hunstanton to Lynn area, Jaywick, Canvey Island – were largely seaside shanty-towns consisting mainly of timber bungalows never intended for winter occupation."* (Pollard, 1978). Locations with the highest numbers of fatalities were Felixstowe (39 fatalities) and Canvey Island (58 fatalities, most of them in the Sunken Marsh area). At these locations people were surprised by the floods and he quality of buildings was poor.

In addition the elderly proved to be very vulnerable: "And consistently, all round the east coast, the eventual death tolls showed that it was the elderly, who went to bed early and had meagre reserves of energy even if they had time to realise what was happening when the water hit them, who were most vulnerable..." (Pollard, 1978). At Canvey Island, 42 out of 58 fatalities were aged over 60. At Jaywick, 28 of the reported 34 fatalities were over 60. In south Lynn, all 14 fatalities were over 60.

5.4.2 Japanese storm surges

Throughout history, Japan has been hit by several large storm surge floods caused by typhoons. Several authors have documented data regarding loss of life for specific events. The main findings are summarised below.

Ise Bay Typhoon 1959 (Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980; JWF, 2005)

On September 26 1959 the Isewan typhoon hit Central Japan. The most severely exposed area was the Ise Bay. The floods occurred in the late evening and at night due to overtopping and breaching of seawalls. At most locations no adequate warning could be given, as there was no electricity due to the storm. In total the floods left 5101 people dead, and about 430.000 people were exposed. Many fatalities occurred where the flood defences were breached, even if the length of the breached flood defence was relatively small. Most fatalities occurred at locations where the warnings were inadequate and where insufficient time was available for evacuation. In addition, large water depths were an important factor, "as the area of the inner part of the Ise Bay had been built by reclamation since the Edo area, and the land was lower than the sea level, there were no safe places for refuge." (Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980). Tsuchiya and Yasuda (1980) have documented statistics regarding loss of life and they provide information regarding the following factors: mortality, water depth, length of broken sea walls and level of warning.

Storm surges in Osaka Bay

Tsuchiya and Kawata (1981) have documented information regarding the loss of life for three historical storm surges in Osaka Bay. These were caused by the typhoons Muroto (Sept. 9 1934), Jane (Sept. 3, 1950) and Daini Muroto (Sept. 16 1961). Each of these storm surges flooded large areas of Osaka city (Muroto: 49 km², Jane: 39 km², Daini-Muroto: 31km²). Based on a comparison of these historical typhoons the authors discuss some aspects that influence loss of life. The authors mention the relationship between the number of collapsed houses and the numbers of fatalities, as "the greatest loss of human life during storm surge disasters takes place when houses are ruined or swept away". The importance of warning is also investigated: "We concluded that adequate typhoon information and warnings to take refuge are exceedingly useful in reducing life risk". This is illustrated by the descriptions of the Daini Muroto typhoon in 1954. Despite large-scale floods no fatalities occurred. Due to timely warning more than 100.000 people evacuated or sheltered. The authors also state that the depth of flooding had a significant effect on mortality as it is related to possibilities for shelter. The statistics have been documented by administrative district and concern the submerged area, the average water depth, the numbers of inhabitants, numbers of fatalities and injured, and numbers of houses ruined.

Typhoon no. 18 in 1999: Flooding of Shiranui Town

Typhoon No. 18 hit the Kyushu and Chugoku regions in Japan on September 24 1999. Although the storm surge flooded several locations in Yatsushiro Bay no fatalities occurred in these locations due to adequate warning. Only in the Einu District in Shiranui Town no warning was given and 12 people were killed when the water overtopped the sea dike in the middle of the night. The fatalities were mainly children and elderly. Kato (2002) suspects that their death is related to their inability to evacuate. In addition, large numbers of buildings in this area were damaged and some were even destroyed. About 200 people were living in the exposed area, and no warning was given. The floods rose up to a depth of about 2,6m above land level within 10 to 30 minutes (Kato, 2002; Takikawa, 2001).

5.4.3 Bangladesh cyclone in 1991

A relatively well-documented event is the 1991 Bangladesh cyclone. Two publications report epidemiological studies on flood mortality (Chowdhury *et al.*, 1993; Bern *et al.*, 1993). During this event large parts of coastal Bangladesh were flooded and the estimated death toll ranged between 67.000 and 139.000. The two available studies examined samples of the population in the most severely exposed areas¹⁸. For these areas mortality fractions of 0,1 or higher were reported. The available sources provide insight in the role of warning, shelters and collapse of buildings and individual vulnerability factors. However, no relationships between local mortality fractions and flood characteristics (e.g. depth) are reported¹⁹.

Warning and evacuation: At most locations a warning was given 3 to 6 hours in advance. Due to the short warning time evacuation was not feasible. In the investigated communities warnings were mostly neglected. Many inhabitants did not believe the warnings or they did not expect the floods to be so severe. Most people had to flee to shelters in the last hour before the event or even during the impact phase. The sources do not provide information regarding the relationship between the level of warning and mortality.

Shelter and buildings: Both studies report that approximately one third of the population had taken refuge in shelters by the moment of impact of the storm surge. None of these people died. Chowdhury et al. (1993) report that 12 percent of the population used official / formal shelters. Others used other types of buildings as shelter, such as private houses and other public buildings. The death rate was two times higher in the population which did not take any shelter, compared with the total population. The authors estimate that 20 percent more deaths would have occurred without formal shelters. Death rates differed significantly between house types. Both studies found that death rates were highest in "kutcha" houses, which are made of straw and mud. Chowdhury et al. (1993) report that only 3% of the poor quality kutcha housings were strong enough to withstand the flood flow. The death rate was lower in brick ("pucca") houses and no deaths were reported amongst those living in two story buildings. The above findings indicate the importance of possibilities for shelter on higher floors of a building. Differences in mortality between housing types probably reflect the vulnerability of the poor quality buildings to collapse. Chowdhury et al. (1993) stress "the immense utility of trees as life savers". Bern et al. (1993) estimate that mortality was 0,11 for those who took refuge in trees, which is lower than the 0,22 mortality for those who sought refuge on high ground.

Individual vulnerability factors: Death rates were substantially higher for females than for males. Mortality was highest amongst children below the age of 10 years and amongst women older than 40 years. Higher vulnerabilities amongst these groups might be related to physical ability (size, strength, endurance, nutrition), style of clothing (women) and

¹⁸ Mortality was not investigated for areas with smaller mortalities, although these may have contributed to the total death toll significantly. The findings of the considered studies may thus not necessarily be representative for all areas.

¹⁹ Further assessment of the following reference is strongly recommended: Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee (1991) Cyclone '91: a study of epidemiology. This source might provide more insights in the quantitative relationship between flood characteristics and mortality, but the report could not be obtained during the course of this study.

social role. This suggests that the ability of a person to take refuge during a flood is important for survival.

5.4.4 Other flood events

Laingsburg flood disaster, South Africa

In January 1981, floods occurred in large areas of the Karoo region. The town Laingsburg was most severely exposed. The village was flooded within several hours up to several metres until only the roofs were visible (estimated water depth is 4 metres). 104 People were killed and the number of exposed is estimated at 185 people (EMDAT, 2004).

River floods in the United Kingdom

Ramsbottom *et al.* (2003) report data regarding three river floods in the UK. The first event concerns the floods in town of Gowdall from the river Aire in autumn 2000. The flood depth reached about one meter, 250 people were affected, but no fatalities occurred as a warning was given in advance and many people were probably able to evacuate. Secondly, some facts on the river floods in Norwich in 1912 are reported. The speed of onset was gradual, but no flood warnings were given. Two thousand five hundred people were affected, and 4 people were killed in floodwaters that reached depths from 1 to 1,5 meters. Some people were warned in advance, but no full-scale evacuation was feasible. The third event is the flood that hit the town of Lynmouth in August 1952 due to flooding of the East and West Lynn rivers. There was no flood warning and the speed of onset was rapid. Four hundred people were exposed and the actual death toll was 34. Most fatalities occurred very near the river where water was estimated to rise to 3 meters. In addition about a quarter of the flooded houses were destroyed.

5.4.5 General findings with respect to factors that determine loss of life

Despite differences with respect to their temporal and geographical situation²⁰, the major factors that have determined the loss of life in these historical flood events seem to be very similar. Based on the available descriptive information and previous analyses (e.g. Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980; Bern *et al.*, 1993), the main factors that influence mortality are summarised below:

- The events with the largest loss of life occurred **unexpectedly** and without substantial **warning**. Many of the high-fatality events also occurred at night (Netherlands and UK 1953, Japan 1959), making notification and warning of the threatened population difficult.
- Timely **warning** and **evacuation** prove to be important factors in reducing the loss of life. Even if the time available is insufficient for evacuation, warnings can reduce the loss of life. Warned people may have time to find some form of shelter shortly before or during the flood.
- The possibilities for **shelter** are a very important determinant of mortality. Buildings can have an important function as a shelter, but possibilities to reach shelters will depend on the level of warning, water depth and rise rate of the water.
- **Collapse of buildings** in which people are sheltering is an important determinant of the number of fatalities. Findings from different events (Bangladesh 1991, Neth-

²⁰ Further discussion of the transferability of data from case studies for quantitative analysis of loss of life of contemporary floods in the Netherlands is provided in section 7.1.2.

erlands 1953) show that most fatalities occurred in areas with vulnerable and low quality buildings.

- Water depth is an important parameter, as possibilities for shelter decrease with increasing water depth. Low-lying and densely populated areas, such as reclaimed areas or polders, will be most at risk (see also figure 5-5).
- The combination of larger **water depths** and **rapid rise of waters** is especially hazardous. In these cases people have little time to reach higher floors and shelters and they may be trapped inside buildings.
- High **flow velocities** can lead to the collapse of buildings and instability of people. In different cases (Netherlands and UK 1953, Japan 1959) many fatalities occurred behind **dike breaches** and **collapsed sea walls**, as flow velocities in these zones are high.
- Anecdotal evidence (e.g. Slager, 1992) shows that many lives were saved by individual bravery, whether or not they had any training or equipment. The literature does not provide evidence of substantial reduction of the loss of life due to **organised rescue actions** in the first hours of the flood. The actions of rescuers are important to remove people from the flooded area in the days after the event.
- When exposed to a severe and unexpected flood, **children** and **elderly** were more vulnerable. This suggests that chances for survival are related to an individual's stamina and his or her ability to find shelter. A further analysis of individual vulnerabilities is provided in the next section.

The above factors are important determinants of the loss of life. Local variations in the above factors may lead to differences between mortality fractions for different locations within one flood event. Especially unfavourable combinations of the above factors will contribute to high mortality. For example in the 1953 floods in the Netherlands, mortality was highest at locations where a) no flood warnings were given b) the waters rose rapidly to larger water depths and c) where the quality of buildings was poor. The event-based data (see appendices) show that for such locations mortality can range up to 0,1 to 0,4. For other locations more limited mortality fractions are reported, generally between 0 and 0,01.

5.5 Causes and circumstances of individual flood disaster deaths

Introduction and approach

In addition to the findings from global statistics and flood events, this section discusses the loss of life at the individual level. Past work analysed the causes and circumstances of flood fatalities for specific regions ((Coates, 1999) for Australia) and flood types ((French *et al.*, 1983; Mooney, 1983) for flash floods in the USA). A study (Jonkman and Kelman, 2005) has been carried out to improve the understanding of the causes and circumstances of flood disaster deaths at the individual level. This section is a summary of that study, further background and details are provided in the original publication. The study focussed on the causes and circumstances of flood fatalities and the effects of individual vulnerabilities (e.g. age, gender)

Following earlier recommendations for standardised data collection for floods (e.g. Hajat *et al.*, 2003; Legome *et al.*, 1995; WHO, 2002) a categorisation of causes and circumstances of death is proposed. It takes into account the medical causes of death, and also the relevant activity for some categories:

- Drowning: as a pedestrian, in a vehicle, from a boat, during a rescue attempt, in a building;
- Physical trauma: in water, as a pedestrian, in a vehicle, on a boat, during a rescue attempt, in a building;
- Other causes: heart attack, electrocution, carbon monoxide poisoning, fire, other.

Van Beeck *et al.* (2005) propose the following definition "drowning is the process of experiencing respiratory impairment from submersion / immersion in liquid". According to Bierens (1996), both hypothermia and asphyxiation can occur during the drowning process. In the available literature deaths are often indicated as drownings without any further description of the exact circumstances.

Analysis and results

Thirteen flood events from Europe and the United States were included, mainly considering inland (river) flood events. The events resulted in 247 reported flood fatalities. Each case study is relatively recent (within the past 20 years) and involved relatively few deaths (less than 50). Therefore the considered events are assumed representative for relatively well-predictable floods with moderate effects in western countries. The individual-by-individual data were aggregated for analysis. Results with respect to causes of death are presented in figure 5-9.



Figure 5-9: Distribution of the causes and circumstances of death for the 13 considered events, based on (Jonkman and Kelman, 2005)

Drowning accounts for the majority of the fatalities (67,6%), with the implication that approximately one third of flood disaster fatalities is not due to drowning. Vehicle-related drownings occur most frequently and result when people try to drive across flooded bridges, roads, or streams. Physical traumas account for 11,7% of the fatalities, most of them occurred in vehicles. Other relevant causes are heart attacks during evacuation and return (5,7%), electrocution deaths during clean up (2,8%), and deaths from fires following the floods (3,6%).

The influence of individual vulnerability factors has been investigated. Males have a high vulnerability to dying in floods, as approximately 70% of the reported fatalities are male. Likely causes are the high involvement of males in driving, the high proportion of males in the emergency and supporting services, and males' risk-taking behaviour. The way people respond to floods is an important factor in the associated morbidity and mortality (French and Holt, 1989). A substantial proportion of the flood-related deaths is believed to be attributable to unnecessary risk-taking behaviour. Descriptions of individual circumstances of fatalities reveal different forms of flood tourism, and recreational activities, as well as people entering the water unnecessarily. Similar observations with respect to the substantial influence of risk taking behaviour are given by Coates (1999), WHO (2002) and ICPR (2002). In contrast to previous studies (Coates, 1999; Mooney, 1983), this study did not show an overrepresentation of the young and elderly in flood death statistics. In

the two cases where victims' alcohol blood levels were measured (Thorne *et al*, 2002; Staes *et al*, 1994), the majority of victims were impaired²¹.

Discussion

From the above analysis recommendations can be abstracted to prevent loss of life. These concern a timely warning and raising public awareness to influence people's reaction and behaviour, as they are critical factors. People should be prevented from entering flood-waters, either by vehicle or foot, as much as possible. Mitigation strategies should also consider deaths from other causes than drowning. These include the prevention of heart attacks, due to preparation and planning of evacuations, and post impact deaths due to electrocution and carbon monoxide poisoning.

The conclusions of this study might apply only to the floods examined: that is, smallerscale floods in Europe and the US. Higher-fatality events, such as coastal and flash floods, might exhibit different mortality patterns with respect to individual vulnerabilities compared to the smaller-scale events studied here. In the predictable floods analysed here, a substantial part of the fatalities might be due to risk taking behaviour. In more unexpected events (such as the events analysed in the previous section) other mechanisms and causes will be more important. For example, in contrast to the over-representation of male deaths found here, the 1953 floods in the Netherlands resulted in a nearly equal distribution of fatalities over the genders. Similarly, while only a few of the fatalities in this study occurred in buildings, a large proportion of the 1835 fatalities in the Netherlands during the 1953 storm surge occurred due to collapse of low-quality buildings (Slager, 1992). Also the transferability of the results of the work here to other regions should be considered. Unfortunately limited data are available for floods in developing regions, while most flood fatalities occur here. To provide a more solid basis for the formulation of prevention strategies, better systematic recording of flood fatalities is recommended, especially for covering different types of floods in all countries.

²¹ According to Hirschler *et al.*(1993) over 30% of fire fatalities had high alcohol blood levels. This suggests that impairment by alcohol could be an important factor for other event types as well.

5.6 Evaluation of the available information

Overview of available information regarding loss of life

In the preceding sections different aggregation levels of available information regarding loss of life caused by floods have been discussed. Table 5-6 summarises these different types of information.

Scale	Type of information	Provides insight in	Strengths	Weaknesses
Macro (global)	Global statistics	Loss of life and average mortality by event type	Useful global indicators, insight in mortality by flood type	Large variations between events, no insight in underlying factors
Meso (event / location)	Flood events	Mortality by location and relationship with flood characteristics	Possibility to relate mortality to flood characteristics	Limited insight in root causes of individual flood deaths
Micro (individual)	Individual causes and circumstances of flood disaster deaths	Influence of individual vulnerability factors and causes of mortality	Insights for prevention and mitigation at the individual level	- No information regarding the relationship between hazard factors and event mortality. -Relevance of factors differs by event type

Table 5-6: Summary of types of information regarding loss of life caused by floods

These types of information are related. Global statistics are aggregated from flood events, and mortality patterns for one flood event result from aggregation of individual fatalities. Given the limitations of the existing data, further collection of data at all three levels is recommended. This will provide a better basis for policy support and development of mitigation strategies. Eventually, also following previous recommendations (WHO, 2002; Hajat *et al.*, 2003), a general reporting system could be developed which also involves the non-lethal health effects and the longer-term mortality of flood disasters.

Applicability of different types of information for the development of a method for the estimation of loss of life

The paragraph below evaluates how the different types of information can be used to develop a method for the estimation of loss of life. Indicators derived from global statistics (sections 5.2 and 5.3) give a useful but rough estimate of the order of magnitude of event mortality. However, these statistics do not provide a sufficient basis for a case-specific estimation of loss of life, as the reported variations in these statistics are considerable.

At the other end of the spectrum, there is the analysis of individual causes of death and vulnerabilities (section 5.5). It is found that the occurrence of individual fatalities is mainly dependent on individual circumstances and behaviour. To model the individual probability of death a so-called mechanistic or process-oriented approach would have to be followed, that fully simulates the sequence of events and behaviour at the individual level. However, due to the number of factors involved a very large amount of data would be

needed for calibration of all these factors in an empirical model. This approach is therefore not adopted in this study.

In order to give a reliable estimation event specific conditions have to be taken into account, such as flood characteristics, warning and evacuation. Given the above discussion and limitations of other types of information it is chosen to develop a method for the estimation of loss of life based on the information from historical flood events. By empirical analysis of case study data, dose-response functions can be derived to estimate mortality as a function of flood characteristics and other factors. Although the outcome for each exposed individual will be unknown, such functions allow estimation of expected mortality²² in the exposed population. The benefit of this approach is that it is not more complex than needed²³ and that it is based on empirical data.

Factors to be included in the model for the estimation of loss of life

Based on the preceding analyses (section 5.4) and past work (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003; Aboelata *et al.*, 2003) table 5-7 provides an overview of potential factors of relevance for the estimation of loss of life. Following the systems categorisation proposed in section 1.3.2, factors are subdivided into elements related to physical effects and factors related to the physical and organisational system. For each factor it is indicated whether it influences the extent of the exposed population (by evacuation or shelter) or mortality amongst those exposed. A brief description is given for each factor. In the fifth column the availability of data in different types of sources is indicated. In the last column the relevance of these factors is ranked for the estimation of loss of life for floods of low-lying areas due to the failure of flood defences. A similar set of factors could be considered for other types of floods, such as dam breaks. However, for these cases the relevance of certain factors might be rated differently.

Especially unfavourable combinations of specific factors will be life threatening. For example, information from flood events showed that locations which had a combination of deep water, no warning and poor quality of buildings suffered highest mortality. Some of these factors may be interrelated. For example, water depth, rise rate and flow velocity have a physical relationship (see section 7.2). The above factors provide a basis for further development of a method for the estimation of loss of life for flood of low-lying areas due to breaching of flood defences in section 7.

²² With respect to this issue McClelland and Bowles (2002) argue that although one cannot know the outcome of any individual, it is possible to describe the probability distribution of outcomes over multiple individuals.

²³ This is also an engineering principle: the model should be as detailed as is necessary for a sufficiently accurate estimation of outcomes. For example, in mechanics, fist a simple hand calculation is made and later a more detailed assessment with a finite element method is performed.

Table 5-7: Overview of relevant factors for the estimation of loss of life for floods.

Factor	Exposure	Mortality	Comments	Available data	Relevance				
Physical event characteristics									
Water depth		Х	Important as deeper water gives less possibilities for shelter. It will also influence collapse of buildings.	Case studies	High				
Rise rate of the water		Х	Determines the possibility for shelter and influences collapse of buildings.	Case studies	High				
Flow velocity		Х	High flow velocities can cause instability of people and lead to collapse of buildings		High				
Arrival time of flood water at a location after breach	X		mainly determines the time available for evacuation	Dam breaks (Graham, 1999)	High				
Moment of occurrence of breach (day / night)	X	Х	It influences the predictability, preparedness and possibilities for warning and shelter		Medium				
Time of day, week and year	X		It influences the presence of population in an area and the possibilities for warning		Medium				
Debris		Х	Floodwaters carrying debris present greater threat to people and buildings		Medium				
Water temperature		Х	determines the survival chances of people in water.		Medium / low				
Waves		Х	Can damage buildings (could be relevant for coastal floods)		Low / medium				
Flood duration		Х	Could influence mortality of people stuck in homes, less relevant for direct fatalities		Low				
Water quality / Pollution		Х	Can lead to injuries and illnesses but less relevant for direct mortality		Low				
System characteristics									
System factors related to	physic	al sys	stem configuration	1	1				
Infrastructure capacity	X		determines the time required for evacuation	-	High				
Shelters	X	Х	can prevent or reduce exposure to floodwater	-	High				
Quality of buildings		X	Determines the possibility of collapse of buildings and consequent loss of shelter	Case studies	High				
System factors related to	organi	satior	7	I	1				
Prediction and warning	X	Х	Essential for evacuation, also important for possibilities to find shelter.	Case studies (categorised)	High				
Evacuation plans and organisation	X		These can fasten decision-making, warning and evacuation progress	-	High / medium				
Population state and vulnerability (age, gender, health)		X	Important for individual survival, might be less relevant for larger 'average' populations	Individual (qualitatively)	Medium				
Reaction and behaviour	X	Х	Important for evacuation, and survival chances during the flood.	Individual (qualitatively)	Medium				
Rescue actions	X		Remove people from dangerous locations (water, buildings, trees)	-	Medium				
Hazardous installations		X	Can lead to secondary events (e.g. toxic release), but with small probability	-	Low				

6 A review of models for the estimation of loss of human life caused by floods

Research question: Which models are available for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods? Are they applicable to estimate the loss of life caused by flooding of low-lying areas protected by flood defences?

Keywords: loss of life, floods, model, instability, flood hazards.

This section reviews the existing models for the estimation of loss of life developed in the Netherlands (6.1) and other countries $(6.2)^1$. Specific attention is paid to the models for human instability in flowing water and their physical interpretation (6.3). All models are evaluated in section 6.4.

6.1 Models developed in the Netherlands

Throughout the last decades several models have been proposed in the Netherlands for the estimation of loss of life for sea and river floods. Most models are directly or indirectly based on data on the fatalities caused by the 1953 flood disaster in the Netherlands².

Duiser (1989) proposed a model that relates the local mortality fraction to inundation depth. More data on the 1953 floods have been added by Waarts (1992). He derived a general function for flood mortality³ (F_D) as a function of water depth (h - [m]):

 $F_D(h) = 0,665 \cdot 10^{-3} e^{1,16h}$ $F_D \le 1$ (Eq. 6-1)

Waarts also proposed a more refined model that takes into account the effects of warning and evacuation, high flow velocities and collapse of buildings. However, not all factors in this refined model have been specified based on historical data.

Based on Waarts' general functions, an extended model has been proposed by Vrouwenvelder and Steenhuis (1997). Especially rapidly rising floods will cause hazardous situations for people, and therefore the rate of rise of the water (w - [m/hr]) is included in the mortality function⁴ (see also figure 6-1):

$$\begin{split} F_D &= 0 & h < 3m \quad OR \quad w < 0, 3m / hr \\ F_D(h, w) &= \min(\max(8, 5e^{0, 6h - 6} - 0, 15; 0) \cdot \min(\max(8, 5e^{1, 2w - 4, 3} - 0, 15; 0), 1) \text{ (Eq. 6-2)} \\ F_D &= 1 & h > 6, 25m \quad AND \quad w > 2m / hr \end{split}$$

It is noticeable that this function gives $F_D=0$ for h<3m. This is in contrast with the observations from the 1953 storm surge disasters, where about one third of the fatalities occurred at locations with water depths below 3 metres (see datasets in appendix 7.III).

¹ Sections 6.1 and 6.2 are extended versions of Jonkman *et al.* (2002)

² See section 5.4.1 for a description of this event.

³ If appropriate, the general symbols introduced in section 2 have been used in the (mathematical) description of the existing models.

⁴ In order to prevent discontinuities in the function, the constants in the exponential expression should be modified to 0,64 and 1,14 instead of 0,6 and 1,2.

For w>2m/hr and h>3m the function approximately corresponds to the above function of Waarts (1992), see equation 6-1.



Figure 6-1: Mortality as a function of water depth and rate of rise (Kok et al., 2002)

Vrouwenvelder and Steenhuis (1997) propose a model for sea and river floods. It takes into account the fraction of buildings collapsed (F_B) , the fraction of fatalities near the breach (F_R) , fatalities due to other factors (F_O) and the evacuated fraction of the affected population (F_E) . Combination with the number of inhabitants (N_{PAR}) yields the total number of fatalities (N):

$$N = (F_O + P_B F_R + P_S F_B)(1 - F_E)N_{PAR}$$
(Eq. 6-3)

Where:

 P_{R} probability of dike breach nearby a residential area [-]

 P_{c} probability of storm (1 for a coastal flood, 0,05 for a river flood) [-]

Some of the factors in the above model, for example F_c and F_B , are not specified based on historical data, but derived from expert judgement. Nevertheless the approach includes several important factors that influence loss of life.

Jonkman (2001) proposes a model for the determination of loss of life for sea and river floods in the Netherlands. It accounts for the effects of water depth, flow velocity and the possibilities for evacuation. Based on the results from human stability tests in flood flows (Abt *et al.*, 1989; see section 6.3) a function to account for the effects of high flow velocities is given. Mortality becomes a function of flow velocity v [m/s]⁵, leading to $F_D(v)$. Mortality due to higher water depths is modelled with the general function of Waarts ($F_D(h)$, see above). It is also assumed that drowning due to water depth and flow velocity are disjunct events. The probability of a successful evacuation or escape is assumed to be a function of the time available for evacuation, leading to $F_E(T_A)$. Event mortality can now be expressed as:

⁵ In the report it is noted that actually the combination of velocity and depth is important, see also section 6.3.

$$F_{D}(h,v,T_{A}) = (F_{D}(h) + F_{D}(v))(1 - F_{E}(T_{A})) \qquad 0 \le F_{D}(h,v,T_{A}) \le 1$$
(Eq. 6-4)

All the above models are directly or indirectly based on findings from the 1953 storm surge. An evaluation of these models (Jonkman, 2004) showed the following. Comparison with the available observations regarding the loss of life caused by the 1953 storm surge showed that these models did not give a good prediction of the observed number of fatalities. In several of these models variables are included that are based on expert judgement and not on empirical data.

6.2 International models

In an international context, various models have been developed for the estimation of loss life for different types of floods. The considered applications include dam breaks floods, tsunamis, coastal storm surges and river floods.

6.2.1 Dam break floods

McClelland and Bowles (2002) give a comprehensive historical review of loss of life models for dam break floods and also discuss their merits and limitations. Here, some of the more recent models are summarized.

Brown and Graham (1988) developed a function to estimate the number of fatalities for dam breaks as a function of the time available⁶ for evacuation (T_A) and the size of the population at risk (N_{PAR}) :

$$\begin{split} N &= 0,5N_{PAR} & T_A < 0,25hr \\ N &= N_{PAR}^{0,6} & 0,25hr < T_A < 1,5hr \\ N &= 0,0002N_{PAR} & T_A > 1,5hr \end{split} \tag{Eq. 6-5}$$

The procedure is derived from the analysis of 24 major dam failures and flash floods. The formulas show large discontinuities. For example for $N_{PAR} = 10000$ the loss of life jumps from 5000 to 251 at $T_A = 0.25$ hr, and then jumps from 251 to 2 at $T_A = 1.5$ hr.

DeKay and McClelland (1993) make a distinction between "high lethality" and "low lethality" floods. They define high lethality floods as events with large hydraulic forces, for example in canyons, where 20% of the flooded residences are either destroyed or heavily damaged. Low lethality conditions occur when less than 20% of the houses are destroyed or damages and these usually occur on flood plains. The following relationships, again a function of population size and evacuation time, have been proposed:

$$N = N_{PAR} (1+5,207 N_{PAR}^{0,513} e^{(3,838T_A - 4,012)})^{-1}$$
 for "high lethality" floods

$$N = N_{PAR} (1+5,207 N_{PAR}^{0,513} e^{0,822T_A})^{-1}$$
 for "low lethality" floods
(Eq. 6-6)

⁶ Brown and Graham (1999) (and some other authors) originally use the concept of warning time and assume that this equal to the time available for evacuation. The available and warning time are not necessarily the same due to delays in warning in response (see section 2).

In both functions loss of life decreases very quickly when the time available increases. It is noted that re-ordering⁷ of both the above models shows that mortality becomes dependent on the size of the population at risk. Application of this expression for short warning times gives mortality values in the order 10^{-2} to 10^{-4} This is in the same order of magnitude as the reported mortalities for river and coastal floods in section 5.

Graham (1999) presents a framework for estimation of loss of life due to dam failures. Recommended fatality rates are provided based on the severity of the flood, the amount of warning and the understanding of the population of the flood severity. Quantitative criteria for flood severity are given in the form of water depth and the depth – velocity product. Three categories of warning time are distinguished: no / little warning (< 15 minutes), some warning (15 – 60 minutes) and adequate warning is received and understood by the population at risk. The recommended fatality rates are based on the analysis of 40 historical dam breaks. In later work Reiter (2001) introduced factors in Graham's approach to account for the vulnerability of the population (number of children and elderly), and the influence of warning efficiency and possible rescue actions.

The models discussed above are based on statistical analyses of data from historical floods. Recent research has focused on more detailed simulation of flood conditions and individual behaviour of people after dam break floods. The 'Life Safety Model' developed by British Columbia Hydro (Watson *et al.*, 2001; Assaf and Hartford, 2002; Hartford and Baecher, 2004; Johnstone *et al.*, 2005) takes into account the hydraulic characteristics of the flood, the presence of people in the inundated area and the effectiveness of evacuation. An individual's fate is modelled mechanistically, i.e. individual behaviour and the causes of death are accounted for at an individual level. Drowning can occur in three different states: when the building in which a person stays is destroyed, when a walking person loses his stability, or when a person's vehicle is overwhelmed by the water. Calculations result in different values for loss of life for different times of the year, week and day due to differences in affected population and the effectiveness of warning. Johnstone *et al.* (2004, 2005) use the model for a reconstruction of the consequences of the Malpasset dam failure in France in 1959.

Utah State University (McClelland and Bowles, 1999, 2002; Aboelata, 2003) has developed a model ('Lifesim') loss of life estimation for dam break floods. It considers several categories of variables to describe the flood and area characteristics, warning and evacuation and the population at risk. A comprehensive analysis of historical dam break cases and the factors determining loss of life has been undertaken (McClelland and Bowles, 2002). However, due to the number of variables included and their interrelations it is difficult to abstract single variables as predictors of dam break flood mortality. Therefore, different flood zones are distinguished based on the characteristics of the flood (depth, velocity) and the availability of shelter. Mortalities observed in historical cases have differed distinctly between flood zones. In the most hazardous 'chance zones', historical mortalities range from $F_D=0.5$ to 1 with an average of 0.9. In 'compromised zones', where the available shelter has been severely damaged, the average death rate amounts to 0.1. The model has been

⁷ For example, the DekKay and McClelland expression for mortality in low lethality floods becomes: $F_D = N / N_{PAR} = (1+5,207 N_{PAR}^{-0.513} e^{0.822T_A})^{-1}$

implemented in a GIS framework and can be used for both deterministic (scenario) and probabilistic (risk analysis) calculations.

6.2.2 Tsunamis

A model for the estimation of loss of life due to tsunamis is given in (CDMC, 2003). Based on historical statistics from Japanese tsunamis, mortality is estimated as a function of tsunami wave height $(h_{tr} - [m])$ when it reaches land:

$$F_D = 0,0282e^{0,2328h_{ts}} \qquad F_D \le 1$$
 (Eq. 6-7)

Correction factors are proposed which account for the tsunami arrival time and resident awareness, and thus for the effects of evacuation and warning. Furthermore the extent of dike and sea wall breaching is included in the mortality estimation.

Sugimoto *et al.* (2003) and Koshimura *et al.* (2006) propose models that combine a numerical simulation of the inundation flow due to tsunami and an analysis of the evacuation process. Both models use criteria for human instability in flowing water (see section 6.3) to estimate loss of life.

6.2.3 Coastal storm surges

Throughout history several large storm surges have struck Japan⁸. Based on such historical events Tsuchiya and Kawata (1981) derived a relationship between typhoon energy⁹ and mortality. These authors have also investigated the relationship between mortality and factors such as the collapse of buildings, the time of warning and the volume¹⁰ of flooding. However, no definitive model for the prediction of mortality is proposed.

Mizutani (1985; quoted in Tachi, personal communication) developed relationships for typhoons Jane and Isewan between average flood depth (*b*) and mortality¹¹:

Isewan typhoon: $F_D = 10^{(2/3 \cdot h - 11/3)}$ $F_D \le 1$ (Eq. 6-8)

Typhoon Jane: $F_D = 10^{(h-5,5)}$ $F_D \le 1$ (Eq. 6-9)

Due to the large differences in mortality between the events (e.g. a factor 30 for water depth of 1 metre) it is believed that other factors, such as warning and the available time have played an important role.

Boyd (2005) analysed the loss of life in the city of New Orleans (USA) due to flooding after hurricane Betsy (sept. 1965). Fifty-one fatalities were directly related to the flooding of parts of the city. Based on the limited amount of available data he proposed a linear relationship between mortality and storm surge height, F_D =0,304.10⁻⁵h. In a later publication Boyd *et al.* (2005) derived a mortality function based on observations from seven flood events, including hurricanes Betsy (1965) and Camille (1969) in the United States. They proposed the following relationship between mortality and water depth:

⁸ See also section 6.5.2 for a discussion of some of these events.

⁹ Typhoon energy is determined by the pressure difference between central typhoon and outside pressure, and by the radius of the typhoon.

¹⁰ Volume of flooding = surface of flooded area multiplied by (average) water depth

¹¹ Functions listed here have been derived based on the figures given in (Tachi, personal communication)

$$F_D = \frac{0,34}{(1 + \exp(20,37 - 6,18h))}$$
(Eq. 6-10)

This functions is S-shaped and it has an asymptote for mortality $F_D=0,34$ for water depth values that are approximately above 4 meters. This implies that about two thirds of the population will always survive regardless of the water depth. With respect to this asymptote for mortality the authors state: "One basic empirical fact of flood events is that there are always survivors. Rarely, if ever, has the entire population exposed to the flood perished. Instead, even if the water is extremely deep people tend to find debris, trees, attics, roofs, and other ways to stay alive. Only under the most extreme situations would one expect the fatality rate to reach one." (Boyd et al., 2005). A further discussion regarding the shape of the mortality function and relationship with survival of people exposed is included in section 7.4.4.

6.2.4 Other models

Some authors developed more general models applicable to both river and coastal floods. Zhai *et al.* (2006) analysed data from floods in Japan. They derived a relationship between the number of inundated houses and the loss of life¹². In these floods fatalities mainly occurred when more than 1000 buildings were inundated, and then increased as a function of the number of inundated buildings. The obtained statistical relations show considerable variation, which might be due to the influence of other factors such as warning, evacuation, flood characteristics, and the actual collapse of buildings.

Ramsbottom *et al.* (2003, 2004), see also (Penning-Rowsell *et al.*, 2005), developed an approach for assessing the flood risk to people, in a research project for the Environment Agency for England and Wales. The risk to people is determined by three factors: flood hazard, people vulnerability and area vulnerability. A flood hazard rating is indirectly based on the available tests for human instability and the effects of debris (see next section). The proposed values for the other factors are based on expert judgement. By combination of these three factors the numbers of fatalities and injuries are estimated. The model is applied to three case studies covering past river floods in the UK, and the obtained results agree well with the observed historical data.

Following the catastrophic flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in august 2005, a model for the estimation of loss of life for flooding of New Orleans has been developed in the context of the 'Interagency Performance Evaluation Taskforce' (IPET, 2006). This model is based on the principles of the Lifesim model that has been developed by Utah State University for dam breaks (see description above), but now it is applied to flooding associated with breaching of flood defences. In the model in the IPET study the exposed population is assigned to three different zones (walk away zone, safe zone, compromised zone). Each zone has a typical value¹³ for the mortality rate. Local flood depths and building heights and the age of the population¹⁴ determine the distribution over the

¹² The number of inundated houses will be proportional to the number of affected persons. Thus, the derived ratios between fatalities and inundated buildings could be proportional to event mortalities (fatalities divided by exposed population), if the numbers of evacuated are similar for the events in the dataset.

¹³ To be more precise: each zone has a distribution of mortality. By means of Monte Carlo analysis, the mean number of fatalities is determined.

¹⁴ Because many of the fatalities due to the floods after hurricane Katrina were elderly, it is assumed in the IPET model that those over 65 years old are unable to evacuate vertically above the highest floor level.
three zones. The number of people exposed has been distributed over the three zones, so that the total number of observed fatalities¹⁵ was approximated well. The model can be used to assess the loss of life for hurricane related flood events in the greater New Orleans area, e.g. in the context of a risk analysis that includes (future) flood scenarios for the area.

6.3 Human instability in flowing water¹⁶

Loss of human stability and consequent drowning in flood flows is an important contributor to loss of life (see also section 5.5). Therefore several authors have investigated the issue of human (in)stability in flowing water. This section provides an overview of past work in this field (6.3.1). Consequently a physical interpretation of instability is proposed (section 6.3.2) and this approach is used to interpret existing measurements on instability in section 6.3.3. Concluding remarks and recommendations are given in section 6.3.4.

6.3.1 Past work

Abt *et al.* (1989) probably did the first experimental study on this topic, as they state that "previous work of this nature was not located in literature". They conducted a series of tests in which human subjects were placed in a flume in order to determine the critical depth-velocity product ($hv_c - [m^2/s]$) at which a human subject becomes instable. Equation 6-11 was derived from the empirical data to estimate the value of the critical product as a function of the subject's height (L - [m]) and mass (m - [kg]):

$$hv_c = 0,0929 \left(e^{0,001906Lm+1,09}\right)^2$$
 (Eq. 6-11)

Similar tests have been carried out in the Rescdam project (Karvonen *et al.*, 2000) to investigate the conditions of instability. Depending on the test person's height and mass, critical depth-velocity products were found between 0,64 m²/s and 1,29 m²/s. In Japan, experiments were conducted on the feasibility of walking through floodwaters (Suga *et al.*, 1994, 1995). Suetsugi (1998) and Tachi (personal communication) report these results in English indicating that people experienced difficulties in walking through water when the depth-velocity product exceeded 0,5 m²/s.

Different authors have used the available test data to derive empirical functions for determining stability. Lind and Hartford (2000) derived theoretical relationships for the stability in water flows of three shapes representing the human body: a circular cylindrical body, a square parallelepiped body, and composite cylinders (two small ones for the legs, and one for the torso). Due to similarities in the stability functions for these shapes, they proposed a limit state function in the form of equation 6-12. The depth-velocity product forms the load and the resistance is determined by a person's mass and an empirical coefficient K_o , which is calibrated with the results of the tests by Abt *et al.* (1989):

$$Z(K_0, m, h, v) = K_0 m^{0.5} - hv$$
(Eq. 6-12)

Where: $Z(K_o, m, h, v)$ reliability function for stability [-]

¹⁵ When the model was developed in February 2006, the number of observed fatalities due to the flooding of New Orleans was 887. A more extensive discussion of loss of life due to the flooding of New Orleans is presented in section 9.

¹⁶ A more extensive version of this section has been published as (Jonkman et al., 2005).

 K_o Constant with an average value of 0,10 kg^{-1/2} m² s⁻¹ and a variation coefficient of 0,18. (for derivation see (Lind and Hartford, 2000)).

If Z<0, a person loses stability. As the distribution of constant K_o is given, the probability of losing stability can be determined for a given depth-velocity product (hv).

Ramsbottom *et al.* (2004) derived a model for flood hazard estimation. It relates the stability of a person in floodwater to the depth and velocity of the water and to the amount of debris that is in the water. The effects of debris are represented by a factor DF $[m^2/s]$. The proposed flood hazard equation is:

Flood Hazard =
$$h(v + 0,5) + DF$$

(Eq. 6-13)

This formula ensures that flood hazard does not reduce to zero when velocity is zero. It is also a good fit to both the Abt *et al.* (1989) and the Karvonen *et al.* (2000) data sets. The relationship is extrapolated to find the flood hazard for children by using the height and weight figures of a 5 year old. The resulting graphs are then interpreted to provide danger thresholds to determine what flood conditions correspond to a low, moderate, significant or extreme hazard.

Green (2001) and USBR (1988) give semi-quantitative criteria that indicate certain hazard ranks (e.g. high and low danger zones) as a function of water depth and flow velocity.

Related work concerns instability of people due to sea wall overtopping of waves. Critical discharges for instability are in the following range: 1 - 10 l/s/m (see e.g. Bruce *et al.*, 2002). For tests in the Netherlands it is reported that somewhat higher discharges (20 to 30 l/s/m on average) lead to hazardous circumstances (Smith, 1999).

Table 6-1 summarises the available test data as a basis for further analysis. Figure 6-2 shows the cumulative probability distribution of the critical depth-velocity products for both datasets. The intersection with the horizontal axis indicates the measurement with the smallest hv_c , while the data point at the probability level of 1 indicates the measurement with the largest hv_c . Both sets of experiments can be approximated with normal distributions; average and standard deviation are indicated in the last column of table 6-1.

Reference	Substrate / water conditions	Clothing and Safety equipment	Test conditions	Subjects	Nr. of mea- surements	Depth-velocity product statistics
Abt <i>et al.</i> , 1989	Grass, concrete, steel, gravel. Water 20-25°C	Jeans and shirt, harness, helmet	2-4 tests in 2 hrs., <i>v</i> : 0,36 – 3,05 m/s <i>h</i> : 0,42 – 1,2m	20 people, female and male, 19-54 years, good health, <i>m</i> : 41-91kg; <i>L</i> : 1,52-1,91m	Monolith: 6 People: 65	People: avg. hv _c =1,33m ² /s St. dev.: hv _c =0,28m ² /s
RESCDAM, (Karvonen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2000)	Steel grating- fairly slippery, Water 16°C	Goretex survival suits, helmet, safety ropes, handles	v: 0,6 – 2,75 m/s h: 0,3 – 1,1m	7 people, female and male. Some were professional rescuers. <i>m</i> : 48-100kg; <i>L</i> : 1,60-1,95m	People: 38	avg. <i>hv</i> _c =0,96m²/s St. dev.: <i>hv</i> _c =0,16m²/s

Table 6-1: Overview of available experimental data on human instability



Figure 6-2: Distributions of critical depth-velocity products for the Abt and Rescdam datasets

Overall, the available studies show that people lose stability in flows with limited depth-velocity products. The obtained critical depth-velocity products range from 0,6 m²/s to about 2 m²/s. The differences in the reported test results can be related to test circumstances (bottom friction, test configuration) or personal characteristics (weight, length, clothing). Results from Abt *et al.* (1989) show that monoliths topple in much lower depth-velocity products (0,3 m²/s) than human beings (0,6 m²/s to 2 m²/s). This leads to the assumption that human adaptation to flow conditions plays an important role in stability estimation. Examples are leaning into the flow and turning sideways into the flow, thus reducing the exposed body surface.

6.3.2 A physical interpretation of human instability

In literature the physical interpretation of human instability has received relatively limited attention. Therefore it has been attempted to improve the physical interpretation of the depth-velocity criterion and to relate the experimental data to the physical mechanisms for instability.

Two hydrodynamic mechanisms that can cause instability are distinguished: moment instability (toppling) and friction instability (sliding). **Toppling**, or **moment instability**, occurs when the force of the oncoming flow exceeds the moment due to the resultant weight of the body (Lind *et al.*, 2004). **Friction instability** or **sliding** occurs if the drag force is larger than the frictional resistance between the person's feet and the substrate surface (see also Keller and Mitsch, 1993). Both mechanisms are schematically shown in figure 6-3. Based on these schematisations general expressions for instability are derived from the equilibrium equations for moment and force.

For completeness, one other hydrostatic mechanism is mentioned: **floating**. As the density of the human body is similar to the density of water, floating will usually occur if water depth exceeds a person's height. Then, the person is no longer subject to the moment instability or friction instability calculations.



Figure 6-3: Models of human body for moment and for friction instability (symbols explained below)

Moment instability

To calculate moments, assume that the person is a block shape and leans forward. It is assumed here that the velocity distribution is uniform, and that person's characteristics can be represented as one surface (average width *B* in water depth *h*). In this simplified elaboration the upward buoyancy forces are neglected¹⁷. For people with average mass in average floods, buoyancy effect will be relatively small. For stability, $\Sigma M_p = 0$

$$\Rightarrow F_{person}d_{1} - 0.5hF_{flow} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow mgd_{1} - 0.5h(0.5\rho v^{2}C_{D}Bh) = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow hv_{c} = (4mgd_{1}/C_{D}B\rho)^{0.5}$$

$$\Rightarrow hv_{c} = C_{s}m^{0.5} \quad with \quad C_{s} = (4gd_{1}/C_{D}B\rho)^{0.5}$$

Where:
B The average body width exposed normal to the flow [m]

- C_D Drag coefficient [-]
- d_1 Distance from person's pivot point to their centre of mass [m]
- d_2 Distance from person's pivot point to the mass centre of mass of the submerged part of the body [m]
- F_{buoy} Buoyancy force [N]
- $F_{f_{any}}$ The horizontal force of the flow on an object in the flow [N]
- \vec{F}_{person} The person's weight [N]
- ρ Density of the flowing fluid [kg m⁻³]

In the above equations, the value of C_D depends on the shape of the exposed object and *Bh* represents the wetted area's normal projection to the flow. Equation 6-14 implies that the critical hv_c value can be estimated as a function of a person's mass multiplied by constant C_s with unit [m²/(s kg^{0,5})]. Further extensions of the above model are elaborated in (Jonkman *et al.*, 2005). For example, as the horizontal distance to the pivot point depends on a person's tilt and height, hv_c can be expressed as a function of person's mass and height.

¹⁷ A more complete elaboration that includes buoyancy is included in (Jonkman *et al.*, 2005), but in that case less simple expressions are obtained.

Friction instability

Friction instability occurs if $F_{\text{friction}} < F_{\text{flow}}$. The frictional force involves the coefficient of static friction μ [-], so that $F_{\text{friction}} = \mu mg$. The following critical product is obtained (again effects of buoyancy are neglected):

$$hv_c^2 = 2\mu mg / C_D B\rho = C_F m$$
 with $C_F = 2\mu g / C_D B\rho$ (Eq. 6-15)

To reach friction instability, the critical value of hv^2 has a linear relationship with mass. In this equation the constant C_F has unit $[m^3/(\text{kg s}^2)]$. The critical product hv^2 for instability changes for different surfaces and conditions, i.e. for varying μ . Endoh and Takahashi (1995) give measured values of μ for different surfaces and shoe types. Values can range between 0,38 for concrete covered with seaweed and 1,12 for rough concrete. They suggest μ =0,4 as a first conservative value.

6.3.3 Comparison of physical stability criteria with test results

The derived physical stability criteria have been compared with available experimental test data. In the first analysis **moment instability** for the Rescdam dataset is investigated. Figure 6-4 shows the measured depth-velocity products as a function of the person's mass and the derived best-fit trend line for the Rescdam dataset (Karvonen *et al.*, 2000). The trendline gives a good approximation of the observed depth-velocity products, as R²=0,75.



Figure 6-4: Depth-velocity product as a function of person's mass for the RESCDAM experimental data (Karvonen *et al.*, 2000) and best-fit trend line

For **friction instability**, especially the bottom material plays an important role. Two subdatasets from Abt *et al.* are compared, namely the measurements on 1,5% slopes for concrete and steel. Concrete has a higher friction coefficient than steel, and instability occurs for higher hv^2 values than those for steel. In figure 6-4 the measurements on the critical hv^2 are plotted as a function of a person's mass. In addition, the two best-fit lines are shown.



Figure 6-5: Friction instability: Comparison between experimental data from Abt *et al.* (1989) for concrete and steel bottom and derived relationship.

For both circumstances, 14 experiments were carried out. For 11, instability occurs at lower hv^2 values on steel than on concrete, due to the fact steel is more slippery (and has a lower friction coefficient). For different (sub)datasets table 6-2 presents the resulting values for C_F and correlation values. Using reasonable estimates for the drag coefficient and the width exposed to the flow (C_D =1,1; B=0,5m), also a corresponding value of friction coefficient μ is estimated.

Table 6-2: Friction instability	derivation of coefficient and	corresponding value	of the friction co	efficient
		torrespondents the		

Slope	Bottom	Measure- ments	C _F [m³/(kg s²)]	R^2	Value of friction coefficient µ
1.5%	Concrete	14	0,036	0,46	1,01
1.5%	Steel	14	0,030	0,54	0,83
All tests		65	0,031	0,36	0,87

6.3.4 Discussion

One question that emerges from these studies is whether the decisive criterion for human stability in water flows is moment or horizontal force. When a person loses stability in flowing water and is carried away by the stream, were they (a) overturned by being unable to balance the moments or (b) unable to counter the horizontal force and pushed downstream?

To identify the determining mechanism for human stability in flood flow, both moment and force equations are considered. Figure 6-6 shows the combinations of depth and velocity that are assumed to lead to friction and moment for a person with a mass of m=75kg. From the derived equilibrium equations for moment and friction instability the situation is determined where both criteria result in the same hv_c (see also figure 6-6):

$$h_{c} = C_{F}^{2} / C_{F} = 2d / \mu$$

$$v_{c} = C_{S} / (C_{F} m^{0.5})$$
(Eq. 6-16)

Figure 6-6 shows that for smaller water depths and large flow velocities friction instability will be the dominating mechanism. The region where friction instability occurs depends on the value of the friction coefficient μ . For more slippery surfaces (a low μ) friction instability becomes more important. The moment criterion is the decisive mechanism for larger depths and limited velocities.

A further comparison between both mechanisms is given using the Abt *et al.* (1989) dataset. All experimental data have been plotted in figure 6-6 together with the theoretical relationships for moment and friction instability. Figure 6-6 and the analysis of correlations suggest that neither mechanism dominates. Instead, the combination of these two criteria could explain the data scatter and differences in the experimental results. For the range of physical hazard conditions tested (*h* between 0,4 and 1,1m and *v* between 0,6 and 3 m/s), the combination of moment and horizontal force likely plays an important role. Given the good agreement for the Rescdam tests to the moment equation (see above) and practical considerations (*hv* is a simpler product), it is recommended to use the moment instability criterion and the corresponding depth-velocity (*hv*) product for flood hazard analysis. Equation 6-14 could be used as a general formula. The value of constant C_s can be determined for specific cases, but is usually between 0,1 and 0,2.



Figure 6-6: Comparison of moment and friction instability for the Abt et al. dataset

Discussion: application of instability criteria for loss of life estimation

Apart from the combination of depth and velocity, other phenomena could affect human stability in flows:

- Bottom characteristics: evenness and obstacles.
- More water characteristics: temperature along with ice, other debris or even animals (fish, snakes, alligators).
- Human vulnerability factors: additional loads such as clothing, disabilities, age and fatigue and hypothermia which would reduce muscle power and ability to tilt into the flow. In particular, the tests on people which have been completed so far used

healthy adults. Children and the elderly are likely to be particularly vulnerable to instability in flowing water.

• Lighting and visibility, wind and gusting, waves, and flow unevenness which suddenly changes water velocity and depth.

Another issue to consider is the correlation between instability and overall risk of being killed in a flood. Losing stability does not necessarily imply drowning. Bern *et al.* (1993) investigated risk factors for flood mortality during the 1991 Bangladesh cyclone by conducting a survey amongst people who were affected by the flood. Of the 285 people who were swept away during the storm surge, 112 (39%) died. Numerous first-hand accounts of survivors from the 26 December 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami also point out that many people survived, despite being picked up and battered by the tsunami and entrained debris. In many cases, the survivor became unconscious. Additionally, drowning, physical trauma, and hypothermia following instability are only one set of many flood death causes (Jonkman and Kelman, 2005). Thus, for a complete analysis of loss of life, other causes and circumstances should be considered additionally.

6.4 Evaluation of models for loss of life estimation

Despite the enormous impacts of floods on global scale a limited number of models is available for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods. This section has given a review of (known) available models and such a comprehensive overview was not available in literature so far. Below, the models are briefly evaluated with respect to their field of application, and background data and modelling approach. Table 6-3 summarizes the models, their field of application and shows which factors are taken into account in loss of life estimation. Especially for river and coastal floods this table gives an almost complete overview of the available literature.

Model	Field of application	Data basis	Factors taken into account in loss of life estimation					
			Water depth	Velocity	Rate of rising	Warning and evacuation	Collapse of buildings	Other
Duiser			X					
Waarts	River and coastal		Х					
Waarts detailled	floods in low	1953 storm	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Vrouwenvelder and Steenhuis	lying areas (esp. the	disaster in the	х		x			
TNO	Netherlands)	Nethenanus	Х	Х		Х	Х	
Jonkman	-		X	X		X		
						Λ		
Brown and Graham		Historical dam breaks				х		Affected Population
De Kay and McClelland		Historical dam breaks				Х		Affected Population
Graham	Dam break floods	Historical dam breaks	comb in sev classif	oined verity ication		х		
BC Hydro Life Safety Model		Simulation	х	x		х	х	Individual behaviour
Utah State University	Utah State University		Different hazard zones defined		zard ned	х	x	
CDMC		Historical				х	х	Tsunami wave height
Sugimoto et al.	Tsunami	Simulation	X	x		X		have height
Koshimura <i>et al</i>	-	Simulation	X	X		X		
		Cintalation				Λ		
Tsuchiya and Kawata	Coastal floods (Japan)	Historical typhoons in Japan						Typhoon energy
Mizutani		2 typhoons	Х					
Boyd <i>et al.</i>	Coastal floods (storm surge, hurricane)	Various storm surges	x					
Zhai <i>et al.</i>	river and coastal floods (Japan)	Historical floods Japan					Х	
Ramsbottom <i>et al.</i>	river and coastal floods (UK)	Stability tests and expert judgement	x	x	x	х	x	Population vulnerability
IPET	Hurricane related flooding due to levee breaches (New Orleans)	Loss of life after hurricane Katrina	x			х		Shelter, age of people
	1	1						
Abt <i>et al</i> *	Human instability	Stability tests	Х	Х				People's
Rescdam*	In flowing water	Stability tests	x	x				mass and length

Table 6-3: Overview of existing loss of life models, their field of application, and the factors included

* only original stability tests are listed in the table, not the formulations derived from these test by other authors

The models have been developed for different types of floods in different regions. Applications that have received relatively much attention are dam breaks in the USA and Canada, coastal storm surges in Japan, floods in the Netherlands, and human instability in flood flows.

All of the reviewed models include some kind of dose response or mortality function which relates mortality to flood related characteristics. Depending on the flood type and type of area different variables will be most significant in predicting loss of life. For large-scale dam breaks warning time is very important, as people exposed to the effects of a large dam break wave have limited survival chances. For coastal and river floods, local water depth and rate of rising are important parameters for mortality. Despite the importance of collapse of buildings this factor is not included in most of the models. For all floods evacuation is a critical factor in loss of life estimation, as it reduces the number of people exposed to the flood. It is noted that this factor is not included in many of the approaches listed in table 6-3.

Figure 6-7 schematically compares some of the discussed models with respect to their level of detail¹⁸ and modelling principles. Mechanistic models are those that model the individual behaviour and the causes of death. Empirical models relate mortality in the exposed population to event characteristics.



Figure 6-7: Comparison of the proposed model with other models for loss of life estimation (based on Johnstone *et al.*, 2005)

The models of Utah and BC Hydro use detailed local data and capture the mechanisms that lead to mortality. The model of BC Hydro is most detailed as it simulates an individual's fate during a flood event, while Utah State distinguishes groups of people, whose circumstances are comparable. The disadvantage of such an approach is that a large number of (behavioural) variables have to be assigned, for which very limited empirical information is available. Yet, detailed simulations can provide a) important information for the development of emergency evacuation strategies b) powerful visualisation tools for

¹⁸ These three levels of detail are discussed in section 2.1.2.

communication with the public and decision makers. More empirically based models have been proposed which take account of local circumstances (e.g. the models of Ramsbottom *et al* and Waarts), or give a purely empirical estimation of mortality for an event (e.g. the models of Graham and DeKay and McClelland). In general the single-parameter models (i.e. the models that include one factor such as water depth or warning time) are fully based on historical data. Probably due to the lack of historical data, not all the factors in multi-parameter models could be empirically derived.

Concluding remarks

The objective of this thesis is to investigate the possibilities for the improvement of methods loss of life estimation for floods of low-lying areas protected by flood defences, with specific emphasis on the situation in the Netherlands. Many of the available models have been specifically developed for other types of floods (e.g. dam breaks) and they are less suitable for the type of flood considered here. A group of models has been developed for the situation in the Netherlands (see section 6.1) and these are largely based on observations regarding loss of life caused by the 1953 storm surge in the Netherlands. An evaluation of these models (Jonkman, 2004) showed that these models did not give a good prediction of the observed number of fatalities in the 1953 flood. Overall, most of the existing models do not take into account the combined influence of different factors that are considered to be the most relevant determinants of loss of life, e.g. water depth, rise rate, evacuation, collapse of buildings, evacuation - see section 5.6. In addition, most of the existing models have a limited empirical basis and the influence of several variables is often estimated based on expert judgement. Given their different bases and natures, applying different loss of life models will give different results. Application of some of the discussed models to a region in the Netherlands with 360.000 inhabitants showed that the predicted loss of life varied between 72 and 88.000 (Jonkman et al., 2002).

Given the above considerations it is expected that the available models are not able to provide an accurate¹⁹ estimate of loss of life for large-scale floods of low-lying areas. Therefore a new method is proposed in the next section. It includes the most relevant determinants²⁰ of loss of life. The method is derived based on available empirical information regarding loss of life in historical flood events.

¹⁹ Accurate is interpreted as follows: the deviation between the mortality calculated with the loss of life model and the observed mortality that is used for validation of the model calculation should be no more than a factor 2 to 5 (see also section 7.4.2 for further details regarding this criterion).

²⁰ These include water depth, rise rate, flow velocity, evacuation, shelter and building quality, see section 5.6 for an overview and discussion regarding the most relevant determinants of loss of life.

7 A method for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods

Research question: Is it, based on empirical data, possible to develop an improved method for the estimation of loss of life caused by floods?

Keywords: loss of life, floods, flood mortality, dose response function

7.1 Introduction and approach

7.1.1 Scope: large-scale floods in low-lying areas

This section contains a proposal for a method to estimate the loss of life caused by largescale floods of low-lying areas due to failure of flood defences. These types of floods mostly occur in delta areas. These can be found in different parts of the world at the mouths of rivers, e.g. the Mississippi (USA), Rhine (Europe) and Yangtze (China). The Netherlands is situated in the deltas of the rivers Rhine, Meuse and Scheldt. Large parts of the country are below sea level or the high water levels at the rivers and lakes. Figure 7-1 shows the parts of the Netherlands that could be flooded without the protection of flood defences.



Figure 7-1: Parts of the Netherlands that could be flooded without flood defences (Source: Rijkswaterstaat)

In such Delta areas the land level is often below the (high) water levels at sea and the rivers. Protection of these areas is provided by flood defences such as dikes (synonyms: dyke, embankments, levee), sand dunes or hydraulic structures, such as storm surge barriers. In addition, drainage systems are needed to discharge rainwater from the so-called polders and to prevent rise of the groundwater table. As a consequence of the topographical situation, failure of the flood defence system in such Delta areas can lead to flooding of extensive areas up to large water depths with catastrophic consequences (see also figure 5-5).

The method developed in this section is generally applicable to flooding of low-lying areas in different countries. In the development of the method historical information from similar types of floods from different countries has been used. In the proposal of some elements in the method (e.g. evacuation and shelter) specific attention is given to the situation in the Netherlands. Flood types that exhibit distinctly different flood patterns, such as tsunamis, have not been explicitly considered. A brief discussion on the applicability of the proposed method to other regions and flood types is provided in section 7.5.3.

7.1.2 Approach for loss of life estimation

Following the general framework proposed in section 2, the following general steps need to be included in loss of life estimation for floods: 1) analysis of flood characteristics; 2) estimation of the number of people exposed (including the effects of warning, evacuation and shelter) and 3) assessment of the mortality amongst those exposed to the flood. In the previous section it has been concluded that the existing models do not take into account all these factors and that they often have a limited empirical basis. Therefore a new method is proposed in this section. The approach uses those factors as input that have been ranked as highly relevant¹ for loss of life estimation in section 5 (see table 5-7). The method is derived based on available empirical information regarding loss of life in historical flood events. The general framework for loss of life estimation is shown in figure 7-2. The output consists of an estimate of the loss of life caused by the flood at the event level, together with the number of evacuated, sheltered and rescued people.

¹ Some factors that have been ranked as highly relevant for evacuation (infrastructure, evacuation plans, population behaviour and response) are taken account in the evacuation model and they are not separately shown in figure 7-3.



Figure 7-2: General approach for loss of life estimation for floods, The variables used as input are shown in italics.

The following sections deal with the general steps in the above approach. Section 7.2 considers the simulation of flood characteristics. Section 7.3 describes the modelling of evacuation, shelter and rescue and the assessment of the number of people exposed. As previous work has already focussed on the analysis of these two steps they are treated relatively briefly. Most emphasis is given to the development of dose response functions (indicated here as mortality functions) for floods in section 7.4. In the final section (7.5), the validation of the model, uncertainties and sensitivities and other issues are discussed.

7.2 Simulation of flood characteristics

A large-scale flood in a Delta area, such as the Netherlands, is most likely to occur due to failure of flood defences along the coast, lakes and rivers. The first question is where the breach will occur and how many breaches there will be². In the context of flood risk analysis the probability of breaching has to be estimated, by taking into account the different potential locations of breaching and the failure mechanisms that can lead to a breach (Vrijling, 2001; Lassing *et al.*, 2003). The development of the breach in the flood defence determines the extent of the inflow and thus the flood characteristics and eventual damage. Visser (1998) and Zhu (2006) investigated breach growth in dikes. The development of the breach depends mainly on a) the difference between the water levels outside and inside the flooded area; b) geotechnical properties of the embankment c) hydraulic roughness of the area behind the breach.

The most relevant flood characteristics for loss of life estimation include: water depth, rise rate, flow velocity and arrival time of the water (see also table 5-7). Information regarding these variables can be obtained from flood simulations. Other potentially relevant characteristics that are more difficult to analyse are the effects of debris and water temperature.

² See also section 9.3.1 for a discussion regarding the possibility of multiple breaches.

The term flood scenario is often used to refer to one breach or a set of multiple breaches in the dike ring and the resulting pattern of flooding, including the flood characteristics.

Simulation of flood characteristics

Several approaches are available for the simulation of flood characteristics. In the one dimensional (1D) basin storage approach the development of water depth over time in a confined area is determined as a function of inflow discharge and surface of the flooded area.

$$\frac{dh}{dt} = \frac{Q(t)}{A(h)}$$
(Eq. 7-1)

Where : t – time [s]; Q(t) – discharge entering the area as function of time [m³/s]; A(b) – surface of the flooded area as function of water depth [m²]

From this equation the water depth and rate of rising can be directly estimated as a function of the breach discharge. The simple formula above conceptually shows how different flood characteristics are interrelated. Examples are the relationships between water depth (*b*) and rise rate (*dh*/*dt*) and the relationship between surface area (*A*) and rise rate (*dh*/*dt*). Rise rates will be especially large for polders / compartments with small surfaces. There is also a relationship between the flow velocities and rise rate via the breach discharge³.

The **rise rate** of the water is expected to be an important determinant of loss of life as it influences the possibilities to find shelter on higher grounds or floors of buildings. The rise rate can be derived from the development of water depth over time. In the context of loss of life estimation it is proposed to estimate the average rise rate at a location from initiation of flooding up to a depth of 1,5 metres. Then it approximates the human head level and becomes hazardous for people (see figure 7-3). This approach prevents finding very high rise rates over small incremental changes of water depth, for example over the first decimetres of water in figure 7-3. As rise rate is averaged it is indicated with symbol w [m/hr].



Figure 7-3: Estimation of (averaged) rise rate over the first 1,5m of water depth.

³ Flow velocity and rise rate will both be dependent on breach discharge Q(t). Average flow velocity in the breach at time t can be approximated with $v_{avg,breach}(t)=Q(t)/A_{breach}$. Where A_{breach} is the surface of the breach. Flow velocities will generally reduce with distance to the breach.

The simplified one-dimensional method does not account for important factors such as the arrival time of the water⁴ and local variations in flow velocity and rate of rising. Therefore it would be needed to estimate the progress of a flood flow through a certain area. For dam break flows an analytical solution for the one-dimensional movement of flood flow can be obtained from the Saint-Venant equations. This solution is mainly applicable to narrow canyons, but less suitable for the two-dimensional flood pattern in a polder. Several authors (Mai and von Lieberman, 2001; Sarma and Das, 2001; Paquier *et al.*, 2005) proposed simplified analytical approximations of 2-dimensional flood flows for breaches, but no standardized analytical approach for this problem has been developed yet.

More detailed simulations of overland flood flow can be obtained using numerical methods. An example is the Sobek 1D2D model (Asselman and Heynert, 2003). In the simulation of flood flows it is important to account for the roughness and geometry of the flooded area. Certain line elements, such as local dikes, roads, railways and natural heights, might create barriers that can significantly influence the flood flow and the area, thereby dividing the area in smaller compartments.

Analysis of flood characteristics

Empirical analysis of loss of life in historical floods requires information regarding flood characteristics during the event. These can be derived by measurement from watermarks or qualitatively from eyewitness reports. Also, satellite imagery in combination with elevation data can be used to assess flood depths (Cunnigham *et al.*, 2006). It is often difficult to find information regarding velocity and rise rate after a flood in the field. Flood simulation in hindsight can be used to estimate flood characteristics.

In the context of consequence and risk studies, hypothetical flood scenarios are analysed and estimates of flood characteristics are used as input for loss of life estimations. For a first order simulation of flood characteristics a simplified 1-dimensional approximation might be used. In general, the application of the output of 2-dimensional simulations is preferable, as the most relevant variables are obtained directly. Locally occurred maximum values for depth and velocity are generally used as input for calculations, possibly leading to somewhat conservative damage estimates⁵.

7.3 Analysis of evacuation and the number of people exposed

This section describes an approach for the estimation of the number of people exposed for large-scale floods. It is based on the approach for analysis of evacuation proposed in section. First, the elements that determine the time available (7.3.1) and the time required (7.3.2) are discussed. Consequently, the reduction of the number of people exposed due to shelter (7.3.3) and rescue (7.3.4.) are described.

⁴ The 1-dimensional basin storage approach assumes that the arrival time of the water equals the moment of occurrence of the breach.

⁵ An overestimation of consequences might be obtained in particular when the depth velocity product is used as input for the damage model. Maximum values of depth and velocity need not have occurred simultaneously, i.e. $h_{max}v_{max} \neq (hv)_{max}$

7.3.1 Evacuation: Time available before flooding

The time available is determined by two elements⁶: 1) The time available between the first signs and the initiation of the flood, i.e. the breach; 2) The time available between the breach initiation and the arrival of the floodwaters at a certain location (the so-called arrival time).

Time available before the initiation of the flood

The time lag between the first signs and the occurrence of a flood depends on the type of flood. For example heavy rainfall can cause flash floods within several hours, but high river discharges might be predicted days in advance. The time available also depends on the predictability of the occurrence of the mechanism that leads to failure of the flood defence. The occurrence of some failure mechanisms of can be predicted well in advance. For example, the mechanism of overtopping is directly related to the water levels and its occurrence can be predicted in advance. Other failure mechanisms, such as piping and instability, occur more unexpectedly. It is noted that, although the occurrence of critical situations might be predicted in advance, the exact location and timing of the breach (and whether it occurs or not) are difficult to predict. Probabilistic methods can be used to predict the possible occurrence of breaches at different locations (ter Horst, 2005).

Barendregt *et al.* (2004, 2005) proposed representative values for time available for different combinations of the above factors. Values were collected in an expert judgement study, and some results are shown in table 7-1. Next to a central estimate, the experts also provided estimates of the 5% and 95% confidence intervals⁷.

Table 7-1: Estimates of the time available for evacuation for different types of floods and failure mechanisms in the Netherlands. 5%, 50% and 95% estimations are shown based on expert judgements. These estimates do not cover all parts of flood defence system and not all failure mechanisms. A more complete overview is given in (Barendregt *et al.*, 2004).

System	Failure mechanism	Time avail	ions (hrs)	
		5%	50%	95%
Coastal (North Sea)	Overtopping	4	12	51
River: Rhine	Overtopping	24	60	120
	Piping	24	54	120
	Failure of hydr.structure	24	58	120
River: Meuse	Stability	16	28	41
River: Meuse Rotterdam	Stability	4	11	21

Arrival time of floodwaters after breach initiation

The arrival time of the water at a certain location can be obtained by means of flood simulation. By combining it with the estimated time until dike breach, the total time available at a certain location is obtained. As the velocity of the flood front is in the same order of magnitude as the evacuation speed, forced evacuation after the breach might still be possible (see also section 2.3.6). In a conservative approximation it seems reasonable to assume instantaneous arrival of floodwaters after breaching. In this case the additional time needed for propagation of the flood wave is neglected, because evacuation will be difficult after breaching of the dike because of traffic jams, organisational problems etc..

⁶ These two elements are discussed in more general terms in section 2.2.

⁷ These values can be used to derive continuous distributions used for sensitivity analysis and probabilistic evaluation of the evacuation process (see also figure 2-8).

7.3.2 Evacuation: Time required for evacuation

As a first step in the evacuation analysis, the exposed area and the magnitude of the population at risk (N_{PAR}) need to be identified. For large-scale areas it seems reasonable that N_{PAR} equals the population in the area, implying that population dynamics are neglected⁸.

In the Netherlands there is limited practical experience with the evacuation of large populations. During high river discharges in 1995 about 250.000 people were evacuated preventively and this process took about 1,5 day. Given the shortage of historical evacuation data, a survey of international literature⁹ has been conducted to derive representative values for modelling of the first three phases of evacuation (namely prediction & decision-making, warning, response) for the situation in the Netherlands. Results are summarized in table 7-2, but more extensive backgrounds are provided in appendix 7.I and (Frieser, 2004). A distinction is made between preventive evacuation (flood foreseen and evacuation occurs before the flood) and the case of an unexpected flood and thus forced evacuation (evacuation after initiation the event). The development of the phases of evacuation is expected to differ between these two types of floods.

	Foreseen flood - Preventive evacuation	Unexpected flood - Forced evacuation
Decision time	4 hours	2 hours
Warning time	2 to 3 hours	2 to 3 hours
Fraction of population warned	0,95 to 1	Depends on situational factors (first suggestions: Official warning: 0,8 to 1 No official warning: 0,3 to 0,5
Response time	Mean: 2,5 hours Whole population after 6 hours	Mean: 1 hour Whole population after 2 hours
Fraction of population that complies to warning	0,95	No indications from literature

Table 7-2: Overview of phases that determine time required for evacuation

Simplified approximations can be used to obtain a first order estimate of the time required for the actual evacuation. For example, Edelman (1955) assumes evacuation on foot and estimates time required for evacuation by dividing the distance to the exit by the walking speed. Actual evacuation development can also be modelled with simulation models that include traffic flows and population behaviour, see e.g. (Simonovic and Ahmad, 2005). For analysis of flood evacuation in the Netherlands, a macro-scale traffic model has been developed (Barendregt *et al.*, 2002; van Zuilekom *et al.*, 2005). The model accounts for:

- The number of inhabitants in the area
- Departure time distribution of evacuees
- Road capacities and network
- Exit capacity
- Effects of traffic management

This model provides the time required to evacuate a certain fraction of the population as output. Also the delays for decision-making, warning and response need to be accounted

⁸ For consideration of floods in smaller areas, population dynamics might be more significant. For example, for dam break floods N_{PAR} is estimated for different times of the day, weekdays and seasons e.g. (Johnstone *et al.*, 2005).

⁹ More experience based information is available in other countries, e.g. in the USA for hurricane evacuation.

for. By combination with estimates for the time available (table 7-1) the evacuated fraction of the population is obtained.

An example of an evacuation analysis for an area in the Netherlands is given in figure 7-4. The area concerns the dikering 'Land van Heusden / de Maaskant'. It has 360,000 inhabitants and it is threatened by flooding of the river Meuse. For this area a conservative estimate of the time available is 16 hours. By combination with the results evacuation model, the evacuated fraction is estimated at F_E =0,5. F_E reduces to 0,4 if no traffic management is used, e.g. in the case of an unorganised evacuation.



Figure 7-4: Estimation of the fraction evacuated, based on estimates of the different phases that determine the time required and the point estimate of the time available.

In this analysis the evacuation fraction is assumed constant for the whole exposed area. In a more detailed assessment the spatial variation in evacuation fraction can be accounted for by including the arrival time of the floodwater at a certain location, see (Asselman and Jonkman, 2003) and appendix 7.II.

Here it is also assumed that no movement out of the area is possible if people are exposed to the floodwaters (i.e. escape is not accounted for). This is assumed as literature on human instability indicates that people lose their stability already at low depth-velocity combinations (see section 6.3), and that vehicles are very limited in their movement through floodwaters. Some other approaches (Edelman, 1954; Suetsugi, 1998; Koshimura *et al.*, 2006) take into account the possibility of escape through floodwaters with limited depths.

7.3.3 Shelter

In addition to the number of people that evacuate the area, it is necessary to take into account those that seek shelter. In the analysis of data from historical floods (see section 7.4) the effects of local sheltering in buildings, trees and objects is implicitly accounted for. The influence of large-scale sheltering needs to be accounted for separately. Evidence from literature (Bern *et al.*, 1993; Mushtaque *et al.*, 1993; McClelland and Bowles, 2002) suggests that fatalities in intended shelters have been extremely rare. As a first order approximation of the effects of sheltering it is proposed to assume that all people present in buildings with more than three stories are safe. Calculations by Roos (2003) indicate that most high-rise concrete buildings are likely to withstand flood flows. In the Netherlands the fraction of people living in higher buildings could range between 0% (rural areas) to 20% (urban areas). For specific cases the presence of formal shelters and / or high grounds can be discounted additionally. The possibilities to reach shelter depend on the level of warning, and also on the rise rate and depth of the water. Further investigation of (the modelling of) movement of people to shelters is recommended.

7.3.4 Rescue

The actions of emergency and rescue services during floods can attempt to prevent flooding (by strengthening weak sections in the dike, e.g. with sand bags), reduce the number of people exposed (due to rescue of people from the exposed area) or mortality (due to treatment of injured people). Given the scope of this study, the reduction of the number of exposed and mortality due to rescue actions are discussed.

Overall, due to their unexpected occurrence, the floods with greatest loss of life have generally claimed the lives before professional rescuers were able to arrive. Rescue actions are expected to have a limited effect on fatalities in the direct impact phase, i.e. the first hours of the event.

After the direct impact phase rescue actions could help to remove people who are exposed to the flood conditions and thereby limit the number of fatalities. Large-scale coordinated rescue actions will be most effective for people who are present at hazardous locations, such as roofs, treetops and damaged buildings. The survival of people in the floodwaters mainly depends on the water temperature, see figure 7-5. People in (cold) water lose body heat, which can lead to consequent mortality due to hypothermia. For example, storm surge floods in the Netherlands will mainly occur in wintertime with a water temperature around 5°C. Expected survival time for people in the water is between 1 and 3 hours and rescue will be a matter of small chance.



Figure 7-5: Representation of Hayward's curve (Hayward, 1986) that indicates survival time in water as a function of temperature. Grey lines indicate the band of uncertainty.

Rescue actions in the water pose additional hazards to the rescuers themselves, especially in swift-water. Analyses of past floods (Coates, 1999; Duclos, *et al.*, 1991, Jonkman and Kelman, 2005) show that a substantial part of the fatalities are associated with rescue operations.

A simplified approach is proposed to correct the number of people exposed for the effects of rescue. Based on expert judgements (Röpke, personal communication) the capacities of rescue services have been estimated for the situation in the Netherlands. Using the available boats and helicopters a maximum capacity of 500 rescued people per hour is estimated¹⁰. Most fatalities will occur in the first 48 hours of the flood (based on descriptions Slager, 1992) and thus the number of people exposed can be corrected for the number of people rescued (N_{RES}) within that period. It is also necessary to account for the time needed for initiation of rescue actions and the limited rescue capacity during this first phase, see figure 7-6. During the 1953 storm surge in the Netherlands the initiation of rescue took more than 24 hours and at some locations more than 48 hours. Due to the improvement of communication technologies a shorter initiation time can be assumed, somewhere between 12 and 24 hours. However, it is noted that after the flooding of New Orleans due to hurricane Katrina in the year 2005 there was also a substantial delay before rescue actions started (see also section 8).



Figure 7-6: Proposed relationship between rescue capacity and time

Using the estimated values, the total rescue capacity is estimated at approximately 16.000 people within the first 48 hours. Thus, for large-scale floods, which can affect more than 100.000 people, the rescue capacities will be insufficient to rescue substantial parts of the population. Given the rough estimates, more thorough investigations of rescue capabilities and operational preparation for large-scale floods in the Netherlands are recommended.

7.3.5 Summary of the method for the estimation of the number of people exposed

The proposed general steps for estimation of the number of people exposed (N_{EXP}) are summarized below¹¹:

¹⁰ Röpke (personal communication) estimates that the rescue capacity of helicopters in the Netherlands will be approximately 250 people per hour. A similar rescue capacity is assumed for boats (e.g. 100 boats, rescuing 5 people, mission duration 2 hours).

¹¹ The general symbols introduced in section 2 have been used.

- The number of people at risk in the flooded area: N_{PAR}
- The evacuated fraction of the population: $F_E(T_A)$. It is determined based on the estimate of time available (T_A) and the distribution curve for time required (F_F) .
- The fraction of the (remaining) population that has the possibility to find shelter. In this first approximation it is assumed to equate the fraction of inhabitants living in high rise buildings: F_s
- The number of rescued people: N_{RES}

The number of people exposed equals:

$$N_{EXP} = (1 - F_E(T_A))(1 - F_S)N_{PAR} - N_{RES}$$
(Eq. 7-2)

In a first order and general analysis the evacuation and shelter fractions can be assumed constant for the whole exposed area. In a more detailed assessment the spatial distributions of evacuation and shelter fractions can be accounted for, by including local road and shelter capacities. By combining an evacuation model with a flood simulation the availability of safe evacuation routes could be assessed, thereby providing important information for emergency management.

7.4 Estimation of the mortality amongst the exposed population

In this section a method is proposed for the estimation of mortality amongst the exposed population for the flooding of low-lying areas due to failure of flood defences. First, the general approach is introduced (7.4.1). Based on data from historical flood events (discussed in section 7.4.2) mortality functions are empirically derived for different hazard zones in the flooded area (7.4.3 to 7.4.5). Consequently, the influence of warning and shelter (7.4.6) and the collapse of buildings (7.4.7) are discussed. The method for the estimation of mortality is summarized in section 7.4.8.

7.4.1 General approach

After analysis of flood characteristics and evacuation, the next step is the determination of mortality amongst those exposed to the flood. An approach is proposed in which hazard zones are distinguished. For locations in every hazard zone mortality is estimated by means of a dose response function, indicated here as a **mortality function**. Hazard zones are areas that differ with respect to the dominating flood characteristics and the resulting mortality patterns¹². Based on the findings from historical events (section 5) and past work (Waarts, 1992) it was found that many fatalities occur behind breaches and in areas with rapidly rising waters. Three typical hazard zones are distinguished for a breach of a flood defence protecting a low lying area (see figure 7-7).

• **Breach zone:** Due to the inflow through the breach in a flood defence high **flow velocities** generally occur behind the breach. This leads to the collapse of buildings and instability of people standing in the flow.

¹² The concept of hazard zones is also used in other loss of life models for both coastal and river floods (Ramsbottom *et al*, 2003) and dam break floods (McClelland and Bowles, 2002).

- **Zones with rapidly rising waters:** Due to the rapid rising of the water people are not able to reach shelter on higher grounds or higher floors of buildings. This is particularly hazardous in combination with larger water depths.
- **Remaining zone**: In this zone the flood conditions are more slow-onset, offering better possibilities to find shelter. Fatalities may occur amongst those that did not find shelter, or due to adverse health conditions associated with extended exposure of those in shelters.

For other types of floods, the situation and proportional area of the hazard zones might be different. For example for dam breaks in narrow canyons, the hazard zone associated with high flow velocities will be much larger.

The boundaries of the rapidly rising waters can be formed by line elements that create barriers, such as building rows, lowered streets, dikes, or steep contours. Also, depending on topography of the area and flow patterns, rapid rise of the water or high flow velocities are possible in local compartments or contractions, for example due to breaching of local dikes.



Figure 7-7: Proposed hazard zones for loss of life estimation. Numbers indicate locations.

Depending on the variability of flood characteristics it might be necessary to distinguish different locations in the exposed area to give a realistic estimate of loss of life. Each hazard zone can thereby be subdivided into **locations**. A location is defined in this context as an area for which flood characteristics (water depth, rate of rising, flow velocities) and area characteristics (e.g. shelter possibilities) can be assumed relatively homogeneous. For (relatively) flat areas, locations could include whole polders or villages. If there are large local variations within one village, e.g. in land level, it could be divided into multiple locations. If the output of detailed flood simulations is available, GIS¹³ methods can be used to assess the values of hydraulic characteristics for a certain spatial unit, e.g. per hectare.

7.4.2 Derivation of mortality functions based on historical flood events

In this section it is described how mortality functions for different hazard zones are derived by means of empirical analysis of historical flood events. The collected historical data are described and issues in the analysis of the data are outlined.

¹³ Geographical Information System

Derivation of mortality functions

For the three hazard zones **mortality functions** are derived to relate mortality fraction to flood characteristics. Empirical data from historical flood events are used to analyse whether a statistical relationship exists between the mortality fraction and certain flood characteristics. Not absolute fatality numbers, but mortality fractions are analysed, as it is expected that for a given set of flood conditions the mortality (fraction) is independent of the magnitude of the exposed population¹⁴. Mortality functions are derived by means of a least square fit. In order to achieve a robust statistical analysis only factors for which sufficient data are available are taken into account, such as water depth and the collapse of buildings (see discussion below). The correlation¹⁵ between observed and calculated mortality fractions are reported. The available dataset is split into data used for **calibration** (i.e. derivation) of the mortality functions and data used for validation (i.e. verification) of the proposed functions. In the validation phase it is checked whether the proposed method results in an accurate prediction of the number of fatalities for some historical events. Accurate is interpreted as follows: the deviation between the mortality calculated with the model and the observation should be no more than a factor 2 to 5 $(^{16})$, to be verified based on case studies. Finally, **model uncertainties** in the mortality functions are presented by means of the 95% confidence interval around the bestfit trendlines. The confidence interval is determined by means of a numerical bootstrap analysis of available data, see (van den Hengel, 2006) for details.

The occurrence of flood fatalities is determined by a large number of interacting factors such as individual vulnerabilities, human behaviour and local flood conditions. Mechanistic modelling of all these processes is not attempted here because there is not enough data to determine the influence of all these factors in an empirical way (see also section 5.6). Instead, the mortality fraction is related to the factors that are expected to have the largest influence on the extent of loss of life, e.g. the water depth. In this context it is also noted that the proposed empirical mortality functions do not directly account for the causes of death in a hazard zone. Still, it would be expected that certain causes of death dominate mortality in a specific hazard zone. For example, the causes of death associated with high velocities, such as human instability and collapse of buildings, will occur often in the breach zone. Nonetheless, multiple causes of death usually occur within one flood zone, due to local variations in behaviour, flood and area characteristics.

Compilation of a database with information regarding historical flood events

In order to derive empirical mortality functions a database with information regarding flood fatalities in historical flood events has been compiled. The database enables uniform storage of data and might provide a source for future research. Similar datasets exist for the Netherlands 1953 flood (Waarts, 1992; Jonkman, 2004) dam break floods (McClelland and Bowles, 2002) and for global disasters (EMDAT, 2004).

¹⁴ This implies the following: for example assume two locations A and B. A has ten times as many inhabitants as B. If A and B are exposed to identical flood characteristics, A will suffer ten times more fatalities than B.

¹⁵ Correlation gives a measure for linear dependence between two variables, in this case the calculated and the observed mortality.

¹⁶ This order of magnitude is chosen as deviations in existing methods for risk quantification in the chemical sector give a variation of a factor of around 10, as has been shown in benchmark studies by Ale *et al.* (2001).

In the flood fatalities database information has been included on a large number of factors that are relevant for the investigation of loss of life. The data categories that have been reported for each record include event characteristics (name, location, date), flood characteristics (depth, velocity, rise rate), information regarding warning, evacuation, shelter and collapse of buildings, and more descriptive information regarding circumstances and vulnerabilities of flood fatalities. Individual records have been created for locations for which conditions could be assumed relatively homogeneous, so one event can involve multiple locations. Information regarding the above-mentioned fields has been obtained from literature. To allow empirical analysis, mainly information from references that provide quantitative data is included. Table 7-3 summarizes the available information per event¹⁷. The flood fatalities database is included and described in more detail in appendix 7.III.

Table 7-3: Overview of events with data on loss of life reported in the flood fatalities database. Columns indicate the fields that have been reported quantitatively in the underlying sources. Abbreviations used: *b*-water depth; w – rise rate; F_B – collapse of buildings

Date	Event / cause	Country and area	Fatalities*	Exposed*	Nr. of locations	Reported factors	Reference
Events used	for calibration , i	.e. derivation of m	ortality funct	ions		1	1
9-9-1934	Typhoon Muroto	Japan, Osaka Bay	843	Unknown [#] (1,7million inhabitants)	10	h, F _B	Tsuchiya and Kawata, 1981
3-9-1950	Typhoon Jane	Japan, Osaka Bay	204	Unknown [#] (850.000 inhabitants)	10	h, F _B	Tsuchiya and Kawata, 1981
30-1-1953	Storm surge, North Sea	UK, East Coast	197	26.900	13	h, warning	Grieve 1959, Summers 1978
1-2-1953	Storm surge, North Sea	NL, Southwest	1795	206.400	91	<i>h, w, F_B,</i> duration, warning	Waarts, 1992; Duiser, 1982, Van den Hengel, 2006
26-9-1959	lse Bay typhoon	Japan, Ise Bay	4152	432.465	30	<i>h, F_B,</i> warning, sea wall breakdown ratio	Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980
8-9-1965	Hurricane Betsy	USA, SE Louisiana	51	Unknown [#] (200.000 inhabitants)	4	F _e , h	Boyd, 2005
Cased used	for validation						1
1912	River floods	UK, Norwich	4	2500	1	h	Ramsbottom <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003
August 1952	River floods	UK, Lynmouth	34	400	3	h	Ramsbottom <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003
25-1-1981	Flash floods	South Africa, Laingsburg	104	185	1	h	EMDAT, 2004
24-9-1999	Typhoon No. 18	Japan, Shiranui town	13	200	1	h	Takikawa, 2001 Kato, 2002
Autumn 2002	River floods	UK, Gowdall	0	250	1	h	Ramsbottom <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003

*: Included in the table are total numbers of fatalities and exposed as reported in the flood fatalities database in this study. These total numbers can thus be smaller than the overall event totals, because not all locations might have been included in the database. # - for these events the numbers of inhabitants are known, but the number of exposed cannot be estimated adequately due to the effects of evacuation.

¹⁷ Some of the events have in the database have been described in more detail in section 5.4 of this thesis.

In total the database covers over 165 locations, which have been abstracted from 11 events. The locations included could be considered as separate observations each representing different exposure conditions. The first five events in table 7-3 have been used for calibration (derivation of mortality functions), as these included large numbers of records. The other events, which included single locations, would add limited weight in the statistical analysis and have been used for validation of the model.

Only for a limited number of factors sufficient data are available to allow statistical analysis of their influence on loss of life. Predominantly for water depth a substantial number of records is available. Mortality functions will thereby primarily be derived based on water depth, which was also found to be an important determinant of mortality in historical flood events (see section 5.4). The influence of other factors of which data are available, e.g. rise rate, collapse of buildings and warning level, will be investigated. Due to lack of data, other potentially relevant factors, such as debris, flood duration or temperature, could not be included in the empirical analysis. The influence of these factors can be reflected in the (observed) mortality fractions, but is not included in the proposed mortality functions. The influence of these missing factors could thus (partly) explain differences between model predictions and observations, which is the model uncertainty associated with the mortality function.

Flow velocities are often not reported¹⁸. Especially near breaches, the velocities can be high and important for loss of life. Therefore the effects of flow velocity are included in the mortality function for the breach zone (see next section).

Issues in the collection and analysis of information from historical events

Issues in the collection of historical data and compilation of the database included:

- Uncertainties in the reported numbers: Apart from the data for the North Sea storm surge of 1953 it was difficult to check the accuracy of the reported numbers.
- Determination of representative values for flood characteristics, such as a representative water depth, for a location. Values have been mainly abstracted from underlying sources, but due to local variations¹⁹ it could be difficult to determine a representative value. Several assumptions that were used in the analysis of these factors are described in appendix 7.III.

Despite these issues the compiled flood fatalities database is believed to be a valuable source for research on flood fatalities. In the future, further completion of the database with information for other events is encouraged.

The database includes events covering different conditions, periods and regions. The data have been joined in one dataset for the derivation of mortality functions. Below, it is discussed how temporal and regional differences between events and inclusion of evacuation could affect the outcomes.

¹⁸ Flow velocities will exhibit large local variations depending on topography and local orientation of objects, such as buildings. Therefore it is difficult to determine a representative value of flow velocity for a larger area.

¹⁹ Within one location circumstances may vary significantly, for example due to variation in land levels within one village. If large variation exists within an area, than it has been divided into multiple locations.

Firstly, it can be questioned to what extent **regional differences** in area characteristics have affected mortality for the events included. Important factors include the number of higher buildings and their quality, the availability of higher grounds and other objects (e.g. trees). For the selected events in Netherlands, UK and Japan, larger low-lying areas have been flooded (polders) with all limited possibilities for shelter on higher grounds. Also the quality of buildings and the availability of higher buildings (as shelters) is believed to be comparable for the events. Thus, the events used for quantitative analysis (i.e. the flood events for Japan, Netherlands and UK) are believed to be relatively homogeneous in this respect.

Secondly, **temporal differences** between events could affect the outcomes. Many of the events occurred in the 1950's (or even earlier). Developments since then may have reduced the validity of these datasets for loss of life estimation for contemporary floods. Firstly, main changes concern the possibilities of evacuation, as prediction, warning, communication and transportation systems have improved. Also, the quality of buildings has been improved and nowadays a larger number of higher buildings is available for shelter. McClelland and Bowles (2002) conclude that, if these two factors (1) warning, evacuation and 2) building quality) are taken into account, life loss patterns appear consistent and similar across time. The influence of these factors is analysed separately in sections 7.4.6 (warning) and 7.4.7 (collapse of buildings).

Thirdly, during the considered historical events **evacuation** might have reduced the number of people exposed, while information regarding evacuation was not reported and included in the dataset. The events that have been used for calibration occurred unexpectedly (often at night) and no organised evacuation could take place²⁰. In these cases it is reasonable to assume that the whole population in the flooded area has been exposed.

7.4.3 Mortality in the breach zone

Introduction and past work

Reports from historical floods show that, if breaching occurs in populated areas, mortality can be high in the area behind the breach. Especially due to the high flow velocities²¹ and forces associated with breach inflow, buildings can collapse and people can lose their stability.

Some authors have investigated loss of life near breaches. Waarts (1992) assumes that all people present within a circular area with a radius of twice the breach width do not survive. Ramsbottom *et al.* (2005) simulated breaching of water defences in the context of a study on flood risks to people. For different breach discharges (and associated water heads) they plot a semi-quantitative hazard rating as a function of the distance to the breach. Together with information regarding the area vulnerability, the hazard rating could be converted into an expected mortality. Their results show that the risks to people rapidly decrease with distance from the breach. For the Ise Bay floods in Japan in 1959, Tsuchiya and Yasuda (1980) report mortalities and sea wall breakdown ratio. The sea wall breakdown ratios is the fraction of total sea wall or flood defence length that has been destroyed or breached. These data are shown for different locations in figure 7-8.

²⁰ For example for the 1953 floods in the Netherlands it is mentioned in (Rijkswaterstaat, 1961) that most of the people stayed in their homes and that only locally refuge action was taken.

²¹ Just behind the breach flow velocities have been reported from 3 to 8 m/s (Waarts, 1992).



Figure 7-8: Relationship between sea wall breakdown ratio and mortality for the Ise Bay typhoon in 1959 in Japan (data: (Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980))

Although these results indicate some relationship between sea wall breakdown ratio and mortality, the variations are large. This could relate to differences between locations in the presence of population near breaches. If breaching occurs near a densely populated area sea wall breakdown ratio could be low, while mortality is high. Therefore it is necessary to take into account the location of the breach, the characteristics of flood flow and the actual presence of people in the area behind the breach.

Proposed mortality function for the breach zone

None of the available sources relates mortality in the breach zone to the relevant flood characteristics (depth and velocity). Thus the available case study data do not provide enough evidence for empirical derivation of mortality functions for the breach zone. Therefore, an approach is proposed based on information from literature. People's instability and damages to buildings are both generally estimated as a function of the depth-velocity product. Clausen (1989) proposes a criterion for the damage to buildings in flow conditions. The RESCDAM study (Karvonen *et al.*, 2000) supports these findings and recommends them for use in assessing potential structural damages of Finnish houses. To-tal destruction of masonry, concrete and brick houses occurs if the product of water depth and flow velocity²² exceeds the following criteria simultaneously:

$$hv \ge 7m^2/s$$
 and $v \ge 2m/s$ (Eq. 7-3)

It is proposed to use this function to define the boundaries of the breach zone. For the characteristic flood pattern following a breach in a flood defence (see figure 7-7) velocities are high mainly near the breach and more moderate in other parts of the polder. It is noted that the above criterion can also be used for other areas where the depth velocity product exceeds the above threshold. It is assumed that most people remain indoors during the flood and that people do not survive when the building collapses. Then, it can be assumed that mortality in the breach zone equals $F_D=1$. This assumption may be conservative as

²² The hv product is related to moment. In addition, horizontal force could be important for collapse of buildings, resulting in a critical hv^2 product (see also discussion in section 6.3)

those who will be picked up by the flood may still have survival chances (see also the discussion in section 6.3.4)

Simple approach for the estimation of the size of the breach zone

The size of the breach zone can be estimated with a simplified analytical approach. Firstly, we assume a constant breach discharge Q_{breach} [m³/s] and a radial development of the flood front behind the breach. Now the discharge at radius (Q(R))can be expressed as a function of water depth and flow velocity at radius R [m] (see figure 7-9).

$$Q(R) = \pi Rh(R)v(R) \tag{Eq. 7-4}$$



Figure 7-9: Schematic view of the breach zone.

A volume equilibrium is used, while assuming a constant breach discharge and neglecting storage of water in the flooded area behind the breach. Then, the radius of the area where the critical depth velocity product ($hv_c=7m^2/s$) is exceeded ($R_c - [m]$)can be approximated as follows²³:

$$Q_{breach} = Q(R) \implies R_C = Q_{breach} / (\pi h v_C) = C_c Q_{breach}$$
 (Eq. 7-5)

Where C_c - constant which equals: $1/(\pi h v_c) = 0.045 \text{ s/m}^2$

The proposed relationship can be compared with more detailed hydraulic simulations²⁴ of flood flow behind the breach. Flood characteristics have been calculated for different configurations of:

- The difference between outside water level and land level in the flooded area;
- The soil material of the dike (clay, sand);
- The hydraulic roughness of the area behind the breach.

In that analysis the size and shape of the area in which the critical depth velocity product is exceeded has been examined. The results show that the breach zone for a flat polder approximately has a circular shape. For both approaches the radius of the breach zone with 100% mortality is plotted as a function of breach discharge in figure 7-10. The analytical and simulation results show relatively good agreement; differences might be related to neglecting the volume storage and the effects of breach growth in the analytical approach.

²³ Note that in addition it should be checked whether the additional condition (ν >2m/s) is fulfilled.

²⁴ Source of the model calculations: Appendix 7 of (Jonkman, 2004).



Figure 7-10: Radius of the breach zone as a function of breach discharge²³.

In combination with a breach growth and flood simulation model, the proposed approach can be used to estimate the size of breach zone and consequently the number of fatalities, see for example Kawaguchi *et al.* (2005). For the further development of an empirical function for mortality in the breach zone it is recommended to collect data on historical death rates near breaches and to relate these to breach size, and local flood characteristics.

7.4.4 Mortality in the zone with rapidly rising water

Rapidly rising water is hazardous as people may be surprised and trapped at lower floors of buildings and have little time to reach higher floors or shelters. The combination of rapid rise of waters with larger water depths is particularly hazardous, as people on higher floors or buildings will also be endangered. Observations from historical events also show that this zone is often characterised by a large number of collapsed buildings (see section 7.4.7).

Data on fatalities caused by rapidly rising waters are available for the floods in the Netherlands in 1953 (12 locations), UK 1953 (1 location) and Japan 1959 (2 locations). Based on available (descriptive) information the flood flows at these locations have been categorised as being rapidly rising.

Relationship between rise rate and mortality

Firstly, the relationship between mortality and rise rate has been examined. For 8 locations in the 1953 disaster in the Netherlands, Waarts (1992) derived quantitative estimates of the rise rate from eyewitness accounts. Figure 7-11 shows observed mortality fractions as a function of rise rate for these 8 locations, indicating no direct relationship between these variables. All the points categorised as being in the rapidly rising zone, had rise rates of 0,5 m/hr. This value is proposed as a first conservative threshold for the distinction between the rapidly rising and remaining zone. However, figure 7-11 indicates that given the lack of data the threshold value could be chosen anywhere between 0,5 and 4 m/hr. Further collection of data from historical floods is recommended to improve the foundation of the threshold value.



Figure 7-11: Mortality and rate of rising for eight locations from the 1953 storm surge floods in the Netherlands.

Relationship between water depth and mortality

Figure 7-12 shows the relationship between the water depth and mortality, indicating a relationship between these variables. This implies that the combination of water depth and rise rate is important. A bestfit trendline is found for the lognormal distribution²⁵:

$$F_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$\mu_{N} = 1,46 \qquad \sigma_{N} = 0,28$$
(Eq. 7-6)
$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$(Eq. 7-6)$$

$$f_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$



Figure 7-12: Relationship between mortality and water depth for locations with rapidly rising water. Right hand figure shows mortality calculated with the model as a function of the observed mortality.

²⁵ As has been shown in section 2 the lognormal distribution can also be expressed as a probit function, with: constants a=-0,21; b=3,57 n=1 and $Pr=a+b*\ln(b)$.

For the whole dataset²⁶ this relationship gives a good correlation between observations and results of the model (R²=0,76). Additionally, another good fit (R²=0,74) is obtained with an exponential distribution (A=4,57; B=0,69 in equation 2-6), which is shown with a dashed line in the graph. The exponential function has the disadvantages that a) F_D >0 if b=0 and b) it approximates F_D =1 very rapidly for higher water depths. The benefit of the lognormal function is that it is also used to model human response of exposure to other substances and that it asymptotically approaches F_D =1 for higher water depths (see also the interpretation below). The 50% mortality value is reached for a water depth of 4,3m (corresponding to a value of exp(μ_N)).

For the lognormal dose response function model uncertainties are indicated in figure 7-13 by means of the 2,5% and 97,5% confidence intervals. As a result, a conditional distribution of mortality can be given for every water depth. Uncertainties are larger for higher water depths as no data are available for these conditions. For depths between 2 and 5 meters the uncertainty bounds are approximately a factor ½ above and below the average mortality function.



Figure 7-13: 2,5% and 97,5% confidence intervals representing model uncertainty for the mortality function for the zone with rapidly rising water.

Interpretation of the course of the mortality function²⁷

The course of the lognormal mortality function can be interpreted as having different stages. The stages are related to the water level relative to the typical building height²⁸, see figure 7-14 and Boyd *et al.* (2005) for further discussion. Initially, as the water rises to about head or first floor level, the probability of death will increase as people outside buildings are overwhelmed by the water (0 to 2 metres). In the second stage (2 -5 metres) mortality rises quicker, as people who sought refuge on the higher floors and roofs of houses may also be exposed to floodwaters. Finally, for higher water depths (> 5 metres) the function

²⁶ A first analysis of data for the Netherlands 1953 flood results in a correlation of R^2 =0,75. It is found that the correlation slightly improves when data from the other events (UK 1953 and Japan 1959) is added.

²⁷ The ideas in this paragraph are based on personal communication with Ezra Boyd, LSU Hurricane Center.

²⁸ IPET The influence on mortality of the water depth relative to building height is also included in the loss of life model for the flooding of New Orleans by IPET (2006), see also section 6.

is expected to approach 100% mortality²⁹ asymptotically when the water depth exceeds the roof level of houses, which is generally 5 to 7 metres. Additional support for the course of the function for higher water depths is provided by an analysis of loss of life in historical dam break floods (McClelland and Bowles, 2002), see also figure 7-12. They found that when the water depth reaches about 6,5 metres (20 feet) mortality becomes 100%. This corresponds to the upper right part of the lognormal distribution deduced here. By combining the above stages an S-shaped lognormal curve is found. To strengthen the empirical basis of this curve further collection of data is recommended, especially for larger water depths.



Figure 7-14: Mortality function for zone with rapidly rising water, relative to water depth and building height (Boyd *et al.*, 2005)

7.4.5 Mortality in the remaining zone

A remaining zone is distinguished to account for fatalities outside the breach and rapidly rising zone. In this zone the flood conditions are more slow-onset (w<0,5 m/hr), offering better possibilities to find shelter. Fatalities may occur amongst those that did not find shelter, or due to adverse health conditions associated with extended exposure of those in shelters.

The first five case histories in table 7-3 (Japan 1934, 1950, 1959, Netherlands and United Kingdom 1953, US 1965) provide data on mortality in the remaining zone for 93 locations. Mortality fractions are plotted as a function of water depth in figure 7-15.

²⁹ The expectation of 100% mortality for larger water depths is in contradiction with the assumption of Boyd *et al.* (2005). They assume that mortality will reach some asymptote ($F_D=0,34$) as "there are always survivors".



Figure 7-15: Mortality as function of water depth for the remaining zone. Data from different flood events have been included.

The following mortality function is found for the lognormal distribution³⁰:

$$F_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$\mu_{N} = 7,60 \qquad \sigma_{N} = 2,75$$
(Eq. 7-7)

A very weak correlation between observations and model calculation of $R^2=0.09$ is obtained. Confidence intervals for model uncertainty are indicated in figure 7-16.



Figure 7-16: 2,5% and 97,5% confidence intervals representing model uncertainty for the mortality function for the remaining zone with rapidly rising water

³⁰ A slightly higher correlation of R2=0,10 is found for the exponential distribution, with A=12,4 and B=1,99. Given consistency with the format of the function for the zone with rapidly rising waters and similarity to other applications of the dose response function (see section 2) the use of lognormal function is preferred.

Discussion

The correlation for the mortality function for the remaining zone is very poor, as there is a large variation in observed mortalities. The derived mortality function gives a poor fit for absolute mortality, but it provides insight in the order of magnitude of mortality, which is generally between 0 and 0,02.

The poor correlation is influenced by some outliers with high mortality. For example during the floods at the east coast of the UK in 1953, 2 of the 37 inhabitants of Wallasea Island did not survive resulting in a 0,054 mortality. Descriptions of the 1953 floods in the Netherlands (Slager, 1992) show that locations that received no warning had high mortalities. The level of warning is expected to influence the possibilities to find local shelter and thus influences loss of life³¹. This issue is investigated further in the next section.

7.4.6 Influence of warning and shelter on mortality

When people cannot evacuate from the exposed area, timely warning may still play a key role in preventing loss of life. It will allow people some time to find shelter on higher grounds or in buildings. The relationship between the level of warning and mortality is investigated below.

Classification method and available data

Information regarding warning levels is available for two of the historical events. Firstly, Tsuchiya and Yasuda (1980) investigated the relationship between risk to life and warning for the Ise Bay typhoon in 1959 in Japan for 27 locations. The authors categorised the local level of warning for 27 locations and used the ranking system indicated in table 7-4. They found that mortality was high at locations with insufficient warning, but they did not consider the combined influence of warning and flood depth.

Warning Rank	Description
A	Evacuation order was proclaimed beforehand and people could take refuge before flood
В	Warning was given several hours before flood, but preparation actions could not be completely finished
С	Warning was given shortly before or just after the flood and some people managed to take action
D	No warning given, warning perceived by hardly anyone

Table 7-4: Classification of flood warning levels according to Tsuchiya and Yasuda (1980)

The second case concerns the 1953 floods in the Netherlands. A large-scale and organised evacuation was not possible, but this disaster did not occur completely unexpected at all locations. In many of the flooded locations some sort of warning (e.g. by church bells) was given and people had the possibility to move to higher grounds or buildings. Based on qualitative descriptions by (SNSD, 1956; WGGO, 1954; Slager, 1992) the warning levels for 39 locations have been rated with the classification system proposed in table 8-4. All observations in the zone with rapidly rising waters had a poor level of warning (C) or no warning at all (D). No further analysis is carried out for this zone.

³¹ Another cause of the outliers in the remaining zone could be the classification procedure used to identify whether a location was in the remaining zone or rapidly rising zone. A location was categorised as being in the remaining zone when no information was available on circumstances. This could imply that, due to lack of information, locations were assigned to the remaining zone while actually rapidly rising waters occurred.
Effects of warning on flood mortality for the remaining zone

Figure 7-17 shows the relationship between water depth, flood mortality and level of warning for locations from the two case studies (Netherlands 1953 and Japan 1959).



Figure 7-17: Relationship between mortality (logarithmic scale) and water depth for different levels of warning. The line shows the mortality function for the remaining zone derived in section 7.4.5.

It shows that observed mortalities in the remaining zone were highest where a) little (C) or no warning (D) was given and b) where water depths were high. Further analysis shows that many outliers in figure 7-15 had a poor level of warning or no warning at all. For other outliers (e.g. Wallasea Island) no information is available on the level of warning. The above results suggest that the level warning has an influencing on mortality in the remaining zone. However, differentiation of mortality functions by the level of warning does not lead to an improvement of correlation between observations and prediction. Further research in this direction is recommended.

7.4.7 Influence of the collapse of buildings on mortality

Introduction and past work

Historical flood events show that death rates are high where buildings collapse and fail to provide a safe shelter (see section 5.5). Especially wooden buildings, mobile homes, informal, temporary and fragile structures (including campsites and other tented dwellings) may give rise to significant loss of life (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003). Particularly during more severe and unexpected coastal floods, such as those in the UK and Netherlands in 1953, building vulnerability has been an important factor influencing the large numbers of deaths. It is noted that the collapse of buildings is also a significant factor in the number of deaths resulting from other events, such as earthquakes³² and windstorms.

³² Loss of life caused by earthquakes is strongly related to collapse of buildings. Extensive literature is available for collapse of buildings under earthquake loads, see for example the HAZUS Technical manual (FEMA, 1999). This model assumes that 5-10% of the people in the collapsed buildings are immediately killed, and large percentages (60 - 70%) are injured. Kanda and Shah (1997) show that the ratio between fatalities and collapsed houses equals 0,1. However, for floods mortality ratios for people in collapsed buildings are believed to be higher. Many people will drown after collapse, and those trapped in the debris will have minimal chances of surviving without immediate rescue.

Several authors have investigated the collapse of buildings in floods. Black (1975) calculated the maximal bending moments due to hydrostatic and dynamic pressure for timber frame houses. Clausen (1989) derived damage criteria for brick and masonry buildings, in the format of a critical depth velocity product leading to wall collapse. Kelman (2002) and Kelman and Spence (2004) investigated physical vulnerability of residential properties in coastal areas and added the influence of rise rate. Roos (2003) developed a comprehensive probabilistic model for collapse of buildings, which takes into account two failure modes that can lead to partial or full collapse of a building. These are 1) the scour of foundations 2) the failure of walls. The model of Roos considers hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads, as well as the impacts of waves and pounding debris. Also the strength (resistance) of the building type is considered. A general weakness of these buildings vulnerability models concerns their limited practical validation. Most of the presented relationships are based on theory or scale model tests.

Some work has considered the relationship between the collapse of buildings and loss of life in floods, e.g. in the field of dam breaks (Johnstone *et al.*, 2005; McClelland and Bowles, 2002). Graham (1999) shows that for dam breaks the highest fatality rates occurred in the zones where residences were destroyed. Zhai (2003) proposed a relationship between the number of flooded buildings and the loss of life for historical floods in Japan, but does not consider the actual collapse of buildings. Bern *et al.* (1993) and Mushtaque *et al.* (1993) show for the 1991 Bangladesh cyclone that death rates vary strongly between house types (see also section 5.4.3). Some overall ratios between the loss of life (N) and the number of collapsed buildings (N_B) for some historical floods are given in table 7-5.

floods				
Flood	Fatalities (<i>N</i>)	Nr. of collapsed	Ratio: <i>N/N</i>	Reference

buildings (N_p)

3300

1705

0.55

0 47

Slager, 1992

Toughive and Kowata 1001

Table 7-5: Relationship between loss of life and total number of buildings collapsed for some histo	rical
floods	

1835

010

Multito typhoon, Japan 1934	045	1705	0,47	TSuchiya ahu Nawata, 1901			
Malpasset dam failure	423	3 150		Johnstone et al., 2003			
Typhoon Jane, 1950, Japan	204	4807	0,04	Tsuchiya and Kawata, 1981			
Table 7-5 shows that the ratio (fatalities / buildings collapsed) differs between events. As a							
single factor the collapse of buildings cannot be used as a predictive variable for loss of life.							
Additional conditions have to be considered, such as the actual presence of people and the							
level of warning. The number of fatalities per collapsed building will be high if an unex-							
0		1 1	0	0			

pected flood occurs, as possibilities to escape out of the area will be limited. For example the Malpasset dam failure occurred unexpectedly and there was very little possibility for refuge actions in the narrow valley. This resulted in a relatively high number of deaths per collapsed building.

Relationship between the collapse of buildings and loss of life for the Netherlands 1953 floods

This relationship has been investigated further, using available data on the collapse of buildings from different sources (SNSD, 1956; WGGO, 1954; Duiser, 1988). Figure 7-18 plots the relationship between the fraction of the total number of buildings that collapsed

Netherlands 1953

Jonon 1024

Murata tunhaan

 $(F_{\rm B})$ and mortality $(F_{\rm D})$, for locations in the zone with rapidly rising water and the remaining zones.



Figure 7-18: Relationship between the fraction of buildings collapsed and mortality by location for the 1953 floods in the Netherlands.

For the zone with rapidly rising water a rather strong correlation ($R^2=0.73$) exists between collapse of buildings and mortality. The function can be approximated with $F_D=0.37F_B$. A rapid rise of the water leads to pressure differentials between water levels inside and outside the building (Kelman, 2002). This effect, in combination with the effects of water depth and flow velocity, could contribute to the collapse of buildings. In the above linear function mortality becomes 0 if collapse of buildings reduces to $F_B=0$. However, it is still likely that fatalities will occur due to other causes. Therefore an asymptotic relationship is assumed and schematically shown in figure 7-18.

As a first order validation, the obtained relationship is compared with observations from the flooding of Lynmouth in the UK in 1952 as reported in (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003). The number of houses destroyed amounts 38 of an estimated total of 165 houses, leading to a collapsed building ratio of F_B =0,23. With the relationship derived above, mortality is estimated at F_D =0,37*0,23=0,085, which is equal to the actually reported mortality of F_D =0,085.

Figure 7-18 shows that for the remaining zone a less strong relationship exists between collapse of buildings and mortality. In this zone the flood are more slow-onset, and people have more time to find shelter at safer locations. Based on these findings it is assumed that the collapse of buildings is only a significant factor in the zone with rapidly rising waters.

Modification of the mortality function for the factor collapse of buildings

During the 1953 floods many of the collapsed buildings were working class houses of poor quality. Current building quality is better, and it is investigated below how this can be accounted for in the mortality function. Based on (Asselman, 2005) it is estimated that improvement of building quality to today's standards would lead to a reduction in the

collapse of buildings of approximately 57%³³. The above analysis indicated a linear relationship between collapse ratio and mortality for the zone with rapidly rising water. Then, observed mortality fractions for the 1953 storm surge in the Netherlands can be scaled with the same factor. With these transformed observations a new mortality function can be derived, which gives an estimate for the situation with current building quality, see figure 7-19.A lognormal function is obtained with parameters μ_N =1,68, σ_N =0,37. It is noted that this (corrected) function is mainly based on the situation in the Netherlands. For other regions, where other building types are used, different relationships could be developed.



Figure 7-19: Mortality function that takes into account reduction of mortality due to improvement of building quality to current standards, for the zone with rapidly rising water. Figure also shows the original mortality function derived in section 7.4.4.

7.4.8 Summary of the proposed method for mortality estimation

This section briefly summarizes the application of the derived mortality functions. After analysis of the flood characteristics (section 7.2) and the number of people exposed (section 7.3), mortality for the different hazard zones can be estimated as follows:

Mortality in the breach zone:

$$F_D = 1$$
 if $hv \ge 7m^2/s$ and $v \ge 2m/s$

Mortality in the zone with rapidly rising water:

$$F_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$\mu_{N} = 1,46 \qquad \sigma_{N} = 0,28$$

if $(h \ge 2,1m \quad and \quad w \ge 0,5m/hr)$ and $(hv < 7m^{2}/s \quad or \quad v < 2m/s)$

³³ Asselman (2005) shows that if all housed had consisted of brick cavity walls, collapse ratio would have been about 20% lower. If all houses had made of concrete the reduction would have been 93%. For a first order analysis of the current situation we assume a 50-50 distribution of buildings over both building types, More detailed assessment of distributions of building types and their collapse ratio will be needed to obtain a better estimate.

The function for the zone with rapidly rising water is only used when it gives higher mortality fractions than the function for the remaining zone, so for water depths larger than 2,1m. The mortality function for the zone with rapidly rising water can be corrected for improved building quality to current standards. For a first order estimate of this effect the following constants can be assumed in the lognormal mortality function: μ_N =1,68, σ_N =0,37

Mortality in the remaining zone:

For remaining areas, mortality can be estimated as follows:

$$F_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N} \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}} \right)$$

$$\mu_{N} = 7,60 \qquad \sigma_{N} = 2,75$$

if $(w < 0,5m/hr \quad or \quad (w \ge 0,5m/hr \quad and \quad h < 2,1m)$ and $(hv < 7m^{2}/s \quad or \quad v < 2m/s)$

The range of flood conditions for which the above mortality functions can be applied are indicated in figure 7-20. In addition, uncertainty bounds for these mortality functions have been proposed to account for model uncertainties.



Figure 7-20: Area of application of mortality functions, as a function water depth, rise rate and flow velocity.

The proposed mortality functions can be easily implemented into computer code, for example the standardised damage model used in the Netherlands (Kok *et al.*, 2005). The developed mortality functions, which mainly use water depth as an input parameter, are conceptually similar to the depth-dependent damage functions that are used in many damage models to estimate the extent of economic damage.

Discussion

The outcomes of this method are sensitive to the value of the rise rate of the water. The proposed approach leads to an increase of mortality if the rise if the rise rate exceeds 0,5 m/hr. The value of this threshold has been chosen based on a limited amount of data (see figure 7-11). Further data collection and investigation of the influence of the rise rate are recommended. When more data becomes available, for example synthetic data from simu-

lations of historical floods, mortality can be statistically related to the combination of water depth and rise rate³⁴. In this case it is no longer needed to separate the zone with rapidly rising water and the remaining zones, but one continuous mortality function can be derived for the whole range of rise rates and water depths. An example of such a function is given in figure 7-21a. The proposed method also distinguishes a discrete breach zone (i.e. the boundaries of the breach zone are defined by deterministic value of the depth-velocity product). When more data become available a more continuous mortality function could be derived which relates probability of death to the combination of depth and velocity. An example of such a relationship is derived based on the test data for human instability from Abt *et al.* (1989), see figure 7-21b.



a) Possible format mortality function as a function of depth and rise rate



b) Possible format of mortality function for breach zone as a function of depth and velocity

Figure 7-21: Possible formats of future mortality functions

In the proposed approach three hazard zones are distinguished based on the influence of flow velocity and rise rate. Depth dependent mortality functions have been proposed for these zones. One alternative application would be the derivation of one depth dependent mortality function based on all available data, see appendix 7.IV. However, it is found that the proposed approach (based on the three zones) gives the best fit with available data.

³⁴ Some authors (van Gelder and Kraak, 1994; Vrouwenvelder and Steenhuis, 1997; Kok *et al.*, 2002) have proposed functions, which contained the combined influence of water depth and rise rate. However, the influence of rise rate was mainly quantified using assumptions and expert judgement and it did not rely on historical data.

7.5 Discussion of the proposed method for loss of life estimation

Firstly, a first order validation of the method is presented (7.5.1). Consequently, the main uncertainties and sensitivities (7.5.2) and the accuracy of the method (7.5.3) are discussed. A comparison with other models (7.5.4) and a discussion regarding applications (7.5.5) are also included.

7.5.1 Validation of the method

As a first order validation, the outcomes of the proposed method for loss of life estimation are compared with observations from some historical flood events. Five flood events included in the flood fatalities database are investigated. The selected events concern a flash flood (Laingsburg, South Africa, 1984), a coastal flood (Shiranui Town, Japan, 1999) and three river floods in the UK. Table 7-6 compares the results following from the proposed model with observed mortality and fatality numbers. Appendix 7.V gives the input information used for calculations of the number of fatalities.

Flood	Flood type	Observatio	ons	Method		
		Exposed	Fatalities	Mortality	Fatalities	Mortality
Norwich river floods, 1912	River	1250*	4	1,6.10 ⁻³	5	3,6.10 ⁻³
Lynmouth floods, 1952	River / flash	400	34	0,085	11	0,028
Laingsburg, South Africa, 1981	Flash	185	104	0,56	73	0,39
Shiranui Town, Japan, 1999	Coastal	200	13	0,065	7	0,035
Gowdall river floods, 2002	River	25*	0	0	0,07	2,8.10 ⁻³

Table 7-6: Comparison between reported mortality figures for some historical flood events and the results calculated with the model.

*: Based on descriptions by (Ramsbottom et al., 2003) evacuation has been assumed for the Norwich and Gowdall events.

Overall, the results show good agreement between observations and model results. For all events mortality (and the number of fatalities) are estimated within a bandwidth of a factor 2, except for the Lynmouth case³⁵.

Van den Hengel (2006) applied the proposed mortality functions³⁶ to give a hindcast of the consequences of the 1953 storm surge flood in the Netherlands. As input for flood characteristics he used available flood simulations of the disaster. The exposed population was estimated based on historical maps and population data. He found that it was possible to give a reasonable approximation of the total number of fatalities for the whole disaster (1298 observed fatalities in the considered areas vs. 1705 predicted). However, locally (e.g. per village) large deviations existed between the observed and the predicted number of fatalities. These deviations are due to various factors including: deviations between the observed and the simulated water depth and the sensitivity of outcomes for the rise rate.

³⁵ This is believed due to the fact that many fatalities occurred near breaches. Ramsbottom *et al.* (2003) mention that 38 houses were destroyed. However, due to lack of data on flood conditions the breach zone is not accounted for in the calculations with the model, leading to an expected underestimation of loss of life with the model.

³⁶ Actually van den Hengel (2006) used the mortality functions from Jonkman (2004). These are similar to the mortality functions proposed in this thesis.

7.5.2 Uncertainties and sensitivities

The proposed method combines the assessment of flood effects, analysis of evacuation and estimation of mortality amongst those exposed. Thus, the eventual loss of life estimate results from a chain of calculation steps and uncertainties in individual steps can propagate through this chain. Some main uncertainties and sensitivities that are associated with limited knowledge are outlined below.

Firstly, several uncertainties are associated with the location and timing of breach. Although flood simulation models predict the flood development reasonably well, **the loca-tion of the breach(es)** and the number of breaches³⁷ concern important uncertainties. To gain insight in the effects of different breaches multiple flood scenarios can be elaborated in the risk analysis. Also the timing of the flood initiation and the resulting available time are very important for estimating the possibilities for evacuation and the number of people exposed. Due to uncertainty in the breach initiation, estimates of the time available are uncertain (see also table 7-1).

Secondly, loss of life estimates are sensitive to **the rise rate** of rising, as the mortality function becomes steep when w>0.5m/hr. As the choice of this threshold value is based on limited data (see figure 7-8), further data collection and consequent investigation of the influence of the rise rate are recommended. For the zone with rapidly rising waters the collapse of buildings is an important determinant of loss of life. Further investigations on the combined influence of the collapse of buildings and the influence of the rise rate are recommended.

Uncertainty bounds have been derived for the mortality functions. These reflect model uncertainties, e.g. due to the fact that several relevant factors are not included in the model. Examples of such potentially relevant factors are waves and water temperature. Further data collection and analysis of other factors could reduce this model uncertainty. The mortality function for the remaining zone gives a poor correlation with observations. Preliminary analysis suggests that the level of warning has an influence on mortality in the remaining zone.

Further research on the factors mentioned above could improve the estimates of loss of life to some extent. A practical issue is that a lot of empirical information will be needed to evaluate the influence of various factors. The availability of such data is limited and moreover the data are the byproduct of the enormous human suffering due to events that we strive to avoid. In addition, it is expected that, even when the influence of several factors can be predicted more adequately, the mortality at a location under a given set of flood conditions remains inherently uncertain to some extent. This is due to the fact that human behaviour, which has a large influence on loss of life, will differ per event. Experiences with circumstances and behaviour during a past flood disaster are not necessarily representative for a future flood event. Finally, in defining the need for further research it has to be considered how much the inclusion of additional factors in the model improves the accuracy of the eventual estimate of loss of life, as will be discussed further in the next section.

³⁷ A more extensive discussion of the possibility of multiple (simultaneous) breaches is included in section 9.3.1.

7.5.3 Discussion regarding the accuracy of the proposed method

In this section issues related to the accuracy of the proposed method are discussed.

The above validation shows that, with the proposed method, it is possible to predict the observed loss of life during historical events within a bandwidth of a factor 2. The method thereby gives an accurate³⁸, but indicative estimate of the overall loss of life caused by a flood event.

The derived mortality functions and the outcomes of the method show similarity with the indicators for average event mortality that have been derived from global event data (see section 5.2 and 5.3). Average event mortality for river floods equals $F_D \approx 0,005$ and for coastal floods $F_D \approx 0,01$. This corresponds to the order of magnitude of mortality that follows from the function for the remaining zone, where mortality is generally between $F_D=0$ and 0,01 for smaller water depths. Global statistics show that mortality becomes larger if the water becomes deep and rises rapidly, e.g. for flash floods. This is also reflected in the steeper mortality function for the zone with rapidly rising waters.

An added value of the proposed method is that it gives insight in the factors that influence the mortality at a more local level inside an area affected by a flood event. For example, local mortality is higher than the average event mortality near breaches and in areas with large water depths. Thereby the method enables the analysis of the contribution of a location to the overall consequences. It also allows the analysis of the effects of measures that have a local influence on consequence and risk levels. Examples are measures in the field of spatial planning and the use of compartment dikes.

Several uncertainties are associated with the quantitative influence of factors that determine mortality at a local level, such as the rise rate. It is expected that further investigations could improve the prediction of mortality for single locations within one event, but it is not expected to have a substantial influence on the mortality and loss of life estimates for the whole event. Experiences with the proposed model show that under- and overestimates of mortality for different locations within one event generally compensate each other, so that the event mortality is approximated well (see e.g. (van den Hengel, 2006)). In defining the need for further research it is thus important to consider how much the inclusion of additional factors in the model improves the accuracy of the eventual estimate of loss of life. An important related issue is the role of loss of life estimates in the decisionmaking regarding flood defence strategies and protection levels. This is further discussed in section 9.5.5.

7.5.4 Comparison with other loss of life models

It is interesting to compare the proposed loss of life model with some other methods that have been recently developed. Figure 7-22 schematically indicates some models with respect to their level of detail and modelling principles (see section 6 for a review of other models and an explanation of terms).

³⁸ Accurate is interpreted here as follows: the deviation between the mortality calculated with the model and the observation should be no more than a factor 2 to 5, see also section 7.4.2.



Figure 7-22: Comparison of the proposed method with other models for loss of life estimation (based on Johnstone *et al.*, 2005).

The models of Utah and BC Hydro use detailed local data and capture the mechanisms that lead to mortality. The model developed by Ramsbotom *et al.* (2005) uses a similar level of detail as the model proposed in this study, but mortality functions are not based on empirical analyses of historical data. In contrast to the purely empirical models of DeKay and McClelland (1993) and Graham (1999) the proposed model in this study also contains some more mechanistic elements, such as collapse of buildings, shelter and evacuation. The modelling approach used in the IPET study for New Orleans (IPET, 2006) is relatively similar³⁹ to the approach proposed in this study.

The benefit of the approach proposed in this study is that it is relatively simple. It is not more complex than needed to obtain an overall estimate of loss of life, because the influence of most relevant factors is quantified based on empirical data. In addition, the proposed mortality functions have some physical basis, i.e. they are related to the processes and mechanisms that are associated with loss of life. The dependency of mortality on flood depth shows that the probability of shelter decreases and drowning becomes more likely with increasing water depth. The depth-velocity criterion that has been proposed for the breach zone that is related to the physical mechanisms that lead to collapse of buildings and human instability in flood flows.

Possibilities for a more simulation-based approach for loss of life estimation

The proposed approach in this study does not capture individual behaviour and the individual causes of loss of life. Possibilities for a more mechanistic approach of loss of life estimation following up on the proposed approach are briefly discussed below, as impetus for further work in that direction.

The currently proposed model is static, i.e. it assumes that people are either evacuated from the area or they are present at their original location. Interacting dynamic processes, especially between escape and flood development, can be important for the number of fatalities. Numerous descriptions of circumstances during the 1953 floods in the Netherlands

³⁹ In the IPET model the mortality fraction is kept constant for a certain zone, while the vertical distribution of the population relative to the water level is varied depending on local water depth (see IPET, 2006 and section 6 for description). In this study, the mortality fraction is modeled dependent on water depth.

(Slager, 1992) show that people perished when they were overwhelmed by floodwaters during their escape. Nowadays, it is expected that this hazard will be even larger. When large numbers of people are attempting to evacuate by car, traffic jams are likely to occur in the deepest parts of the polder that will flood first. To capture these interacting processes, more detailed simulations of escape behaviour of individuals or groups of people will be necessary. By combining the modelling of individual (escape) behaviour with detailed mortality functions (e.g. for instability, collapse of buildings) a dynamic and more mechanistic loss of life model is obtained. Such simulations can provide a) important information for the development of emergency evacuation strategies b) powerful visualisation tools for communication to the public and decision makers. The disadvantage of such an approach is that a large number of (behavioural) variables have to be assigned, for which very limited empirical information is available. It is suggested to investigate the application of such a dynamic approach for a pilot area in the Netherlands. Findings can be compared with historical observations (e.g. storm surge 1953) and the results obtained with the static and empirical model presented in this study.

7.5.5 Applications of the method for loss of life estimation

Applications to flood risk analysis

The proposed model can be applied to provide quantitative estimates of loss of life caused by floods in the context of safety evaluation, either in deterministic (scenario) or probabilistic (risk) calculations. Below it is described how the proposed approach can be applied to risk analysis. The current practice of flood risk analysis is limited to the elaboration of a number of deterministic flood scenarios, see e.g. (van Manen and Brinkhuis, 2005). The simulation of flood characteristics for a flood scenario provides input for loss of life estimation.

In addition, the occurrence of an evacuation is an important determinant of loss of life, as this influences the number of people exposed. Related factors, such as the possibility of warning, the time available before flooding and the response of the population, are generally uncertain variables and thus they can be described in stochastic terms (see also figure 2-7). This implies that for a given breach location and a corresponding (deterministic) flood pattern, different situations with respect to warning and evacuation can be distinguished. For example, an official warning can be given or not, or the population can fail to perceive the warning. To account for the above phenomena, the use of an event tree is proposed to distinguish different possible states for warning and evacuation⁴⁰, see figure 7-23 for an example. For each combination of prediction, warning and response, the magnitude of the evacuated and exposed population can be estimated. Consequently, the number of fatalities can be estimated for each branch of the event tree. In order to include these results in risk analysis, probabilities can be assigned to the occurrence of a successful prediction, warning and response. As these factors are case-specific and little historical data are available (e.g. on warning success rates), such probability estimates are often based on expert judgements⁴¹.

⁴⁰ For loss of life estimation for dam break floods, a similar approach is used to account for the magnitude of the exposed population behind the dam depending on time of the day, and day of the week, see e.g. Johnstone et al., 2005.

⁴¹ Such estimates comply with the Bayesian interpretation of probability. Then a probability is a numerical measure of a state of knowledge or a degree of belief (see also section 1.2.1). Event trees can also be used for other fields of application to assess the probabilities of having different sizes of the exposed population for one initial event. (Brussaard *et al.*, 2004) give an example for tunnel fires, which can occur with (large N_{EXP}) or without (small N_{EXP}) traffic jam.





Other applications of the proposed method

The developed model allows broader applications. As the model includes the most relevant factors that determine loss of life, it also offers the possibility to take into account measures that reduce consequence and risk levels. Different measures (e.g. land use planning, improving warning, evacuation possibilities, shelter or building quality) can be assessed. One particular application of the proposed model concerns the assessment of the effects of future land use developments on the consequences and risks of flooding. The mortality functions indicate that especially the spatial development of densely populated areas in deep polders can lead to a substantial increase of the number of fatalities.

The findings from the evacuation model and flood simulations are useful for the development of evacuation and emergency management strategies. In addition models for loss of life estimation could provide important information regarding the extent of loss of life and the exposed population to emergency responders and decision makers in the first phases after a disaster, see also (Boyd, 2006). The use of such models in these circumstances could improve the reliability of the overall consequence estimate. In addition, vulnerable locations, e.g. near breaches and in deep parts of the exposed area, could be identified in order to prioritise emergency operations. Further development and utilisation of the proposed method for disaster management is recommended.

Application to other types of floods

A method has been proposed to estimate the loss of life caused by large-scale floods of low-lying areas due to failure of flood defences. For this type of flood, three typical hazard zones have been distinguished and the most relevant flood characteristics are included in the model. The method is not directly applicable to floods that show distinctly different flood patterns. For example, for dam break floods and tsunamis, the effects of flow velocities will be more important throughout the whole exposed area. However, the principles proposed above can be applicable to other types of floods, such as dam break floods, tsunamis and drainage floods. For these types of floods the decisive variables that determine the loss of life and the typical hazard zones will have to be analysed, preferably based on historical data. Part of the findings from this study might be more broadly applicable to other types of floods. For example flash floods may show some similarities in flood pattern and resulting mortality with the zone with rapidly rising waters. Some other findings may be transferable between flood events, e.g. information regarding the vulnerability of buildings to certain flood conditions. Based on the available empirical data for different flood types (tsunamis, storm surges) it might be possible to develop a generic model for building vulnerability that can be used for different flood types.

8 Case study: Preliminary analysis of loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina

The first parts of this section were written in cooperation with Ezra Boyd (LSU Hurricane Center). Bob Maaskant (TU Delft) contributed to the analysis of the data.

Research questions: Which factors determined the loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina? What was the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality?

Keywords: Loss of life, flooding, New Orleans, hurricane Katrina, mortality

8.1 Introduction

In late August 2005, the New Orleans metropolitan area suffered the destructive power of hurricane Katrina. Large parts of the city flooded. This section aims at the presentation and first interpretation of the available data regarding Katrina related fatalities for Louisiana, with specific emphasis on the fatalities associated with the flooding of New Orleans. The information and analyses in this section are intended to:

- Indicate the impact of hurricane Katrina in Louisiana in terms of loss of life;
- Provide a presentation of causes and circumstances of Katrina related fatalities in Louisiana;
- Provide a preliminary analysis of the relationship between mortality¹ and flood characteristics for the flooded parts of New Orleans.

Data regarding loss of life for other states affected by Katrina is not discussed in detail here. MMWR (2006a; pp.239-242) provides a review of mortality for the states Florida (14 fatalities) and Alabama (15 fatalities). Currently, it is estimated in press reports that more than 230 fatalities occurred in Mississippi, but no official list of victims is available.

This study focuses on loss of life. Several sources provide comprehensive discussions of other types of consequences, such as economic losses (RMS, 2005; Brinkmann and Ragas, 2006; DHS, 2006; IPET, 2006; Kok *et al.*, 2006; LACPR, 2006a), physical and mental health impacts (Bourque *et al.*, 2006; MMWR, 2006a; MMWR, 2006b; Sullivent *et al.*, 2006) and pollution from industrial and household chemicals that mixed with floodwaters (Pardue *et al.*, 2005; Presley *et al.*, 2006; Reible *et al.*, 2006). A general analysis of different types of consequences is given in the report of the Interagency Performance Evaluation Taskforce (IPET, 2006).

The outline of this section is as follows. Section 8.2 presents general information regarding hurricane Katrina and related processes, such as the floods, the evacuation and the search and rescue operations, that are important to understand the context of the fatalities. Section 8.3 reports the results of flood simulations that give insight in the flood characteristics. The following section (8.4) provides an overview of the available information regard-

¹ Mortality is defined as the number of fatalities divided by the number of people exposed, see section 2.

ing Katrina related fatalities. Characteristics and circumstances of fatalities are evaluated in section 8.5. Section 8.6 describes predictions of the number of fatalities after Katrina and the hindcast of the death toll with the method that has been proposed in section 7 of this thesis. The relationship between flood characteristics and mortality is analysed in section 8.7. Concluding remarks are discussed in section 8.8.

8.2 General information regarding hurricane Katrina

This section gives a general description of hurricane Katrina, mainly focusing on the New Orleans area and issues most relevant for the analysis of loss of life. Several other studies give a more comprehensive description of the characteristics of hurricane Katrina, e.g. (Knabb *et al.* 2006), and the performance of the flood protection system (IPET, 2006; Seed *et al.*, 2005, 2006; van Heerden *et al.*, 2006).

8.2.1 General situation and past studies

New Orleans is situated in the delta of the Mississippi river. The city and its surrounding suburbs make up a metropolitan area that is largely below sea level and entirely surrounded by levees (synonyms: flood defences or dikes). Therefore the area has a so-called 'polder'², 'bowl' or 'bathtub' character. As a consequence of its geographical situation, the area is vulnerable to flooding from hurricanes, high discharges of the Mississippi river and heavy rains.



Figure 8-1: Location of the city of New Orleans

² Polder: relatively low-lying area protected from flooding by flood defences such as dikes. Drainage systems are needed to discharge rainwater from the polder and to prevent rise of the groundwater table

The possibility of a major storm surge flood disaster in New Orleans was already known long before hurricane Katrina formed. In the 20th century the city experienced floods after hurricanes in 1915, 1947 and 1965 (hurricane Betsy).

Numerous publications have reported the threats associated with hurricanes. In June 2002, the *Times-Picayune* newspaper published a five part series entitled "Washing Away." This series of articles claims that as many as 200.000 residents of the area would not be able to evacuate and that "between 25.000 and 100.000 people would die" (Schleifstein, 2002). One year before Hurricane Katrina, a joint federal, state, and local planning exercise looked at fictitious Hurricane Pam scenario: A slow moving category 3 hurricane passes just West of New Orleans with a 20 ft (~6,5m) storm surge that overtops levees and inundates the entire city. In this scenario, search and rescue crews would have to conduct over 22.000 boat and helicopter missions, 1,1 million people would experience long-term displacement, nearly 400.000 suffer injury or illness and over 60.000 people perish (IEM, 2004).

8.2.2 General characteristics of hurricane Katrina.

Hurricane Katrina formed as a tropical storm in the Atlantic Ocean South East of Florida. On August 25 2005 Katrina made landfall near Miami, Florida, as a Category 1 hurricane on the Saffir-Simpson scale. In Florida it resulted in 14 fatalities (MMWR, 2006a). The storm weakened slightly as it crossed Florida and entered the Gulf of Mexico on August 26 as a tropical storm. Katrina quickly regained hurricane status and it began to take aim for Southeast Louisiana, see figure 8-2. Between 26 and 28 August the storm initially strengthened to a category 5 storm. Before making its second landfall near Buras, Louisiana, it weakened to a category 3 status with sustained winds of 125 mph (205 km/h).



Figure 8-2: Track of hurricane Katrina (source: Wikipedia; map from NASA; hurricane track from the U.S. National Hurricane Centre)

8.2.3 Preparation: evacuation, shelter in place

In the days before landfall, computer models predicted possible flooding of New Orleans. The first evacuation orders came early on Saturday (August 27) morning from the outlying coastal areas, such as Plaquemines and St. Bernard. Utilizing lessons learned one year earlier from Hurricane Ivan, state and local officials initiated the staged hurricane evacuation plan officially on Saturday. The next morning, shortly after Katrina was upgraded to Category 5 strength, Mayor Nagin issued a mandatory evacuation order for New Orleans. By the time storm conditions reached New Orleans, 430.000 vehicles had fled the metropolitan region using primary roads (Wolshon, 2006a; Wolshon *et al.*, 2006) with an estimated additional 10.000-30.000 using secondary roads. Based on these traffic counts, Wolshon (2006a, 2006b) estimates that 1,1 million people, or 80 to 90 percent of the population at risk in Southeast Louisiana, evacuated the area before the storm.

In addition to the evacuation of the general population, hurricane Katrina forced the nursing homes and hospitals in the region to quickly make hard decisions about who to evacuate and how. These challenges presented no easy solutions, as both evacuation and sheltering-in-place presented risks to nursing home and hospital patients. Among the area's nursing homes, 21 evacuated before the storm and 36 did not evacuate before the storm (Donchess, 2006). Local authorities set up various shelters in the city. In St. Bernard par-ish³, two schools were offered as shelters. In Orleans parish, the Superdome and Convention Center were set up as shelters. Boyd (2006a) estimates that of the 72.000 people who remained the city after the evacuation an estimated 26.000 individuals sheltered in the Superdome, see also (Anon, 2005a), but in later estimates a number of 10.000 to 15.000 is used. Initially, the Superdome served it purpose as a shelter-of-late resort well. The problems that developed later mainly resulted from delays in the post-storm evacuation.

8.2.4 Impacts: levee breaches and flooding

During its final landfall on August 29, Katrina's storm surge caused massive flooding and devastation along a 170 mile (~ 270 km) stretch of the United States Gulf Coast. The entire coastline of the state Mississippi suffered massive destruction. The storm surge also caused massive overtopping and breaching of levees around New Orleans. The flooded area of the city basically consists of **three bowls**: the central part of the city (Orleans), New Orleans East and St. Bernard⁴, see also figure 8-3. The first flooding of residential areas in greater New Orleans occurred almost two hours before the storm's landfall. Between 4:30am and 5:00am water was already rising in the Industrial Canal⁵. The waters flowed into the Orleans bowl to the west, and into the Orleans East bowl on the other side of the Industrial Canal. Later that morning more catastrophic breaching occurred along the southern arm of the Industrial Canal. Two major breaches in the floodwalls resulted in a rapidly rising and fast moving flood of the St. Bernard bowl with catastrophic consequences. Especially the neighbourhood the Lower 9th Ward, which was closest to the breach, was most severely affected. In the Orleans bowl the levees in the 17th street and London Avenue drainage canals failed, leading to flooding of a large part of the central area. The Orleans

³ Parish: administrative subdivision that is used in Louisiana. Note that the parish name does not always correspond to the name of the flooded 'bowl'. For example, Orleans parish covers the Orleans bowl, Orleans East bowl and a small part of the St. Bernard bowl.

⁴ It is noted that parts of the St. Bernard bowl are actually in Orleans parish. In the remainder of this section the concept of the bowl is used.

⁵ The official name of the Industrial Canal is the Inner Harbour Navigation Channel (IHNC).

East bowl flooded more gradually due to a number of smaller breaches and overtopping cases. An area of approximately 260km² of the city flooded, more than 4 metres deep at some locations. Figure 8-3 gives an overview of the flooded area and the locations of the levee breaches. It took over 40 days to dewater the city.



Figure 8-3: Overview of flooded area, levee breach locations and maximum water depths. Data are based on field observations and are provided by the LSU Hurricane Center (Ezra Boyd, Hampton Peele, Rob Cunningham, DeWitt Braud, G. Paul Kemp).

8.2.5 Aftermath: search and rescue operations

The flooding of large part of metropolitan New Orleans necessitated a massive urban search and rescue effort that involved numerous local, state, federal and private organizations. Individuals in peril had to be rescued from roofs and attics. Patients, staff, and family members had to be evacuated as hospitals and nursing homes flooded. In the five days that followed Hurricane Katrina, rescue workers completed an estimated 62.000 water, roof, and attic rescues by either boat or helicopter. Over 100 helicopters and 600 boats were utilized (LaOHSEP, 2006).

Reflecting their first priority to protect the lives of those trapped by the flood, search and rescue (S&R) teams initially transported people from attics and floodwaters to higher grounds, such as elevated highways and bridges. Following this immediate rescue, available ground transportation was used to bring people to the Superdome, the Convention Center, and the I- 10 Cloverleaf (LaCaze, 2006). The sheltering population at these locations continued to grow in the days that followed the hurricane. As the days passed before relief arrived, hunger, thirst, and desperation took hold. Finally, on Thursday, September 1, three days after Hurricane Katrina made landfall, buses began evacuating people from

the Superdome. The evacuation of Convention Center began the next day. When the poststorm evacuation of New Orleans finished on September 4, an estimated 78.000 displaced persons had been relocated to shelters set-up across the nation (Select Bipartisan Committee, 2006). In the first phase that covered approximately 10 days, search and rescue operations focused on saving the living. After that the sad task of the recovery of the deceased began.

8.3 Simulation of flood characteristics

8.3.1 Introduction

Several organisations, including the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the Louisiana State University (LSU) Hurricane Center, have made floodmaps that provide insight in the water depths in the flooded parts of New Orleans, see for example figure 8-3. These maps have been made by combining terrain elevation data and information regarding the extent of the flooded area and water levels (Cunningham *et al.*, 2006). The size of the flooded area can be derived from aerial photography or satellite imagery. Water levels in the flooded area can also be identified based on watermarks on buildings, see figure 8-4 for an example. However, due to effects of the tide and pumping, multiple watermarks are visible and a uniform interpretation is often difficult.



Figure 8-4: Water marks on a building near the breach in the 17th Street Canal.

However, for an analysis of flood fatalities, other flood characteristics than water depth could be relevant as well. These include flow velocity, rise rate and arrival time of water (see section 5). These characteristics have not been observed in the field during the flood event. However, there might be some indirect and mostly qualitative evidence, such as eyewitness accounts that describe flood conditions and damage patterns that indicate the severity of local flow conditions (e.g. damage to buildings due to flow velocity). To gain more insight in these flood characteristics flood simulations have been made for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls (De Bruijn, 2006; Maaskant, 2007). The results of these simulations have been used to analyse the relationship between the flood characteristics and mortality in

section 8.7. In addition, the simulations could be useful for visualisation and communication of the course of flooding. They can provide valuable insights in the contribution of different sources (breaches) to the flood pattern.

8.3.2 Approach for the flood simulations

The following points summarise the approach used for flood simulations. De Bruijn (2006) and Maaskant (2007) give further background information:

- Flood simulations of overland flow have been made by means of a two dimensional hydraulic model, SOBEK-1D2D developed by WL| Delft Hydraulics.
- For terrain height a digital elevation model has made using data from USGS⁶.
- Levee heights and breach locations are based on information provided by the LSU Hurricane Center. This information is based on observations in the field.
- In the flood simulation a terrain model has been used with a rectangular raster with grid cells of 28m x 28m.
- A uniform terrain roughness has been assumed in the simulation with a Manning value of 0,3m. This value is representative for rural terrain. The effects of single objects such as buildings on the roughness are not directly assessed, but it is assumed to be included in the average roughness.
- Only inflow through the main breaches has been considered. Overtopping of levees, the effects of rainfall, drainage canals and pumping have not been considered.
- Breach widths are based on descriptions by Seed *et al.* (2005, 2006) and (IPET, 2006). Based on these reports the growth rate of the breach has been estimated. Inflow discharges through breaches are determined based on the outside water levels reported in (IPET, 2006) and estimates of the development of the breach profile over time.
- Simulations have been made for the Orleans (De Bruijn, 2006) and St. Bernard (Maaskant, 2007) bowls. No simulations are available for Orleans East.

Given the above assumptions and limitations regarding the input data it is important to realize the limitations of these simulations. They give a first order insight in flood conditions in the affected area, but are not detailed or exact approximations of the flood flow conditions.

8.3.3 Results

Information on the water depth, flow velocity, rise rate and arrival time is obtained as output from the simulations. Figures 8-5 to 8-9 show the simulated water depth, velocity, depth-velocity product⁷, rise rate⁸ and arrival time of the water for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls.

⁶ USGS: United States Geological Survey.

⁷ The depth velocity product is important for the analysis of the collapse of buildings and human instability in flood flow. It is related to the moment associated with the flow (see section 6.3 for further details).

⁸ According to the approach proposed in section 7.2 rise rate has been determined over the first 1,5m of water depth.



Figure 8-5: Maximum water depth. (For the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls it is obtained from simulations. Water depth for the Orleans East bowl is based on the flood depth map provided by the LSU Hurricane Center.)



Figure 8-6: Maximum flow velocity for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls



Figure 8-7: Product of maximum water depth and maximum flow velocity (hv) for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls. (Note: These results are conservative as maximum values of depth and velocity need not have occurred simultaneously, i.e. $h_{max}v_{max} > (hv)_{max}$)



Figure 8-8: Simulated rise rate for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls over the first 1,5m of water depth.



Figure 8-9: Simulated arrival time of the water for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls after the initial breaches.

The simulations show that the most severe conditions occurred in the St. Bernard bowl. Very high flow velocities (3 to 10 m/s) occurred near the catastrophic breaches in the levees along the Industrial Canal. These effects caused destruction in the Lower 9th Ward (see also section 8.7). Depths in St. Bernard reached 3 to 4 metres in the deepest parts and rise rates were high (> 5 m/hr) for most of the area.

The Orleans bowl also suffered large water depths. In some locations (especially in the Lakefront area) the water depth was more than 5 metres. However, the flow velocities and rise rates were lower than in St. Bernard. Based on the simulations it is estimated that in the Orleans bowl the flow velocities were high (larger than 1 m/s to 2 m/s) only very near the breaches. For most of the area rise rates were relatively small. The highest rise rates in this area (1 to 2 m/hr) occurred in the northern part. Most of the Orleans bowl flooded within a day. In the middle of the Orleans bowl there are the Gentilly and Metairie ridges that blocked the flow from north to south for some period. These are indicated in figure 8-5 with dashed lines.

The results of the simulations have been verified with available information regarding flood characteristics. Comparison with the flood depth maps provided by LSU Hurricane Center shows that the flood depth is approximated well. Calculated arrival times of the water flow are compared with eyewitness descriptions (IPET, 2006) and these show reasonable agreement. De Bruijn (2006) and Maaskant (2007) discuss further details regarding the validation of the simulations.

8.4 Data regarding Katrina related fatalities

8.4.1 Dataset of deceased victims

In the period after Katrina deceased victims (fatalities) were recovered in a search process which involved governmental and private organisations. The buildings that were searched by rescue teams were marked by a sign that indicated the date and outcomes of the search operation, see figure 8-10. For each victim that was recovered there exists a "receipt of remains". This form includes basic information such as the date, time, and location of recovery along with the agency that recovered and the agency that transported the remains. It also includes some basic comments about the scene and sometimes lists a presumptive identification of the victim.



Figure 8-10: Signs on a home indicating the outcomes of a search operation.

The Department of Health and Hospitals (DHH) of the state Louisiana coordinated the data collection. This agency also provides the official figures on dead and missing on their "Katrina Missing" website⁹. As of August 2, 2006 this site listed **1464 deceased victims** and it is noted that the cases of an additional 135 missing have been turned over to law enforcement. Of the confirmed dead, **1118 victims perished within Louisiana**, while 346 victims perished outside of the state of Louisiana. Statistics regarding ethnicity, age and gender have been made public for 853 of the Louisiana fatalities identified at the St. Gabriel and Carville morgues, see section 8.5.1 for a further discussion.

8.4.2 Dataset of recovery locations

The LSU Hurricane Center established a collaborative effort with the Department of Health and Hospitals (DHH) and the Medical Examiner's office of the state of Louisiana. As part of this collaboration, DHH provided the LSU Hurricane Center with data on the recovery locations for the deceased victims (Boyd, 2006c). The most recent dataset, obtained on September 14, 2006, lists **771 fatalities with recovery locations** in the state of Louisiana. This corresponds to 69% of the victims recovered within the state. The recovery

^{9 &}lt;u>http://www.dhh.louisiana.gov/offices/page.asp?ID=192&Detail=5248</u>, accessed December 2006.

locations have been geocoded, i.e. the locations have been identified on a map and entered into a GIS layer.

The obtained dataset of recovery locations is based on the information from the receipts of remains. However, a number of these forms lack complete information, limiting the ability to map all the recovery locations. The dataset used in this section has been supplied by LSU Hurricane Center and it includes the following information: date of recovery, recovery location (Geographical coordinates, state, parish), type of facility in which the body was found and information regarding the organisations that performed recovery and transportation. Each entry in the dataset describes the recovery of one victim. In some cases, multiple victims are recovered from one location. The recovery locations dataset has been used for further analysis of the spatial distribution of the recoveries (section 8.5.3) and the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality (section 8.7).

8.4.3 Brief discussion of available data regarding Katrina related fatalities

Several issues are associated with the interpretation and analysis of the data:

- At the time of this analysis (December 2006, more than one year after the storm) the total list of deceased victims is still incomplete. Still 135 people are still missing and sporadically remains of people are found in collapsed buildings and more remote areas, such as the marshes.
- A broad operational definition has been used for a Katrina related fatality. It concerns anyone from the affected areas that died between August 28 and October 1 2005 for which the circumstances of death can be linked to hurricane Katrina (E.Boyd, personal communication).
- The recovery location of a body does not necessarily equal the location of death. Bodies could have been moved by the flood flow or by other people before final recovery. This is most relevant for recoveries in the open field¹⁰. A limited number of bodies has been recovered along the edge of the flood zone, possibly indicating that they have been moved by the flood. In further analysis it is assumed that the recovery location is identical to the location of the fatality.

Given these issues it is emphasized that the datasets used in this study are preliminary and not fully complete. Nevertheless it is expected that the datasets give a representative impression of loss of life caused by hurricane Katrina. Firstly, the majority of recoveries has been completed and the final number of fatalities is not expected to grow substantially. Secondly, the dataset includes the majority of recoveries inside the flooded areas and it is therefore expected that it gives a good insight in the spatial distribution of fatalities and the mortality in these areas. Overall, the recovery data includes more than two thirds of the officially reported number of fatalities in the state Louisiana. It is noted that the missing data is from specific areas (mainly non-flooded parishes) and a more complete dataset is required to draw final conclusions.

¹⁰ Analysis (reported in section 8.5.2) shows that a relatively limited parts of the recoveries (7%) were in the open field. Most of the fatalities were found in buildings, such as homes and hospitals. For these recoveries it is most likely that the recovery location equals the location of death.

8.5 Causes and circumstances of Katrina related fatalities

8.5.1 Individual characteristics of fatalities

Based on the dataset of deceased victims, the characteristics of Katrina related fatalities, such as age, gender and race are discussed. Data are available for 853 Katrina related fatalities. Information regarding other potentially important factors, such as medical cause of death, activity and behaviour during the hurricane impact, was not available.

Age

The age distribution of fatalities is given for 829 fatalities and is presented in figure 8-11. Age is unknown for 24 fatalities. The majority of victims were elderly. Out of 829 victims of whom age is known, less than one percent were children and just over fifteen percent were under 51. Older people comprise the majority of the deceased: nearly 85% are older than 51 years, 70% are over 60, and almost half are older than 75 years of age. Population statistics for Orleans and St. Bernard parish¹¹ show that of the pre-Katrina population about 25% were older than 50 (12% older than 65; 6% older than 75).



Figure 8-11: Age distribution of 829 fatalities

Gender

The available data do not indicate that gender played a dominant role in Katrina related mortality in Louisiana. For the 853 victims for which gender is known, 432 (50,6%) are male and 421 (49,4%) are female. While males are slightly over represented, this break down mostly corresponds with the gender distribution of the affected population.

Race

Of 818 fatalities for which race is listed, 451 (55%) are African American and 334 (40%) are Caucasian (white). Of the others, 18 (2%) victims are listed as Hispanic, 6 (1%) are listed as Asian-Pacific, 4 (<1%) are listed as Native American, and 5 (< 1%) are listed as Other. The race of 35 (5%) victims was unknown. In general terms this distribution corresponds to the racial distribution of the affected population. The results do not directly sup-

¹¹ Data source: Greater New Orleans community data center, http://www.gnocdc.org/, accessed December 2006

port claims that African Americans were more likely to become a fatality, see e.g. (Sharkey, 2006). However, further investigation of the influence of race on Katrina related mortality is recommended.

8.5.2 Type of location where victims were recovered

The dataset of recovery locations provides information regarding the type of location where the body was recovered for 766 victims (for 5 recoveries the location type is unknown), see table 8-1. The majority of victims (53%) were recovered from individual residences. Ongoing fieldwork shows that many of the residential recovery locations were single story homes that were either not elevated or elevated less than three feet. Medical locations, such as hospitals and medical centers, comprise 147 (20%) of the recovery locations and nursing homes make up 76 (10%) of the recovery locations. 54 (7%) victims were recovered from open street locations. 26 (3%) victims were recovered from public shelters, 18 from the Convention Center and 8 from the Superdome. These latter two facilities served as shelters of last resort for tens of thousands of people before, during, and after the storm. 20 (3%) victims were recovered from commercial and public buildings, such as churches and schools.

Location type	Fatalities	%
Residence	404	54%
Medical	147	20%
Nursing home	76	10%
Open / street	54	7%
Morgue / coroner's office / funeral home	39	5%
Public shelter	26	3%
Public building	20	3%
Total	746	

Table 8-1: Recovered victims from the dataset of recovery locations by location type

8.5.3 Spatial distribution of recoveries

The dataset of recovery locations contains information of 771 victims. The majority of victims were recovered from parishes that suffered the direct flood impacts of Katrina, such as Orleans and St. Bernard parishes. In addition, a substantial number of fatalities occurred in parishes that did not suffer the direct impact of Katrina. In total 147 fatalities were found outside the flooded area. These fatalities were mostly evacuees and hospital patients transported from the affected area (see next section for a further discussion).

Figure 8-12 gives an overview of the spatial distribution of recoveries in and near the flooded parts of New Orleans. A distinction is made between two categories of fatalities:

- 1) Recoveries from residential locations such as residences, nursing homes, street locations and public buildings. In these facilities fatalities can often be directly related to the flood effects. In most cases these recoveries concerned residents of the area in which the recovery took place.
- 2) Recoveries from medical locations, shelters and morgues / funeral homes. These recovery locations indicate that these fatalities were not directly related to the impacts of floodwaters. For example, while the Superdome was inside the flood zone, the raised sections of this facility protected those sheltering from floodwaters. Similarly,

for hospitals in the flooded areas the ground floors were evacuated as part of storm preparations. Fatalities at these locations were often not part of the original population in the area where the recovery took place.



Figure 8-12: Recovery locations (source: Boyd, 2006c) and flooded area.

8.5.4 Causes and circumstances of Katrina related fatalities

A first discussion of the causes and circumstances of different groups of fatalities is presented below. It is based on the available information that has been described in the previous sections. As no data was available for a substantial number of fatalities in the state of Louisiana (31%) the findings and discussions are preliminary and not necessarily fully representative for all fatalities in Louisiana¹².

Of the 771 recovered fatalities, 147 (19%) occurred outside the flooded area in Louisiana. Most fatalities were evacuees and their occurrence is likely related to the adverse public health situation that affected those that evacuated as a result of hurricane Katrina. Likely death causes include lack of necessary medical services, chronic conditions, stress induced heart attacks or strokes, violence and suicide (see also MMWR, 2006b).

In total 624 of the 771 recovered fatalities (81%) occurred inside the flooded area. Of these, 106 were recovered from locations, such as public shelters and hospitals, that indicate that these fatalities were not directly related to the impacts of floodwaters. Most of these fatalities, about 90, occurred in hospitals. For this group of fatalities death causes are likely similar to those who died outside the flooded area, i.e. lack of necessary medical services, chronic conditions, stress induced heart attacks or strokes, violence and possibly

¹² This point is emphasized here, because the missing fatality data mainly concerns fatalities from parishes outside of the flooded area (Ezra Boyd, personal communication). This implies that the estimated fraction of the total number fatalities that occurred in the flooded area could be an overestimation.

suicide. Several sources document the critical public health conditions that developed in medical facilities, see e.g (Delacroix, 2005; Berger, 2006).

This leaves 518 recovered fatalities (67% of the total recoveries) that most likely resulted from the direct exposure to the physical impacts of the flood. Typical death causes for people exposed to the floodwaters include drowning (in a building or in the street) or physical trauma due to the impacts from debris and / or building collapse, see also (Jonkman and Kelman, 2005). Many of these fatalities occurred in areas near large breaches in the Lower 9th Ward in the St. Bernard bowl. Another substantial part of the fatalities occurred in the northern part of the Orleans bowl, where large water depths occurred. The relationship between flood characteristics and mortality is further investigated in the next section. Available data indicate that a substantial number of victims (at least more than 20) were recovered from residences inside the flooded areas from attics or floors that were not flooded. This suggests that these people died due to adverse conditions associated with extended exposure in the flooded area in the days after Katrina. Typical death causes could include dehydratation / heat stroke, heart attack/ stroke, or other causes associated with lack of sustaining medical supplies. Initially thought to be a major threat to those remaining in the flooded area, disease and toxic contamination do not appear to explain many of the deaths.

Analysis of individual characteristics of victims showed that the majority of victims were elderly: nearly 85% of fatalities were over 51 years. Members of this population are the most likely to need assistance to evacuate before the storm and are the least capable to survive the physical hazards of the flood (e.g. by moving to higher floors or shelters), the delays before being rescued and the deterioration of basic public health services both inside and outside flooded area. The specific vulnerability of this group is sadly illustrated by the large numbers of fatalities in nursing homes in the flooded area, where 65 fatalities occurred in total. Thirty-one victims were recovered from St. Rita's nursing home in the south-eastern part of St. Bernard. Another factor that could have contributed to the large number of older fatalities in residential areas is that elderly might be less able or willing to evacuate before a hurricane. A past survey (Hurlbert and Beggs, 2004) indicated that there is a slight decline in the evacuation rate with age. However, no direct information is available for evacuation rates amongst different age groups for Katrina.

The above outcomes concerning the causes and circumstances of fatalities can be compared with earlier findings. Jonkman and Kelman (2005) showed that, for small-scale river floods in Europe and the United States, males are highly vulnerable to dying in floods and that unnecessary risk-taking behaviour contributes significantly to mortality. In addition, that study did not indicate that elderly were more vulnerable. The individual characteristics of Katrina related fatalities are different and likely characteristic for large-scale and more unexpected flooding. During such events survival chances will be related to individual endurance, which is generally less for elderly. In that respect the outcomes for Katrina are comparable with characteristics of the fatalities for the 1953 flood in the Netherlands (see section 5.4.1). This event also exhibited an equal distribution of fatalities over the genders and a higher vulnerability of elderly.

Further cross-analysis of individual characteristics, death causes and spatial patterns in fatality rates is recommended to gain more insight in the causes of death in different affected regions. Information regarding social factors (income, poverty, ethnicity) could be added in the analysis to gain more insight in the effects of social vulnerability factors.

8.6 **Prediction and hindcast of the number of fatalities**

8.6.1 Estimates of loss of life before and shortly after hurricane Katrina

This section gives a brief overview of the estimates of the loss of life due to the flooding of New Orleans before and in the first period after hurricane Katrina, see also (Reichhardt, 2005).

In the year before Katrina a large exercise was performed for a fictitious hurricane scenario named Pam that would flood the entire metropolitan area of New Orleans. The contractor IEM (2004) estimated that 60.000 people would die, most of them in New Orleans. The method that was used to obtain this estimate has not been reported publicly and it is expected that this estimate is based on expert judgment.

In the first days and weeks after the flooding of New Orleans due to hurricane Katrina there was a lot of uncertainty about the number of fatalities. In the first week after Katrina a researcher from LSU Hurricane Center estimated several thousands of fatalities due to the flooding of New Orleans. Prof. Vrijling (Delft University) used the 1% rule of thumb proposed in section 5.2.3 of this thesis. Applied to an estimated exposed population of 500.000 this resulted in 5000 estimated fatalities. If the information regarding the number of evacuated (unknown at that time) would have been taken into account (80% of the population), application of the rule of thumb would have resulted in 1000 fatalities which is very near the actual number. About two weeks after the flood a press source reported that FEMA had ordered 25.000 body bags for hurricane victims (Anon, 2005b).

8.6.2 Hindcast of the loss of life using the method proposed in this thesis

The method proposed in section 7 has been used to give an estimate in retrospect (a socalled hindcast) of the number of fatalities. The number of fatalities has been estimated based on the output of flood simulations, information regarding the population distribution and the mortality functions proposed in section 7. Results of flood simulations are available for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls. The water depth and rise rate are averaged by tract (see also figure 8-13). When the rise rate exceeded the threshold of 0,5 m/hr the mortality function for the zone with rapidly rising waters has been used. For the New Orleans East bowl a rise rate value below this threshold value has been assumed.

Consequently the number of fatalities is determined by tract based on the exposed population in that area. It is assumed 10% of the original population was exposed to the flood effects, as 80% was evacuated and 10% found shelter in the area (see further discussion regarding this estimate in section 8.7). Based on the output of the flood simulations estimates of the numbers of fatalities near breaches have been determined¹³. Table 8-2 gives an overview of the observed and calculated numbers of fatalities for the three bowls. The applied method gives an estimate of the fatalities due to direct flood impacts. Therefore the observed fatalities in hospitals, shelters have not been included in the comparison.

Bowl	People exposed	Observed nr. of	Calculated number of fatalities with the method from section 7				
		fatalities*	Total	Breach zone	Zone with rapidly rising water	Remaining zone	
Orleans	25.590	260	268	10	143	115	
St. Bernard	8540	190	651	131	517	3	
New Orleans East	9620	68	83	0	0	83	
Total flooded area	43.750	518	1002				

Table 8-2: Observed and calculated numbers of fatalities.

*: This column includes the number of recovered people in residential locations. Fatalities in special facilities, such as hospitals and shelters are not included as these are expected not to be related to flood characteristics. Reported numbers are preliminary.

Overall, the total number of fatalities that is predicted with the method proposed in section 7 is within a factor two with the observed number of recoveries so far. The total numbers of fatalities for the Orleans and Orleans East bowls are approximated well. The spatial distribution of fatalities in these bowls does not fully correspond to the observations¹⁴. The number of fatalities in the St. Bernard bowl is overestimated by more than a factor 3, because the numbers of fatalities in areas with higher rise rates (w>0,5m/hr) are overestimated with functions proposed in section 7. Further discussion on the influence of the different flood characteristics on mortality is included in the next section.

8.7 Analysis of the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality for New Orleans

8.7.1 General approach

Mortality functions have been derived in section 7 based on data for historical flood events. Below, the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality is investigated further based on the available data for New Orleans.

Fatalities

Information regarding fatalities from the dataset of recovery locations has been used. The analysis only includes the fatalities in the flooded area that are expected to be directly associated with the flood conditions¹⁵, i.e. the recoveries in residential locations. Fatalities in

¹³ It has been determined in which areas the conditions for the breach zone are exceeded: $hv \ge 7m^2/s$ and $v \ge 2m/s$ This is only the case in areas near the 17th Street canal Breach (for a small area) and in the Lower 9th Ward, see figure 8-7. Based on the relative size of the breach area to the tract area it has been estimated how many people were exposed in the breach zone, while assuming a homogeneous population density in the tract. It has been assumed that none of the exposed people in the breach zone survives, i.e. $F_D=1$.

¹⁴ The calculated numbers of fatalities are over-estimated in areas with higher rise rates (w>0,5m/hr) and under-estimated in areas with lower rise rates.

¹⁵ A limited number of fatalities in the flooded area might be caused by wind effects. However, it is expected that the number of wind fatalities will be limited as a) most people found shelter during the passage of the storm; b) storms in the

medical locations and shelters are not included in the analysis because these are generally not directly related to the physical flood impacts (see also section 8.5.3). It is noted that the recovery dataset includes 69% of the total number of fatalities reported in the state Louisiana. Although most of the missing fatality data concerns fatalities from parishes outside of the flooded area, the reported mortality fractions could still be under-estimates of the eventual mortality fractions in the flood zone.

Exposed population

The population at risk is defined as the original population in the area prior to hurricane Katrina. Data from the United States Census 2000 have been used to determine the population at risk. Due to the effects of evacuation and shelter the number of exposed was reduced before the hurricane. Based on the analysis of traffic counts it is estimated 80 to 90 percent of the 'at risk' population in Southeast Louisiana evacuated the area before the storm (Wolshon, 2006a, 2006b). In this study we assume an evacuation rate of 80% for New Orleans (a number that was also stated by the mayor of New Orleans, Ray Nagin). In addition, based on available descriptions, it is assumed that another 10% found shelter in special facilities, such as the Superdome and Convention Center¹⁶. This results in an estimate of the exposed population in the flooded area of approximately 10% of the inhabitants, corresponding to approximately 44.000 people exposed (see also table 8-3). In this analysis it is assumed that the spatial distributions of the evacuated and shelter fractions are uniform. In practice there might have been differences in evacuation rates between neighbourhoods, but no information regarding the Katrina evacuation is available¹⁷. Overall, the above estimates are crude, but necessary given the limited amount of data.

Table 8-3 summarizes the number of exposed, fatalities and mortality rates for the three bowls of New Orleans. For all the three bowls the average mortality fractions are in the order of magnitude of 1%. As will be discussed further below, differences in mortality between these bowls are likely related to the severity of the flood impacts.

Bowl	Inhabitants (flooded area)	Exposed	Recovered nr. of fatalities*	Mortality
Orleans	255.860	25.590	260	1,02%
St. Bernard	85.420	8540	190	2,22%
New Orleans East	96.290	9620	68	0,71%
Total	437.570	43.750	518	1.18%

Table 8-3: Overview of number of inhabitants, exposed and fatalities for the three flooded bowls.

*: This column includes the number of recovered people in residential locations. Fatalities in special facilities, such as hospitals and shelters are not included as these are expected not to be related to flood characteristics. Reported numbers are preliminary.

past with comparable strength and no flooding have caused much less fatalities. For example, hurricane Betsy (1965) and hurricane Frederic (1979) occurred in the same area and were of similar strength (category 3). The numbers of fatalities for these storms are considerably smaller than for Katrina. Betsy caused 76 fatalities (of which a substantial part due to local flooding) and Frederic caused 5 fatalities (FEMA, 2006; pp.1-28).

¹⁶ Boyd (2006a) estimates that 72.000 people remained in the city after evacuation. This corresponds to approximately 18% of the initial population of the flooded areas. He also mentions that 26,000 people (6,3% of the population in flooded areas) found shelter in the Superdome, see also (Anon, 2005b). The estimate of a shelter percentage of 10% results when additional populations in other shelters are also included. It is noted that later estimates (mainly) in press sources give lower estimates of the sheltered population in the Superdome, so the above numbers have to be considered as preliminary.

¹⁷ A survey before Katrina (Hurlbert and Beggs, 2004) indicated differences in evacuation rates between social groups. These might relate to neighbourhoods.

Analysis of the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality

Using the approach proposed in section 7.4.1 it is investigated whether mortality can be related to flood characteristics. The dataset that has been used is included in appendix 8.I. The influence of the factors water depth, rise rate, flow velocity and arrival time of the flow has been analysed, as these are expected to be important determinants of loss of life (see also section 5). The results from the flood simulations have been used as values for flood characteristics. Another factor of relevance is the collapse of buildings. This has been analysed mainly qualitatively, using a map that indicates the level of structural damage to buildings. It is based on FEMA damage inspection reports and included in appendix 8.II. The influence of other potentially relevant factors, such as the effects of waves, the local level of warning, etc. has not been examined due to lack of data.

To analyse the relationship between mortality and flood characteristics it is necessary to distinguish different locations in the flooded area. Using existing spatial subdivisions of the city, different spatial aggregation levels of analysis can be chosen, see figure 8-13. If the spatial unit is too small the number of locations will be large relative to the number of fatalities. Then there will be many locations without fatalities and the randomness in the occurrence of fatalities will become important. If the chosen spatial unit is too large then it is no longer correct to assume constant flood conditions in one spatial unit, because spatial variations become too large. Given these considerations the neighbourhoods and tracts seem most suitable as spatial units and both are analysed below.



Figure 8-13: Different spatial aggregation levels for the analysis of fatalities (Maaskant, 2007)

A general overview of mortality rates by neighbourhood is included in figure 8-14. For the three bowls the relationship between mortality and flood characteristics will be discussed in the next sections.



Figure 8-14: Mortality by neighbourhood (Note: A high mortality occurred in the neighborhood in the South East of the St. Bernard bowl because 30 fatalities occurred in one nursing home)

8.7.2 The Orleans bowl

The flooding of the Orleans bowl was caused by breaches along the Industrial Canal in the East and the 17th Street and London Avenue canals in the North (see figure 8-3). These resulted in the flooding of large parts of the central city. The largest water depths and fatality rates are found for the deeper parts of the bowl, mainly in the north near Lake Pontchartrain.

Figure 8-15 shows the relationship between mortality and average **water depth** by neighbourhood¹⁸. For the Orleans bowl there is a good relationship ($R^2=0,61$) between water depth and mortality, which can be described with the following lognormal function:

$$F_{D}(h) = \Phi_{N}\left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_{N}}{\sigma_{N}}\right)$$
(Eq. 8-1)

$$\mu_{N} = 3,55 \qquad \sigma_{N} = 1,27$$

A slightly better fit (R²=0,66) is found for an exponential function¹⁹, but the lognormal function is preferred given the similarity with the earlier derived mortality functions for floods and the mortality functions used in other sectors.

¹⁸ A similar analysis has been done for tracts (smaller spatial units), but this leads to a decrease of the correlation. In this case the influence of variations in mortality between tracts with similar water depths becomes more apparent.

¹⁹ The following exponential function is found: $F_D(h) = \exp((h-6,89)/1,09)$ for $h \le 6,89$ m.



Figure 8-15: Relationship between water depth and mortality by neighbourhood for the Orleans bowl. The average value over the first 1,5m of water has been determined by neighbourhood.

The influence of the factor **rise rate** on mortality has been investigated. The average value of the rise rate by neighbourhood²⁰ has been determined. There does not seem to be a relationship between rise rate and mortality, see figure 8-16. Neither does the inclusion of the combined influence of rise rate and depth in the mortality function lead to an improvement of the fit of the depth-based mortality function. Figure 8-15 shows the rise rates [m/hr] for some observations. This shows that the outlying observations in that figure cannot be explained by the value of the rise rate. Observations that are far above the bestfit trendline do not have a higher rise rate than those underneath the line. It has been investigated whether the relationship between rise rate and mortality improves, when it is determined for another spatial unit (tract) or for another threshold value for water depth (1m or 2m instead of 1,5m), but this is not the case.

²⁰ Despite relatively large variations of rise rates within a neighbourhood, the average gives an indication of the extent of rise rate, see (Maaskant, 2007) for further discussion.



Figure 8-16: Relationship between rise rate and mortality for the neighbourhoods in the Orleans bowl.

There is a weak relationship between the arrival time of the floodwater and mortality. Arrival time is related to depth as the floodwaters that arrived first in areas near breaches that also had larger water depths.

Finally the influence of flow velocity has been examined. In the Orleans bowl higher flow velocities only occurred locally very near breaches. Comparison with the building damage map (appendix 8.II) and visual observations in the field show that hardly any buildings collapsed near the breaches in Orleans. Only near the breach in the 17th Street Canal some buildings collapsed. Comparison with the dataset of recovery locations (figure 8-9) shows that no fatalities were found in the zones near breaches. Based on these observations it is expected that the flow velocity did not have a substantial influence on mortality in the Orleans bowl.

8.7.3 The St. Bernard bowl

In total 184 fatalities were recovered in the St. Bernard bowl. Many of these fatalities (73) occurred in the neighbourhood the Lower 9th Ward. This neighbourhood is located next to the two large breaches in the Industrial Canal levees. Various eyewitness accounts tell how the floodwater entered this neighbourhood through the breaches with great force and how it caused death and destruction in the areas near the breaches. The relatively high mortality in the St. Bernard Bowl (2,2%) is mainly due to the severe flood conditions and the large number of fatalities near the breaches. For other parts of the bowl the mortality is somewhat lower (1,6%) and more similar to the mortality for the Orleans bowl (1%).

The relationship between flood characteristics and mortality is analysed further for the St. Bernard bowl. The analysis is conducted by tract because the tracts in St. Bernard have a similar surface as neighbourhoods in the Orleans bowl. The large number of fatalities near the breaches in the Lower 9th Ward appears to be related to the severe flood conditions (depth, velocity) and the large number of collapsed buildings. Areas with many fatalities and high levels of building damage are characterised by large values of the product of water

depth and flow velocity⁽²¹⁾, see figures 8-17 and 8-18. Most of the collapsed buildings and fatalities were found in the area where: $hv > 5 \text{ m}^2/\text{s}$. Observations in the field show that the area with large-scale structural damage to houses covers almost the whole Lower 9th Ward. Therefore the whole Lower 9th Ward neighbourhood is considered as the breach zone. Mortality for this neighbourhood is F_D =0,053 (or 5,3%)²².



Figure 8-17: Spatial distribution of the recovered fatalities and the depth-velocity product for the north-western part of the St. Bernard bowl.



Figure 8-18: Building damage in the Lower 9th Ward (source: <u>http://www.unifiedneworleansplan.com/</u><u>home2/section/24</u>, accessed December 2006. Damage levels determined in FEMA's post Katrina damage assessments. Note: scale differs from figure 8-17).

²¹ The depth - velocity product relates to the moment associated with the flow, see section 6.3.2. for further discussion.

²² The neighbourhood Lower 9th Ward covers five tracts, for which mortality varies between $F_D=0,033$ and $F_D=0,07$. How-

ever, it will be difficult to assign fatalities to a specific tract because the flow could have moved debris and bodies.
For the remaining areas in the St. Bernard bowl (i.e. all tracts apart from the Lower 9th Ward) the following relationship between mortality and water depth is found, see also figure 8-19:

$$F_D(h) = \Phi_N \left(\frac{\ln(h) - \mu_N}{\sigma_N} \right)$$
(Eq. 8-2)

$$\mu_N = 11,23 \qquad \sigma_N = 4,67$$

The correlation between observations and the derived mortality functions is weak $(R^2=0,24)$. It is noted that the application of the depth-based mortality function derived for Orleans gives nearly the same correlation value.



Figure 8-19: Relationship between mortality and water depth for the St. Bernard bowl.

Finally, the effects of other hydraulic characteristics have been investigated. This analysis does not reveal a relationship between rise rate and mortality (see also section 8.7.5). Neither is a good relationship found between mortality and arrival time of the floodwater after breaching.

8.7.4 The Orleans East bowl

Although the New Orleans East bowl is one of the deepest areas of the city, the number of fatalities was relatively limited (68) and the average mortality relatively low (0,71%). The flooding of New Orleans East was caused by overtopping of levees and a number of smaller breaches. It is therefore expected that the rise rates and velocities in this area were less severe than in the other areas. One other aspect could be a higher evacuation rate for this area, but no information is available to verify this. Neither are flood simulations available for this bowl to examine the flood conditions such as the rise rate and the velocity. Therefore it is only possible to investigate relationship between water depth and mortality. Figure 8-20 shows the relationship between mortality and flood depth. The lognormal trendline gives a poor fit (R^2 =0,23) and it can be approximated with:



248



Figure 8-20: Relationship between mortality and water depth for the Orleans East bowl.

Comparison with the results for the other bowls shows that mortality rates in Orleans East are lower, although water depths were relatively high. Whether this lower mortality is associated with less severe circumstances (velocity, rise rate), higher evacuation rates or other factors²³ will have to be investigated in further research. Until that time the observations for the Orleans East bowl has not been included in the combined analysis in the next section.

8.7.5 Combined analysis for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls

In this section the observations and analyses for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls are combined. Firstly, it is observed that mortality was high in the breach zones characterised by high flow velocities and large numbers of severely damaged and collapsed buildings. For the St. Bernard bowl, these circumstances occurred in the Lower 9th Ward. In this area the (average) mortality was 5,3%. By approximation this breach zone was characterised by the following values of the depth velocity product: $hv>5m^2/s$. In the Orleans bowl these conditions did hardly appear and did not contribute to mortality.

For the remaining locations in the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls the following relationship between flood depth and mortality is obtained (see figure 8-21):

(Eq. 8-4)

(Eq. 8-3)

²³ One issue to consider is the fact that a large amount of homes in New Orleans were raised, so that the actual flood depths to which people were exposed are lower than suggested by the calculated average water depths (which include relatively low street level).

The correlation between observations and predictions is $R^2=0,42$, which is moderate²⁴. If the data of New Orleans East would be added to the analysed dataset (not shown in figure), the vertical position of the bestfit trendline would be lower and the correlation would decrease substantially.



Figure 8-21: Relationship between water depth and mortality for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls.

The available data for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls do not indicate a clear influence of the **rise rate** on mortality. Figure 8-22 shows the mortality as a function of rise rate for the two bowls. Although the rise rates in the Orleans bowl were significantly lower than in the St. Bernard bowl, the relationships between depth and mortality are very similar for the two bowls. The inclusion of the rise rate in the depth-mortality function does not lead to a better result²⁵. This is a striking result as previous analyses and anecdotal evidence from historical events suggested that rise rate was an important determinant of mortality (see sections 5 and 7.4). A further discussion regarding the influence of rise rate on mortality is given in section 8.8.2.

²⁴ It is better than the correlation that was obtained in section 7 for the locations in the remaining zone.

²⁵ Neither do the observations indicate the so-called threshold effect that has been assumed in section 7, where mortality suddenly increases when a certain value of the rise rate is exceeded.



Figure 8-22: Relationship between rise rate and mortality for the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls.

Summary of findings for New Orleans

Based on the above analyses the derived mortality functions for the flooding of New Orleans are summarized in figure 8-23.





When this approach is applied to the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls the estimated number of fatalities is 395, while the actual observed number for the considered locations is 404. There is a good correlation ($R^2=0,74$) between observed and calculated mortality fractions, see figure 8-24. Most of the observed mortality fractions are approximated with the proposed functions within a bandwidth of a factor 2.



Figure 8-24: Comparison by neighbourhood between observations and calculations with the derived mortality functions for mortality (left, $R^2=0.74$) and number of fatalities (right, $R^2=0.53$)

Remarks

The proposed mortality functions are applicable to mortality associated with the physical impacts of the flood. The occurrence of fatalities associated with the adverse public health situation is not included in the proposed functions. This group of fatalities proved to be substantial, covering approximately one third of the total number of recovered.

The proposed functions are preliminary given several issues. These will be discussed in more detail in section 8.8.4. Two major issues are the following: 1) the dataset of recovery locations is incomplete as it covers 69% of all fatalities; 2) The number of exposed people cannot be estimated adequately. These factors can cause uncertainties in the mortality fractions that have been used for the derivation of the above functions. Based on estimates for the two above-mentioned deviations²⁶, it is expected that the absolute lower and upper bounds of mortality for one location will maximally deviate by a factor 0,5 and 2,9 from the currently reported mortality. However, because under- and over-estimates for single observations will be averaged out to some extent, the deviations in the eventually derived mortality functions will be less.

8.8 Closing discussion

In this final section a number of issues are discussed. Section 8.8.1 gives a comparison between the mortality functions for New Orleans and those derived in section 7. The influence of the rise rate on mortality is discussed in section 8.8.2. The effects of changes in time on loss of life caused by floods are analysed in section 8.8.3. Finally, the preliminary status of the results is discussed in section 8.8.4.

²⁶ The dataset of recovery locations is incomplete and covers 69% of all fatalities. If it is assumed that the missing recovery locations have the same spatial distribution as the known recovery locations, all the numbers of fatalities can be scaled by a factor 1,45 (or 1/0,69) for an upper bound estimate. In a lower bound estimate the originally reported numbers are used. It is assumed that the uncertainty in the estimate of the exposed population is a factor 2. This implies that the exposed population varies between 5% and 20% of the original population. By combining these two factors the originally reported mortality fractions are scaled by a factor $\frac{1}{2}$ to obtain a lower bound estimate and by a factor $\frac{1}{45}/0,5=2,9$ to obtain an upper bound estimated.

8.8.1 Comparison with the mortality functions proposed in section 7

In this section, the derived mortality functions for Orleans and St. Bernard are compared with the mortality functions proposed in section 7. In general, the average mortality associated with the flooding of New Orleans (1,2%) is similar to the average event mortalities due to flood disasters in history (~1%). In New Orleans, many fatalities occurred in the deeper parts of the bowls, near breaches and in areas with many collapsed buildings. This is similar to the findings for historical events. Overall, the earlier proposed approach, in which different hazard zones in the flooded area are distinguished, also seems applicable to New Orleans. However, there are differences with respect to the hazard zones and the derived mortality functions. Table 8-4 gives a general comparison between the two approaches. Details are discussed below.

Table 8-4: Comparison between the earlier proposed approa	ch for loss of life estimation and the mortal-
ity functions derived for New Orleans	

Method	Section 7 of this thesis	Preliminary analysis for New Orleans
Data basis	Historical flood events (Netherlands and UK 1953, Japan 1959, etc.)	Preliminary data for New Orleans (Orleans and St. Bernard bowls)
Average event mortality	Netherlands 1953: <i>F_D</i> =0,007 Japan 1959: <i>F_D</i> =0,012	New Orleans: $F_D = 0,012$
Approach (hazard zones for a similar breach)	Zone with rapidly rising water Remaining zone	breach breach zone Remaining zone
Breach zone	hv>7m ² /s and v >2m/s F_D =1	hv>5m ² /s F_D =0,053 (larger breach zone, lower mortality)
Zone with rapidly rising waters	Steep mortality function and high mortality fractions (F_D =0,1 to 0,4) for areas with larger water depths (4 to 5m) and high rise rates.	No apparent influence of rise rate on mortality
Remaining zone	Mortality limited. Generally below F_{D} =0,015 even for larger water depths	Mortality can become F_D =0,03 for larger water depths (~4m).

The depth-velocity criterion derived to determine the size of **breach zone** for New Orleans is conceptually comparable to the proposed criterion for the breach zone in section 7. However, in New Orleans the collapse of buildings occurred at a lower depth velocity product ($hv > 5m^2/s$) than would be expected according to the criterion proposed for the breach zone in section 7 ($hv > 7m^2/s$ and v > 2m/s). Clausen (1989) originally derived this latter criterion for brick and masonry houses. Many of the houses in New Orleans are made out of wood and these are more vulnerable during a flood event. Therefore it is not surprising that destruction of buildings in New Orleans was observed at lower depth-velocity products than for brick or masonry houses.

In the earlier proposed method it has been assumed that all people exposed in the breach zone do not survive, i.e. F_D =1. However, even for the most severely affected breach zones in New Orleans, observed mortality did not exceed F_D =0,1. Based on this result it is expected that the earlier assumption of 100% mortality in the breach zone is too con-

servative. Overall, the approach derived based on the New Orleans data results in a larger breach zone than in the earlier proposed method, but mortality in the breach zone is lower.

The derived mortality function for the remaining areas of New Orleans is compared with the mortality functions for the remaining zone and the zone with rapidly rising waters that have been derived in section 7 (see figure 8-25). For water depths below 2,5m the function for New Orleans gives a somewhat higher mortality fraction than the functions proposed in section 7. The derived function for New Orleans is in between the earlier proposed functions for larger water depths (h>2,5m).





8.8.2 Discussion on the influence of rise rate on mortality

The analysis of the data of the New Orleans disaster does not indicate an influence of the rise rate on mortality (see results in section 8.7). This is a striking result as analyses and anecdotal evidence from historical events suggested that rise rate was an important determinant of mortality (see sections 5 and 7.4). A number of possible explanations is given below for the fact that the rise rate seemed less relevant for the New Orleans floods.

- The main hazard of rapidly rising water is that people are surprised and have little time to reach higher floors or shelters. During Katrina people could have been warned and prepared before the flooding associated with the levee breaches due to the hurricane warning, the wind effects or because of the initial flooding associated with heavy rains and / or overtopping of levees. These latter effects have not been taken into account in the flood simulations from which the rise rates were determined.
- Most of the fatalities were elderly and a number of them were disabled. For these people it would have been very difficult to reach higher floors, even if the rise rate was low.
- In New Orleans, hardly any collapse of buildings has been observed outside the direct breach zones (see also appendix 8.II). So even at locations where the waters

rose rapidly, people could still have found shelter in their homes. The analysis in section 7.4.7 indicated that the zones with rapidly rising waters in historical events were characterised by large numbers of collapsed buildings. Therefore the earlier proposed mortality function could be too conservative for the New Orleans situation.

- The historical disasters studied in section 7 mainly affected rural areas (e.g. the 1953 flood in the Netherlands). The New Orleans flood affected an urban area, which may have provided more opportunities for shelter in high buildings. In addition, the New Orleans area could include more (natural) high grounds than for example the extensive low-lying areas flooded in 1953 in the Netherlands.
- The behaviour of people in the flooded regions of New Orleans could have differed from the behaviour of people during historical disasters. For example, anecdotal descriptions of the 1953 storm surge in the Netherlands (Slager, 1992) suggest that many people were overwhelmed by floodwaters during their escape. One possibility is that during the New Orleans flood disaster a larger part of the population remained in their house.
- Uncertainties in the estimates of the numbers of killed and exposed (see below) and / or inaccuracies in the flood simulations could have influenced the analysis of the relationship between the rise rate and mortality.

Based on the available data it is not yet possible to draw a final conclusion on the influence of the rise rate on mortality. One likely explanation is that (apart from areas near breaches) the number of collapsed buildings in New Orleans was less than during historical events, such as the 1953 flood in the Netherlands. Further investigation of the influence of rise rate on mortality is recommended, also involving the effects of the collapse of buildings.

8.8.3 Discussion regarding the effects of changes in time on the loss of life caused by floods

The method proposed in section 7 has been mainly derived based on events that occurred in the 1950's, while the New Orleans flood occurred in 2005. Certain circumstances that affect flood mortality could have changed over time. Some argue that these changes will have mainly reduced the loss of life caused by flood events, see e.g. (Klijn *et al.*, 2006). Potentially positive developments include improvements of prediction, transportation, building quality, communication and possibilities of evacuation, emergency response and rescue. However, there are also developments that could have a negative influence, e.g. the dependence of modern societies on technical systems, such as electricity and communication and the fact that people are less used to withstand harsh natural conditions. As a result of these developments, it can be questioned whether the method for loss of life estimation that has been proposed in section 7 is representative for a contemporary flood event and whether or not it gives a too conservative estimate of the loss of life

The New Orleans flood disaster gave insight in the limitations of evacuation and emergency response. A majority of the population (80 to 90%) evacuated before the floods and this probably saved thousands of lives. However, the consequences for the people that stayed and were exposed to the floods were still disastrous. In addition, a severe crisis situation developed amongst evacuees and the people in hospitals and shelters. The situation after the flooding illustrated the difficulties to organise a fast and effective rescue action, see also (Select Bipartisan Committee, 2006).

In many respects the New Orleans flood is very comparable to historical large-scale flood events. Similar to historical events the mortality fractions in New Orleans were the highest in areas near breaches and in areas with large water depths. The overall mortality fraction amongst those exposed for the New Orleans flood is approximately 1,2%. This is comparable to or even larger than the average event mortalities observed for historical events, such as the floods in 1953 in the Netherlands (0,7%) and the floods in 1959 in Japan (1,2%). In addition, the New Orleans flood disaster was also characterised by some circumstances that were more favourable than during historical floods. For example, most people were warned of the hurricane and the water temperature²⁷ was higher than during historical disasters.

The analysis in the previous sections showed that the mortality functions derived from the New Orleans event are not fully similar to the mortality functions derived in section 7. The mortality function for the zones with rapidly rising waters that has been proposed in section 7 seems too conservative for the New Orleans case. One likely explanation is that (apart from areas near breaches) the number of collapsed buildings was less than during historical events. The mortality functions for New Orleans have been applied to flood scenarios in the Netherlands, see (Maaskant, 2007) for further details. This shows that these functions give a fatality estimate that is in the same order of magnitude as the estimates obtained with the method proposed in section 7. For most of these scenarios, the functions for New Orleans even lead to a somewhat higher estimate of loss of life (~15%) than the method from section 7.

Overall, the available data for New Orleans do not support the claim that mortality amongst those exposed during a contemporary flood event is lower than during historical events. McClelland and Bowles (2002) come to a similar conclusion for dam breaks and mention that mortality patterns are consistent across the centuries.

8.8.4 Status of the results and closing remarks

This section concerns a brief discussion of the status of the analyses that have been reported in the previous sections. It is very important to stress that the results are preliminary for a number of reasons.

Firstly, the applied mortality data are still incomplete and cover approximately 70% of all fatalities. In addition, the analysis of mortality functions is limited to the Orleans and St. Bernard bowls. The Orleans East bowl is excluded from the analysis because no results of flood simulations were available for this bowl, but a different relationship between mortality and flood characteristics seems to be applicable to this area.

Secondly, various crude assumptions have been made in the analysis of the number of people exposed. For all the considered areas it has been assumed that 10% of the original

²⁷ The water temperature during the flooding of New Orleans was high (25°C to 30°C (Pardue *et al.*, 2006)), thus hypothermia of people in the floodwater was not a likely death cause during this event. The 1953 flood disaster in the Netherlands occurred during winter time and many people drowned in the cold waters.

population was exposed. However, spatial differences in evacuation rates and exposed populations could have a very large effect on the resulting mortality values. It is recommended to investigate the spatial distribution of evacuation and shelter rates for the flooded areas of New Orleans, e.g. by means of surveys amongst evacuees.

Thirdly, results of the flood simulations have been used to estimate flood characteristics. Limitations in these simulations could influence the outcomes. Examples of limitations are the limited capabilities to model wide breaches or neglecting of the effects of rainfall, see de Bruijn (2006) and Maaskant (2007) for further discussion. Also the fact that flood characteristics (e.g. depth and rise rate) have been averaged out per neighbourhood could affect the outcomes, because substantial variations between flood characteristics within one neighbourhood could exist.

Given the above issues, the detailed results regarding the influence of flood characteristics on mortality have to be considered as indicative and preliminary. It is recommended to collect more accurate data regarding fatalities, the exposed population and the flood characteristics. One important factor that deserves further investigation is the influence of the collapse of buildings on mortality. Eventually, based on more complete analyses, an improved method for loss of life estimation may be derived from the New Orleans data in the future.

Despite the limitations, the reported results give important insight in the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality. Also, the analysis confirms that average mortality amongst the exposed population is in the order of magnitude of 1% for this type of large-scale flood event. These insights can be used for consequence and risk analyses and as input for decision-making. An application is the analysis of the effectiveness of measures to reduce the consequences of flooding. Examples of such measures are evacuation, shelter, compartment dikes and land use planning. Furthermore, estimates of loss of life are important in the context of flood risk assessment. The risk assessment can be used for decision support in the development of plans for future protection of New Orleans against flooding, see also (LACPR, 2006b). An example of the application of flood risk analysis for an area in the Netherlands is presented in next section. 9

Case study: Flood risk assessment for dike ring South Holland

Research question: How can the proposed method for loss of life estimation be applied to the quantification and evaluation of the flood risk in the Netherlands?

Keywords: flood risk, loss of life, flood defence, quantitative risk analysis, risk acceptance

In this section the flood risks are assessed for a case study area in the Netherlands, namely the dike ring area South Holland. The presented analyses are based on the methods proposed in the previous sections of this thesis and information from the project 'Flood risk and safety in the Netherlands' (FLORIS), see (Rijkswaterstaat, 2005; Melisie, 2006; Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006) for further background. Section 9.1 gives general background information regarding flood defence in the Netherlands and the case study area, dike ring South Holland. The methods used for risk quantification are summarised in section 9.2. Results are presented in section 9.3. As a contribution to the evaluation of the acceptability of the determined risk, a comparison of the flood risk with the risks in other sectors is presented in section 9.4. The calculated flood risk levels are compared with existing criteria for the evaluation of risk acceptance (section 9.5). Concluding remarks are given in section 9.6.

9.1 Introduction

9.1.1 Flood defence in the Netherlands

Large parts of the Netherlands are below sea the level or the high water levels in the rivers and lakes. Without the protection of dikes, dunes and hydraulic structures (e.g. storm surge barriers) large parts of the country would be flooded regularly. Due to this situation the Netherlands has a long history of flood disasters (see also section 5.3). The last disastrous flood occurred in 1953. A storm surge from the North Sea flooded large parts of the Southwest of the country. More than 1800 people died during this disaster and it caused enormous economic damage.

Until 1953 dikes were constructed to withstand the highest known water level. After the 1953 flood the Delta Committee was installed to investigate the possibilities for a new approach towards flood defence. The committee proposed to reduce the vulnerability by shortening the coastline and closing off the estuaries. In addition, safety standards for flood defences were proposed. In an econometric analysis the optimal safety level was determined for the largest flood prone area, South Holland (van Dantzig, 1956). In this optimisation approach the incremental investments in more safety are balanced with the reduction of the risk. The work of the Delta Committee laid the foundations for the new safety approach, in which dikes are dimensioned based on a design water level with a certain probability of exceedance. The current design criteria and the process for safety evaluation of the flood defences are based on these design water levels. This approach to flood protection is laid down in the flood protection act of 1996.

The flood prone areas in the Netherlands are divided in so-called **dike ring areas**, i.e. areas protected against floods by a series of water defences (dikes, dunes, hydraulic structures) and high grounds. The safety standards for the various dike rings are shown in figure 9-1. The height of these standards depends on the (economic) value of the area and the source of flooding (coast or river). For coastal areas design water levels have been chosen with exceedance frequencies of 1/4000 per year and 1/10.000 per year. For the Dutch river area the safety standards were set at 1/1250 per year and 1/2000 per year. Some smaller dike ring areas bordering the river Meuse in the south of the country have a safety standard of 1/250 per year.



Figure 9-1: Dike ring areas in the Netherlands and safety standards (source: Rijkswaterstaat DWW). Dike ring areas along the river Meuse are not shown.

These safety standards have mostly been derived in the 1960's. Since then, the population and economic value in these dike ring areas have grown drastically. A recent investigation (RIVM, 2004) therefore concluded that these standards are no longer in proportion to economic and societal values which are protected. In the last decade the Dutch Ministry of

Transport, Public Works and Water Management has initiated projects to investigate and evaluate the flood risk, see (Rijkswaterstaat, 2005; MinVenW, 2006). Outcomes of these projects will be used to assess and evaluate the level of flood risk in the Netherlands and the need for alteration of the current policies and standards.

9.1.2 Study area: dike ring South Holland

South Holland (dike ring number 14) is the largest dike ring in the Netherlands. It is the most densely populated area in the country and it includes major cities such as Amsterdam, Rotterdam and Den Haag. The area has 3,6 million inhabitants and the total potential direct economic damage is estimated at 290 billion Euros (Melisie, 2006). Figure 9-2 gives an overview of the area and the main cities. It is noted that the area of the dike ring South Holland is nearly the same as the surface of the province of South Holland. In the remainder of this section the term South Holland is used to indicate the dike ring area.

The area is threatened by floods from the North Sea and the river system in the South (the Nieuwe Waterweg and Hollandsche IJssel). The flood defence system consists of sand dunes along the coast and earthen dikes along the rivers. As part of the Delta works, storm surge barriers have been constructed in the river system (e.g. the Maeslant barrier near Hoek van Holland and a barrier in the Hollandsche IJssel) to prevent that storm surge floods at the North Sea lead to flooding in the lower river system. Depending on the location of a breach, substantial parts of this dike ring can be flooded, as the area includes some of the deepest parts of the Netherlands. Some of these areas are almost 6 metres below mean sea level.



Figure 9-2: Overview of dike ring South Holland. Breach locations that are used for analysis of flood scenarios are indicated in the figure with dots.

In the remainder of this section the risks associated with a flood due to breaching of primary flood defences (dikes, dunes) have been considered¹. Assessment of the risk for this area is of particular interest as: 1) it is the largest dike ring area in the Netherlands with the highest potential damage; 2) the first safety standard and the corresponding design water level (with a 1/10.000 year probability of exceedance) were determined for this area by the Delta Committee in the 1960's and 3) it can be flooded from the coast and rivers, leading to different damage patterns and particular challenges with respect to evacuation. Results of risk quantification for this area can be used as input for the discussion on the acceptance of the flood risk for the Netherlands.

9.2 Method for flood risk analysis

Methods for the analysis of flood risk, see e.g. (van Manen and Brinkhuis, 2005; Apel *et al.*, 2006), generally include three main steps: 1) determination of the probability of flooding; 2) simulation of flood characteristics and 3) assessment of the consequences. Below, the methods are summarised that have been used for these steps in the FLORIS project and the analyses in this study.

9.2.1 Determination of the probability of flooding

In assessing the probability of failure of a flood defence system it is necessary to take into account that failure of different elements in the system and (for each element) different failure mechanisms can lead to flooding (Vrijling, 2001). The elements in the studied system include dune and dike sections and hydraulic structures. Typical failure mechanisms for a river dike include overflowing, instability and seepage / piping. An advanced program for reliability analysis of ring dike systems has been developed: PC-RING. It considers all principal dike failure modes for the elements in a dike ring², see (Lassing *et al.*, 2003; Steenbergen *et al.*, 2004) for a further description. The method uses a Bayesian probability concept (see section 1.2.4) implying that large knowledge uncertainties (e.g. limited information regarding geotechnical properties of the dike) will result in a conservative estimate of the flooding probability. The method has been used to estimate the probabilities for different flood scenarios and the overall probability of flooding of South Holland. Results are present below.

9.2.2 Simulation of flood characteristics

To assess the damage of a flood it is necessary to have an understanding of its hydraulic characteristics, such as depth, velocity, rise rate and arrival time. These are determined for a so-called flood scenario. A flood scenario refers to one breach or a set of multiple breaches in the dike ring and the resulting pattern of flooding, including the flood characteristics. For South Holland several flood scenarios have been analysed to account for the differences in flood patterns and resulting consequences. For each flood scenario the location of breaching, the outside hydraulic load conditions (water level, waves) and breach growth rate have been determined.

¹ Additional risks might be associated with flooding due to local rainfall or breaching of dikes along the local drainage canals in South Holland.

² In addition, dependencies can exist between the safety of different dike rings. For example when the flooding of one dike ring reduces water levels in the river and increases the safety of a dike ring situated downstream. This is indicated as 'system behaviour', see (van Mierlo *et al.*, 2003) and (van der Wiel, 2003) for further details.

The development of the flood flow in the area has been simulated with a two dimensional hydraulic model (Sobek 1D2D). An example of the output of a flood simulation is given in figure 9-3. It is noted that the presence of line elements in the area, such as roads, railways and dikes, could influence the flood flow as they may act as compartment dikes that block the flood flow. These effects have not been taken into account in the analyses presented in this section, as line elements appeared to have limited and sometimes even negative effect on loss of life³, see also (Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006).



Figure 9-3: Example of output of a flood simulation showing maximum water depth for a flood scenario with breaches at Den Haag and Ter Heijde.

9.2.3 Assessment of the consequences

The consequences for different flood scenarios can be estimated based on the outputs of flood simulations and information regarding population density and spatial distribution of economic assets. The direct financial economic damages have been calculated with existing damage functions (Kok *et al.*, 2005). These relate the damage level (as fraction of total value) to the occurring water depth. Below, the proposed approach for estimation on loss of life is briefly summarised. Other damage categories, such as the number of injuries and losses of ecological and historical values, have not been analysed.

³ However, the flooded area and economic damage are expected to decrease significantly due to the presence of these line elements.

Loss of life has been determined with the method proposed in section 7. First, the exposed population for each flood scenario is analysed based on the time available before flooding and the time required for evacuation. The time available is determined by the possibilities to predict the flood, leading to different available times for coastal and river flooding. The time required is determined with an evacuation model (van Zuilekom *et al.*, 2005), also taking into account delays due to decision-making, warning and response of the population. As output, the evacuated fraction of the population in the exposed area is obtained.

The reduction of the number of exposed due to shelter is found by assuming that inhabitants of high rise buildings find shelter within the exposed area. The effects of rescue are not accounted for as it is expected that the rescue capacities will be insufficient to rescue substantial parts of the population during a large-scale flood (see also section 7.3.4).

The number of people exposed has been determined for different types of evacuation that affect the evacuation success, see figure 9-4. The type of flood mainly influences the time available, while the level of organisation of the evacuation influences the time required. Each situation results in a certain number of evacuated and people exposed.



Figure 9-4: Distinguished situations with respect to evacuation and exposed population (Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006).

For risk quantification the (conditional) probabilities for these different evacuation types that could occur within one flood scenario need to be known. Based on expert judgement, conditional probabilities for these situations have been estimated⁴ (Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006). As an example, estimates of (conditional) probabilities for different evacuation types for a coastal flood scenario in South Holland are indicated in figure 9-4. Consequently the loss of life is calculated for each situation by means of the dose response functions derived in section 7. Model uncertainties in these results are also presented by using the derived confidence intervals for the dose response functions.

⁴ Depending on the type of threat (coast vs. river) and the most important failure mechanism (e.g. piping which occurs often rather unexpectedly) different values for the conditional probabilities of an unexpected and predicted flood can be chosen. The level of preparation and time available will determine the likeliness of an organised evacuation. Based on analysis of these factors a better foundation of the estimates of these conditional probabilities is recommended.

9.3 Results of risk quantification

In this section the results of risk quantification are presented. First, probability and consequence estimates for different flood scenarios in South Holland are presented (section 9.3.1). These are used in section 9.3.2 to calculate the individual and societal risk.

9.3.1 Probability and consequence estimates

Probabilities have been determined for various flood scenarios. Table 9–1 shows the probabilities for the ten most likely scenarios (Melisie, 2006). It is noted that these include some flood scenarios with breaches at multiple locations. Breach locations are indicated in figure 9-2. The overall probability of flooding for dike ring South Holland is estimated at 3,94.10⁻⁴ per year, or approximately once in 2500 years (Rijkswaterstaat, 2005). In addition, the calculated financial-economic consequences are presented in the table.

Table 9-1: Probabilities and economic consequences for flood scenarios for dike ring South Holland, from (Melisie, 2006)

Breach location(s)	Probability (1/yr)	Economic damage (10º Euro)	
Rotterdam – Kralingen	1,36.10-4	6,8	
Den Haag – Boulevard	1,19.10-4	1,9	
Den Haag - Scheveningen	7,63.10-5	3,6	
Katwijk	2,44.10-5	11,3	
Hoek van Holland	1,15.10-5	2,0	
Katwijk and Den Haag	8,36.10-6	6,0	
Den Haag and Ter Heijde	7,23.10-6	22,8	
Rotterdam West	4,89.10-6	2,5	
Rotterdam East	3,65.10-6	5,7	
Katwijk, Den Haag and Ter Heijde	2,23.10-6	37,2	

It is noted that the presented economic damages for the flood scenarios are substantially smaller than the absolute maximum possible economic damage for dike ring South Holland. That value, 290 billion Euros, would occur if the whole area of the dike ring South Holland was completely flooded. This indicates that the flood scenarios in South Holland are only expected to flood a limited part of the whole area. Yet, the damage values are still very large.

In order to analyse the loss of life it is necessary to investigate the effects of evacuation on the number of people exposed for different evacuation types (see figure 9-4). For South Holland the most dangerous situations are caused by coastal storm surges. For these events the time available for evacuation (i.e. expected time between prediction and dike breach) is generally limited, and estimated to be between 10 and 20 hours. Analyses with an evacuation model show that the required time for complete evacuation of (parts of) South Holland is often more than 24 hours and sometimes more than 50 hours (Van der Doef and Cappendijk, 2006). It is expected that only a small fraction of the population can be evacuated in case of a (threatening) flood of South Holland. Depending on the considered flood scenario and the type of evacuation (organised or disorganised) the evacuated fraction of the population ranges between 0,2 (for a predicted flood) and 0,01 (for an unexpected flood), results are reported in more detail in (Van der Doef and Cappendijk, 2006).

These findings imply that it is expected that only a very limited fraction of the population of South Holland can be evacuated in case of a (threatening) flood.

Based on these results the number of fatalities is determined for different scenarios and evacuation types, see table 9-2. Also, the number of people exposed in the flooded area for a situation without evacuation is presented. The number of people exposed is smaller than the population in the flooded area due to the effects of shelter. Depending on the exposed area the sheltered fraction of the population varies between 0,06 and 0,16.

		Fatalities			
Flood cooperio	People exposed in flooded area	Unexpected flood		Predicted flood	
		No evacuation	Disorganised evacuation	Disorganised evacuation	Organised evacuation
Rotterdam – Kralingen	180.880	1070	1060	900	860
Den Haag - Boulevard	112.140	110	100	100	100
Den Haag - Scheveningen	179.270	230	220	210	210
Katwijk	205.960	400	380	340	330
Hoek van Holland	102.690	110	100	100	100
Katwijk and Den Haag	299.280	550	530	470	460
Den Haag and Ter Heijde	706.650	3460	3290	3210	3170
Rotterdam West	107.440	190	180	170	170
Rotterdam East	187.840	600	600	510	480
Katwijk, Den Haag and Ter Heijde	1.016.560	5090	4850	4720	4670

Table 9-2: People at risk and numbers of fatalities for each flood scenario (rounded by decimals). A distinction is made between different evacuation types.

As an example the output for the scenario with breaches at Den Haag and Ter Heijde is considered. The estimated number of fatalities is more than 3400 and without evacuation more than 700.000 people are exposed. Figure 9-5 shows the spatial distribution of the number of fatalities. The majority of fatalities, nearly 1900, occur in areas with rapidly rising waters and deep flood depths, for example South of Den Haag.



Figure 9-5: Fatalities by neighbourhood and flooded area for the scenario with breaches at Den Haag and Ter Heijde

Sensitivities and uncertainties

For the considered scenarios most fatalities occur within zones with rapidly rising water and the remaining zones. The breach zone hardly contributes⁵ to the overall number of fatalities. The number of fatalities in the zones with rapidly rising waters is sensitive to the values of the rise rates used as input.

Some important sensitivities and uncertainties are discussed below. The consequences for a single scenario are strongly influenced by the choice of outside hydraulic load conditions (storm surge height and duration), and the modelling of breach growth and the course of flooding⁶. Population response and behaviour might affect evacuation success and loss of life. The number of fatalities is proportional to the number of people exposed. The number of evacuated thus has an important influence on the number of fatalities. For risk quantification the selection of the considered scenarios and the probabilities of these scenarios have an important influence on the outcomes. Above, mostly single breaches have been considered. However, if the simultaneous occurrence of multiple breaches would become more likely this would lead to the increase of consequence and risk levels. In this respect it is noted that documentation of historical coastal floods shows that these have been always characterised by multiple breaches⁷.

⁵ For most of the scenarios 0 fatalities occur in the breach zone, as the area covered by the breach zone is relatively small and does not cover populated areas.

⁶ One important aspect for the course of flooding is the effect of line elements, such as roads, railways and old dikes, on the flood flow, see also (Melisie, 2006) for a discussion regarding these effects in South Holland.

⁷ Many historical coastal flood disasters were characterised by multiple breaches. Examples are the 1916 floods in the Netherlands (22 breaches) (Rijkswaterstaat, 1916) 1953 floods in the Netherlands (±140 breaches), the 1966 floods in Hamburg (more than 10) (Kolb, 1962) and the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina (±25 breaches).

Model uncertainties in the mortality functions and the resulting loss of life calculations have been determined by means of the confidence intervals derived in section 7. Results are reported in appendix 9.I. In addition, inherent uncertainty in the fatality estimate could arise due to variation in the outcomes of exposure of people (see section 4). For large-scale floods it is expected that this type of uncertainty has a minor influence⁸ and it is therefore not analysed further.

Overall, given the above sensitivities and the lack of knowledge of the course of flood events, the presented consequence and risk numbers must be considered as indicative, but best estimates. They provide insight in the magnitude of consequences and risks of flood-ing. A further discussion on the use of the outcomes in decision-making is included in section 9.5.5.

Discussion of results

Results indicate that a flood of dike ring South Holland can cause hundreds to thousands of fatalities. The largest numbers⁹ for the exposed population (1 million - without evacuation) and loss of life (around 5000) are found for the scenario with multiple breaches along the coast, i.e. at Katwijk, Den Haag and Ter Heijde. This flood scenario affects a large part of the western part of South Holland, yet with a small probability (~2.10⁻⁶ per year). Evacuation for South Holland is not very effective (see above). Therefore there are small differences between fatality number for different types of evacuation for a single flood scenario.

Mortality varies between 0,1% and 0,6% with an average of 0,3% for the considered scenarios. These rates are in the same order of magnitude as the (average) mortality fractions for global floods reported in section 5.2 (¹⁰). In a similar way other relationships between the reported consequence categories (i.e. fatalities, exposed and economic damage) can be investigated, see appendix 9.II for an analysis. This shows that there is a strong correlation between the following consequence categories: number of people exposed, number of fatalities and economic damage.

The results presented above can be compared with estimates of loss of life for flooding of South Holland from past studies. Asselman and Jonkman (2003) estimated that 70.000 fatalities could occur for a very extreme flood of South Holland without evacuation. A study by RIVM (2004) gives a lower limit of 2500 fatalities and an upper bound of 139.500 fatalities. In all studies it was assumed that almost the whole area of dike ring South Holland was flooded. The outcomes presented in this thesis are significantly lower, indicating that a more detailed assessment of flood pattern, evacuation and loss of life could result in a reduction of the estimated loss of life.

⁸ Independence of individual resistances is assumed for the studied situation. In this case a Binomial distribution can be applied to describe uncertainty in the outcomes of a flood single scenario. The number of exposed is large (N_{EXP} >100.000) and mortality relatively small ($F_D \approx 0.01$). Using equation 4-11 it can be shown for these values that the standard deviation of the Binomial distribution is very small relative to its average. In this case the Binomial distribution approximates a deterministic outcome.

⁹ In theory, more extreme scenarios with more fatalities might be possible. These scenarios have not been considered in this study as they have a very small probability ($<< 10^{-6}$ per year).

¹⁰ For global coastal floods the average mortality is F_D =0,01; for river floods F_D =0,0049.

9.3.2 Risk quantification

Based on the above information regarding probabilities and consequences individual and societal risk are quantified. Based on the available data it would also be possible to determine the economic risk, e.g. in the format of an expected damage or a so-called frequency-damage or FD curve.

Individual risk

Firstly individual risk (IR) is determined for South Holland with the following formula (Jonkman, 2001)¹¹:

$$IR(x, y) = \sum_{i} P_{f,i} F_{D|i}(x, y)$$
(Eq. 9-1)

Where: IR(x,y) – Individual risk at location (x,y) [yr⁻¹]; $P_{f,i}$ – probability of occurrence of flood scenario i [yr⁻¹]; $F_{D|i}(x,y)$ – mortality at location (x,y) given flood scenario i [-]

In the elaboration of individual risk in this study, permanent and unprotected presence of people in the area is assumed and the effects of evacuation are thus neglected. This concept is thereby consistent with the definitions used in the Netherlands in the so-called external safety domain¹². The individual risk becomes a characteristic of location and is useful for spatial planning. It is possible to take the effects of evacuation into account in the determination of individual risk, see also (Jonkman, 2001). For this case that would only lead to a very small reduction of individual risk as possibilities for evacuation in South Holland are very limited (see above).

Figure 9-6 shows the individual risk for South Holland. The highest individual risk (-10^{-4} per year) is found for deep areas exposed by scenarios with (relatively) high probabilities, e.g. in the areas Northeast of Rotterdam and South of Den Haag. This individual risk value is in the same order of magnitude as the flooding probability for the most likely flood scenario (see also section 3). For most of the areas in South Holland the individual risk is relatively low (below 10^{-6} per year), see also further discussion in section 9.5.3.

¹¹ This formula is the discrete version of the continuous formula proposed in section 3.3.3

¹² The external safety domain is concerned with (the risks) of transport and storage of dangerous goods, and airport safety in the Netherlands



Figure 9-6: Individual risk for South Holland

Societal risk

Next, the societal risk is determined by means of an FN curve and the expected number of fatalities. In the analysis of societal risk, the effects of evacuation and the probabilities of different evacuation types have been taken into account. Figure 9-7 shows the average¹³ FN curve including uncertainty bounds¹⁴. Only uncertainties in consequences are included here. The intersection with the vertical axis equals the flooding probability of South Holland (i.e. 3,94.10⁻⁴ yr⁻¹). The vertical limit at the right hand side of the curve corresponds to maximum number of fatalities (5090) and it is associated with the scenario with the largest consequences⁹. As proposed by Jongejan *et al.* (2005b), it is possible to approximate the calculated FN curve by an analytical distribution in exponential format¹⁵. Such an approximation could be useful for simplified analytical analyses of the risk level and risk acceptance. This approximating curve is also shown in the figure.

15 Jongejan *et al.* (2005b) propose to use an exponential distribution to approximate (numerical) FN curves for different sectors. He uses the following formula: $1 - F_N(n) = \frac{E(N)}{E(N|f)} e^{\left(\frac{n-1}{E(N|f)}\right)}$

¹³ The average FN curve is based on the average dose response function derived in section 7. A symmetrical conditional distribution for model uncertainty is assumed. In that case the average and median dose response functions and the average and median FN curves are the same (see also section 4.1).

¹⁴ Due to the logarithmic scale of the horizontal axis, the 2,5% and 97,5% curves have different horizontal distances to the average FN curve.

Where: E(N) – expected number of fatalities in the system (fat / yr); E(N|f) – expected number of fatalities given an accident (fat.). By using this formula an exponential approximation is found for the FN curve of flooding of South Holland (see figure 9-7).



Figure 9-7: FN curve for flooding of South Holland: average FN curve, confidence intervals (2,5% and 97,5%) and exponential approximation

Figure 9-8 shows the average FN curve with the F-exposed curve. The FN and F-exposed curve are nearly parallel. Both are related via the mortality.



Figure 9-8: FN curve for South Holland and F-exposed curve

Based on the probabilities and fatality numbers for the scenarios, the expected number of fatalities can be determined¹⁶. This yields: E(N)=0,21 fat/yr. The standard deviation equals: $\sigma(N)=16,1$ fat/yr (see discussion below).

Based on this information the values for other risk measures can be calculated, for example for the risk integral and total risk (see also section 3.3.4). In addition, the expected number and the standard deviation of the exposed population can be determined: $E(N_{EXP})=62,1 \text{ pers/yr}$ $\sigma(N_{EXP})=3670 \text{ pers/yr}$

For this type of small probability – large consequence event the expected number of fatalities per year is generally relatively small. However, for this type of event the number of fa-

¹⁶ The expected value can also be found by integrating the area under the FN curve (Vrijling and van Gelder, 1997).

talities in one single event can be large, resulting in a large standard deviation. Such events have limited weight in risk neutral decision rules or risk criteria in which the expected number of fatalities is included. However, the so-called risk aversion against these large accidents can be taken into account in risk limits (see also sections 1.2.2 and 9.5).

9.4 Comparison of the societal risk for flooding with other sectors

In this section the calculated societal flood risks for South Holland are compared with those in other sectors in the Netherlands. Similar analyses have been presented by Jonkman (2001) and RIVM (2004). Figure 9-9 depicts the FN curve for traffic accidents¹⁷ and external safety¹⁸ in the Netherlands and the calculated FN curve for flooding of South Holland. For frequent accidents, e.g. traffic accidents, the frequency can become larger than once per year. The figure shows that deadly traffic accidents occur frequently, but that the consequences of individual events are restricted to a limited number of fatalities (<6). Accidents in external safety have a small probability but large potential consequences.



Figure 9-9: FN curve for traffic (one year), external safety at a national scale and flood risk for South Holland

The societal risk for flooding of South Holland is larger than the risk for the external safety domain (for events with more than 100 fatalities). The FN curves for other dike ring areas have to be added to obtain the societal risk for flooding at a national scale. Based on the above results, it is expected that the flood risks in the Netherlands are higher than the risks for external safety. In general, the presented results confirm the outcomes of previous studies (Jonkman, 2001; RIVM, 2004) that also concluded that the societal risk of flooding at a national scale is higher than the societal risk for the external safety domain¹⁹.

¹⁷ Observations for the year 2003 with in total 940 fatalities; source Rijkswaterstaat AVV.

¹⁸ The external safety domain covers the risks of storage and transportation of dangerous goods and airports. Source of risk estimates: Milieu en Natuur Compendium (http://www.mnp.nl/mnc/i-nl-0303.html (31-5-06)).

¹⁹ However, the differences between external risks and flood risks are not as large as reported in previous studies, e.g. (RIVM, 2004), especially with respect to consequences. See also (Jonkman and Cappendijk, 2006) for a further discussion.

The above comparison gives insight into the relative magnitude of the risks in different domains. It is noted that other risk measures, such as the expected number of fatalities and individual risk, can be used to compare different risk domains. These types of information can be of interest for policy makers and could be used for a discussion about the necessary expenditures on risk reduction in different sectors. However, when comparing different risk sectors in decision-making it is necessary to take into account the characteristics of the activities. For example, the perception of the activity and the benefits associated with the activity are important, see also (RIVM, 2004) and (Jongejan, 2006) for a further discussion.

9.5 Evaluation of the flood risk

In this section the application of existing criteria for risk evaluation to the flood risk of the case study area is investigated. First, a previously proposed framework for risk evaluation is summarised (9.5.1). Within this framework a method is proposed for the distribution of the acceptable societal risk over installations with different sizes, such as dike rings (9.5.2). Consequently, the calculated flood risk levels are compared with the obtained risk limits in section 9.5.3.

9.5.1 Framework for risk evaluation

An important issue in the assessment of the risks is the evaluation of the acceptability of risks. Many different approaches are available for the quantitative evaluation of risk (see also section 1.3.5 for a discussion). Below, the flood risks for South Holland are compared to an existing framework for the evaluation of risks. It has been developed in previous publications (TAW, 1985; Vrijling *et al.*, 1995; Stallen *et al.*, 1996; Vrijling *et al.*, 1998). The proposed risk criteria can be seen as technical advice to policy makers. Later studies illustrated the usefulness of this approach for different fields of application, such as tunnels (Arends *et al.*, 2004) and flood protection (Jonkman, 2001). Within the framework the risks are evaluated from both an individual and a societal point of view. Moreover the societal perception of the considered activity is considered, as well as the investments in risk reduction in the context of a cost benefit framework. The three elements in the framework are briefly summarised below. For further background information and explanation reference is made to the earlier mentioned literature.

Firstly, a criterion for the limitation of individual risk is applied:

 $IR < \beta 10^{-4}$ (Eq. 9-2)

In this expression the value of the policy factor β [-] varies according to the degree to which participation in the activity is voluntary and with the perceived benefit. Proposed values for β are between 0,01 for involuntary activities (exposure to the risks of a hazardous installation) and 100 (e.g. for mountaineering, a voluntary activity for personal benefit), see table 9-3. The limitation of the individual risk for all citizens ensures that no one will be disproportionally exposed to the risk and it thus ensures equity.

β	Voluntary	Benefit	Example
100	Completely voluntary	Direct benefit	Mountaineering
10	Voluntary	Direct benefit	Motorbiking
1	Neutral	Direct benefit	Car driving
0,1	Involuntary	Some benefit	Factory
0,01	Involuntary	No benefit	LPG station

Table 9-3: Value of policy factor β as a function of characteristics of the activity (Vrijling *et al.*, 1998)

Secondly, a criterion for the judgement of societal risk is needed. The aggregated level of risk on a national scale could still be considered unacceptable even when the individual risks are considered acceptable. The acceptable societal risk for an installation can be limited as follows:

$$1 - F_N(n) < C_I / n^{\alpha}$$
 (Eq. 9-3)

Where: C_I – constant that determines the vertical position of he FN limit line for one installation [yr⁻¹ fat^{- α}]; α – risk aversion coefficient that determines the steepness of the FN curve.

In further analysis we assume a steepness of the limit line α =2. This steepness reflects risk aversion towards large accidents and is also used in other sectors in the Netherlands²⁰. For events with small probability and large consequences it can be shown that the above criterion basically limits the standard deviation of the number of fatalities. It is proposed to decide on the acceptability of societal risk of an activity on a national scale in a societal debate first. Consequently the nationally acceptable risk can be distributed over single installations in order to obtain a constant for each installation C_p see next section.

Finally, (aspects of) the decision problem the acceptable level of risk can be formulated as an economic decision problem. This third criterion aims at achieving an economically optimal risk level. The total costs in a system (C_{tot}) are determined by the sum of the expenditure for a safer system (I) and the expected value of the economic damage (E(D)).

$$C_{tot} = I + E(D)$$

(Eq. 9-4)

In the optimal economic situation the total costs in the system are minimised. With this criterion the optimal probability of failure of a system can be determined, provided that the investments (*I*) and the expected economic damage²¹ (E(D)) are a function of the probability of failure²². A well-known example of this approach is given by van Dantzig (1956), who derived an economically optimal level of risk for flood defence systems in the Netherlands.

Due to the combination of these three criteria a coherent framework for risk evaluation is obtained that takes into account the most important consequence types (economic damage and loss of life). It approaches the problem of acceptable risk from different points of view

²⁰ Here, it is only noted that there is a lot of discussion in literature on the use of the FN limit lines and the appropriate steepness, see e.g. Evans and Verlander (1997) and (Ball and Floyd, 1998)

²¹ It is also possible to take the economic value of loss of life into account (and other consequence types) in the estimation of economic damage.

²² In a more complete analysis measures that reduce the consequences could also be included in the economic optimisation, see e.g. Jongejan and Vrijling (2006), Jonkman *et al.* (2003).

(individual and societal; equity and efficiency). In order to ensure that all three criteria are sufficiently fulfilled, the most stringent of three criteria should be applied as the limit.

9.5.2 Distribution of acceptable societal risk over objects with different sizes

In the framework discussed above it is proposed to first decide on the acceptability of societal risk for an activity on a national scale. Based on earlier work by (Vrijling *et al.*, 1995; Stallen *et al.*, 1996) the following formula can be used for the constant that determines the vertical position of the limit line at a national scale.

$$C_N = \left(\frac{\beta 100}{k}\right)^2 \tag{Eq. 9-5}$$

Where: C_N – constant in formula 9-2 that determines the height of the FN limit line at a national scale; k – risk aversion factor, usually k=3; β - policy factor that determines risk acceptance (see section 9.5.1)

Consequently, the nationally acceptable societal risk needs to be distributed over single installations or objects to obtain a criterion to the acceptable risk for one object²³. For a certain number of identical objects (N_p) the following expression has been proposed (Vrijling *et al.*, 1995):

$$C_I = \left(\frac{\beta 100}{k\sqrt{N_I}}\right)^2 \tag{Eq. 9-6}$$

This equation shows that there is an inverse linear relationship between C_I and number of objects in case of objects with identical size. However, the distribution of the nationally acceptable societal risk over individual objects with different sizes has not been substantiated further in existing work. Below, first proposals concerning this distribution issue are given to stimulate further thinking and elaboration, see also (Jongejan *et al.*, 2005).

It seems reasonable to distribute the nationally acceptable risk over objects according to the relative size of an object at a national scale. A variable I_I is defined that represents the production or intensity of use of an object, e.g. the number of flights at a local airport. Then, the following formula can be used to determine the height of the FN limit line for each object:

$$C_I = \frac{I_I}{I_N} C_N = \frac{I_I}{I_N} \left(\frac{\beta 100}{k}\right)^2$$
(Eq. 9-7)

Where: C_N – height of FN limit line at a national scale; I_I – production of object; I_N – production at the national scale.

An object that is more intensely used would be provided with a larger part of the national risk budget than a smaller object. As larger objects generally produce more benefits for

²³ The term object could refer to various objects such as airports, chemical installations, flood prone areas.

society, the acceptable risk is thereby related to the benefits of the activity²⁴. To make this approach operational it is necessary to define indicators for intensity of use for different applications. Table 9-4 gives an overview of indicators that can be used to determine the relative weight of each object for different applications²⁵ has to be applied.

Table 9-4: Proposed objects and indicators for distributing the nationally acceptable societal risk over different objects.

Application	Installation / object	Indicators for production or intensity
Flood protection	Dike ring	Number of inhabitants
Third party risks airports	Airport	Number of flights
Storage and treatment of hazardous materials	Installation	Volume / weight of stored materials

Following this approach a large national airport with many flights can have a larger societal risk than a small local airport with a limited number of flights. A certain minimum level of protection (equity) is still ensured by application of the individual risk criterion and also the economic optimisation²⁶ has to be applied. Further background regarding the derivation of formula 9-7 and application of the proposed approach are discussed in appendix 9.III.

9.5.3 Evaluation of the flood risk for dike ring South Holland

In this section the application of the proposed criteria for the evaluation of individual and societal risk to the case study area is investigated. Only individual and societal risk are examined. For a more complete risk evaluation also the use of economic optimisation for this area is recommended, see e.g. (Eijgenraam, 2006; Thonus *et al.*, 2005).

Individual risk

The individual risk for South Holland is compared with existing risk limits. According to the above framework the individual risk (IR) is acceptable if IR < $\beta 10^{-4}$. For flood risk a value of β between 0,01 (involuntary activity with little benefit: IR = 10^{-6} yr⁻¹) and 0,1 (involuntary activity with some benefit: IR= 10^{-5} yr⁻¹) seems reasonable. These values correspond to IR limits used in external safety. For (new) chemical installations individual risks higher than 10^{-6} per year are unacceptable, whilst the limit value is 10^{-5} per year for existing installations. Figure 9-10 shows the areas of South Holland where the risks are unacceptable according to these two proposed values. Results show that the individual risk level of 10^{-5} is exceeded only in a few areas. The 10^{-6} individual risk level is exceeded in low-lying areas south of Den Haag and east of Rotterdam.

²⁴ The use of identical risk standards for large and small objects will lead to much higher costs for the large object to fulfill the societal risk criterion.

²⁵ The approach presented below is mainly applicable for hazards for which separate installations or objects can be clearly distinguished. The possibilities for distribution of societal risk have to be studied further situations where no separate objects can be distinguished. An example concerns the transport of hazardous materials, where materials are transported over network of roads and railways. For such cases it is proposed to look for some practical indicator for distribution, for example a stretch of road.

²⁶ It is noted here that that the trend that follows from the societal risk criterion (larger facilities can have a larger acceptable risk) is in contrast with the trend that follows from the economic optimisation, where better protection is given to larger areas / facilities that sustain more damage. The difference between the approaches is due to the different assumptions that have been made in formulating them. The societal risk criterion is related to benefits, the economic optimisation to the risk costs. Eventually, the most stringent of the different risk criteria will determine the acceptable risk level.



Figure 9-10: Regions in dike ring South Holland that exceed the proposed limit values for individual risk due to flooding

Societal risk

Figure 9-11 compares the FN curve for flooding of South Holland with limit lines for different values of C_r South Holland has 3,6 million inhabitants and in the Netherlands approximately 10 million people live in flood prone areas. Application of equation 9-7 in combination with β =0,1 results in a value of C_i =4. Results show that the current flood risks would be unacceptable for this value. The flood risks would be considered acceptable for $C_i \approx 100$ and $\beta \approx 0,5$. This β value corresponds to activities with a neutral voluntariness and direct benefit, such as driving a car (Vrijling *et al*, 1998). A policy factor value of 0,1 seems more reasonable. It is thus found that the current societal risk for South Holland is higher than would be considered acceptable according to the existing limits proposed by Vrijling *et al.* (1995, 1998)²⁷.

It is noted that the chosen treatment of uncertainty could affect the height of the risks and thereby the acceptability of the situation according to risk limits. In the previous results the average FN curves and uncertainty bounds for knowledge uncertainty have been presented separately. Integration of knowledge uncertainty in the results could lead to an increase of the risk level and exceedance of the limit line (see section 4 for a more extensive discussion).

²⁷ The standard for societal risk discussed here is based on the total risk (TR) approach. For the area the TR becomes: $TR = E(N) + k\sigma(N) \approx 50$ fat/yr. The proposed limiting value for TR is $\beta 100$. The existing situation would be acceptable for $\beta \approx 0.5$, which is the same result as when the FN criterion is used.



Figure 9-11: FN curve for dike ring South Holland and two limit lines or different values of C_{I}

9.5.4 Analysis of the effectiveness of measures to reduce the flood risk

If the determined risk levels are considered to be unacceptably high, it can be decided to reduce the risk. A distinction can be made between measures that reduce either the flooding probability or the consequences. The effects of these two types are schematically indicated in the schematic FN in figure 9-12. Measures to reduce the flooding probability could be dike strengthening or space for rivers²⁸. Measures that aim at a reduction of consequences can either reduce the extent of physical effects (e.g. by construction of internal compartment dikes), the number of people exposed (e.g. by evacuation) or the mortality (e.g. by influencing the behaviour of people during the flood).



Figure 9-12: FN curve indicating the effects of two types of measures (Jonkman, 2001)

²⁸ Dike strengthening increases the strength of the dike, space for rivers reduces the loads on the dike. Both lead to a reduction of the flooding probability.

In general, an analysis of effectiveness of measures has to be based on the required investments and the reduction of (expected) damages to economy, environment and population. A cost benefit analysis can be used to examine which (combinations of) measures are favourable. The cost effectiveness of measures can be specifically related to the reduction of loss of life by means of the evaluation of the cost of saving and extra statistical life (CSX), see section 2.6. This approach relates the investments in safety measures (*I*) to the reduction of the expected number of fatalities ($\Delta(E(N))$), so that $CSX=I/\Delta E(N)$. The CSX thus expresses the yearly investments needed to reduce the risk level by one expected fatality per year, so it has the unit \in per fatality.

Here, cost effectiveness is analysed for a number of measures that can be taken to reduce the flood risk in South Holland. Fictitious but not unreasonable estimates are used for the investment costs and resulting reduction of flooding probability and consequences, see e.g. (Thonus *et al.*, 2005). First two dike strengthening projects are examined that reduce the probability by factors 10 and 100 respectively, with associated investment costs of 150 and 900 million Euro²⁹. The construction of compartment dikes inside the flooded area can reduce the consequences, it is estimated by 50%. It is assumed that the costs of these new dikes are high (1 billion Euro)³⁰. Better evacuation could reduce the number of fatalities. It is assumed that the investments in evacuation road capacity and regular drills are about 100 million Euro and that it reduces the fatalities by 30%. Finally, investments in rescue capacity (20 million euro) could lead to a limited reduction (10%) of fatalities. The initial investments are converted to an average yearly investment by assuming a discount rate of 4% and an infinite investment period.

With these data the CSX values for the measures are calculated in table 9-5. For these measures discussed above figure 9-13 displays³¹ the yearly investment as a function of the reduction of the expected value of the number fatalities ($\Delta E(N)$). The CSX corresponds to the steepness in this graph. The most effective measure is the one with the smallest steepness, i.e. the expenditure that achieves largest risk reduction at lowest cost.

Measure	Initial Investment [Meuro]	Yearly investment [Meuro/yr]	Probability	Consequences	Δ E(N) [fat/yr]	CSX [10 ⁶ Euro / fat]
Dike strengthening 1	150	6	0,1	1	0,189	32
Dike strengthening 2	900	36	0,01	1	0,208	173
Compartment dikes	1000	40	1	0,5	0,105	381
Evacuation	100	4	1	0,7	0,063	63
Rescue	20	0,8	1	0,9	0,021	38

Table 9-5: Overview of measures to reduce the flood risk and their CSX value (Probability of flooding and consequences after measure are given as fraction of the original situation)

²⁹ These estimates of the investment costs are based on (Thonus et al., 2005).

³⁰ In some cases internal dikes might still be (partly) present in an area and investment costs could be lower.

³¹ Alternative presentations are possible. For example the absolute risk level after the measure at the vertical axis as a function of the investment cost at the horizontal axis, see also (Bohnenblust, 1998).



Figure 9-13: Reduction of expected number of fatalities as a function of investment costs for different measures.

For this case dike strengthening number 1 has the lowest CSX value, i.e. it gives most risk reduction at lowest cost. Another interesting measure is the improvement of rescue capacity. Although it gives limited risk reduction, costs are relatively low. Of the considered alternatives, investment in compartment dikes has the highest CSX as it gives limited risk reduction at high cost²⁸. It should be noted that the last two measures (evacuation, rescue) do not reduce the economic damage caused by a flood. The first three measures have the benefit of additional (economic) damage reduction.

The calculated CSX values for investments in flood risk reduction are higher than the average CSX values derived from the study by Tengs *et al.* (1995) for investments in health care (0,76 million US\$ per fatality) and traffic safety (2,2 million US\$ per fatality)³². The CSX values for flood risk reduction are in the same order as the average CSX values reported by Tengs *et al.* for toxin control (112 million US\$ per fatality). The calculated CSX value for flooding exceeds the value calculated that follows from macro economic valuation (0,5 million Euro) and the life quality method (1 to 4 million Euro), see section 2.6 for further discussion. The CSX values for flooding obtained in this study are high, due to the relatively low initial risk level and the high investment costs.

In the future, it is recommended to execute similar analyses for South Holland and other dike ring areas in the Netherlands. Using more realistic numbers for investment costs and risk reduction the effects of various measures can be assessed. In a more detailed analysis combinations of various measures could also be analysed. Such results can be presented to decision makers to support decisions regarding risk reduction measures.

³² The values reported by Tengs *et al.* (1995) are costs per life year saved. It is assumed here that 40 life years have to be saved to save one average fatality.

9.5.5 General remarks regarding the application of the results to decision-making

In this section the role of loss of life and risk estimates in the decision-making is discussed.

Decision criteria

Firstly, loss of life and risk estimates are used in various decision criteria to evaluate the acceptability of the (current) risk level in a system. In decision criteria that are based on the expected value, such as the economic optimisation, the consequence estimate has a linear influence on the resulting protection level, which is expressed as the probability of flood-ing. However, risk averse decision criteria, such as the limit line in the FN curve, include a quadratic relationship between the consequences and the acceptable flooding probability. For coastal areas in the Netherlands a reduction of the flooding probability by a factor 10 would require a dike heightening in the order of magnitude of 1m (and 2m heightening for a reduction of the flooding probability of a factor 100).

In the use of quantitative risk limits it is also important to consider possible variations and uncertainties in the outcomes of consequence and risk calculations (see also section 4). A less desirable situation is one in which a small change in the consequence estimate leads to exceedance of the limit and very high investment costs in risk reduction measures. Therefore it is important that a designed system is characterised by a certain extent of robustness³³.

Measures and sensitivities

Loss of life and risk estimates are sensitive to certain input parameters, such as the number of breaches, the rise rate and evacuation (see section 9.3.1). On the one hand, these sensitivities indicate the need for more research on the influence of these parameters. On the other hand, these sensitivities also indicate that decision makers should be careful with choosing measures that are associated with these parameters, because their risk reducing effects are uncertain. Small changes in the circumstances could greatly reduce the effectiveness of these measures and lead to much larger consequences. Examples of such sensitive measures are evacuation and the application of compartment dikes. The success of evacuation depends on the behaviour of people and it may not be effective for all areas and situations. The effectiveness of compartment dikes differs by flood scenario. Compartment dikes could influence the rise rate and in some cases lead to an increase of fatalities. These types of measures are thus less robust.

Decision-making based on uncertain results: more research or implementation of measures?

The presented consequence and risk analyses are aids in the decision-making process regarding flood defence strategies and protection levels. With regard to uncertainties in the outcomes there are two possible decisions. Firstly, it can be decided that the applied model is not accurate enough and that more research³⁴ is needed to come to a decision regarding the implementation of (physical) measures in the future. In that case it is thus decided that

³³ A robust design is a design that is able to fulfill its required function throughout the entire planning period without major modifications when relatively minor changes occur (Vrijling *et al.*, 2006). These changes can concern the load conditions or the calculation models that are used to assess the risks in the systems.

³⁴ For example the inclusion of more factors in the loss of life model.

the existing safety situation will continue to exist while additional information is gathered and analysed. In the field of flood protection the additional information to improve the risk estimates often has to come from actual disasters that we strive to avoid. Secondly, it can be decided that, despite the uncertainties, the outcomes of risk analysis justify the need for (physical) measures.

Eventually it is the task of decision makers to decide on the acceptability of the current risk levels and to evaluate the need to take (physical) measures to reduce the risk. The outcomes of consequence and risk analyses, including the uncertainties in these analyses, are input information for these decisions. Apart from loss of life estimates, the probability of an event, the economic consequences, the costs of measures and the perception (of the severity) of an event are all important factors and uncertainties will be associated with these factors as well.

9.6 Concluding remarks

In this section the results of an analysis of flood risks for dike ring South Holland have been presented. Results indicate that a flood event in South Holland is expected to expose large and densely populated areas and lead to hundreds to thousands of fatalities. The possibilities for evacuation of South Holland are very limited due to the small amount of time available and the large amount of time required³⁵ (Van der Doef and Cappendijk, 2006). Based on these results further investigation of the possibilities for improvement of evacuation of South Holland, and the development of alternative strategies, e.g. for shelter in place, is strongly recommended. Information regarding the elaborated flood scenarios and the number of people exposed can be used for the development of strategies for evacuation, shelter and rescue operations. It is necessary to have emergency plans prepared and practised before a serious flood occurs.

It is interesting to compare the predicted consequences of two flood scenarios for South Holland with the observed consequences of flooding of New Orleans due to hurricane Katrina in 2005, see table 9-6. For south Holland one scenario with a single breach near Rotterdam (Kralingen) and a coastal flood scenario with three breaches along the coast are considered (see figure 9-2 for breach locations). Results show that a disaster with a comparable magnitude as the flooding of New Orleans can also occur in the Netherlands. For some scenarios the estimated number of fatalities is even higher than in New Orleans. This illustrates the catastrophic potential of large-scale flooding of low-lying areas in the Dutch delta.

	South Holland Rotterdam Kralingen	South Holland - Katwijk, Den Haag, Terheijde	New Orleans (2005)
Inhabitants in flooded area	180.000	1.015.000	420.000
Exposed and people in shelters	145.000 - 180.000#	984.000 - 1.015.000#	75.000*
Fatalities in flooded area	900 - 1100#	5000 - 6100#	910*
Flooded area	140 km ²	1080 km ²	260km ²
Direct economic damage (1 billion = 10 ⁹)	€7 billion	€ 37 billion	US \$ 30 billion
Number of breaches	1	3	±25

Table 9-6: Comparison of the consequences of flooding of New Orleans with flood scenarios of South Holland

#: Total number of exposed and number of fatalities depend on the success of evacuation (see also above). *: Estimates of the numbers of exposed and fatalities in the flooded area are based on the analyses in section 8. The total number of fatalities for Louisiana is 1118 and 81% of the recoveries occurred inside the flooded area.

The analysis showed that individual risk in South Holland is relatively low and mostly acceptable according to existing limit values. The individual probability of death is relatively small for flooding in comparison with the probability of death due to other activities, such as driving a car (-10^{-4} yr⁻¹) or smoking (-5.10^{-3} yr⁻¹). However, societal risk is higher than would be considered acceptable according to the limits that have been proposed in literature (Vrijling *et al.*, 1995) because large numbers of fatalities are expected in single flood

³⁵ Evacuation will be better possible for other areas in the Netherlands. For example, for river areas prediction lead time is larger. However, several international sources document the limited effectiveness of evacuation, e.g. Ramsbottom *et al.* (2003) for the UK. Zhai *et al.* (2006) mention that for 18 recent flood evacuations in Japan, the average evacuation rate was 26%.

events. Societal risk for flooding of South Holland is high in comparison with the risk in the external safety domain the Netherlands. For a more complete comparison of external and flood risks, the flood risks for other dike ring areas in the Netherlands will have to be assessed as well.

Further discussion on the acceptability of the current level of flood risk in the Netherlands is needed, see also (MinVenW, 2006). The current standards for flood protection are mainly based on an econometric analysis and not on potential risks to people. It is proposed to take into account the individual and societal risk as additional limits for flood risks to people (see also TAW, 1985; Jonkman, 2001; RIVM, 2004; Adviescommissie Water, 2006). For the evaluation of societal risk an analysis per dike ring seems to be a suitable spatial aggregation level. A method has been proposed for the determination of the position of the limit line per dike ring. It takes into account the (relative) size of the dike ring and the acceptance of the flood risk in the Netherlands. In addition to the assessment of individual and societal risks it is also important to re-evaluate the economic foundation of the current risk limits, see e.g. (RIVM, 2004; Eijgenraam, 2006). In the evaluation of the acceptability of the flood risk it is also relevant to take into account the possible effects of climate change and the future land use developments in flood prone areas.

When the flood risks are considered unacceptable, risk reduction is necessary. An indicative analysis of the effectiveness of measures related to loss of life has been presented by means of the analysis of the Cost of Saving an Extra Life (CSX). Such results can be presented to decision makers to support decisions regarding risk reduction measures. In order to accomplish well-informed decision-making, it is important to evaluate and compare different measures for their effectiveness. Such a broad comparative analysis of the (cost) effectiveness of possible measures to reduce the flood risk in the Netherlands has not been found yet in the analyses and evaluations of the flood risk in the Netherlands. Eventually it is the task of decision makers to decide on the acceptability of the current risk levels and to evaluate the need to take (physical) measures to reduce the risk. The presented consequence and risk analyses are input information for making these decisions.
10 Conclusions and recommendations

10.1 Conclusions

This thesis concerns the estimation of loss of human life in the context of risk assessment, with a focus on applications to floods. In the first part of this thesis a general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification has been proposed. The second part focuses on the analysis and estimation of loss of life caused by floods.

Part one: A general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification

A general method has been proposed for the estimation of loss of life. It is generally applicable to 'small probability – large consequence' accidents within the engineering domain, such as floods, earthquakes and airplane crashes. An estimate of the loss of life caused by an event can be obtained based on three elements: 1) the intensity of physical effects and the extent of the exposed area; 2) the number of people exposed (sometimes reduced by evacuation, shelter and rescue) and 3) the mortality amongst the people exposed. Mortality (the number of fatalities divided by the number of people exposed) is usually determined with a so-called dose response function or mortality function. This gives the relationship between the intensity of physical effects and the mortality in the exposed population.

Using these elements, general analytical formulations for the quantification of individual risk¹ and societal risk² have been derived based on reliability theory. With the proposed formulations a theoretical confirmation of the relationship between individual and societal risk has been given. The formulations also give insight in the properties of the FN curve, the individual risk contours and their mutual relationship. These insights can be used to verify the consistency of individual and societal risk calculations obtained from numerical models.

Such a general and uniform set of formulations was not yet available in literature. The foundation of consequence and risk quantification has been improved with the developed general approach. It enhances the possibilities to assess the risks to people for various fields of application. It also provides insight in the effectiveness of various risk reducing measures, such as evacuation, or measures aiming at the prevention of failure.

Most existing methods for consequence and risk analysis do not explicitly account for uncertainties in loss of life estimates. In section 4 of this thesis the insight in the effects of uncertainties in loss of life estimates on the outcomes of risk quantification has been improved. It has been shown how uncertainties affect the distribution of the number of fatalities given an accident and thus the value of the standard deviation of the number of fatalities. Thereby the uncertainties can affect compliance to risk averse risk limits, for example the limit line for risk acceptance with a quadratic steepness in the FN curve. It is noted that the uncertainties do not have an effect on the expected number of fatalities. It has been demonstrated that two types of uncertainty influence the distribution of the number of fatalities given an accident. Firstly, uncertainty arises in the consequences of

¹ Individual risk: The probability (per year) of being killed at a certain location assuming permanent presence of the population.

² Societal risk: The probability of exceedance (per year) of an accident with a certain number of fatalities.

the exposure of a group of people to physical effects due to the variation in individual responses to exposure. The resulting probability distribution of the number of fatalities is determined by dependencies between individual failures. It has been shown that typical distribution types are obtained for some characteristic situations, for example the Bernoulli distribution when all failures are fully dependent. Secondly, model uncertainty can exist in the dose response function because the underlying observations represent different circumstances and /or populations with different vulnerabilities.

Part two: Loss of life estimation and flood risk assessment

The scarcely available information regarding loss of life in historical floods has been evaluated. Analysis of global data on natural disasters shows that the impacts of floods on a global scale are enormous. Large-scale coastal and river floods that affect low-lying areas protected by flood defences can cause many fatalities. Based on available event statistics it has been shown that a first order estimate of loss of life due to coastal flood events can be obtained by assuming that 1% of the exposed population will not survive the event. This rule of thumb gives a good approximation³ of the overall number of fatalities for some historical events, e.g. the floods in the Netherlands in 1953 and the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in 2005.

By analysing historical flood events, the insight in the factors that influence the loss of life caused by floods of low-lying areas protected by flood defences has been improved. The number of fatalities caused by a flood event is determined by the characteristics of the flood (water depth, velocity, rise rate), the possibilities for warning, evacuation and shelter, and the loss of shelter due to the collapse of buildings. Mortality rates are the highest near breaches and in areas with a large water depth, a high rise rate and a large number of buildings collapsed.

A review of existing models for loss of life estimation from different regions and for different types of floods (e.g. for dam breaks, coastal floods, tsunamis) showed that the existing models do not take into account all of the most relevant factors (see above) and that they are often to a limited extent based on empirical data of historical flood events.

The general approach for loss of life estimation that has been proposed in part one of this thesis has been applied to develop a method for floods of low-lying areas protected by flood defences. An estimate of the loss of life due to a flood event can be given based on information regarding the flood characteristics, an analysis of the exposed population and evacuation and an estimate of the mortality amongst the exposed population. By analysing information from historical floods mortality functions have been developed. These relate the mortality amongst the exposed population to the flood characteristics for different zones in the flooded area. Thereby an improved method for loss of life estimation for floods has been developed. It is improved because a) it takes into account the most relevant event characteristics that determine loss of life and b) their influence has been quantified based on available empirical information regarding loss of life in historical flood events. Comparison of the outcomes of the proposed method with information from historical

³ Observed event mortality for the Netherlands 1953 flood: 0,7%. (Preliminary) observed mortality for the flooding of New Orleans: 1,2%. Also for other historical flood events, such as floods in Japan in 1959 (1,2%) and in the United Kingdom in 1953 (1%), the rule of thumb gives a good approximation.

flood events shows that it gives an accurate⁴ approximation of the number of observed fatalities during these events. The outcomes of the proposed method are sensitive to the chosen flood scenario (especially to the number of breaches and the size of the flooded area) and the rise rate of the floodwater.

A preliminary analysis of the loss of life caused by the flooding of New Orleans after hurricane Katrina in the year 2005 has been presented. The hurricane caused more than 1100 fatalities in the state of Louisiana. Based on an analysis of a preliminary dataset that gives information on the recovery locations for 771 fatalities, the following is concluded:

- Two thirds of the analysed fatalities were most likely associated with the direct physical impacts of the flood and mostly caused by drowning. One third of the analysed fatalities occurred outside the flooded areas or in hospitals and shelters in the flooded area due to causes such as strokes, heart attacks and lack of medical services. These fatalities were due to the adverse public health situation that developed after the floods. Overall, the elderly were the most vulnerable. Nearly 85% of the fatalities was over 51 years old.
- The total number of fatalities that is predicted for the New Orleans flood with the method proposed in section 7 of this thesis is within a factor 2 with the (preliminary) number of observed recoveries in the flooded area. The number of fatalities in areas with high rise rates is overestimated with the proposed method.
- Similar to historical flood events, the mortality rates were the highest in areas near breaches and in areas with large water depths. The highest mortality fractions were observed near the severe breaches in Lower 9th Ward. The earlier proposed approach, in which mortality functions for different zones in a flooded area are distinguished, is also applicable to New Orleans. A relationship has been found between the water depth and mortality. One difference with earlier findings is that the data for New Orleans does not show an influence of the rise rate on mortality.
- The available data for New Orleans do not support the claim that mortality during a contemporary flood event is lower than during historical events. The overall mortality amongst the exposed population for this event was approximately 1%, which is similar to the mortality for historical flood events.
- The presented results and analyses are preliminary. The analysed mortality dataset is incomplete (it covers 69% of all fatalities in the state of Louisiana) and crude estimates have been used for the estimation of the size of the population exposed. Despite these limitations, the results confirm earlier findings regarding the main determinants of loss of life and they give important insight in the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality.

The risks due to flooding of the dike ring area 'South Holland' in the Netherlands have been analysed in a case study. The method developed in section 7 of this thesis has been used to estimate the loss of life for different flood scenarios. Results indicate that a flood event in this area can expose large and densely populated areas and result in hundreds to thousands of fatalities. Evacuation of South Holland before a coastal flood will be difficult due to the large amount of time required for evacuation and the limited time available, see also (Van der Doef and Cappendijk, 2006). The individual risk associated with flooding

⁴ For most of the considered validation cases, mortality deviates less than a factor 2 from the observed mortality.

is relatively small in most of the area (<10⁻⁵ yr⁻¹). The societal risk of flooding for South Holland is high in comparison with the risks in the external safety domain⁵ in the Netherlands. The societal risk of flooding appears to be unacceptable according to some of the existing risk limits that have been proposed in literature. These results indicate the necessity of a further societal discussion on the acceptable level of flood risk in the Netherlands. The decision has to be made whether the current risks are acceptable or additional risk reducing measures are necessary, see also (Adviescommissie Water, 2006; MinVenW, 2006). The methods and results presented in this thesis provide the input information to make these decisions.

10.2 Recommendations

Part one: general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification The following recommendations are made that are related to the proposed general approach for loss of life estimation and risk quantification:

- It is recommended to use the proposed general methods for loss of life and risk quantification to **verify the consistency and completeness** of existing methods that are used in different sectors. It can be analysed whether the factors that determine loss of life are included in the existing methods. In risk calculations it is important to check whether the expected values for the number of fatalities that are calculated from individual and societal risk are equal (see section 3).
- To achieve realistic consequence estimates for a certain field it is preferred to have some form of empirical calibration of the elements in the method. Although it is primarily desired to prevent disasters, improved **recording and storage of data on loss of life** after the occurrence of disasters is recommended.
- Estimation of loss of life requires **input information from different disciplines**. For example, toxicological knowledge is required to establish dose response functions. Analysis of the effectiveness of evacuation requires psychological insight in the response of the population to warnings. For realistic loss of life estimates it is required to transfer relevant information from these disciplines to (quantitative) input for loss of life estimates. It is recommended to further investigate how this can be done.
- The general method proposed in this study mainly concerns 'small probability

 large consequences' events within the engineering domain. It is recommended to
 investigate applications to related fields that have not been specifically treated in
 this study, such as naval and offshore safety. In addition it could be investigated how
 the general formulations could be extended to other consequence types, such as
 injuries and economic damage and to other types of events, e.g. chronic exposure
 to pollutants.
- Possible uncertainties in consequence estimates are neglected in most existing applications. It is recommended to **assess and present these uncertainties** in consequence and risk estimates. This implies that guidelines for risk analysis should also prescribe whether and how uncertainties are accounted for in the risk calculation. It is also recommended to investigate the relevance of the findings regarding uncer-

⁵ The external safety domain is concerned with (the risks) of transport and storage of dangerous goods, and airport safety in the Netherlands.

tainties for other domains where damage models and fragility curves are used, e.g. for the assessment of hurricane and earthquake damage.

Part two: Loss of life estimation and flood risk assessment

The methods and results presented in this thesis are input information in the decisionmaking process regarding flood defence strategies and protection levels. As the proposed method is expected to give an accurate estimate of the loss of life for a flood event (see above), it is recommended to apply it to flood risk assessment and decision-making. More specifically, the following is recommended:

- It is recommended to use the proposed approach for loss of life estimation in the **risk assessment** that is undertaken to develop plans for the future flood protection of **New Orleans** (LACPR, 2006b).
- The societal risks of flooding of South Holland appear to be unacceptable according to the existing criteria for societal risk that have been proposed in literature. It is recommended to have a discussion on acceptability of the flood risk in the Netherlands. The results of (quantitative) analyses of the flood risk have to be used as input in this discussion. To enable a broad discussion on the acceptability of the flood risks in the flood risks in the Netherlands, the flood risks for all dike ring areas in the country need to be assessed.
- Based on the above societal discussion, it is recommended to **developed quantitative limits for individual and societal risk** for flooding in the Netherlands. It is proposed to limit the societal risk per dike ring area (see section 9.5.2). In addition, it is also important to evaluate the economic foundation of the current risk limits, see e.g. (Eijgenraam, 2006). The eventual determination of the height of the risk limits concerns a political choice.
- A general investigation on the **effectiveness of measures** that reduce the flood risk for the situation in the Netherlands is recommended. To allow a proper comparison and evaluation, the investments and risk reducing effects of different types of measures have to be compared.
- Given the possibility of a catastrophic flood in South Holland with hundreds to thousands of expected fatalities, **emergency management plans** need to be developed to ensure timely evacuation and shelter of the threatened population. The people need to know where they have to go to in case of threatening flood. It is necessary to have these plans prepared and practiced before a serious flood occurs.
- The outcomes of the fatality estimates are **sensitive** to some factors such as the number of breaches, the course of the flood scenario, the number of evacuated people and the rise rate of the floodwaters. It is recommended that decision makers are careful with the choice of the **measures** that are associated with these parameters, because their risk reducing effects are uncertain. In this case, small changes in the circumstances could greatly reduce the effectiveness of these measures and lead to much larger consequences. Examples of such sensitive measures are evacuation and compartment dikes.
- Overall, the results of consequence and risk estimates and the associated uncertainties have to be presented in a **decision context**. If the estimated risk level is considered too high, there are two possible decisions. Either physical measures are taken to reduce the risk level or research is initiated to reduce uncertainties in the outcomes.

If none of these decisions is made, the existing (unsafe) situation will continue to exist.

To gain better insight in the estimated flood risk levels the following is recommended:

• The flood characteristics are important input parameters for the estimation of loss of life. The flood characteristics are highly dependent on the choice of the flood scenario, especially the assumed number of breaches and their locations. In the current flood risk analyses in the Netherlands generally one or two breaches are assumed, see e.g. (Rijkswaterstaat, 2005). However, documentation of historical coastal floods (e.g. Netherlands 1953, New Orleans 2005) shows that these were always characterised by **multiple breaches**. It is recommended to develop a method for the **choice of flood scenarios and the number of breaches** in the context of risk analysis, so that it leads to realistic estimates of the risk level.

As has been stated above, the presented method is expected to result in accurate estimate of loss of life for a flood event. However, comparison with observations showed that for single locations within one event there are substantial deviations between the observations and the predictions with the proposed method. One likely reason is that not all factors that influence the mortality at a location are included in the method. Below a number of recommendations is given that could improve the method for the estimation of loss of life. In this context the following is important to note: When defining the need for further research it has to be considered how much the inclusion of additional factors in the model improves the accuracy of the eventual estimate of loss of life. As mortality due to a flood event will be influenced by human behaviour it is expected to remain uncertain to some extent.

- In section 8 of this thesis **a preliminary** and incomplete **dataset** with information on **Katrina related fatalities** in New Orleans has been analysed. Further completion and analysis of the dataset for New Orleans is recommended. Eventually, this could lead to an improvement of the proposed method for loss of life estimation. It is also recommended to analyse loss of life for other areas affected by Katrina, e.g. for the Mississippi Gulfcoast.
- The output of the method proposed in section 7 is sensitive to the value of the **rise rate**. In the method it is assumed that if the rise rate exceeds a predefined deterministic threshold value (0,5 m/hr) much higher mortality values are obtained. However, preliminary analysis for New Orleans did not show an influence of the rise rate on mortality. Further investigation of the influence of rise rate on mortality is recommended, also in combination with the collapse of buildings (see below).
- The collapse of buildings in floods proves to be an important determinant of mortality. Further insight is required in building vulnerability as a function of flood characteristics (depth, velocity, waves) and the relationship with the extent of loss of life. Empirical data on the collapse of buildings during past disasters (hurricane Katrina and Indian Ocean tsunami) could be very valuable to increase these insights.
- **Human instability** in flood flows is an important cause of drowning. It has been shown how instability can be related to two physical mechanisms: moment instability (toppling) and friction instability (sliding). Further analysis of these two mechanisms based on field observations and tests is recommended.

- The **level of warning** of people in the flooded area and consequent possibilities for **shelter** could be important for loss of life. Further analysis of these factors is recommended.
- In future research it could be attempted to include the **additional factors** in the method for loss of life estimation, e.g. the population vulnerability. However, to do this, more empirical information regarding the effects of these factors during past flood disasters is required.
- The method proposed in this thesis estimates loss of life at a relatively high spatial aggregation level, e.g. for whole villages or neighbourhoods in a city. It could be interesting for applications in the Netherlands to explore the possibilities for a more detailed and **mechanistic**⁶ modelling of loss life, which simulates the individual behaviour and the causes of death.
- The studied data on the consequences of floods are the by-product of the enormous human suffering due to events that we strive to avoid. However, the data that are available could contribute to the prevention and mitigation of such disasters in the future. Standardized **collection and reporting of the available data** for flood disasters is recommended, see also (WHO, 2002; Hajat *et al.*, 2003; Jonkman and Kelman, 2006). This dissertation was finished more than one and a half year after the New Orleans flood disaster and at that time no complete and final dataset regarding the fatalities was yet available. This illustrates the difficulties in the collection of data after such disasters and the need for improvement of reporting.

⁶ An example of such a mechanistic loss of life model is BC Hydro Life Safety Model (Johnstone *et al.*, 2005).

References

- Aboelata M., Bowles D.S., McClelland D.M., GIS Model for Estimating Dam Failure Life Loss (2002) in: *Proc. Of the 10th engineering foundation conference on risk-based decisionmaking*, Santa Barbara, California, pp. 126-145
- Abt S.R., Wittler R.J., Taylor A., Love D.J. (1989) Human stability in a high flood hazard zone, *Water Resources Bulletin* Vol. 25 No.4, pp. 881-890
- Adviescommissie Water (2006) Advies Veiligheid tegen overstromen, Advies AcW-2006/103
- Ahern M., Kovats S.R., Wilkinson P., Few R., Matthies F. (2005) Global health impacts of floods: epidemiologic evidence, *Epidemiologic Reviews* Vol. 27 pp. 36-46
- AIChE (American Institute of Chemical Engineers) (2000) *Guidelines for Chemical process quantitative risk analysis*, AIChE, New York
- Ale B., Golbach G., Goos D., Ham K., Janssen L., Shield S. (2001) *Benchmark risk analysis models*, RIVM report 610066015
- Ale B.J.M. (2000) Externe veiligheidsrisico's in Nederland, presentation TAW-dag 2000
- Ale B.J.M. (2003) Ons overkomt dat niet, TU Delft, September 17 2003
- Ale B.J.M. (2005) Living with risk: a management question, *Reliability Engineering and System* Safety Vol. 90 No. 2-3 pp. 196-205
- Ale B.J.M., Laheij G.M.H, Uijt de Haag P.A.M (1996a) *Handrekenmethode voor het groepsrisico bij* externe veiligheid, RIVM report 610066004
- Ale B.J.M., Laheij G.M.H., Uijt de Haag P.A.M. (1996b) Zoning instruments for major accident prevention, in: Cacciabue C., Papazoglou I.A.(eds.), Probabilistic safety assessment and management '96; Proc. Of ESREL 96 - PSAM-III, Crete, 1996
- Ale B.J.M., Piers M. (2000) The assessment and management of third party risk around major airport, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 71 No. 1-3 pp. 1-16
- Alexander, D.E. (2004) Vulnerability to landslides. In: Glade T., Anderson M., Crozier M. (eds.) *Landslide Hazard and Risk.* Wiley, Chichester
- Alp E., Zelensky M.J. (1994) Risk quantification for meteorology- and direction-dependent hazards due to point and linear risk sources, *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* Vol. 9 No. 2 pp. 135-145
- Amundsen (2001) *Data on large tunnel fires,* Report for the OECD/EU/PIARC project on Dangerous Goods Through Road Tunnels
- Anonymous (2005a) 26,000 shelter at the superdome. Times Picayune 28 aug 2005
- Anonymous (2005b) Body bags arrive as survivors are forced to leave. The Times, 9 sept. 2005
- Apel H., Thieken A.H., Merz B., Bloschl G. (2006) A probabilistic modelling system for assessing flood risk, *Natural Hazards* 38 Vol. 1-2, pp. 79-100
- Apostolakis G. (1990) The concept of probability in safety assessment of technological systems, *Science* Vol. 250, pp. 1359-1364
- Apostolakis G.E. (2004) How useful is quantitative risk assessment? *Risk Analysis* Vol. 24 No. 3, pp. 515-520
- Arends B.J., Jonkman S.N., Vrijling J.K., van Gelder P.H.A.J.M. (2005) Evaluation of tunnel safety; Towards an economic safety optimum, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 90 No. 2-3 pp. 217-228
- Assaf, H., Hartford D.N.D. (2002) A virtual reality approach to public protection and emergency preparedness planning in dam safety analysis. *In: Proc. of the Canadian Dam Association Conference, Victoria, Canada*
- Asselman N.E.M. (2005) Consequences of floods damage to buildings and casualties, WL Delft Hydraulics report Q3668
- Asselman N.E.M., Heynert K. (2003) Consequences of floods: 2D hydraulic simulations for the case study area of Central Holland, Delft Cluster report DC 1-233-5
- Asselman N.E.M., Jonkman S.N. (2003) Consequences of floods: the development of a method to estimate

the loss of life, Delft Cluster Report DC1-233-7

- Ball D.J., Floyd P.J. (1998) *Societal risk*. Crown Copyright, available from Health & Safety Executive, Risk Assessment Policy Unit
- Barendregt A., van Noortwijk J. (2004) Bepalen beschikbare en benodigde tijd voor evacuatie bij dreigende overstromingen, HKV report PR 742
- Barendregt A., van Noortwijk J.M., van der Doef M., Holterman S.R. (2005) Determining the time available for evacuation of a dike-ring area by expert judgement, in: *Proc. Of the Int. Symp. On Stochastic Hydraulics* (ISSH), 23 and 24 May, Nijmegen
- Barendregt A., van Noortwijk J.M., van Maarsseveen M.F.A.M., Tutert S.I.A., Zuidgeest M.H.P., van Zuilekom K.M.(2002) *Evacuatie bij dreigende overstroming*, HKV report PR546 in cooperation with Universiteit Twente.
- Bedford T. (2005) Keynote lecture: Multi-attribute utility theory and FN-criteria, in: Proc. Of ESREL 2005, Tri City, Poland, pp. 157-166
- Bedford T., Cooke R. (2002) *Probabilistic risk analysis: foundations and methods*, Cambridge University Press.
- Bellamy L.J. (1986) A review of evacuation data, Technica report C768/LJB
- Bennet, G.(1970) Bristol Floods 1968 Controlled Survey of Effects on Health of Local Community Disaster, *British Medical Journal* Vol. 3, pp.454-458.
- Berger E. (2006) Charity Hospital and Disaster Preparedness. Annals of Emergency Medicine Vol. 47 Issue 1 pp. 53-56,
- Bern C., Sniezek J., Mathbor G.M., Siddiqi M.S., Ronsmans C., Chowdhury A.M.R., Choudhury A.E., Islam K., Bennish M., Noji E., Glass R.I. (1993) Risk factors for mortality in the Bangladesh cyclone of 1991, *Bulletin of the WHO* Vol. 71 pp. 73-78
- Bernstein P.L. (1997) Against the Gods the remarkable story of risk, John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Berz G., Kron W., Loster T., Rauch E., Schimetschek J., Schmieder J., Siebert A., Smolka A., Wirtz A. (2001) World map of natural hazards – a global view of the distribution and intensity of significant exposures, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 23 No. 2-3 pp. 443 – 465.
- Bierens, J.J.L.M. (1996) Drowning in the Netherlands—Pathophysiology, Epidemiology and Clinical Studies. PhD dissertation, University of Utrecht.
- Black, R.D. (1975) Flood Proofing Rural Residences: A 'Project Agnes' Report, Pennsylvania. Final Report prepared for the United States Department of Commerce, Economic Development Administration. National Technical Information Service, May 1975, Springfield, Virginia, U.S.A.
- Bohnenblust H., Slovic P. (1998) Integrating technical analysis and public values in decision-making, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 59 No. 1 pp. 151-159
- Bohnenblust, H. (1998) Risk-based decision making in the transportation sector; Chapter 14 In: Jorissen, R.E., Stallen, P.J.M. (eds.) *Quantified societal risk and policy making*; Kluwer academic publishers, pp. 132-153
- Bottelberghs, P.H.(2000) Risk analysis and safety policy developments in the Netherlands; *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 71 No. 1-3 pp. 59–84
- Bourque L.B., Siegel J.M., Kano M., Wood M.M. (2006) Weathering the storm: the impact of hurricanes on physical and mental health, The *Annals of the American Academy of Science AAPPS* Vol. 604, pp. 129-151
- Boyd E. (2005) Toward an Empirical Measure of Disaster Vulnerability: Storm Surges, New Orleans, and Hurricane Betsy. Poster presented at the *4th UCLA Conference on Public Health and Disasters*, Los Angeles, Ca. May 1-4, 2005
- Boyd E. (2006a) New Orleans was prepared but it was overwhelmed (correspondence) *Nature* Vol. 442 p. 244
- Boyd E. (2006b) Real Time Flood Fatality Estimation During Hurricane Katrina. Paper presented at *the 22nd Annual Louisiana Remote Sensing and GIS Workshop*. Baton Rouge, La. April 4, 2006.
- Boyd E. (2006c) Initial analysis of Hurricane Katrina fatalities. Working document LSU Hurricane

Center Oct. 12, 2006 (confidential).

- Boyd E., Levitan M., van Heerden I. (2005) Further Specification of the Dose-Response Relationship for Flood Fatality Estimation. Paper presented at *The US-Bangladesh Workshop On Innovation in Windstorm/Storm Surge Mitigation Construction*. National Science Foundation and Ministry of Disaster & Relief, Government of Bangladesh. Dhaka, Bangladesh, December 19-21, 2005.
- Brinkmann, E., Ragas, W. (2006) An estimate of the cost of hurricane Katrina flood damage to singlefamily residential structures in Orleans parish. Mortgage Bankers Association 6 Feb. 2006.
- Brown, C.A., Graham W.J. (1988) Assessing the threat to life from dam failure, *Water resources Bulletin*, Vol. 24 No. 6 pp. 1303-1309
- Bruce T., Pearson J., Allsop W. (2002) Hazards at coast and harbour seawalls velocities and trajectories of violent overtopping jets, in: *Proc. Of the 28th Int. Conf. On Coastal Engineering* (*ICCE*), 7-12 July, Cardiff, Wales, pp. 2216-2238
- Brussaard L.E., Kruiskamp M.M., Oude Essink M.P. (2004) The Dutch model for the quantitative risk analysis of tunnels, *in Proc. PSAM / ESREL 2004*, 14-18 June, Berlin, Germany, pp. 2660-2665
- CAIB (Columbia Accident Investigation Board) (2003) *Columbia Accident Investigation Board Report Volume I*, National Aeronautics and Space Administration and the Government Printing Office, Washington DC.
- Canter, D. (1990) Fires and Human Behaviour. Second edition, London: Fulton
- Carter, D.A. (2002) A "worst case" methodology for obtaining a rough but rapid indication of the societal risk from a major accident hazard installation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* A92, pp. 223 237
- Carter, D.A., Hirst, I.L. (2000) 'Worst case' methodology for the initial assessment of societal risk from proposed major accident installations. *Journal of hazardous materials* Vol. 71 No. 1-3 pp.117 128)
- CDMC (Central Disaster Management Council) (2003) Damage estimation method for the Tonankai and Nankai Earthquakes, <u>http://www.bousai.go.jp/jishin/chubou/nankai/10/sankou_siryou.</u> pdf, retrieved Jan 2006
- Chan C.C., Lin Y.P., Chen H.H., Chang T.Y., Cheng T.J., Chen L.S. (2003) A population-based study on the immediate and prolonged effects of the 1999 Taiwan earthquake on mortality. *Annals of Epidemiology* Vol. 13 No. 7, pp.502-508
- Chauhan S.S., Bowles D.S. (2003) Incorporating uncertainty in dam safety assessment, In: Proceedings of the *Australian Committee on Large Dams Risk Workshop*, Launceston, Tasmania, Australia, October 2003
- Chowdhury, A., Mushtaque, R., Bhuyia, A.U., Choudhury, A.Y., and Sen, R.(1993) The Bangladesh Cyclone of 1991: Why So Many People Died, *Disasters* Vol. 17 No. 4 pp. 291-304.
- CIB Workgroup 32 (2001) A framework for risk management and risk communications, CIB report 259
- Clausen, L.K. (1989) *Potential Dam Failure: Estimation of Consequences, and Implications for Planning.* Unpublished M.Phil. thesis at the School of Geography and Planning at Middlesex Polytechnic collaborating with Binnie and Partners, Redhill.
- Coates, L. (1999) Flood Fatalities in Australia, 1788–1996. *Australian Geographer* Vol. 30 No. 3. pp. 391–408.
- Coburn A, Spence R (2002) Earthquake Protection, 2nd Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester
- Combs D.L., Quenemoen L.E., Gibson Parrish R., Davis J.H.(1999) Assessing disaster-attributed mortality: development and application of a definition and classification matrix, *International Journal Of Epidemiology* Vol. 28, pp. 1124-1129
- Commissie Rivierdijken (1977) Rapport Commissie Rivierdijken, 's Gravenhage, Ministerie van Verkeer en Waterstaat.
- Corotis R.B.(2003) Socially relevant structural safety, *in: Proc. of ICASP 9, Applications of Statistics and Probability in Civil Engineering*, pp. 15-24

- COT (Crisis Onderzoek Team) 1995, *Evacuaties bij Hoog Water: zelfredzaamheid en overheidszorg*, RijksUniversiteit Leiden & Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam, Leiden.
- Covello V.T., Merkhoffer M.W. (1993) *Risk assessment methods, approaches for assessing health and environmental risks*, Plenum Press, New York
- Covello V.T., Mumpower J. (1985) Risk analysis and risk management: an historical perspective, *Risk Analysis* Vol. 5 No. 2 pp. 103-120
- CPR (Commissie Preventie van Rampen door Gevaarlijke Stoffen) (1999) *Guidelines for quantitative risk assessment* (purple book) Den Haag: Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, DPR 18E
- CPR (Commissie Preventie van Rampen door Gevaarlijke Stoffen) (1990) Methoden voor het bepalen van mogelijke schade aan mensen en goederen door het vrijkomen van gevaarlijke stoffen . CPR, , Voorburg, Netherlands
- Cunningham, R.H., Braud D.H., Gisclair D., Kemp G.P. (2006) A Shining Star in the Katrina Disaster: Lidar, Paper presented at: *Remote Sensing and Photogrammetric Society Annual Con-ference*, Fitzwilliam College, Cambridge University, Cambridge UK, September 7, 2006.
- CUR (Civieltechnisch Centrum Uitvoering research en Regelgeving) (1997) Kansen in de Civiele Techniek, Deel 1: Probabilistisch ontwerpen in theorie. CUR rapport 190
- De Boer J. (1990) Definition and classification of disasters: introduction of a disaster severity scale, *Journal of emergency medicine* Vol. 8 No. 5 pp. 591-595
- De Bruijn (2006) Improvement of casualty functions based on data of the flooding of New Orleans in 2005 preliminary report, WL Delft Hydraulics report Q3668.00
- De Weger D., Pietersen C.M, Reuzel P.G.J. (1991) Consequences of exposure to toxic gasses following industrial disasters, *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, Vol. 4, pp. 272-276
- DeKay, M.L., McClelland, G.H.(1993) Predicting loss of life in cases of dam failure and flash flood, *Risk Analysis* Vol. 13 No. 2, pp. 193-205
- Delacroix S.E. (2005) In the wake of Katrina: a surgeon's first-hand report of the New Orleans tragedy. *Medscape General Medicine* 7:56
- DHS (Department of Homeland Security) (2006) Current housing unit damage estimates hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma, DHS February 12, 2006
- Ditlevsen O. (1977) *Fundamentals of second moment structural reliability theory*. International Research Seminar on safety of structures, Trondheim 1977
- Ditlevsen O., Madsen H.O. (1996) *Structural reliability methods*, John Wiley and sons, Chichester, England
- Ditlevsen O. (2003) Decision modeling and acceptance criteria, *Structural Safety* Vol. 25, pp. 165-191
- Dominici F., Levy J.I., Louis T.A. (2005) Methodological challenges and contributions in disaster epidemiology, *Epidemiologic Reviews* Vol. 27 pp. 9-12
- Donchess, J. (2006) Prepared Statement of Joseph A. Donchess, Executive Director, Louisiana Nursing Home Association, January 31, 2006. U.S. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs.
- Drabek T.E. (1986) Human system response to disaster, Springer-Verlag, New York
- Duclos, P., Vidonne O., Beuf P., Perray P., Stoebner A. (1991) Flash Flood Disaster—Nîmes, France, 1988. *European Journal of Epidemiology* Vol. 7 No. 4 pp. 365–371.
- Duiser J.A. (1989) Een verkennend onderzoek naar methoden ter bepaling van inundatieschade bij doorbraak, TNO report ref. 82-0644
- Dutta D., Herath S., Musiake K. (2003) A mathematical model for flood loss estimation, *Journal of Hydrology* Vol. 277 pp. 24-49
- Edelman T. (1954) *Doorbraakvrije zeedijken (unbreachable seedikes)*, Rijkswaterstaat working document, 's Gravenhage 21/23 maart 1955.
- Egorova R. (2004) Uncertainty in flood damage estimation, Msc. Thesis Delft University
- Eijgenraam, C.J.J. (2005) Veiligheid tegen overstromen; Kosten-baten analyse voor Ruimte voor de

Rivier deel 1. CPB document no 82.

- Eijgenraam, C.J.J. (2006) *Optimal safety standards for dike-ring areas*. CPB discussion paper no 62, March 2006.
- EM-DAT (Emergency events database) (2004) *OFDA/CRED International Disaster Database* from http://www.cred.be/emdat, Université Catholique de Louvain, Brussels, retrieved December 2004.
- Endoh K., Takahashi S. (1995) Numerically modelling personnel danger on a promenade breakwater due to overtopping waves, Chapter 75 in: *Proc. Of the XXIVth Int. conf. On Coastal Engineering (ICCE)*, Kobe, Japan, pp.1016-1029
- Evans A.W., Verlander N.Q. (1997) What is wrong with criterion FN-lines for judging the tolerability of risk, *Risk Analysis* Vol. 17 No. 2 pp. 157–168.
- Faber M.H., Stewart M.G. (2003) Risk assessment for civil engineering facilities: critical overview and discussion, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 80 pp. 173 184
- Faber M.H., Maes M.A. (2004) Modeling of risk perception in engineering decision analysis, in: Proc. 11th IFIP WG7.5 working conference on reliability and optimization of structural systems, pp.95-104
- Farmer F.R. (1967) Siting criteria a new approach. Atom 128 pp.152-179
- FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) (1999) Earthquake Loss Estimation Methodology HAZUS99 Technical Manual, FEMA 1999.
- FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) (2001) Design and construction guidance for community shelters, FEMA report 361, www.fema.gov/fima/fema361.shtm
- FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) (2006) Hurricane Katrina in the Gulf Coast, Mitigation assessment team report, Building performance observations, recommendations and technical guidance. FEMA report 549.
- Finney D.J. (1972) Probit analysis. 3rd edition, London Cambridge University Press
- Fischer H.W., Stine G.F., Stoker B.L., Trowbridge M.L., rain E.M. (1995) Evacuation behaviour: why do some evacuate, while others do not? A case study of the Ephrata, Pennsylvania (USA) evacuation, *Disaster Prevention and Management* Vol. 4, No. 4 pp 30-36
- Francis A., Edwards A., Espiner R., Haswell J., Bilo M., Carter D. (1999) Weighted expectation: a new risk-based method for assessing land use development proposals in the vicinity of major hazards, *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* Vol. 12 No. 5 pp. 379-390
- French J.G., Holt K.W.(1989) Floods. In: Gregg M.B. (ed.) The public health consequences of disasters. Atlanta, Georgia: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, CDC, pp. 69–78.
- French S. (1998) Representation of uncertainty, Lecture notes Course Dependence modeling & risk management, 6-8 April 1998.
- French, J., Ing, R., Von Allmen, S. and Wood, R. (1983) Mortality From Flash Floods: A Review of National Weather Service Reports, 1969-81, *Public Health Reports*, Vol. 98 No. 6, pp. 584-588.
- Friedman D.G. (1975) *Computer simulation in natural hazard assessment*, Institute of Behavioral Science, University of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado. 194 p.
- Frieser B. (2004) *Probabilistic evacuation decision model for river floods in the Netherlands*, TU Delft Msc thesis.
- Gerritsen, H., Jonkman S.N., Kelman I., Martens C., Waarts P. (2003) CURBE Fact Sheet 7: Belgium Deaths from the 1953 Storm Surge. Version 3, 27 July 2003 (Version 1 - 31 March 2003).
 Gedownload van http://www.arct.cam.ac.uk/curbe/CURBEFactSheet7Belgium1953Deaths. doc
- Goldman D. (1997) Estimating expected annual damage for levee retrofits, *Journal of water resources* planning and management Vol. 123 Issue 2 pp. 89-94
- Gottschalk M.K.E. (1971) Stormvloeden en rivieroverstromingen in Nederland. Volume 1 to 3. Van Gorcum, Assen.
- Graham, W.J. (1999) A procedure for estimating loss of life caused by dam failure, Dam safety office

report DSO-99-6

Green C. (2001) Assessing vulnerability to flooding, Draft working paper

- Grieve, H. (1959) The great tide, Waterlow & sons limited
- Griffith R.F. (1994) Discounting of delayed versus early mortality in societal risk criteria. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* Vol. 7 No. 5 pp. 432-438
- Guha-Sapir D., Parry L.V., Degomme O., Joshi P.C., Saulina Arnold P.A. (2006) Risk factors for mortality and injury: post tsunami epidemiological findings from Tamil Nadu, CRED publication april 2006
- Guzzetti F. (2002) Landslide fatalities and the evaluation of landslide risk in Italy. *Engineering Geology* Vol. 58 No. 2 pp. 89–107.
- Hajat S., Ebi K.L., Kovats S., Menne B., Edwards S., Haines A.(2003) The human health consequences of flooding in Europe and the implications for public health, *Journal of Applied Environmental Science and Public Health* Vol 1 No. 1 pp. 13-21.
- Hans J.M., Sell T.C. (1974) Evacuation risks an evaluation, US EPA, Report EPA-520/6-74-002
- Haque C.E. (2003) Perspectives of Natural Disasters in East and South Asia and the Pacific Island States: Socio-economic Correlates and Needs Assessment, *Natural Hazards 29*, pp. 465-483
- Hartford D.N.D., Baecher G.B. (2004) *Risk and uncertainty in dam safety*, Thomas Telford Publishing, London.
- Hayward, J.S. (1986) The Physiology of Immersion Hypothermia, in: *The Nature and Treatment of Hypothermia*, Univ. of Minnesota Press, pp. 3–19.
- Helbing D., Farkas I., Vacsek T., Simulating dynamical features of escape panic, *Nature* Vol. 407 pp. 487 490, 2000
- Hennekens C.H., Buring J.E. (1987) *Epidemiology in medicine*. Little, brown and company, Toronto, pp. 381
- Hirschler M.M., Debanne S.M., Larsen J.B. (1993) *Carbon monoxide and human lethality: fire and non-fire studies*. Elsevier applied science, London
- Hofstetter P., Hammit J.K. (2001) Human health metrics for environmental decision support tools: lessons from health economics and decision analysis, US Environmental Protection Agency report EPA/R-01/104
- HSE (Health & Safety Executive) (1978) Canvey an investigation of operations in the Canvey Island / Thurrock area, London HMSO
- HSE (Health & Safety Executive) (2001) Reducing risks protecting people. HSE publication.
- Hurlbert J.S., Beggs J.J. (2004) New Orleans population survey Hurricane evacuation and sheltering. in: van Heerden I. (ed.) *Annual interim progress report, Assessment and remediation of public health impacts due to hurricanes and major flooding event*, pp. 14-16.
- ICHEM (Institution of Chemical Engineers) (1985) Nomenclature for hazard and risk assessment in the process industries. Rugby: Institution of Chemical Engineers
- ICPR (International Commission for the Protection of the Rhine) (2002) Non structural flood plain management: measures and their effectiveness, ICPR Koblenz
- IEM (Innovative Emergency Management) (2004). Damage and Consequences, Hurricane Pam: Exercise Participant Information Package. July 16-23, 2004.
- IOOV (Inspectie openbare orde en veiligheid) (2004) Onderzoek veiligheidsbewustzijn brandweerpersoneel. Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijksrelaties.
- IPET (Interagency Performance Evaluation Task Force) (2006) Performance evaluation of the New Orleans and Southeast Louisiana hurricane protection system – Volume VII: the consequences, Final draft report 1 June 2006.
- ISO (International Organization for Standardization) (2002) Life threatening components of fire guidelines for the estimation of time available for escape using fire data, ISO/TS13571
- JCSS (Joint Committee on Structural Safety) (2001) JCSS Probabilistic model code, Part 2: load models, report 99-CON-DYN/M0098
- Jensen F.N. (1996) An introduction to Bayesian networks, London UCL Press 1996.
- Jin T. (1997) Studies on human behavior and tenability in fire smoke, In: Proc. Of the 5th int. sympo-

sium on fire safety science, pp.3-21

- Johnstone W., Assaf H., Sakamoto D., Hartford D. (2003) Analysis of the Malpasset dam failure using GIS and engineering models, *in: Proceedings of Geotec 2003*, Vancouver, Canada
- Johnstone W.M., Sakamoto D., Assaf H., Bourban S. (2005) Architecture, Modelling framework and validation of BC Hydro's Virtual Reality Life Safety Model, *in: Vrijling et al. (eds.) Proceedings of the International Symposium on Stochastic Hydraulics*, May 23, 24 2005, Nijmegen, the Netherlands
- Jongejan R.B. (2006) A new framework for risk appraisal Regulating industrial and flood risks, Interim Report VIII, PhD research, Delft University.
- Jongejan R.B., Ale B.J.M., Vrijling J.K. (2005b) FN-criteria for risk regulation and probabilistic design, *in: Proc. of the 8th international PSAM conference*, New Orleans USA
- Jongejan R.B., Jonkman S.N., Vrijling J.K. (2005a) Methods for the economic valuation of loss of life; in: Boyer M., N. de Marcellis, B. Sinclair – Desgagne (eds.) Proc. of conference on 'the international law and management of large-scale risks 2005, Montreal Canada
- Jongejan R.B., Vrijling J.K. (2006b) To prevent or to cure? Emergency response as an exchangeable risk reduction strategy, in: Guedes Soares C., Zio E. (eds.) Safety and Reliability for managing risk, Proc. Of the ESREL 2006 conference, Estoril, Portugal, Vol. 2, pp. 1347-1354
- Jonkman S.N. (2001) Overstromingsrisico's: een onderzoek naar de toepasbaarheid van risicomaten, Msc. Thesis TU Delft
- Jonkman S.N. (2004) Methode voor de bepaling van het aantal slachtoffers ten gevolge van een grootschalige overstroming, DWW report 2004-042
- Jonkman, S.N. (2005) Global perspectives of loss of human life caused by floods, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 34 pp. 151-175
- Jonkman S.N., Cappendijk P. (2006) Veiligheid Nederland in kaart inschatting van het aantal slachtoffers ten gevolge van overstroming, DWW report DWW-2006-012
- Jonkman S.N., Kelman I. (2005) An analysis of causes and circumstances of flood disaster deaths, *Disasters* Vol. 29 No. 1 pp. 75-97
- Jonkman S.N., Kelman I., Bain V. (2005) A physical interpretation of human stability in flowing water, *in: Vrijling et al. (eds.) Proc. of the International Symposium on Stochastic Hydraulics*, May 23, 24 2005, Nijmegen, the Netherlands.
- Jonkman S.N., van Gelder P.H.A.J.M., Vrijling J.K.(2002) Loss of life models for sea- and river floods, *in: Wu et al. (eds) proc. Of Flood Defence*, Volume 1, pp. 196 - 206, Science Press, New York Ltd.
- Jonkman S.N., van Gelder P.H.A.J.M., Vrijling J.K. (2003) An overview of quantitative risk measures for loss of life and economic damage, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. A99, pp.1-30
- Jonkman S.N., Vrijling J.K. (2005) *Reactie op gebiedsgericht groepsrisico en voorstel voor een alternatieve aanpak*. TU Delft working document.
- JWF (Japan Water Forum) (2005) Typhoon Isewan (Vera) and its lessons, Japan Water Forum report
- Kanda J. and Shah H. (1997) Engineering role in failure cost evaluation for buildings, *Structural Safety* Vol.19 No. 1 pp. 79-90
- Kaplan S., Garrick B.J. (1991) On the quantitative definition of risk, Risk Analysis Vol. 1 pp. 11-27
- Karvonen R.A., Hepojoki A., Huhta H.K., Louhio A. (2000) *The use of physical models in dambreak analysis, RESCDAM Final Report*, Helsinki University of Technology, Helsinki, Finland
- Kato F. (2002) A review of flood damage estimation in Japan, Draft working document
- Kawaguchi H., Suetsugi T., Kusakabe T. (2005) Flood risk analysis toward floodplain risk management, pp. 629-636, *in: van Alphen J. et al. (eds.) Floods, from defence to management, Proc. Of the third int. symp. On flood defence,* Nijmegen, the Netherlands
- Keller R.J., Mitsch B. (1993) Safety aspects of the design of roadways as floodways, Report for UWRA – Melbourne Water Research Project
- Kelman I. (2002) *Physical vulnerability of residential properties in coastal, eastern England*, PhD dissertation, Cambridge University

Kelman I. (2003a), Defining risk, FloodRiskNet Newslettter, Issue 2 Winter 2003

- Kelman I. (2003b) CURBE Fact Sheet 3: U.K. Deaths from the 1953 Storm Surge. Version 3, 5 July 2003, <u>http://www.arct.cam.ac.uk/curbe/CURBEFactSheet3UK1953Deaths.doc</u>, accessed August 2003
- Kelman, I. (2004) Rights, Responsibilities, and Realities: A Societal View of Civil Care and Security. Chapter 1, pp. 9-36, in :Salter S., Gerber R. (eds.) *Civil Care and Security*, Kardoorair press, Armidale, Australia
- Kelman, I. and R. Spence (2004) An Overview of Flood Actions on Buildings. *Engineering Geology* 73. pp. 297–309.
- Kendall H.W., Hubbard R.B., Minor G.C., Bryan W.M. (Union of Concerned Scientists) (1997) The Risks of Nuclear Power Reactors: a Review of the NRC Reactor Safety Study WASH-1400, Cambridge, 1977.
- Klijn F., Baan P., de Bruijn K., Maaten R. (2006) Huidige en toekomstige overstromingsrisico's in Nederland – Schattingen voor het project Nederland Later & Water, WL Delft Hydraulics report Q4290.00
- Knabb, R., Rhome, J. and Brown, D. (2006) Tropical Cyclone Report: Hurricane Katrina 23-30 August 2005. National Hurricane Center, 20 December 2005, updated. Aug 2006.
- Kok M., Huizinga H.J., Meijerink T.C., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M, Vrisou van Eck N. (2002) Standaardmethode2002: Schade en slachtoffers als gevolg van overstromingen, HKV and TNO Report PR582.10
- Kok M., Huizinga H.J., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., van den Braak W.E.W. (2005) Standaardmethode2005 schade en slachtoffers als gevolg van overstromingen, HKV report PR999.10
- Kok M., Theunissen R., Jonkman S.N., Vrijling J.K. (2006) *Schade door overstroming: ervaringen uit New Orleans*, TU Delft / HKV publication.
- Kolb A. (1962) Sturmflut 17. Februar 1962 Morpholgie der Deich- und Flurbeschädigungen zwischen Moorbrug und Cranz, Hamburger Geographischen Studien, Hamburg 1962
- Koshimura S., Katada T., Mofjeld H.O., Kawata Y. (2006) A method for estimating casualties due to the tsunami inundation flow, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 39 pp. 265-274
- Kroon, I.B.; Hoej, N.P. (2001) Application of risk aversion for engineering decision making; in: Safety, risk and reliability - trends in engineering, Proc. Of Int. Conf., Malta, March 21-23, pp. 587-592
- Kuwata Y., Takada S. (2004) Effective emergency transportation for saving human lives, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 33 No. 1 pp.23-46
- LaCaze, K. (2006) *Activity Report on Hurricane Katrina*. U.S. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs.
- LACPR (Louisiana Coastal Protection Recovery Authority) (2006a) *Enclosure C: Louisiana economy* and 2005 hurricane damage, preliminary technical report to congress, June 2006
- LACPR (Louisiana Coastal Protection Recovery Authority) (2006b) *Interim report for risk-informed planning for Louisiana coastal protection and restoration*, LACPR report, October 2006
- Laheij, G.M.H, Post J.G., Ale, B.J.M. (2000) Standard methods for land-use planning to determine the effects on societal risk, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 71, pp. 269-282
- LaOHSEP (Louisiana Office of Homeland Security and Emergency Preparedness) (2006) *Lessons Learned – hurricanes Katrina and Rita*, LaOHSEP report
- Lassing B.L., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., Waarts P.H. (2003) Reliability analysis of flood defence systems in the Netherlands, *In: van Gelder P.H.A.J.M., Bedford T. (eds.), Safety and Reliability, Proc. Of the ESREL 2003 conference*, Maastricht. pp. 1005-1014
- Legome, E., Robins, A. and Rund, D.A.: 1995, Injuries Associated with Floods: The Need for an International Reporting Scheme, *Disasters* Vol. 19 No. 1, 50-54.
- Lentz A. (2003) Quantitative Abschätzung der Todesopfer bei Bauwerksversagen: Gedanken zu einer allgemeinen Methodik (In German). Internal working paper, TU München, Germany
- Lentz, A. and Rackwitz, R. (2004a) 'Loss-of-Life Modelling in Risk Acceptance Criteria', *Proc. PSAM7 – ESREL '04, Berlin, 14-18 June 2004*, Springer-Verlag, London, pp 1924-1929

- Lentz, A. and Rackwitz, R., (2004b) 'Consequences and acceptability of long-term exposure to toxic substances in air, water and soil', *paper presented at the IFED forum, Stoos (Swi), 6-9 dec. 2004.*
- Lind, N. and Hartford D. (2000) 'Probability of human instability in a flooding: a hydrodynamic model', in: Melchers E and Stewart M.G. (ed) *Proc. Of ICASP 8, Applications of statistics and probability*, pp 1151-1156
- Lind N., Hartford D., Assaf H. (2004) Hydrodynamic models of human instability in a flood. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* Vol. 40 No. 1 Feb. 2004, pp.89-96
- Lindell M.K., Prater C.S., Perry R.W., Jie Ying Wu (2002) *EMBLEM: an empirically based large-scale evacuation time estimate model*, Hazard reduction & recovery center Texas A&M University
- Maaskant B. (2007) Research on the relationship between flood characteristics and fatalities based on the flooding in New Orleans caused by hurricane Katrina. Msc. Thesis, May 2007.Delft University
- Maes M.A., Faber M.H. (2003) Issues in utility modeling and rational decision making, *in: Proc.* 11th IFIP WG7.5 working conference on reliability and optimization of structural systems, Nov. 2-5. 2003, Banff, Canada.
- Mai S., von Lieberman N. (2001) Flood risk in coastal regions, *in: Proc. Of the 22nd int. conf. On hydrodynamics and aerodynamics in maritime engineering*, Varna, Bulgaria,
- Martens C. (2003) De storm van 1953: literatuurstudie naar de gevolgen van de overstromingen voor de Belgische kust. Nota I/NO/11226/03.085/CMA
- Matthijsen A.J.C.M. (2003) *Residence times for vulnerable and partly vulnerable objects*, RIVM report 620100001.
- McClelland D.M., Bowles D.S. (1999) Life-loss estimation: what can we learn from case histories. *In: Proc. of the Australian Committee on Large Dams (ANCOLD) Annual Meeting*, Jindabyne, New South Wales, Australia, November 1999
- McClelland D.M., Bowles D.S. (2002) Estimating life loss for dam safety risk assessment a review and new approach, IWR report 02-R-3
- Melisie E.J. (2006) Veiligheid Nederland in Kaart Risicocase dijkring 14 Zuid Holland, berekening van het overstromingsrisico, Rijkswaterstaat DWW report
- Merz B., Kreibich H., Thieken A., Schmidtke R. (2004) Estimation uncertainty of direct monetary flood damage to buildings, *Natural Hazards and earth System Sciences* Vol. 4, pp. 153 163
- Mileti D.S. and Peek L. (2000) 'The social psychology of public response to warnings of a nuclear power plant accident', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, Vol. 75, pp 181-194
- MinVenW (Ministerie van Verkeer en Waterstaat) (2006) Waterveiligheid 21e eeuw aandachtspunten uit de verkenning WV21 (synthese)
- Mitchell J.K.(2003) European floods in a changing world, Risk Analysis Vol. 23, No. 3 pp. 567-574

MMWR (Morbidity and mortality weekly report) (2006a) Public health response to hurricanes Katrina and Rita – United Sates, 2005, *MMWR* Vol. 55 No. 9, pp. 229-268

- MMWR (Morbidity and mortality weekly report) (2006b) Public health response to hurricanes Katrina and Rita – Louisiana, 2005, *MMWR* Vol. 55 No. 2, pp. 29-64
- Mooney, L.E (1983) Applications and Implications of Fatality Statistics to the Flash Flood Problems, *In: Proc. of the 5th Conference on Hydrometeorology*, Tulsa USA, 127-129.
- Morselt T., Evenhuis E. (2006) Review standaardmethode schade en slachtoffers, Rebelgroup report
- Mulder H.F. jr.(1954) Eén en ander over vroegere stormvloeden, *Polytechnisch tijdschrift* N0. 31-34, 14 aug 1954, pp538-546
- Munich Re (1997) Flooding and Insurance, Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft, Munich.
- Murakami H.O. (1992) 'A simulation model to estimate human loss of collapsed buildings in an earthquake', in: *Proc. 10th World Conference on Earthquake Engineering*, Balkema, Rotterdam, pp 5939-5974
- Mushtaque A., Chowdhury R., Bhuyia A.U, Choudhury A.Y., Sen R.(1993) The Bangladesh cyclone of 1991: why so many people died, *Disasters* Vol. 17 No. 4 pp. 291-303

- Nathwani J.S., Lind N.C., Pandey M.D. (1997) *Affordable safety by choice: the life quality method.* Institute for Risk Research, University of Waterloo, Canada.
- Nussey C., Carter D.A., Cassidy K. (1995) The application of consequence models in risk assessment: a regulator's view. Paper presented at: Int. Conference and Workshop on Modeling and Mitigating the Consequences of Accidental Releases of Hazardous Materials, September 26-29, 1995, New Orleans, USA.
- OED (Oxford English dictionary) (2003) *Oxford English Dictionary*, on-line version, http://www. oed.com, accessed in September 2003.
- Opper, S. (2000) Emergency planning for the Hawkebury Nepean Valley, paper presented at the *40th Annual Conference of the Floodplain Management Authorities of NSW*, Parramatta. Retrieved: September, 2003, from http://www.ses.nsw.gov.au/papers/opper_2000.pdf.
- Pandey M.D., Nathwani J.S. (2003) A conceptual approach to the estimation of societal willingness-to-pay for nuclear safety systems. *Nuclear engineering and Design* Vol. 224 pp.65-77
- Pandey M.D., Nathwani J.S. (2004) Life quality index for the estimation of societal willingness-topay for safety, *Structural Safety* Vol. 26 No. 2 pp.181-199
- Paquier A., Renzoni J., Cogoluegnes A. (2005) quick estimate of flood risk downstream of a dike breaching, pp. 371-376, in: van Alphen J. et al. (eds.) Floods, from defence to management, Proc. Of the third int. symp. On flood defence, Nijmegen, the Netherlands
- Pardue J.H., Moe W.M., Mcinnes D., Thibodeaux L.J., Valsaraj K.T., Maciasz E., van Heerden I., Korevec N., Yuan Q.Z. (2006) Chemical and microbiological parameters in New Orleans floodwater following hurricane Katrina. *Environmental Science & Technology* Vol. 39 No. 22 pp. 8591-8599
- Parker D.J., Green C.H., Thompson P.M., (1987) Urban flood protection benefits a project appraisal guide. Gower Technical press.
- Paté-Cornell E. (2002) Risk and Uncertainty Analysis in Government Safety Decision, *Risk Analysis* Vol. 22, No. 3 pp. 633-646.
- Paté-Cornell M.E. (1996) Uncertainties in risk analysis: six levels of treatment, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 54 No. 2-3 pp. 95-111
- Penning-Rowsell E., Floyd P., Ramsbottom D., Surendran S. (2005) Estimating injury and loss of life in floods: A deterministic framework, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 36 No. 1-2 pp. 43-64
- Penning-Rowsell E.C., Chatterton J.B. (1977) The benefits of flood alleviation a manual of assessment techniques, Saxon House.
- Persson M. (2003) *Quantitative risk analysis procedure for the fire evacuation of a road tunnel*, Dep. Of fire safety engineering, Lund University, Sweden, Report 5096
- Petak W.J. and Atkisson A.A. (1982) Natural hazard risk assessment and public policy, anticipating the unexpected, Springer-Verlag, Inc., New York. 489 p.
- Petrucelli U. (2003) Urban evacuation in seismic emergency conditions, *International Transportation Engineering Journal* Vol. 73 No. 88 pp. 34-38
- Pfister N. (2002) Community response to flood warnings: the case of an evacuation from Grafton, March 2001. *The Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 19-29.
- PGS (Publicatie Reeks Gevaarlijke Stoffen) (2003) Methoden voor het bepalen van mogelijke schade – aan mensen en goederen door het vrijkomen van gevaarlijke stoffen , Ministerie van VROM, Den Haag.

Pidgeon N.F. (1992) The psychology of risk, in: Blockley, D. (ed.) Engineering safety, McGraw Hill

- Pidgeon, N.; Hopkins, L. (2000) "Value of life" and insensitivity to quantity in contingent valuation judgements; In: Proc. Of ESREL 2000 - "Foresight and Precaution", Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Piers, M (1998) Methods and models for the assessment of third party risk due tot aircraft accidents in the vicinity of airports and their implications for societal risk; Chapter 17 in: Jorissen, R.E., Stallen, P.J.M. (eds.) *Quantified societal risk and policy making*; Kluwer academic publishers, pp. 166-204.
- Piers, M.A., Loog M.P., Giesberts M.K.H., Moek G., Couwenberg M.J.H. and Smeets M.C.J.

(1992) The development of a method for the analysis of societal and individual risk due to aircraft accidents in the vicinity of airports, NLR report CR 93372 L

- Pollard, M. (1978) North Sea Surge: The Story of the East Coast Floods of 1953. Terence Dalton Limited, Lavenham and Suffolk, U.K.
- Post J.G., Kooi E.S., Weijts J. (2005) Ontwikkeling van het groepsrisico rondom Schiphol 1990-2010, RIVM report 620100004
- Presley S.M., Rainwater T.R., Austin G.P., Platt S.G., Zak J.C., Cobb G.P., Marsland E.J., Tian K., Zhang B., Anderson T.A., Cox S.B., Abel M.T., Leftwich B.D., Huddleston J.R., Jeter R.M., Kendall R.J. (2006) Assessment of pathogens and toxicant in New Orleans, LA, following hurricane Katrina, *Environmental Science & technology* Vol. 40 No. 2 pp. 468-474
- Rackwitz R. (2002) Optimization and risk acceptability based on the life quality index, *Structural Safety* Vol. 24, pp. 297-331
- Raiffa H., Schlaifer R. (1961) *Applied statistical decision theory*, Harvard University press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States.
- Ramsberg J. (2000) Comments on Bohnenblust and Slovic, and Vrijling, van Hengel and Houben; *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 67 No. 2 pp.205-209
- Ramsbottom D., Floyd P., Penning-Rowsell E. (2003) *Flood risks to people phase 1*, R&D Technical report FD2317TR
- Ramsbottom, D., Wade, S., Bain, V., Hassan, M., Penning-Rowsell, E., Wilson, T., Fernandez, A., House, M., Floyd, P. (2004) *R&D Outputs: Flood Risks to People. Phase 2.* FD2321/IR2. Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs / Environment Agency.
- Rappaport E.N. (2000) Loss of life in the United States associated with recent tropical Atlantic cyclones, *Bulletin of American Meteorological Society*, Vol. 81 No. 9 pp. 2065-2073
- Reible D.D., Haas C.N., Pardue J.H., Walsh W.J. (2006) Toxic and Contaminant Concerns Generated by Hurricane Katrina. *The Bridge* Vol 36 No.1 pp. 5-13.
- Reichhardt T. (2005) Counting the dead, Nature Vol. 437 p. 176
- Reid S.G. (1992) Acceptable risk, in: Blockley, D. (ed.) Engineering safety, McGraw Hill
- Reinders J.E.A., Ham J.M. (2003) *casualties resulting from flooding of industrial sites*, Delft cluster report DC1-233-10
- Reiter, P. (2001) Rescdam: Loss of life caused by dam failure, the Rescdam LOL method and its application to Kyrkosjarvi dam in Seinajoki (summary of the final report), 19-6-2001
- Rijkswaterstaat (1916) Verslag over den stormvloed van 13/14 januari 1916. Gebr. J. & H. van Langenhuysen, 's Gravenhage.
- Rijkswaterstaat (1961) Verslag over de stormvloed van 1953. Staatsdrukkerij- en uitgeverijbedrijf, Den Haag..
- Rijkswaterstaat (2005) Veiligheid Nederland in Kaart Hoofdsrapport onderzoek overstromingsrisico's, DWW report 2005-081.
- RIVM (National institute for public health and environment) (2004) *Dutch dikes, and risk hikes a thematic policy evaluation of risks of flooding in the Netherlands* (summary in English, report in Dutch) RIVM report 500799002
- RMS (Risk Management Solutions) (2005) Hurricane Katrina: Profile of a super cat; lessons and implications for catastrophe risk management, RMS publication
- Roelen A.L.C., Wever R., Cooke R.M., Lopuhaa R., Hale A.R., Goossens L.H.J. (2003) Aviation causal model using Baysian Belief Nets to quantify management influence, In: van Gelder P.H.A.J.M., Bedford T. (eds.), Safety and Reliability, Proc. Of the ESREL 2003 conference, Maastricht, pp. 1315-1321
- Rofi A., Doocy S., Robinson C. (2006) Tsunami mortality and displacement in Aceh province, Indonesia, *Disasters* Vol. 30 No. 3 pp.340-350
- Rogers G.O., Sorensen J.H. (1989) Warning and response in two hazardous materials transportation accidents in the U.S., *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 22 No. 1 pp.55-74
- Roos, W. (2003) Damage to buildings. Delft Cluster report DC1-233-9.
- Samet J.M., Dominici F., Curriero F.C., Coursac I., Zeger S.L. (2000) Fine particulate air pollution

and mortality in 20 U.S. Cities, 1987-1994, *The New England Journal of Medicine* Vol. 343 No. 24, pp. 1742-1749

- Sarma A.K., Das M.M. (2004) Analytical solution of flood wave resulting from dike failure, *Water* and Maritime Engineering Vol. 156 No. 1, pp. 41-45
- SAVE (2001) Leidraad maatramp, SAVE en Adviesbureau van Dijke versie 1.3
- SAVE (2002) *Effectafstanden model-risicokaart*, report 020475d-L12, submitted to Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken
- Schleifstein (2002) Washing away: Special Report from the *Times-Picayune*. June 23-27, 2002. Available at http://www.nola.com/hurricane/?/washingaway/.
- Schultz J.M., Russell J., Espinel Z. (2005) Epidemiology of tropical cyclones: the dynamics of disaster, disease, and development. *Epidemiologic Reviews* Vol. 27 pp.21-35
- Seed R.B., Bea R.G., Abdelmalak R.I., Athanasopoulos A.G., Boutwell G.P., Bray J.D., Briaud J.-L., Cheung C., Cobos-Roa D., Cohen-Waeber J., Collins B. D., Ehrensing L., Farber D., Hanemann M., Harder L. F., Inkabi K. S., Kammerer A.M., Karadeniz D., Kayen R.E., Moss R.E.S., Nicks J., Nimmala S., Pestana J.M., Porter J., Rhee K., Riemer M.F., Roberts K., Rogers J. D., Storesund R., Govindasamy A.V., Vera-Grunauer X., Wartman J.E., Watkins C.M., Wenk Jr. E., Yim S.C. (2006) *Investigation of the performance of the New Orleans flood protection systems in hurricane Katrina on august 29, 2005*, Final report. Independent Levee Investigation team, July 31 2006
- Seed R.B., Nicholson P.G., Dalrymple R.A., Battjes J.A., Bea R.G., Boutwell G.P., Bray J.D., Collins B.D., Harder L.F., Headland J.R., Inamine M.S., Kayen R.E., Kuhr R.A., Pestana J. M., Silva-Tulla F., Storesund R., Tanaka S., Wartman J., Wolff T.F., Wooten R.L., Zimmie T.F. (2005) *Preliminary Report on the Performance of the New Orleans Levee Systems in Hurricane Katrina on August 29, 2005.* Report No. UCB/CITRIS – 05/01
- Seife, C. (2003) Columbia disaster underscores the risky nature of risk analysis. *Science* Vol. 299, pp. 1001-1002.
- Select Bipartisan Committee to Investigate the Preparation for and Response to Hurricane Katrina. (2006) *A Failure of Initiative*. U.S. Government Printing Office
- Sime, J.D. (1990) The Concept of Panic; pp. 63-81 in: Canter D. (ed.) *Fires and Human Behaviour* second edition0
- Simon, P., Laplace P.S. Marquis de (1951) *A philosophical essay on probabilities* (translation from French), Dover publications inc.
- Simonovic S.P., Ahmad S. (2005) Computer-based model for flood evacuation emergency planning, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 24 No.1 pp. 25-51
- Slager, K. (1992) De ramp een reconstructie 200 ooggetuigen over de watersnood van 1953, verhalen om nooit te vergeten. Goes: De koperen tuin.
- Slovic, P. (1987) Perception of Risk. Science Vol. 236 pp.280-285
- Slovic, P. (2000) The perception of risk. Earthscan Publications, Sterling, Virginia.
- Smith G.M. (1999) *Grasdijken graserosie, reststerkte en golfoverslag.* WL Delft Hydraulics report H1565.
- SNSD (Stichting Nieuw Schouwen-Duiveland)(1956) *Gekwelde grond Schouwen Duiveland in ramp en herstel.* publication by Stichting Nieuw Schouwen-Duiveland
- Spence R.J.S., Kelman I., Calogero E., Toyos G., Baxter P.J., Komorowski J.C. (2005) Modelling expected physical impacts and human casualties from volcanic eruptions, *Natural hazards* and earth system sciences Vol. 5 Issue 6, pp. 1003 - 1015
- Staes, C., Orengo, J.C., Malilay, J. Rullan, J. and Noji, E. (1994) Deaths Due to Flash Floods in Puerto Rico, January 1992: Implications for Prevention. *International Journal of Epidemiology* Vol. 23 No. 5 pp.968-975.
- Stallen, P.J.M.; Geerts, R.; Vrijling, J.K. (1996) Three conceptions of quantified societal risk. *Risk Analysis* Vol.16 No.5 pp. 635-644
- Starr C. (1967) Social benefit versus technological risk, Science Vol. 165 pp.1232-1238
- Steenbergen H.M.G.M., Lassing B.L., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., Waarts P.H. (2004) Reliability

analysis of flood defence systems, Heron Vol. 49 No. 1, pp. 51-73

- Stuyt L.C.P.M., Reinders J.E.A., van der Hoek E.E., Hermans A.G.M., Muinck Keizer de M., Kamperveen J.P., Hoogvliet M.C., Gerritsen A.L., Hounjet M.W.A., Bontenbal M.P., Hoefsloot F.V.J., Icke J. (2003) *Environmental impact of flooding*, Delft Cluster Report DC1-233-8
- Suddle S., Ale B.J.M. (2006) The third spatial dimension risk approach for individual risk and group risk in multiple use of space, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 123 No. 1-3, pp. 35-53
- Suddle S.I. (2004) Physical safety in multiple use of space, PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology.
- Suddle S.I., Waarts P.H. (2003) The safety of risk or the risk of safety? In: van Gelder P.H.A.J.M., Bedford T. (eds.), Safety and Reliability, Proc. Of the ESREL 2003 conference, Maastricht, pp. 1511-1518.
- Suetsugi K. (1998) Control of floodwater and improvements of evacuation system for floodplain management. In: Fukuoka S. (ed.) *Floodplain risk management, Proc. of an international workshop*, Hiroshima, 11-13 Nov 1996, pp. 191-207
- Suga K., Uesaka T., Sirai S., Takagi S., Hamaguchi K., Chen Z. (1994) An experimental study on underwater walking in flood disaster evacuation (in Japanese) *Annual Journal of Hydraulic Engineering* Vol. 38, pp. 829-832
- Suga K., Uesaka T., Yoshida T., Hamaguchi K., Chen Z. (1995) Preliminary study on feasible safe evacuation in flood disaster (in Japanese) *Annual Journal of Hydraulic Engineering* Vol. 39, pp. 879-882
- Sugimoto T., Murakami H., Yozuki K., Nishikawa K., Shimada T. (2003) A human damage prediction method for tsunami disasters incorporating evacuation activities, *Natural Hazards* Vol. 29 No. 3 pp. 585 – 600
- Sullivent E.E., West C.A., Noe R.S., Thomas K.E., Wallace L.J.D., Leeb R.T. (2006) Nonfatal injuries following hurricane Katrina New Orleans, Louisiana, 2005, *Journal of Safety Research* Vol. 37, pp.213-217
- Summers, D. (1978) The east coast floods, David & Charles (Publishers) Limited, London U.K.
- Takahashi T., Kubota D. (2003) Estimation of earthquake damage considering time use of day, *in: Proc.of ICASP 9*, July 2003, San Fransisco, Millpress, Rotterdam
- Takikawa K. (2001) Storm surge damage caused by Typhoon No. 9918 in the area of Shiranui Sea, JSCE publication, <u>www.jsce-int.org/Publication/CivilEng/2001/typhoon.pdf</u>, accessed Dec. 2005
- TAW (Technical Advisory Committee on Water Defences) (1985) *Some considerations of an acceptable level of risk in the Netherlands*, Report by TAW workgroup 10 'Probabilistic methods'
- Tengs, T.O., Adams, M.E., Pliskin J.S., Gelb Safran D., Siegel J.E., Weinstein M.C., Graham J.D. (1995) Five-hundred live saving interventions and their cost effectiveness, *Risk Analysis* Vol. 15 No.3 pp.369-390
- Ter Horst W.L.A. (2005) *The safety of dikes during flood waves analysis of the failure probability of dike ring areas in flood wave situations*, Msc. thesis Delft University.
- Thonus B.I., van Noortwijk J.M., Kok M. (2005) Verkenning kosten-baten analyse; dijkringgebied 14: Zuid Holland, HKV report PR906.20
- Thorne, B.J. and Arafat, R.R.(2002) *Mortality due to Tropical Storm Allison*, Houston Dept. Of Health & Human services, Bureau of Epidemiology. Unpublished presentation.
- Trbojevic V.M. (2004) Risk criteria in the EU, *paper presented at SAFERELNET workshop*, Paris, France 2004
- Trbojevic V.M. (2006) Another look at risk and structural reliability criteria, *in: Guedes Soares C., Zio E. (eds.) Safety and reliability for managing risk, Proc. Of ESREL 2006 conference*, Estoril, Portugal, 18-22 sept 2006, pp. 1547-1551
- Tsai Y.B., Yu T.M., Chao H.L., Lee C.P. (2001) Spatial distribution and age dependence of humanfatality rates from the Chi-chi, Taiwan, earthquake of 21 September 1999. *Bulletin of the seismological society of America* Vol. 91 No. 5 pp. 1298-1309

Tsuchiya Y., Kawata Y. (1981) Risk to life, warning systems, and protective construction against past storm surges in Osaka Bay, *Journal of Natural Disaster Science* Vol.3, No.1 pp. 33-56

- Tsuchiya Y., Yasuda T. (1980) High tide and life risk, refuge warning in relation to the Ise Bay Typhoon, *Journal of Natural Disaster Science* Vol.2, No.2 pp. 27-60
- UN DHA (United Nations Department of Humanitarian Affairs) (1992) *Internationally Agreed Glossary of Basic Terms Related to Disaster Management*, UN DHA, Geneva, December 1992.
- Urbanik T. (2000) Evacuation time estimates for nuclear power plants, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 75 No. 2-3 pp. 165-180.
- USBR (U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Department of the interior) (1988) *Downstream hazard* classification guidelines, Acer technical memorandum no. 11
- Van Beeck E.F., Branche C.M., Spilzman D., Modell J.H., Bierens J.J.L.M. (2005) A new definition of drowning: towards documentation and prevention of a global health problem, *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* Vol. 83 No, 11 pp.853-856
- Van Dantzig D. (1956) Economic decision problems for flood prevention, *Econometrica* Vol. 24 pp. 276-287
- Van den Hengel (2006) Slachtoffers bij overstromingen: analyse van een slachtoffermodel aan de hand van de Watersnoodramp van 1953 en overstromingssimulaties, Msc thesis, Delft University
- Van der Doef M., Cappendijk P. (2006) Veiligheid Nederland in Kaart modellering en analyse van evacuatie, report DWW-2006-007. Rijkswaterstaat DWW
- Van der Heijden C. (2003) Rampen en plagen: De allerheiligenvloed. NRC Handelsblad.
- Van der Torn P.(2002) Letselschade door incidenten in tunnels: een achtergrond document, PAO cursus tunnelveiligheid 2002
- Van der Veen A., Steenge A.E., Bockarjova M., Logtmeijer C.J.J. (2003) Structural economic effects of large scale inundation: a simulation of the Krimpen breakage, Delft Cluster report DC1-233-12
- Van der Ven G.P., Driessen A.M.A.J., Wolters W., Wasser J. (1995) Niets is bestendig de geschiedenis van de rivieroverstromingen in Nederland, Matrijs, Utrecht
- Van der Wiel W.D. (2003) *Probabilistic risk assessment of a system of dike ring areas*, Msc. Thesis Delft University.
- Van Gelder P., Kraak A. (1994) *Notitie Relatie Stijgsnelheid aantallen slachtoffers*, Rijkswaterstaat DWW notitie 11/10/94.
- Van Gelder, P.H.A.J.M. van (2000) Statistical Methods for the Risk-Based Design of Civil Structures, PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology
- Van Heerden I.L., Kemp G.P., Shrum W., Boyd E., Mashriqui H. (2006) *Initial assessment of the New Orleans' flooding event during the passage of hurricane Katrina*. Working paper by the LSU hurricane center.
- Van Leeuwen D. (1990) Protection against toxic substances by remaining indoors, Chapter 6 in: CPR (Commissie Preventie van Rampen door Gevaarlijke Stoffen) Methoden voor het bepalen van mogelijke schade aan mensen en goederen door het vrijkomen van gevaarlijke stoffen . CPR, Voorburg
- Van Manen S.E., Brinkhuis M. (2005) Quantitative flood risk assessment for polders, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, Vol. 90 No. 2-3, pp. 229-237
- Van Manen, S.E., Vrijling, J.K (1996) The problem of the valuation of a human life, in: Cacciabue C., Papazoglou I.A.(eds.), Probabilistic safety assessment and management '96; Proc. Of ESREL 96 - PSAM-III, Crete, 1996, pp.1911-1916
- Van Mierlo M.C.L.M., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M, Calle E.O.F., Vrijling J.K., Jonkman S.N., de Bruijn K.M., Weerts A.H. (2003) *Effects of river system behaviour on flood risk*, Delft Cluster report 1-211-1
- Van Vliet A.A.C., Kooi E.S., Post J.G. (2005) *Groepsrisico en gebiedsgerichte benadering*, RIVM rapport 620002001S
- Van Zuilekom K.M., van Maarsseveen M.F.A.M., van der Doef M.R. (2005) A decision support system for preventive evacuation of people, *in: Proc. The First International Symposium on*

Geo-information for Disaster Management', Delft, the Netherlands, 21-23 March 2005, Springer Verlag

Vanmarcke E. (1983) Random fields: Analysis and Synthesis, MIT press, Cambridge Massuchusetts,

- Vilchez J.A., Planas Cuchi E., Casal J., Amaldos J. (2004) Calculating concentration contour coordinates using integral plume models, *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries* Vol. 15 No. 6, pp. 507-514
- Visser P.J. (1998) Breach growth in sand-dikes, PhD thesis, Delft University
- Vlek C.A.J. (1990) Beslissen over risico-acceptatie, Gezondheidsraad rapport Nr A90/10, Den Haag
- Vlek C.A.J. (1996) A multi-level, multi-stage and multi-attribute perspective on risk assessment, decision-making and risk control, *Risk Decision and Policy* Vol. 1 No. 1 pp.9-31
- Von Neumann J., Morgenstern O. (1943) *Theory of games and economic behavior*. Princeton university press
- Voortman H.G. (2004) Risk-based design of large-scale flood defence systems, PhD thesis, Delft University
- Vrijling J.K. (2001) Probabilistic design of flood defence systems in the Netherlands, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 74 Issue 3 pp. 337-344
- Vrijling J.K. Stoop J. (1998) Rijkswaterstaat en de kansberekening. Chapter 17 in: d'Angremond K. (ed.) Watertovenaars, Delftse ideeën voor nog 200 jaar Rijkswaterstaat. Beta imaginations Rotterdam.
- Vrijling J.K., Jonkman S.N., Kanning W. (2006) Designing robust coastal structures, Abstract submitted *to the International Symposium on Coastal Structures 2007*.
- Vrijling J.K., van Gelder P.H.A.J.M. (1998) The effect of inherent uncertainty in time and space of the reliability of flood protection, *in: Proc. ESREL 1998*, pp. 451-456
- Vrijling J.K., Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M. Kok M., Calle E.O.F., Jonkman S.N. (2004) *Review van de resultaten van de koplopers van 'Veiligheid Nederland in Kaart'*, report to Rijkswaterstaat
- Vrijling, J.K., Hengel, W. van, Houben, R.J. (1995) A framework for risk evaluation, *Journal of hazardous materials* Vol. 43 No. 3 pp.245-261
- Vrijling, J.K., Hengel, W. van, Houben, R.J. (1998) Acceptable risk as a basis for design, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety* Vol. 59 pp. 141-150
- Vrijling, J.K., van Gelder, P.H.A.J.M van (1997) Societal risk and the concept of risk aversion, *In:* C.Guedes Soares (ed.), Advances in Safety and Reliability, Proc. Of ESREL 1997 Lissabon, Vol. 1, pp. 45-52, 1997
- Vrijling, J.K.; Gelder, P.H.A.J.M. van (2000) An analysis of the valuation of a human life In: M.P. Cottam, D.W. Harvey, R.P. Pape, & J. Tait (eds.) ESREL 2000 - "Foresight and precaution", Volume 1, pp.197-200, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK
- Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., Vrijling J.K. (1995) Normstelling acceptabel risiconiveau, TNO 95-CON-R0851
- Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., Vrijling J.K. (1996) Collegedictaat Probabilistisch ontwerpen b3, TU Delft
- Vrouwenvelder A.C.W.M., Vrijling J.K. (2000) Kansen, onzekerheden en hun interpretatie, Memorandum 2000-CON-DYN/M2107
- Vrouwenvelder, A.C.W.M, Steenhuis C.M.(1997) Tweede waterkeringen Hoeksche Waard, berekening van het aantal slachtoffers bij verschillende inundatiescenario's, Report TNO 97-CON-R0332
- Waarts P. (1992) Methode voor de bepaling van het aantal doden als gevolg van inundatie. Report TNO B-91-1099.
- Walker, W., Abrahamse, A., Bolten, J., Kahan, J.P., Van de Riet, O., Kok, M. & Den Braber, M. (1994) A Policy Analysis of Dutch River Dike Improvements: Trading off safety, cost and environmental impacts. *Operations Research Vol. 42 No. 5 pp.* 823-836
- Watson D., Serrer M., Crookshank N. (2001) *BC Hydro life safety model a two dimensional model for estimating dam breach survival probabilities*, Draft Technical Report Canadian Hydraulics Centre
- WGGO (Wetenschappelijk Genootschap voor Goeree en Overflakkee) (1954) Gebroken dijken: Goeree-Overflakkee en de ramp van 1 februari 1953, uitgever Boomsma, Middelharnis.

- Whitehead J.C., Edwards B., Willigen van M., Maiolo J.R., Wilson K., Smith K.T. (2000) Heading for higher ground: factors affecting real and hypothetical hurricane evacuation behavior, *Environmental Hazards* Vol. 2 No. 4 pp. 133-142
- WHO (World Health Organization Regional office for Europe) (2002) Floods: climate change and adaptation strategies for human health, published by WHO, Copenhagen.
- Wiersma T., Roos W., de Wit M. (2005) Gebiedgericht groepsrisico groepsrisico op een kaart, TNO report B&O A R 2005/245
- Wilson R. (2005) Making life safer with a risk analysis approach, Reliability Engineering and System Safety Vol. 87 Issue 3 pp. 299-301
- Wolshon B. (2006a) Evacuation planning and engineering for hurricane Katrina, *the Bridge* Vol. 36 No. 1 pp. 27-34
- Wolshon B. (2006b) Brotherly advice: learning from hurricanes Georges and Ivan, Louisiana avoids Katrina massacre, *Roads and Bridges* March 2006, pp. 22-26.
- Wolshon B., Catarella M.A., Lambert L. (2006) Louisiana highway evacuation plan for hurricane Katrina: proactive management of a regional evacuation, ASCE Journal of Transportation Engineering Vol. 132 Issue 1 pp. 1-10
- Zhai G., Fukuzono T., Ikeda S. (2006) An empirical model of fatalities and injuries due to floods in Japan. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association (JAWRA)* August 2006, pp. 863-875.
- Zhu Y. (2006) Breach growth in clay dikes, Phd thesis, Delft university of Technology.
- Zwart A., Woutersen R.A. (1988) Acute inhalation toxicity of inhalation of chlorine in rats and mice: time – concentration – mortality relationship and effects on respiration, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* Vol. 19 No. 2 pp. 195-208

Appendices

Appendix 1.I: Categorization of event types

Different types of events can be categorized with respect to the exposure to physical effects and the occurrence of mortality after exposure, see table A1.

Table A 1: Categorisation of events with respect to exposure and occurrence of mortality

		Exposure	
		Immediate	Chronic
Mortality after exposure	Direct	floods ¹ , airplane crashes, earthquakes and tunnel fires	-
	Delayed	Exposure to nuclear radiation or some chemical substances	Exposure to air pollution or other noxious substances

A distinction is made between immediate and chronic exposure. For immediate exposure, the effects manifest within relatively short time period (seconds, hours) after an event. Chronic exposure concerns continuous exposure to effects over a longer period. It generally concerns small doses of physical effects for which no single source event can be identified. Another distinction is made between direct and delayed mortality after exposure. Direct fatalities are directly caused by the physical forces of the disaster and occur mostly during or shortly after the event. Direct fatalities are also indicated as immediate or early deaths (Griffith, 1994). Due to the delay in the occurrence of medical effects, fatalities (also see Coburn and Spence, 2002). Mortality could also manifest with a delay, as a longer induction (or latency) period could exist between exposure and death (Lentz and Rackwitz, 2005; Griffith, 1994).

Based on these categories different accidents are shown in the categories in table A1. It is noted that some accident types could cover multiple categories. For example a nuclear accident could cause both direct and delayed fatalities. In addition the release of nuclear substances could lead to chronic exposure and consequent mortality. Figure A1 shows the occurrence of fatalities as a function of time for different event types.



Figure A 1: Development of the number of fatalities over time for different accidents.

¹ For some events characterized by immediate exposure and direct mortality, there might still be a small increase in mortality due to post event stress, see e.g. (Bennet, 1971) for floods. However, these longer-term consequences are small relative to the short-term consequences.

Appendix 2.I: Individual and population analysis of evacuation: Relationship between the x,t diagram and the distribution function of the number of evacuated people

It can be shown that the concept of the *x*,*t* diagram can be used to derive the distribution of the number of evacuated as a function of time in the form of figure 2-7. This is shown with a simplified one-dimensional example. Assume that the population at risk has a certain distribution over an area: m(x). The exit to the safe area is located at distance x_E and the size of the population at risk (N_{PAR}) equals:

$$N_{PAR} = \int_{0}^{x_{E}} m(x) dx$$

It is assumed that all people evacuate with movement speed v. The people present nearest to the exit evacuate to safety first. Thus, after a certain period t, the people within the spatial interval $[(x_E - vt); x_E]$ will have reached the safe area, see the sketch in figure A2.



Figure A 2: x,t diagram indicating the evacuated area after t_1

Thus, for this one-dimensional situation the number of evacuated people (N_{evac}) can be determined as a function of time:

$$N_{evac}(t) = \int_{x_E-vt}^{x_E} m(x) dx = F_E(t) N_{PAR}$$

As an illustration two cases are elaborated for an identical values of N_{PAR} =100, but different distributions along an area with the exit at x_E = 100m. In the first case a homogeneous distribution of the population is assumed:

$$m(x) = 1 \qquad 0 \le x \le x_E$$

In the second case it is assumed that most people are present near the exit: m(x) = 0,02x $0 \le x \le x_E$

A walking speed of v=1 m/s is assumed. For both cases the population density, the *x*,*t* diagram and the number of evacuated people as a function of time are shown in figure A3.



Figure A 3: Combination of population density and x,t diagram in order to obtain the number of evacuated people as a function of time

In both cases all people have evacuated after $T_{EVAC} = x_E / v = 100$ s. When most people are present near the exit, the largest part of N_{PAR} evacuates in the first period. The above analysis shows that the approaches using the population's response (figure 2-7) and the *x*,*t* graph (Figure 2-9) are equivalent. They give different presentations of the progress of the evacuation process and can be linked via the population density.

Appendix 2.II: Discussion on the application of discrete threshold exposure limits

It is suggested in some publications to apply discrete resistance functions in safety and risk analysis, see e.g. (van der Torn, 2002). Similarly HSE (2001) advocates the use of a hypothetical person². In such an approach, all the considered individuals are often assumed to have the same characteristics as the hypothetical person. Other examples of discrete resistance functions concern the threshold exposure limit and AEGL. Such threshold limits are often chosen conservatively low to account for people who are most susceptible. When this value is assigned to the whole population, this implies that a conservative resistance is assigned to the population. This is comparable to the determination of characteristic resistances in structural engineering.

As an illustration a discrete dose response function is drawn in figure A4. The threshold limit corresponds to a 50% response fraction in the actual dose response function. If the threshold exposure limit is used for loss of life estimation it is assumed that the whole exposed population will die if the limit is exceeded. It is questionable if this is a correct representation of the variation in population's response as the resistance distribution over the population is neglected. In the considered example higher resistances of certain persons in the exposed group are neglected, and consequence and risk levels might be over estimated. Similarly consequences can be under estimated, for dose values below the threshold value.



Figure A 4: Dose response function and discrete threshold value

Given these considerations it seems better to apply the resistance distribution over the population, as this will be a more appropriate representation of the variability of a population's response. The dose response function reflects the variation in individual vulner-abilities or resistances in the population. The dose response function can be considered as a composition of dose response functions of individuals or (sub)groups. The lower response fractions of the dose response function will concern the weakest elements (or people) in the population and the upper fractions the strongest. It might be possible to decompose

^{2 &}quot;An hypothetical person describes an individual who is in some fixed relation to the hazard, e.g. the person most exposed to it, or a person living at some fixed point or with some assumed pattern of life. (...) For example, for each population exposed to the hazard, there will usually be an hypothetical person specifically constructed for determining the control measures necessary to protect that population". HSE (2001, pp. 51)

the overall dose response function into functions for parts of the population with specific vulnerabilities (e.g. by age or gender). Ultimately, a discrete dose response function could be used if the individual resistance is exactly known. These distinctions between subpopulations (or even individuals) can only be made if epidemiological information is available on vulnerability characteristics for specific groups. Also, there has to be sufficient data to allow robust statistical analysis within the subgroups.

Proposal for the harmonisation of dose response functions and threshold exposure limits

Different formats of the dose response functions have been discussed: Continuous distribution functions such as probits can be used to estimate the loss of life and numbers of injuries in risk estimates. Discrete limits are generally used in emergency response to express concentrations at which (parts of) the general population could experience certain health effects. Various parties use these methods and underlying data differently in various fields. It suggested to harmonise these existing approaches, using available data, see also (PGS, 2003). It is recommended to develop a consistent and coherent set of functions for the analysis of mortality and incapacitation / injury, from which also threshold exposure limits can be derived for emergency response.

Firstly, distribution functions for mortality and injury / incapacitation can be derived based on available data. Table A2 gives an overview of the possibilities for determination of dose response functions.

Phenomenon	Method / data source	
Mortality	Derive dose response function based on human mortality data (e.g. observations from disasters)	
	Derive dose response function based on mortality data for animals by scaling	
Injury / incapacitation	Derive dose response function based on human injury data from observations from disasters or tests	
	Derive dose response function based on injury data for animals by scaling	
	Derive dose response function for injury from dose response function for mortality by assuming some relationship between mortality and injury ratios. It is often assumed that the injury function translates in a horizontal direction relative to the mortality function.	

Table A 2: Derivation of dose response functions for mortality and injury based on available data.

Based on these distributions, threshold exposure limits can be chosen that correspond to a certain response fraction (usually 0,01). In this way an optimal use of the available data is ensured and a mutually consistent set of response functions and threshold exposure limits will be obtained. An example of this approach is provided in figure A5, where a dose response function for mortality is derived based on available observations. Consequently, the dose response function for incapacitation is obtained by (horizontal) scaling. Threshold exposure limits are derived from both distribution functions. Mortality / response [-]



Figure A 5: Proposed harmonisation of three approaches. Based on a general dose response function for mortality, a dose response function for incapacitation, and a threshold exposure limit can be derived.

Appendix 2.III: Derivation of parameters of the lognormal distribution for different values for the probit constants

In section 2.3.4 is is shown how mortality can be approximated with a lognormal distribution. Equation 2-9 shows how the average and standard deviation of that distribution can be related to the constants in the probit function. In most³ of the proposed probits in the Netherlands (CPR, 1990) either the value of *n* or *b* is assumed to equal 1. If n = 1 and exposure to a constant concentration is assumed, mortality can be expressed as a function of the sustained dose (so D=*c*t) and the following equation is obtained:

$$F_D(D) = \Phi_N\left(\frac{a+b\ln(D)-\mu_D}{\sigma_D}\right) = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln(D)-1/b(\mu_D-a)}{\sigma_D/b}\right)$$

Thus, mortality has a lognormal distribution as a function of dose, with the following variables:

$$F_D(D) = \Phi_N\left(\frac{\ln(D) - \mu_N}{\sigma_N}\right)$$
$$\mu_N = (\mu_D - a)/b \quad \sigma_N = \sigma_D/b$$

For other substances b is assumed to equal 1, but n is varied (see e.g. de Weger *et al.*, 1991). If a constant duration of exposure is assumed the mortality will have a lognormal distribution as a function of the concentration c:

$$F_D(c) = \Phi_N\left(\frac{\ln(c) - \mu_N}{\sigma_N}\right)$$
$$\mu_N = \frac{\mu_D - a - \ln t}{n} \qquad \sigma_N = \sigma_D / n$$

³ Of the 22 probits proposed for toxicants in (CPR, 1989) only for Chlorine, either n or b does not equal 1. b=1 for all 16 probits proposed in (de Weger *et al.*, 1991).

In some recently derived probits (PGS, 2003) it is assumed that bn=2. Note that this implies a quadratic influence of the concentration. Assuming a constant exposure duration, the following constants of the lognormal distribution are found:

$$F_D(c) = \Phi_N\left(\frac{\ln(c) - \mu_N}{\sigma_N}\right)$$

$$\mu_N = 0,5(\mu_D - a - b\ln t) \qquad \sigma_N = \sigma_D/2$$

Appendix 2.IV: Conceptual modelling of the dynamic approach for loss of life estimation

In the so-called **dynamic** approach the spatial and temporal developments of physical effects, evacuation and the sustained injury have to be considered (see section 2.4). It is possible to schematise the dynamic approach using the previously introduced x,t diagram. The concentration at distance x from the risk source at time t can be plotted in a three dimensional graph (see figure A6a). The concentration is thus a function of location and time, i.e. c(x,t). By integration of the concentration over time the sustained dose at location x is obtained:

$$D(x) = \int_{0}^{t} c(x,t) dt$$

By substitution in the mortality function, mortality can be depicted as a function of location and time (see figure A6b). However, the position of an escaping person is not constant. The dose that a person sustains is obtained by integrating the exposure concentration over the escape path. The position of the person can be described as a function of the initial position (x_0) , escape velocity (v), time before initiation of escape $(t_w)^4$ and time (t)and conceptually written as $x(x_0, v, t_w, t)$. As x_0, v_E and t_w are generally constants, the location of an escaping person at time t can be written as $x_E(t)$. By substitution, the concentration to which an escaping person is exposed along the escape path becomes $c_E(t)$. Thus, the sustained dose of an escaping person during his escape path equals:

$$D_E = \int c_E(t) dt$$

Consequently the probability of death can be estimated as a function of the sustained dose (see figure A6c). As an example the escape paths for two persons are shown in that figure. The first line shows the path of a person starting $x_0=0$ who does not attempt escape (v=0). The other path shows the graph for a person present at a certain distance (x_0) from the fire source who requires a certain wake up time (t_w). For both persons the mortality can be depicted as a function of location and time. Finally, based on the three dimensional mortality graph, lines with constant mortality values can be projected in the x, t graph (see figure A6d).

⁴ Time before initiation of escape is often indicates as the wake up time.



Figure A 6

This concept is applicable for escape through fire smoke or other toxic substances. When analytical formulations for development of physical effects and progress of escape are available, the described analyses can be carried out analytically. In practice, such dynamic simulations will generally be implemented in (numerical) simulation models.

Appendix 3.I: Alternative approach for the determination of the individual risk

In section 3.3.2 is has been shown how the individual risk can be obtained by combining the dispersion model and the dose response function. An alternative approach is the combination of the probability density function (pdf) of initial effects and the dispersion model, see the figure below.



Societal risk

In this case the probability density function of effects *c* at location (x,y) ($f_c(c,x,y)$) is determined from the pdf of initial release and the dispersion model. Using the Jacobian it follows:

$$f_C(c, x, y) = f_{c0}(c_0) \frac{dc_0}{dc}$$

It is noted that the influence of the location is introduced via the derivative dc_0/dc . The proposed formula is less suitable when the physical effects involve multiple types of hazardous effects, for example some and heat for a fire. The expression for individual risk becomes as follows:

$$IR(x, y) = P(Z(x, y) < 0) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{C}(c, x, y) F_{D}(c) dc$$

By substitution the following expression for the expected value is obtained.

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \iint_{A} f_{C}(c, x, y) F_{D}(c) m(x, y) dx dy dc$$

By substitution of the first formula in this appendix the following expression for the expected number of fatalities is obtained:

$$E(N) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \iint_{A} f_{C}(c_{0}) F_{D}(c) m(x, y) dx dy dc_{0}$$

As: $F_D(c) = F_D^*(c_0, x, y)$ for $c(c_0, x, y)$, it follows that the derived equation for the expected number of fatalities is identical to equations 3-18 and 3-20.

Example

The above approach is used to elaborate the example for the chemical installation from section 3.6.2. For this case we use $f_{C0}(c_0) = pfa/c_0^3$ for $c_0 > 1$ and $c(c_0, R) = c_0 e^{-\alpha R}$. The pdf of effects *c* at distance *R* follows from the Jacobian and substitution of the dispersion relation:

$$f_{C}(c,R) = f_{c0}(c_{0})\frac{dc_{0}}{dc} = \frac{ap_{f}}{c_{0}^{3}}e^{\alpha R} = \frac{ap_{f}}{c^{3}}e^{-2\alpha R} \quad voor \quad 1 < c_{0} < \infty$$

The individual risk is determined by combination with the dose response function. (Note that if $c_o=1$ $c=e^{-\alpha R}$):

$$IR(R) = \int_{c_0=1}^{\infty} f_C(c,R) F_D(c) dc = \left[-\frac{2}{3} a p_f e^{-2\alpha R} c^{-3/2} \right]_{e^{-\alpha R}}^{\infty} = \frac{2}{3} a b p_f e^{-0.5\alpha R}$$

This result is identical to the outcome obtained in section 3.6.2 in formula 3-46.

Appendix 3.II: Unit of the risk aversion factor *k* in the formulation of Total Risk for a Binomial distribution of the number of fatalities

Vrijling et al. (1995) propose the following expression for the total risk

$$TR = E(N) + k \cdot \sigma(N)$$

We assume a situation with one possible accident with probability p [yr⁻¹] and number of fatalities N. For the Binomial distribution the expressions for expected value and standard deviation are as follows:

$$E(N) = pN$$

$$\sigma(N) = \sqrt{p(1-p)N}$$

this implies that the expected value E(N) has unit [fatality / yr]. The standard deviation has the unit [fatality^{0,5}/yr]. This implies that in this case the factor k also must have unit [fatality^{0,5}] for a consistent TR expression. This issue does not exist for other distribution types, such as the normal, lognormal and exponential distribution, for which average and standard deviation have the same unit.

Appendix 3.III: Analysis of the effects on the FN curve of adding new housing developments

In section 3.4.3. the relationship between the FN curve and individual risk contours has been discussed for two typical situations (i.e. for a fixed risk source and spatially distributed accidents). Rules of thumb can be derived to assess the contribution of new housing developments to the FN curve when the IR contours are known. The ratio between the individual risk levels at distance x and at the origin can be written as follows:

$$\frac{IR(x)}{IR(0)} = \frac{P_E(x)F_{D|E}(x)}{P_E(0)F_{D|E}(0)}$$

Where: $P_E(\mathbf{x})$ – probability of exposure at location *x*; $F_{D|E}(\mathbf{x})$ – probability of death given exposure at location *x* (integrated over all intensities of physical effects)

For a **fixed installation** it is assumed that the probability of exposure equals the accident probability $(P_E(0) = P_f)$ and that the probability of exposure is constant for all locations $(P_E(\mathbf{x})=P_E(0) \text{ for all } \mathbf{x})$. This implies that individual risk contours will be determined by spatial variation of mortality. The ratio between mortalities at two locations will equal their individual risk ratio. The number of (additional) fatalities associated with exposing N_{EXP} people at a certain individual risk contour is calculated as follows:

$$N(x) = F_{D|E}(x)N_{EXP}(x) = \frac{IR(x)F_{D|E}(0)}{IR(0)}N_{EXP}(x)$$

Based on this equation, the increase in the number of fatalities due to the increase of the exposed population can be calculated. In many applications the mortality at the accident source equals 1 ($F_{D|E}(0)=1$), and the individual risk at the origin equals the probability of exposure and thus the probability of failure ($IR(0)=P_F(0)=P_P$).

As an example we assume an installation with a given probability of failure and given risk contours. The individual risk near the installation is IR=10⁻⁴ yr⁻¹ and it equals the probability of failure. In the existing situation a village with N_{EXPI} =1000 inhabitants is situated at the IR=10⁻⁵ contour. The local government plans to add a new development with N_{EXP2} =1000 inhabitants at the IR=10⁻⁶ contour. The additional fatalities and the effects on the FN curve can be estimated with the above formula. This leads to a shift right in the FN curve, see figure A7.



Figure A 7: Change in FN curve caused by adding exposed population at the IR=10⁻⁶ contour for a fixed installation

For **spatially distributed accidents** (e.g. an airport) the mortality and consequences due to exposure are the same for all locations $(F_{D|E}(\mathbf{x})=F_{D|E}(0))$. The individual risk contours will be determined by the spatial variability in the probability of an accident (e.g. an airplane crash). The probability of exposure at a location could be derived from the IR contours as follows:

$$P_E(x) = \frac{IR(x)P_E(0)}{IR(0)}$$

In a first order approximation it could be assumed that: $P_{accident}(\mathbf{x}) \approx P_{E}(\mathbf{x})$. Additionally, if the probability of death given an accident: $F_{D|E}(\mathbf{x})=1$, then $P_{E}(\mathbf{x}) \approx IR(\mathbf{x})$. In this case, the points shown in the FN curve are equal to the coordinates (*IR*, N_{EXP})

Assume the example of an airport, where the crash probability is spatially distributed and the mortality is identical for all crash locations. We consider the same situation as in the previous example (identical IR contours, 1000 people at 10⁻⁵ contour and new development adding 1000 people at the 10⁻⁶ contour). The resulting FN curves due to addition of are shown, indicating an upward shift of the FN curve, see figure A8.



Figure A 8: Change in FN curve caused by adding exposed population at the IR=10⁻⁶ contour for a spatially distributed accident location
Appendix 4.1: Correlation between loads: example

Within one exposed area the loads (i.e. the level of physical effects) at two locations might be correlated via the dispersion of effects, but not identical. As an example, the water depth for a flood is schematically shown in figure A9. The water depth forms the load on the people in the polder.



Figure A 9: Schematic view of a polder with a slope, illustrating the relationship between water depth at location 1 and 2

For the simple sloping polder the load on two persons will depend on the slope of polder surface and their mutual distance. The water depth at location 2 (h_2) can be approximated as a function of the water depth at location 1 (h_1) :

1

$$h_{2} = h_{1} - ix$$

If it is assumed that $\sigma(h_{1}) = \sigma(h_{2})$, it can be shown that $\rho_{h_{1},h_{2}} = COV(h_{1},h_{2}) = E((h_{1} - \mu(h_{1}))(h_{2} - \mu(h_{2}))) = E((h_{1} - \mu(h_{1}))(h_{1} - ix - \mu(h_{1}) + ix)) = E((h_{1} - \mu(h_{1}))^{2}) = \sigma^{2}(h_{1})$
$$\rho_{h_{1},h_{2}} = \frac{COV(h_{1},h_{2})}{\sigma(h_{1})\sigma(h_{2})} = 1$$

In this case the water depths at the two locations are based on one source of physical effects, e.g. the breach in the dike. Water depths will be fully correlated via the dispersion model. Full correlation will generally appropriate within one exposed area when loads are correlated via the dispersion model. Following the above formula correlation will also become smaller when $\sigma(h_p) \ll \sigma(h_2)$, i.e. when large uncertainties exist in the dispersion of physical effects. For other situations it might be more difficult to determine correlations in loads between two locations. This is for example the case when regional flood defences in a polder separate two locations.

Appendix 4.II: Influence of uncertainty on failure probability of a system

The failure probability for a given system is determined from the reliability function: Z = R - S. The probability of failure, P (Z<0) can be found by:

$$P(Z<0) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F_R(x) f_s(x) dx$$

In this integral the probability density function of load $(f_s(x))$ and the distribution function of resistance $(F_R(x))$ are combined. Here, the influence of the Bayesian integration uncertainty in load and resistance is examined. Using some schematic cases, it is shown that the effects of the integration of uncertainty on the failure probability of a system will depend on the specific the distributions of load and resistance, and thus outcomes of convolution integral.

Case 1: deterministic load, variable resistance function

Case 1a: load in the lower response fractions. Due to inclusion of uncertainty, the response fraction will increase for lower loads (see section 4.5.2) and the failure probability will also increase. The response curve including uncertainty is shown with a dashed line.



Case 1b: load in the higher response fractions. Due to inclusion of uncertainty, the response fraction will decrease for higher loads and failure probability will also decrease.



Case 2: Variable load and resistance

In most cases typical loading situation will be smaller than the resistance of a system (i.e. failure probability). Inclusion of knowledge uncertainty in loads, implies that higher loads will become more likely. For these cases the failure probability of the system will increase, as is shown below.



Appendix 4.III: Uncertainty in horizontal (X) and vertical (Y) direction

Suppose that variable *Y* is a function of variable *X* with a function *g*, so that Y = g(X)





It is assumed that the pdf of X is conditional on the value of x. Eventually we are interested in the distribution function of y conditional on a level of x:

$$F_{Y}(y | X = x) = P(Y \le y | X = x)$$
$$= P(g(X) \le y | X = x)$$
$$= P(X \le g^{-1}(y) | X = x)$$
$$= F_{X}(g^{-1}(y) | X = x)$$

The conditional pdf of y can be derived using the Jacobian:

$$f_{Y}(y \mid X = x) = f_{X}\left(g^{-1}(y) \mid X = x\right)\frac{dx}{dy}\Big|_{X = x} = f_{X}\left(g^{-1}(y) \mid X = x\right)\frac{d}{dy}g^{-1}(y)\Big|_{X = x}$$

So the distribution of y conditional on x is found using information on the conditional distribution of x and the function that relates x and y. In this study x could be concentration c, Y could be response fraction F_D and the function that relates the two is the dose response function $F_D(c)$.

Appendix 7.I: Summary of a literature study on flood evacuation

Given the lack of historical evacuation data, a survey of literature has been conducted to derive characteristic values for modelling of the first three phases of evacuation (namely prediction & decision-making, warning, response). The analysis focuses on the situation in the Netherlands and it is largely based on a study of literature by Frieser (2004).

Time required for decision-making

The decision-making phase includes the interpretation of signs of a threatening disaster by the responsible decision makers. The phase is concluded by a notification to the appropriate community officials in order to start spread evacuation warning.

Frieser (2004) investigated the times needed for decision-making for different kinds of (threatening) disasters. For events that could be predicted in advance, such as hurricanes in the USA, in general several days elapsed after the first signs before the decision-making process started. The actual times needed for decision-making on issuing warning and evacuation varied between 1,25 hrs and 12 hours. In the Netherlands in 1995 high river discharges on the Rhine threatened to cause flooding. The time needed to take the actual decision was approximately 4 hours. This values is proposed here as a representative decision time for preventive flood evacuation in the Netherlands.

Data on times required for decision-making <u>after</u> the occurrence of floods have not been found in literature. A survey of decisions times for toxic releases showed that these varied between 20 minutes and 3,5 hours, with a mean of 1,8 hours. It is believed that decisionmaking after an (unexpected) flood will need a similar decision time. The availability of procedures, instructions and information can decrease decision time.

Warning: general

The time needed to notify the population will, amongst others, depend on the level of preparedness and the availability of communication systems (Barendregt *et al.*, 2002). Wired telephone services and power are lost in almost every flood, so wide spread warning after the initiation of the flood is unlikely. Recent events have also shown that mobile telephone networks tend to be overloaded and do not function during calamities. In assessing the possibilities for warning, the speed of onset of the event is an essential variable. Unluckily the possibilities for dissemination of the warning are most limited for those floods which are most hazardous: it will be difficult to achieve a complete warning of the population if the flood suddenly occurs.

If warning is given sufficiently in advance large-scale evacuation may be achieved. Note that also warning after occurrence of the flood will affect behaviour of the population exposed to the flood, and as such it may influence flood mortality. This type of warning is investigated in section 7.4.6.

Warning effectiveness

Empirical data has been collected on the effectiveness of warning, i.e. the percentage of the threatened population that receives the warning. In 1995 very high discharges occurred in

the Rhine river system. An evacuation order was issued in several parts of the Netherlands. Although, no explicit measurements of warning effectiveness were undertaken it is believed that almost all persons received the warning. Persons were already aware of the threatening situation and their "disaster-consciousness" was high. For an expected and predictable flood, for which the signs are visible in advance, it can be assumed that almost the whole population (99 to 100%) can be warned. However, active dissemination of the warning remains necessary.

Lower levels of warning effectiveness are reported for more sudden and unexpected floods. During UK river floods in 2000, only 30% of the questioned persons did receive warning prior to their house being flooded (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003). The floods 1953 in the Netherlands in 1953 occurred relatively suddenly and unexpected. For those 39 locations for which warning was reported, only 13 (33%) received warning prior to the flood. For the Bangladesh cyclone of 1991 the percentages of persons warned ranged between 60% (Mushtaque *et al.*, 1993) and 98 to 100% (Chowdhury *et al.*, 1993). However, as warning time was short no evacuations of persons out of the area were possible. Frieser (2004) also analysed the percentage of the persons warned for other unexpected events, namely four train derailments involving hazardous materials. This showed warning percentages ranging between 80% and 99%. Given the reported variations no first general estimate of warning effectiveness can be given, as it will depend on situational factors. Here it is assumed that it will be in the order of magnitude of 30 to 50% if no official warnings are given, and in the order of 80 to 100% if authorities are well prepared and functioning warning systems are available.

Time required for warning

This is the time needed for dissemination of the warning to a certain percentage of the population. No quantitative information was found on the warning times during the threatening floods in the Netherlands in 1995. The qualitative descriptions of the floods in 1953 in the Netherlands (Slager, 1992) suggest warning times of several hours. Frieser (2004) gave an overview of warning times for hurricanes, train derailments and hazmat accidents, see figure A10. Based on this figure, a representative warning time between 2 and 3 hours is proposed for flood evacuation for large-scale floods.

Warning time distributions of hurricanes and train derailment accidents in the U.S.



Figure A 10: Warning time distributions for some events: hurricanes (dashed lines), train derailments (dots) and accidents with hazardous materials (Frieser, 2004)

Response phase

The response phase covers the stages between warning and the response in the form of action after the warning. As is shown in section 2.2.6 several factors and barriers will influence the compliance to warning, and the time needed for response. Empirical data with respect to compliance rates and response times in past events is reviewed below.

Compliance to warnings

Several sources report non-compliance to warnings for past events. Lindell *et al.* (2002) report non-compliance rates for hurricane warnings in the United States between 35% and 64%. Rates vary from location to location and from storm to storm. For chemical accidents the range of non- evacuees was between 2 and 74% of those warned (Bellamy, 1986). Non-compliance rates to evacuation orders before potential flooding are reported to be lower. For both the floods in Prague in 2002 and the preventive evacuation in the Netherlands in 1995 non-compliance rates were low and they are estimated at 5%. In these two events almost all people were aware of the flood hazard, due to extensive media attention long before the initiation of evacuation.

In more unexpected floods with immediate warnings or events with lower disaster consciousness non-compliance rates might be higher. Pfister (2002) reports a non-compliance rate of 82% during threatening floods in Grafton (Australia), which was mainly caused by the low consciousness of the Grafton residents. For the Bangladesh 1991 cyclone a large percentage of the population received the warning in advance. However, only 19% of the families moved to safer grounds or shelters (Chowdhury *et al.*, 1993). The two most common reasons given for this passive reaction were a) the fear of burglary, and b) disbelief of the warnings. Overall, compliance will be largely determined by situational factors. The awareness of a threatening flood is essential for perception and belief of warning. As for predictable floods awareness will be high due to extensive media attention, compliance is believed to amount 95%. For more unexpected floods no general figures on non-compliance in floods can be derived from past cases. It is believed that this rate will relatively low because people will consider flood a large-scale flood in the Netherlands as a relatively unimaginable event. As a first estimate for unexpected events a compliance rate of 50% can be given. Compliance rates can be higher if additional measures are taken to convince the population of the urgency of the situation, for example the use of military troops in forcing persons to leave.

Time needed for response.

Different sources report response times for different accidents. Suetsugi (1998) gives data on for floods in the Seki River basin in Japan in 1995, for two districts (Matsumara and Tsukioka). Data on response distributions for different accidents with hazardous materials are summarized by Frieser (2004). These include accidents in Confluence and Pittsburgh, and a fire in Ephrata. Lindell *et al.* (2002) collected data on response times for hurricane evacuations. Figure A 11 shows the distributions of response times for these events.



Figure A 11: Observed response time distributions for past accidents, Response times are calculated for those that actually evacuated.

Information on response times during the flood hazard in the Netherlands in 1995 is lacking. COT (1995) reported that (1) 4% of the residents at risk had already left before the evacuation warning had been issued, (2) 16% left immediately after the evacuation warning, (3) 60% made evacuation preparations and (4) 20% evacuated the next day.

Based on figure A 11 estimates of response times for floods can be made. Literature suggests that response times after a disaster will be smaller than response times in case preventive evacuation. The curve for hurricane evacuation is believed to be representative for preventive flood evacuation. A mean response time of about 2,5 hours can be assumed and the function proposed by Lindell *et al.* (2002) for residents can be used to estimate response time distribution ($F_{RP}(t) = 1 - e^{-0.085t^{2.55}}$

To account for response after unexpected flooding, empirical data from the other events in figure A11 will be used as a yardstick. For these cases the mean response time amounts about 1 hour, and 100% response will be achieved after about three hours.

Appendix 7.II: Analysis of spatial distribution of evacuation

Within the approach proposed in section 7.3.5 it is assumed that the available time is equal for all locations in the affected area. As a result a constant evacuation fraction is assumed for the whole area. However, the available time at a certain location will also depend on the arrival time of the floodwaters at that location. This can also be taken into account in the estimation of the fraction of evacuated, as has been shown in (Jonkman, 2001; Asselman and Jonkman, 2003). An example from (Asselman andd Jonkman, 2003) is included below. For the inundation of the province of South Holland arrival times of the flood waters are presented in figure A12. Combining this information with an evacuation model, the evacuated fraction can be estimated, see figure A13. For this case it is assumed that no time is available before the dike breach. In the areas near the dike breach there is a hardly possibility to evacuate, while areas that are affected after one day will have sufficient possibilities to evacuate.



Figure A 12: Arrival time of the flood water after breaching of flood defence (Asselman and Jonkman, 2003).



Figure A 13:Percentage of the population that has been evacuated (Asselman and Jonkman, 2003).

Appendix 7.III: Flood fatalities database

This appendix describes the variables included in the flood fatalities table. For each variable, name, symbol, unit and a description (if necessary) are given. In addition, assumptions used in inclusion of the data in the table are described for certain events in Italics.

Variable	Туре	Symbol	Unit	Description
Event and location				
Event code	descriptive			Abbreviation of event, indicating country and year of event
Date	date			Date of occurrence of event
Event name	descriptive			Typhoon or storm name (if appropriate)
Location	descriptive			flooded location For NL1953: locations included are based on (Waarts, 1992). Additional locations covered in Delta 2003 have been added. As this last source gives the official death toll, these numbers have been used as reference.
Island / region	descriptive			
Province	descriptive			
Fatalities				
Fatalities total	number	N		Total number of fatalities by location
Fatalities by zone	number		-	Fatalities by zone. By assigning fatalities to zones descriptions from sources have been used. NL 1953: Classification of fatalities by zone of Waarts (1992) has been used Jap1959: Assumption Number of fatalities in the breach zone equals: breach ratio * N_{EXP} . Fatalities at Jyonan and Nabeta are assumed to be due to rapidly rising waters. UK1953: estimated based on descriptions in sources All: if no indicative information was available fatalities have been assigned to the remaining zone
Number of inhabitants	number	N _{PAR}	_	Number of people in flooded area. NL 1953: numbers of inhabitants have been abstracted from official numbers from CBS.
Number of exposed	number	N _{EXP}	-	Is found by correcting number of inhabitants for the number of evacuated, sheltered and rescued. All events: If the whole area is flooded and no evacuation took place it has been assumed that all inhabitants were exposed. If a part of the area has been flooded, then the number exposed is assumed to equal the ratio of inundation * the number of inhabitants (thus homogenous distribution of population is assumed). If the area was not fully inundated and the number of exposed people could not be determined this has been indicated with**. <i>NL 1953:number of exposed has been determined based on maps of flooded areas and population distribution (van den Hengel, 2006)</i>
Mortality	fraction	F_{D}	_	Number of fatalities divided by the number of
serious injuries	number		-	Difference between serious and light injury adopted,
light injuries	number		_	as this has been used in (Tsuchiya and Yasuda,
Flood characteristic	S		-	

The flood fatalities is included, the most relevant fields are displayed.

Flood depth	number	h		Water depth in the area, often determined as: water
				level – land level
				Jap 1934, Jap1950, Jap1961 given as mean
				inundation depth
				USA1965: chosen as measured water depth closest
			m	to the population center
Water level	number		m	
Land level	number			Jap1959: Data on land levels has been derived
				from maps from the Japanese Geographical Survey
			m	Institute (http://mapbrowse.gsi.go.jp/mapsearch.html
Rise rate	number	W	m/u	Estimation of rise rate over the first 1,5 metres of
				water.
				NL 1953: estimations of rise rate from (Waarts,
D: (D :		_	1992)
Rise rate	Descriptive			Classification of rise rate.
				Large II w>=0,5 m/nr
Flow velocity	number	V	-	
	namber	V	m/s	
Arrival time of water	number			Local arrival time of flood wave after initiation of
Elood duration	numbor		nr	1000
	number		hr	
Area flooded	number			Extent of area flooded at location
-			ha	NL 1953: data used from Waarts (1992)
lotal area	number		ha	Total area of location
Ratio of area flooded	fraction		_	Area flooded divided by total area
Breach discharge	number	Q.		Breach discharge, indicate whether it is maximum
		breach	m3/s	or average
Breach width	number		m	
Embankment length	number			
Breach ratio	fraction		m	Fraction of total embankment length that has been
Diedonitatio	Inaction		_	breached
Warning, shelter and	devacuation			
Fraction evacuated	fraction	F		
Number of people	numbor	E NI	-	
sheltering	number	/v _s		
Fraction of people	fraction	F	-	
sheltering		· s	_	
Evacuation and	Descriptive			
shelter				
Warning level	Classification			Classification of warning level according to the
				method proposed in (Tsuchiya and Yasuda, 1980)
				and description in section 7.4.6
Number of people	number	N _{RES}		
rescued	Decerintive		-	
Rescue actions	Descriptive			Description of rescue actions and their effects
Building collapse				
Total number of	number			Total number of buildings in area
buildings				For Jap1934, 1950, 1961 this is assumed to equal
			-	the number of households
Buildings collapsed	number			Number of buildings to be reported to be (fully)
			-	collapsed
Fraction of buildings	fraction	FB		Number of buildings collapsed divided by total
collapsed Building tures	Descriptive		-	number of buildings
	Descriptive			
Other factors				
Population	Descriptive			Description of population vulnerability
vulnerability				characteristics, such as a age and gender
Circumstances	Descriptive			Description of causes and circumstances of flood
				fatalities
-			1	NL1953: mainly obtained from Slager, 1992
Sources				Sources from which recorded information has been
				abstracted

Appendix 7.IV: Derivation of one depth dependent mortality function for all data

In the approach proposed in section 7, three hazard zones have been distinguished based on the influence of velocity and rise rate. Depth dependent mortality functions have been proposed for these zones. One alternative application would be the derivation of one depth dependent mortality function based on all available data. The figure below shows a depth dependent mortality function derived through all data used for calibration.



Figure A 14: Derived mortality function for the whole available dataset

The obtained functions, their parameters and correlations are summarized in the table below.

Function	Parameters	Correlation: R ²
Lognormal – all data	μ _{LN} =1,89, σ _{LN} =0,46	0,28
Exponential – all data	A=5,58; B=0,82	0,27

The use of two different mortality functions for the remaining zone and zone with rapidly rising water is shown in figure A15. It is clear that this approach leads to the best fir with available data.



Figure A 15: Mortality functions proposed in section 7

																					1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978	1978																							
			1081	ta, 1981	1981	ta 1981	ta, 1981	ta, 1981	ta, 1981	1981	ta 1981	ta 1981	ta. 1981	ta, 1981	ta, 1981	ta, 1981	ummers.	ummers.	ummers.	ummers,	ummers,	ummers.	ummers.	ummers.	ummers,	ummers,	ummers,	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	ella 2003	elta ZUUS	olta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta 2003	elta zuuo	0000									
			Sources suchiva and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiva and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and kawa	suchiva and Kawa	suchiva and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	suchiya and Kawa	Srieve, 1959 S	SHEVE, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Sneve, 1959 5	Srieve, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Srieve, 1959 S	Sneve, 1959 S	Vaarts, 1992 D	Vaarts, 1992 D	Vaarts, 1992 D	water D	Varte 1002	0	Vaarts, 1992 D		Vaarts, 1992 U		/aarts, 1992 D	laarts, 1992 D		0 000 mm	Jaarts, 1992 D	ddite, reak	/aarts. 1992 D	/aarts, 1992 D	/aarts, 1992 D	/aarts, 1992 D	/aarts, 1992 U	2	1 0000 mm
		Circumstances	(aescriptive)	1	1			- }		- 1		1			-)-	-	-	T	H	<u> </u>	0	O hand on the land	6 drowned, of while	0	fatalities: mother - G	whole village flood G	I trapped in hous G	housing estate floi G	(1 shock, 1 pneuri G	very fast rate of ri G	old lady in home) G		\$	N	I fatality in bed, 2 in	5		5		\$		~	~		VI.	~ ~		\$	many fatalities du W	\$	~	~		A Distance of the second
20	Fraction	buildings collapsed	D 00416083	0,00536036		0,01067329	0,00025096	00152805	V,UU1242	0.00518378	0.00479036	0,0111381	0,01849441	0,00620549	709610501	12752452	0.03498946	0,04473957	0,0035574	0,00940081																										T		0.3	61208577	0,8	,36607143	10101010101	ISTRINNEL'	I TOLYCENCE
distion Ruin		Suildings	205 (220 0		490 (9	110 0	204	232 (295 (431	341 (101	784	1326 (531 0	475 0	134	329 0	Ī	Ī	T				T								T		T		T	T	Ī					T	T	63	314 0	56	41 0	000	0 00	010
Ina		Number of B	49269	41042		45909	23908	/198/	44107	44755	61582	38696	18438	12061	11950	10398	15176	10617	37668	34997		T	T			1	1					T			T	T	T			T	T			-		T	T	10	513	20	112	204	170	100
A, SUBIRI BILLIA		Warning level	(classification)																														0	0	A											Ī		-						
enneil		(classi-	small small	small	small	small	small	Small	small	small	small	small	small	Small	small	small	small	small -	small	small	large	Small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	Small	arge	small	small	Small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	SMBI	small	arge	arge	arge	arge	Smail	SITTER	and and a state of the state of
AN CHAINGRAP		rise rate	m limni																																													16		4	4			10.00
2		flood depth	u lu	1,4	0	1,7	9.0	0,1	1,1	-	1,6	1,1	2,5	0,1	1.4	2.8	1,9	0,8	6,0	0,8	20	21	2 04	1,3	1,7	2 *	1,0	1,5	-	2	1.3	3.5	2,2	2,8	0,5			0,3							9.6	3.5	210	3,85	3,3	3,8	2,8		2	uc
		mortality	0.01475	0,003274		0,001234	7,67E-05	0,000267	0,000000	0.001289	0,008856	0,000175	0,000972	0,00017	7 025-05	0.001686	0,000262	0,000209	8,52E-05	0,000438	0,070909	199700'n	0,002		0.002667	0,05285/	0.008152	0,002183	0,002	A AAAAAA	0,00018783	20111010	0,029656	0,003241			0,002841	0	4	-						n 01174	L'ILIN'N	0.2	0,153928	0,366667	0,064935	A 026212	0,000014	POPPOUL C
	Nr. of	exposed	2169	74226		207441	26087	204410	010070	62848	5307	22838	59685	10004	42763	37357	49621	9571	46968	50227	550	1500	5000		3000	100	368	2748	1000	22	5141	**	1686	5245	: :		704	21415	0000	1700	:	:	•	:		3748	**	50	1871	180	385	4705	08/1	Duc
	Nr. of	nhabitant s N	216947	181040		207441	130436	204410	140852	196399	265358	163125	78519	0/96/	44545	41508	59784	43505	151509	143505	550	1500	5000		3000	100/	3/8	2748	1000	11000	51.11	7894	1686	5245	2067	T	704	21415	0000	8700	5088	3529	9386	T	Ī	3748	3562	50	1858	180	385	1010	1012	- Dooren
1 OTOTION	ause	mainiamo	32	243	0	256	0	60	6	81	47	-4	28	22	200	63	13	2	4	22	0	15	10		8 0	0 0	14 07	9	2	~	-	0	50	17	1 15		5	0	- 0	10	-	0	7	9	u	44	F	. 0	0	0	0	0 BR	20	-
	talities by c	I fooling motion	Inoiak Mol																						40	3/					38	34								T	Ī			Ť	T	T	T	0			T	T		
	Fa	Dien rate	INPL ACIN																		39									6	38	34																10	288	66	25			
		Fataliti es total No.	32	243		256	24	RO		81	47	4	28	33	30	83	13	2	4	22	39	12	10	0	8 10	3/	4 63	9	2	58	78	68	50	17	01	9	2	0	- 0	10	+-	0	7	9.	- 4	44	-	10	288	99	25	RF.	20	
CALION	~	Location	Hidashivododawa-ku	Nishiyodogawa-ku	Fukushima-ku	Konohana-ku	Nishi-ku	Triche In:	Naniwa-kri	Nishinari-ku	Sumiyoshi-ku	Higashiyodogawa-ku	Nishiyodogawa-ku	L'UKUSIIIIRI-KU	Nishi-ku	Minato-ku	Taisho-ku	Naniwa-ku	Nishinari-ku	Sumiyoshi-ku	S Felixstowe	si Mabieuriorpe - Suiton area si Kinn's 1 vnn	Cobholm / Great Yarmouth	s Ipswich	s Harwich	S JEYWICK	s waitasea Island	Great Wakering	s Southend	S Canvey Island + Sunken Marsh	Funant / Hoinen	Halsteren	Nieuw-Vossemeer	Klundert	Willemstad	Dussen	Hoge en Lage Zwaluwe	Costerhout	Raamsdonk Seena Canalta	Steenbergen	Terheiden	Waspik	Zevenbergen	Texel	Zipe	Geetsuik Kortoane	Wissekerke	Burghstuis	Nieuwerkerk	Ouwerkerk buiten	Ouwerkerk kern	Nieuwei kerke	COBIBIIANU	The second set and the second s
TAULT BUILDING		Event	934 Muroto typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1334 Muroto typnoon	034 Mundo typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1934 Muroto typhoon	1950 Typhoon Jane	1950 Typhoon Jane	act Tunhoon Jane	950 Tvphoon Jane	950 Typhoon Jane	950 Typhoon Jane	1950 Typhoon Jane	1950 Typhoon Jane	1950 Typhoon Jane	1953 East Coast Flood	953 Fact Coast Floods	953 East Coast Floods	1953 East Coast Floods	953 East Coast Floods	053 East Coast Floods	953 East Coast Floods	953 East Coast Floods	953 East Coast Floods	1953 East Coast Floods	953 Watersmondramn	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Wratersnoodramp	953 Watershoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watershoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	953 Watersnoodramp	952 Waterenootianin	A NUCLEURING AND	A THIRD IN THE PARTY NUMBER OF THE PARTY NEWS OF
		to Date	9-9-1	9-9-1	9-9-1	9-9-1	9-8-1	1-8-8	0.0.1	9-9-1	9-9-1	3-9-1	3-9-1	1000	3.9.1	3-9-1	3-9-1	3-9-1	3-9-1	3-9-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	30.4.4	30-1-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	30-1-1	1-1-00	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-15	1-2-18	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-1	1-2-15	1. 0. 1	Table I
		Fuent cod	Jap 1934	Jap 1934	Jap 1934	Jap 1934	1901934	100+004	apres-	lap1934	Jap 1934	lap1950	ap1950	0011000	ap 1950	ap1950	ap1950	ap1950	ap1950	ap1950	JK1953	IK1953	JK1953	JK1953	IK1953	IK1053	K1953	IK1953	IK1953	K1953	1953	L1953	L1953	IL1953	L1953	L1953	IL 1953	1,1953	11905	L1953	L1953	L1953	L1953	L1953	L1953	1.1953	L1953	L1953	L1953	L 1953	L1953	1053	1053	

		Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Dalta 2003	Data 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Maarte 10 Dol	Dolta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	Delta 2003	CUUC THE C
	Sources	Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	Waarts 1992	Waarts 1992	4001 - 01001		Waarts, 1992		Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	Waarts, 1992	ntto //nonla zaal	Maarte 1992	10000 1000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 1000	Waarts, 1992			Waarts, 1992	Naarts, 1992	Naarts, 1992	1000 -1000	Maarte 1002	Maarts, 1992	month for month	Naarts, 1992	Naarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992	Waarts 1992	Naarts, 1992	Naarts, 1992	Naarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992		Vaarts, 1992		Vaarts 1002	Vaarts, 1992		Vaarts, 1992	Vaarts, 1992		Vaarts, 1992	Vddris, 1992						
	Circumstances (descriptive)	face de la contra	fatalities were per																-				-	5 people drowned					1	2 persons drowne	1 man deceased VV			~	1	I alega action	A Minimonal Rillingonen		>		nany fatalities in 1V		7 norsons drown V	13 persons dead IV		N	>		V	beoble surprised v						
DSe	Fraction buildings collapsed FB [-]	0.50632911	0,70754717	0,30827068	0	0.1875	0.0310559	0 00408719	0 56390977	0.46896552						0.08	0210															0.17440402	0.8	0,0449827	0,01567398	0,0004	0.01824818	0.00720288	0,02922756	25						100					Ī					
ulding colla	Buildings collapsed	40	150	41	0	30	15	60	75	68						140	21-1															139	24	26	2	- 00	2 10	9	14			T	Ī	T												
â	Number of buildings	52	212	133	261	160	483	734	133	145						500	220															797	30	578	319	2500	274	833	479																	
g, Shelter and Eva	Warning level (classification)	B	в	8	B	A	A										20	A/B						0	C/D	2 10	2					0	0	0	0	00	8	8			0					0										
cteristics	tise rate (class)-	large	smail	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	Small	small	laroe	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	small	sitell	small	small	small	small	small	larde	large	large	small	small	small	small	small	small	India	Stitell	srrall	small	Ismail	small	small	small								
Flood chara	od th rise rat n] w [m/u		_											+		10	2															8	9	9			Information in	0,4	0,4																	
	tality dep [-] h [n	36079 2,6	0375 3	0 2	0 0.4	0 3,1	0	0436	0	2028		1155	0	0	5087 2.2	4833 3.2	6154 1	0.5	0 2			5748 1	2448 1,5	1967 3,5	2.1.	0,0 1.00	9063 1.4		7037	1,7	125 2,5 E.05 0.4	1285 3	1905 3.5	2585 2,4	7692 2,1	284 2,4	5731 0.5	007 2	0712 2	0371	1,52 1,5	1407	6775 1.9	784 1,9	0	9219 2	1361 2	3861	2,01			1555		0313		
-	Ir. of posed eople mo	227 0,06	800 0,0	449	791	491	532	232 0.00	511	493 0.00		866 0,00	464	+	1878 0.01	645 0.00	325 0.00	302	1705	:	:	508 0,01	241 0,01	152 0,0	0.00	719 0.00	331 0.00		54 0,03	076 0,0	3810 0,0	011 0.10	105 0.36	081 0,02	780 0,00	885 0,00	868 0.00	856 0,0	264 0,00	698 0,00	473 0,0	000 000	461 0.00	102 0,00	603	278 0,00	735 0,00	295 0.00	396	:	:	543 0,00	:	384 0.00	:	
-	Nr. of h habitant ex s p	219	801	455	791	517	1715	2137		495		866	464	+	2126	1737	2147	268	1705	1055	24653	5561	13790	4859	044	818 818	486		1148	2253	73810 7	3088	105	2081 2	1195	18818	1078	3212 2	1993 1	3984 2	4473 4	1441	5461 5	5102 5	2603 2	2278 2	735	1295 1	896	7478	221	643	4175	5384 6	3707	
Fatallites	Ini		n	0	0	0	0	-		-	0	+	0			20	0	0	0	2	3	8	0	61	710	0 0	00	+	2	5	0 0	40	0	0	9	11	4	2	0		91 0	7 0	-	-1	0	13	-	5		0 4		-	2	2	9	
litine hv rat	w veloci Re				_										t		t							-	1	t				2	-	T				84	5				40		30	29		8		+	t	+	t			+		
Eato	Rise ratelo	15	0													156	221															305	38	47															0	>			3			
	Fataliti es total No	15	n	0	0	0	0		0	-	0	1	0	0	10	156	2	0	0	2	3	8	0	62	20	0	0	-	2	12	- 0	305	38	47	8	17	4	2	0		8 .	20	37	40	0	21	+	2		4	-	-	2	2	9	
ation	Location	Serooskerke	Kerkwerve	Noordwelle	Zonnemaire	Elkerzee	Hamstede	Sruinisse	Duivendiike	Cliemeet	.ooperskapelle	Voordgouwe	Dudendijke	Scharendyk	t Philostand	stavenisse	At Maartensdik	St. Annaland	Poortvliet	leere	/lissingen	Osenenisse / Hontenisse	emeuzen (omgeving)	Kruiningen	Jostkerke (wolphaartsdijk)	laarland	Ilewoutsdijk	loedekenskerke	drabbendijke Oostdijk	Siland	Vaarde	Nude Tonge	lieuwe Tonge buiten	vieuwe Tonge kern	Soedereede	Alddeiharnis / Sommelsdijk	terkingen	Joltgensplaat	Jen Bommel	Juddorp	Numansdorp	ainanoord	Gravendeel	Injen	uid-Beijerland	uidiand	bbenbroek	fellevoetstuis	Judenhoom	rimoen a/d lissel	laassluis	folenaarsgraaf	Juderkerk a/d ljssel	apendrecht	oortugaal	
Event and Loc	Event Ate Name	2-1953 Watersnoodramp	2-1953 Watersnoodramp	2-1953 Watersnoodramp 1	2-1953 Watersnoodramp 2	2-1953 Watersnoodramp 1	7-1953 Watersnoodramp 1	7-1953 Watersnoodramp E	2-1953 Watersnoodramp	P-1953 Watersnoodramp E	2-1953 Watersnoodramp L	2-1953 Watersnoodramp 1	2-1953 Watersnoodramp (2-1953 Watershoodramp	-1953 Watershoodramp	-1953 Waterspoodramp	1953 Watersnoodramp 5	1953 Watersnoodramp 5	1953 Watersnoodramp F	2-1953 Watersnoodramp N	2-1953 Watersnoodramp N	2-1953 Watersnoodramp C	2-1953 Watersnoodramp	2-1953 Watersnoodramp 1	-1955 Watershoodramp	-1953 Watersnoodramp B	-1953 Watersnoodramp E	-1953 Watersnoodramp h	-1953 Watersnoodramp h	-1953 Watersnoodramp F	-1953 Watershoodramp N	-1953 Watersnoodramp	-1953 Watersnoodramp N	-1953 Watersnoodramp N	-1953 Watersnoodramp (-1953 Watershoodramp N	-1953 Watersnoodramp H	-1953 Watersnoodramp C	-1953 Watersnoodramp L	-1953 Watersnoodramp	-1953 Watershoodramp	-1953 Watershooriamp H	-1953 Watersnoodramp s	-1953 Watersnoodramp S	-1953 Watersnoodramp Z	-1953 Watersnoodramp 2	-1953 Watersnoodramp A	-1953 Watersnoodramp P	-1903 Watersnoodramp L	-1953 Watershoodramp K	-1953 Watersnoodramp N	-1953 Watersnoodramp M	-1953 Watersnoodramp C	-1953 Watersnoodramp F	-1953 Watersnoodramp	
-	rent code Da	1953 1-2	.1953 1-2	.1953 1-2	.1953 1-2	1953 1-2	.1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1953		1953 1-2	1953 1-2	1-2 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	2-1 508	953 1-2	1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	1-1 CCR	953 1-2.	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	1-7 063 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	953 1-2	803 1-2	

Partine bit Factor in the control of the contro of the control of the contro of the control of the co	[Event and	Location			Fat	alities			Floot	d characteri	stics g,	Shelter and Eva	Buil	ding collapse				
Num Num <th>-</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Fatalit</th> <th>ies by cause</th> <th></th> <th>_</th> <th></th>	-				Fatalit	ies by cause		_											
Str. 1000 Number of the control 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 14 <		Event Date Name	Location	Fataliti es total No F	tise rateow	velociRemail	Nr. of inhabita s	nt exposed people Neve	d mortality Fo f-1	flood depth h (m)	rise rate	rise rate (classi-	Warning level	Number	5 Suildings co	Fraction ulidings ollapsed	Circumstances		
300 100 000 <th>-</th> <th>26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon</th> <th>Nabeta reclamation</th> <th>123</th> <th>123</th> <th></th> <th>0 288</th> <th>288</th> <th>0.427083</th> <th>3.78</th> <th>CI Date A</th> <th>The street of</th> <th>CI45SIIICATION)</th> <th>sbuipring</th> <th>ollapsed</th> <th>FB</th> <th>(descriptive)</th> <th>Sources</th> <th></th>	-	26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon	Nabeta reclamation	123	123		0 288	288	0.427083	3.78	CI Date A	The street of	CI45SIIICATION)	sbuipring	ollapsed	FB	(descriptive)	Sources	
Start Signal Res And/order Start Signal Res And/order <th< td=""><td>-</td><td>26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon</td><td>1 chita-cho</td><td>6</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>9 31876</td><td>5545</td><td>0.001623</td><td>01.0</td><td>2 2</td><td>u ani</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Tsuchiya and Yasuda</td><td>1980</td></th<>	-	26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon	1 chita-cho	6		0	9 31876	5545	0.001623	01.0	2 2	u ani						Tsuchiya and Yasuda	1980
Strep: Strep:<	_	26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon	n jushiyama village	36			36 4970	4960	0.007258	24	5	and			1			I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
Strep: Strep:<		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	N Kisozakai village	328		328	0 2993	2993	0.109589	3.8	15	I G				Ì		I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
No. Objection (BBN MDPC) Texa MDPC Texa MDPC Texa MDPC	-	26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon	 Itobishima village 	121		30	91 4290	4290	0.028205	30	10	lin						I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
No. No. <td></td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td> Tokoname city </td> <td>12</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>12 49006</td> <td>8932</td> <td>0.001343</td> <td>0.46</td> <td>in and a second s</td> <td>liga</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Ì</td> <td>T</td> <td></td> <td>I suchiya and Yasuda</td> <td>1980</td>		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	 Tokoname city 	12		0	12 49006	8932	0.001343	0.46	in and a second s	liga			Ì	T		I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
Since Name Since N		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	n yatomi-cho	308		200	108 16037	15555	0.019801	3.8	S	Ila			t	T		I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
Strate Name Strate Name		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	Yokkaichi city	113	-	5	108 187978	23571	0.004794	1.97	2S	nall D						I suchiya and Yasuda	1980
State Name State N		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	1 yokosuka-cho	3		2	1 16562	4005	0.000749	0.6	Sn	d llan				T		suchiya and rasuda	1900
No. Constraint Constraint <td>-</td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td>Handa city</td> <td>290</td> <td></td> <td>29</td> <td>261 69784</td> <td>19122</td> <td>0.015166</td> <td>6.0</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>mall</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>t</td> <td></td> <td>Suching and Yashing</td> <td>IDDC -</td>	-	26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	Handa city	290		29	261 69784	19122	0.015166	6.0	Sn	mall				t		Suching and Yashing	IDDC -
Constrained Unit Unit Unit C Unit C Unit Unit <thunit< th=""> Unit <thunit< th=""> <thu< td=""><td>-</td><td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td><td>higashiura-cho</td><td>25</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>24 19148</td><td>3661</td><td>0,006828</td><td></td><td>su</td><td>Trail C</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>Ť</td><td></td><td>Suchiya and Vacuda</td><td>1900</td></thu<></thunit<></thunit<>	-	26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	higashiura-cho	25		-	24 19148	3661	0,006828		su	Trail C			-	Ť		Suchiya and Vacuda	1900
No. No. <td>-</td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td>Kuwana city</td> <td>184</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>184 66804</td> <td>12991</td> <td>0,014164</td> <td>2,98</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>nall C</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>t</td> <td></td> <td>Suching and Varida</td> <td>1001</td>	-	26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	Kuwana city	184			184 66804	12991	0,014164	2,98	Sn	nall C				t		Suching and Varida	1001
Constraint Constra	-	noondyl yea asl ecel-e-az	minami-ku	1417		-	417 146500	130981	0,010818	3,1	sn	nall C						Suchiva and Vacuda	1001
Construction 365 60 60 600	-	20-9-1909 ISE Bay typhoon	minato-ku	375		41	334 91591	91591	0.004094	3.9	SI	nall C						suchive and Varida	1001
Sint 1000 Control 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1	-	26-0-1050 Ise bay typhoon	INagashima-cho	363			363 8499	8499	0.042711	3.7	Sn	nalt C				ľ		suchiva and Yasuda	1991
355.5 155 157 156 </td <td></td> <td>26.0.1060 lee Bar trated</td> <td>LIGISANA (BCIALINATION)</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0 180</td> <td>180</td> <td></td> <td>2.7</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>nalt 8</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>suchiva and Yasuda</td> <td>1986</td>		26.0.1060 lee Bar trated	LIGISANA (BCIALINATION)	2			0 180	180		2.7	Sn	nalt 8						suchiva and Yasuda	1986
3.5. 103 103 10 11 113<		26-9-1050 les Bou tinhoon	Marrya City	41		3	11 56752	9571	0,001463	0.5	Sn	nall 8	20 10					Suchiva and Yasuda	1980
355 155 <td></td> <td>26-0-1060 les Brutherhow</td> <td>naverati ato</td> <td>N</td> <td></td> <td>12</td> <td>143 7718</td> <td>7718</td> <td>0,022026</td> <td>4</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>nall 8</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>suchiva and Yasuda</td> <td>1980</td>		26-0-1060 les Brutherhow	naverati ato	N		12	143 7718	7718	0,022026	4	Sn	nall 8						suchiva and Yasuda	1980
375 375 <td></td> <td>26.0.1060 los bout when on</td> <td>IIIOCOZAKI-CHO</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2 7018</td> <td>305</td> <td>0,006563</td> <td>0,18</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>nall B</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>suchiva and Yasuda</td> <td>1980</td>		26.0.1060 los bout when on	IIIOCOZAKI-CHO	2			2 7018	305	0,006563	0,18	Sn	nall B						suchiva and Yasuda	1980
355 5159 186 1 1 4005 7 1 <th< td=""><td></td><td>26.9.1946 lee Bay hehoon</td><td>NISTIO CITY</td><td>07</td><td></td><td>-</td><td>20 67730</td><td>18263</td><td>0,001095</td><td>0,3</td><td>Sn</td><td>nall B</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>suchiva and Yasuda.</td><td>1980</td></th<>		26.9.1946 lee Bay hehoon	NISTIO CITY	07		-	20 67730	18263	0,001095	0,3	Sn	nall B						suchiva and Yasuda.	1980
269-159[bit BBY Upfloot 1 0 2 47.0 47.00 0.00050 0.1 61.001 0 1 <td></td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td>Hakinan Citu</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>GCG/8 01</td> <td>135/3</td> <td>0,000/37</td> <td>1,87</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>nall B</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>F</td> <td>suchiya and Yasuda,</td> <td>1980</td>		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	Hakinan Citu				GCG/8 01	135/3	0,000/37	1,87	Sn	nall B					F	suchiya and Yasuda,	1980
265-1998 BBS Mythoon Interface-tol 3 9 1 <th< td=""><td></td><td>26-9-1959 Ise Bav typhoon</td><td>Hekinan raclamation</td><td>0</td><td></td><td>4 0</td><td>ASUSA C</td><td>24268</td><td>0,000453</td><td>0.7</td><td>SU</td><td>A lieu</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>suchiya and Yasuda,</td><td>1980</td></th<>		26-9-1959 Ise Bav typhoon	Hekinan raclamation	0		4 0	ASUSA C	24268	0,000453	0.7	SU	A lieu					-	suchiya and Yasuda,	1980
2:6:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::		26-9-1959 ise Bay typhoon	mihama-cho	4		>	18787	1700	0.00095	200	SI	Y III					-	suchiya and Yasuda,	1980
Sector 3 5 0 <td></td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td>taketovo-cho</td> <td>- 0</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>10701 H</td> <td>10670</td> <td>11111111111111111111111111111111111111</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>SI</td> <td>A HEL</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>suchiya and Yasuda,</td> <td>1980</td>		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	taketovo-cho	- 0		1	10701 H	10670	11111111111111111111111111111111111111	0.0	SI	A HEL					-	suchiya and Yasuda,	1980
26-9-19[6] Bay Typhoon Hsurflessen Fundione 1 Game 431 Coloraze 0.6 State 1 Fundione Hsurflessen Fundione		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	toyohama-cho	3			3 9041	530	0.005583	2.0	SIS	A III				1		suchiya and Yasuda,	1980
See 19169 Bear V prinom Vanima Common Sec Vanima		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	utsumi-cho	1			1 6996	431	0.00232	0.6	LIS LIS	A lia			+	T		suchiya and Yasuda.	1980
26-9-1919[Ble Bdy Ypmon Tankamare - clo 4 0 2 20225 1 20215 1 20215 1 20215 1 20216 <td></td> <td>26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon</td> <td>Jyonan reclamation</td> <td>55</td> <td>55</td> <td>0</td> <td>0 279</td> <td>279</td> <td>0,197133</td> <td>3,58</td> <td>lan</td> <td>0e</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>t</td> <td></td> <td>suching and Vacuda.</td> <td>1901</td>		26-9-1959 Ise Bay typhoon	Jyonan reclamation	55	55	0	0 279	279	0,197133	3,58	lan	0e				t		suching and Vacuda.	1901
369-15190 Insumme Constraint 2 3432 390 103 5432 390 103		26 0 1050 150 Bay typhoon	Takahama - cho	4		0	4 20225	12393	0,000323	6'0	SIT	tall				t	-	Suchiva and Yasuda	10BPT
16.9 163/10 100 <th< td=""><td></td><td>26.0.1050 teo Bou trabon</td><td>I SUSTITUTE DISTINCT</td><td>7</td><td>+</td><td>1</td><td>2 44212</td><td></td><td></td><td>3,9</td><td>SU</td><td>lle</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>suchiva and Yasuda</td><td>1980</td></th<>		26.0.1050 teo Bou trabon	I SUSTITUTE DISTINCT	7	+	1	2 44212			3,9	SU	lle				-	-	suchiva and Yasuda	1980
16-3-16i Dim-Munctor Dynk-Microscond 0 1000 1000 20030 1000 <th< td=""><td></td><td>16-9-1961 Daini-Miroto turi</td><td>he Hinschindnesses bu</td><td>1001</td><td></td><td>10</td><td>68 16328</td><td>3807</td><td>0,036247</td><td>1,2</td><td>SIT</td><td>lle</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>7</td><td>suchiya and Yasuda.</td><td>1980</td></th<>		16-9-1961 Daini-Miroto turi	he Hinschindnesses bu	1001		10	68 16328	3807	0,036247	1,2	SIT	lle					7	suchiya and Yasuda.	1980
16-9-1961 Diminimucitor (yph) Fully and Kawala, 1981 Stanle 28227 500 0.10149603 Tsuchy and Kawala, 1981 16-9-1961 Diminimucitor (yph) Fully and Kawala, 1981 20202 7.8 0.001416903 Tsuchy and Kawala, 1981 16-9-1961 Diminimucitor (yph) 6.9 5.8 5.8 7.8 0.001710746 7.8 </td <td></td> <td>16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto tvol</td> <td>The Nichivodonawa-ku</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>10607 0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1000</td> <td>Sn</td> <td>le</td> <td></td> <td>72895</td> <td>5 6.8</td> <td>592E-05</td> <td>Ŧ</td> <td>suchiya and Kawata,</td> <td>1981</td>		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto tvol	The Nichivodonawa-ku				10607 0			1000	Sn	le		72895	5 6.8	592E-05	Ŧ	suchiya and Kawata,	1981
16-5-1961 Dami-Munclo type/ Konchana-ku 1 353/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 1 345/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 1 345/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 0 00 354/3 • 1 345/3 1		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto Ivol	thd Fukushima-ku		+		2000		1	0,00	SI	IR.		28627	500 0,0	1746603	-	suchiya and Kawata,	1981
(6) (6) <td></td> <td>16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi</td> <td>the Konohana-ku</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1 8350</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.02</td> <td>SIT</td> <td>IIII</td> <td></td> <td>22029</td> <td>78 0,00</td> <td>0354079</td> <td>T</td> <td>suchiya and Kawata,</td> <td>1981</td>		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	the Konohana-ku	-			1 8350			0.02	SIT	IIII		22029	78 0,00	0354079	T	suchiya and Kawata,	1981
(E-1916) Dami-Murclo type/Minato-su 1 (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.479) * (0.471)		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	hd Nishi-ku	0			0 7394			0.45	10	R		CRANZ.	359 0,0	1/10/46		suchiya and Kawata,	1981
16-151 Date Team <		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	hd Minato-ku	1	$\left \right $		1 10479			0.95	ms line	Ile	Ī	10040	10 00 100	0034839		suchiya and Kawata,	1981
16-9-191 Daimi-Murdu typid Native-Ku 0 83741 • 1 213754 • 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 1 21471 216 216 200041725 1 120149a and Kawala. 1981 16-9.1910 Tankurdou typid Simmyoshi-ku 2 2 2 2 0.00041725 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	hd Taisho-ku	0			0 9455			anta	Sm	all I		20005	10 0 00 001	0/03246	-	suchiya and Kawata,	1981
65-19F1 Dami-Murdo hyph/Mshinari-ku 1 215/154 - 1 215/154 - 1 215/154 - 1 215/154 - 1 215/154 - 1 215/154 1 241/1755 1 241/1755 1 241/1756 1 241/1755 1 241/1756		16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typ	hd Naniwa-ku	0			0 8374			-	Sm	Ila		20609	28 0.00	0121012	-	SUChiya and Kawata,	1201
16-9-1961 [Jain:Murdot) kplik/stil-kuy 2	- E	16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	ho Nishinari-ku	1			1 21515			T	Sm	Ile	Ī	57519	24 0.0	2010210		suchiya and Kawata,	1961
0-9-1965 Huritane Betsy 1atourthe 0 500 75 00 2 small v.v.v.v.ex 1 atourthe 10 atourthe 11 atourthe 10 atourthe <th10 atourt<="" td=""><td>- E</td><td>16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi</td><td>hd Sumiyoshi-ku</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td><td>2 252300</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Sm</td><td>lle</td><td></td><td>R0R74</td><td>212 010</td><td>9087800</td><td></td><td>SUCINYA ANU NAWAIA.</td><td>1901</td></th10>	- E	16-9-1961 Daini-Muroto typi	hd Sumiyoshi-ku	2			2 252300				Sm	lle		R0R74	212 010	9087800		SUCINYA ANU NAWAIA.	1901
B-91950 Hurriame Beity St Bernard a1 11 141600 11 141600 11 141600 12000 12000 12000 <td>- 1</td> <td>8-9-1965 Hurricane Betsy</td> <td>Lafourche</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0 500</td> <td>75</td> <td>0</td> <td>2</td> <td>Sm</td> <td>alt</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>A18 41</td> <td>1701000</td> <td>- 4</td> <td>SUCRIVA AND NAWAIA,</td> <td>201</td>	- 1	8-9-1965 Hurricane Betsy	Lafourche	0			0 500	75	0	2	Sm	alt			A18 41	1701000	- 4	SUCRIVA AND NAWAIA,	201
8-9-1905) Hurricana Betsy St Bernard 0 0 19500 3256,5 0 1 1,4 Small Bernard Beldy 2005 8-9-1965 Hurricana Betsy Preptennies 10 21500 2150 0,000465 1 small Provide 2015 1 sm Provide 2015 1 small Provide 2015 1 small Prov	- 11	8-9-1965 Hurricane Betsy	Orleans	41			41 14160	141600	0.00029	1.1	sm	lle						2000 PD02	
B-9-1985/Huncane Betsy Praquemines 10 21500 2150 0,000465 1 small 10 21500 2000465 1 small	1	8-9-1965 Hurricane Betsy	St Bernard	0			0 1950	3256,5	0	1,4	sm	lle				t		000, 2005	
	1	8-9-1900 Hurncane beisy	Plaquemines	101	-		10 21500	2150	0.000465	-	sm	lle					a	070, 2005	

Appendix 7.V: Information used for validation of the method for loss of life estimation

This appendix summarized the information that has been used for the validation calculations presented in section 7.5.1. The mortality fractions and loss of life estimates can be found by applying the proposed mortality functions. Table A3 summarizes the information.

Flood	Flood type	Inhabitants/exposed	Water depth	Rise rate	Source
Norwich river floods, 1912	River	1250 exposed (50% evacuation - 2500 inhabitants)	1,25m	small	Ramsbottom <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003
Laingsburg, South Africa, 1981	Flash	185	4m	Large	EMDAT, 2004
Shiranui Town, Japan, 1999	Coastal	200	2,6m	Large (2m/hr)	Takikawa, 2001
Gowdall river floods, 2002	River	25 exposed (90% evacuation – 250 inhabitants	1m	Small	Ramsbottom <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003

Table A 3: Information u	sed for validation	calculations
--------------------------	--------------------	--------------

For the Lynmouth 1952 case specific input data has been used. Based on the descriptions in (Ramsbottom *et al.*, 2003) three zones are distinguished:

Zone	water depth	Exposed people	Rise rate
very close to river	3m	100	Large
close	2m	100	Small
nearby	1m	200	Small

Appendix 8.I: Preliminary dataset regarding Katrina related fatalities

The following tables list the data used for the analysis of the relationship between mortality and flood characteristics. Data sources for data regarding fatalities: LSU Hurricane Center (Ezra Boyd) and Louisiana Department of Health and Hospitals. The reported numbers of recoveries are recoveries in residential locations, so recoveries in hospitals and shelters are not included in these tables. Population numbers are based on the United States 2000 census. Flood characteristics are based on (de Bruijn, 2006; Maaskant, 2007) and the reported numbers are the averages by neighborhood / tract.

Neighborhood	Popu- lation	Expo- sed	Reco- veries	Morta- lity	Avg. Water depth (m)	Avg. Rise rate (m/hr)	Avg. Arrival time (hr)	Remarks
Bywater Neighborhood	5096	510	4	0,008	0,91	0,00	11,4184	partially flooded
Audubon	14870	1487	1	0,001	1,10	0,04	22,9803	partially flooded
Uptown Neighborhood	6681	668	0	0,000	0,75	0,00	24,2254	partially flooded
Leonidas	8953	895	0	0,000	1,01	0,03	20,1133	partially flooded
Touro	3140	314	3	0,010	0,42	0,00	25,6611	partially flooded
East Carrollton	4368	437	2	0,005	0,51	0,00	24,6532	partially flooded, 1 fatality outside flooded area
Central Business District	1828	183	2	0,011	0,78	0,00	20,7495	partially flooded, 1 fatality outside flooded area
Central City Neighborhood	19148	1915	18	0,009	1,14	0,11	22,9153	partially flooded, 1 fatality outside flooded area
B.W. Cooper	4361	436	3	0,007	1,31	0,14	21,3193	
Bayou St. John	5010	501	1	0,002	1,09	0,04	13,3560	
Broadmoor	7189	719	8	0,011	2,34	0,63	20,1983	
City Park	2813	281	1	0,004	1,90	0,41	8,7422	
Desire Area	3791	379	3	0,008	1,51	0,11	7,5565	
Desire Development	780	78	0	0,000	1,64	0,09	5,0352	
Dillard	6440	644	9	0,014	1,43	0,09	9,7298	
Dixon	1771	177	2	0,011	2,03	0,30	13,9654	
Fairgrounds	6426	643	8	0,012	1,23	0,08	10,7019	
Fillmore	6938	694	14	0,020	2,51	0,40	5,4758	
Florida Area	3171	317	8	0,025	2,13	0,31	4,8261	
Florida Development	1559	156	2	0,013	2,27	0,26	4,2613	
Freret	2492	249	1	0,004	1,74	0,33	21,3345	
Gentilly Terrace	10588	1059	11	0,010	1,60	0,13	9,4639	
Gentilly Woods	4387	439	6	0,014	1,87	0,17	10,5268	
Gert Town	4489	449	2	0,004	1,65	0,21	18,3073	
Hollygrove	6919	692	12	0,017	2,02	0,23	13,5883	
Iberville Development	2558	256	2	0,008	0,99	0,00	18,5330	

Orleans bowl

Lake Terrace & Oaks	2147	215	0	0,000	0,94	0,03	13,6604	
Lakeshore/Lake Vista	3630	363	1	0,003	0,99	0,07	10,3965	
Lakeview Neighborhood	9781	978	18	0,018	2,95	1,02	3,8208	
Lakewood	1973	197	1	0,005	1,65	0,34	8,4492	
Marlyville/ Fountainebleau	6844	684	2	0,003	1,42	0,17	19,9750	
Mid-City Neighborhood	20163	2016	5	0,002	1,79	0,23	14,5448	
Milan	7582	758	5	0,007	1,41	0,22	22,1289	
Milneburg	5640	564	23	0,041	3,23	0,45	5,0860	
Navarre	2905	291	1	0,003	1,84	0,39	6,4781	
Pontchartrain Park	2630	263	10	0,038	3,00	0,36	7,4500	
Seventh Ward	16955	1696	16	0,009	1,24	0,07	11,7898	
St. Anthony	5394	539	14	0,026	3,05	0,26	3,7439	
St. Bernard Area	6427	643	1	0,002	1,86	0,30	7,7074	
St. Claude	11745	1175	11	0,009	1,04	0,03	10,3043	
St. Roch	11975	1198	10	0,008	1,72	0,24	9,1056	
Treme'/Lafitte	8869	887	5	0,006	1,06	0,03	16,4404	
Tulane/Gravier	4302	430	7	0,016	1,58	0,15	16,9848	
West End	4724	472	10	0,021	2,99	0,64	2,3765	
Total	279452*	27947*	263**					
	1		1		11 0.0	1001		

Notes: * - totals do not exactly correspond to totals presented in tables 8-2 and 8-3, because not all neighborhoods were fully flooded.

**: total does not correspond to total listed in tables 8-2 and 8-3, because 3 of the 263 fatalities occurred outside the flooded area.

Neighborhood / tract [#]	Popu- lation	Expo- sed	Reco- veries	Morta- lity	Water depth (m)	Rise rate (m/hr)	Arrival time (hr)	Remarks
000701 (Lower ninth ward)	3278	328	15	0,046	2,56	2,65	1,73	
000702	3009	301	3	0,010	1,15	1,08	2,89	
00800	2498	250	3	0,012	2,18	2,06	2,62	
000901 (Lower ninth ward)	2675	268	13	0,049	3,85	7,49	2,45	
000902 (Lower ninth ward)	3005	301	10	0,033	4,28	5,46	2,08	
000903 (Lower ninth ward)	2710	271	19	0,070	3,66	4,04	2,13	
000904 (Lower ninth ward)	2340	234	16	0,068	3,06	4,29	2,41	
030103	6705	671	2	0,003	1,09	0,47	10,64	
030104##	2693	269	33	0,123	0,99	0,13	7,93	31 fatalities in St. Rita's nursing home
030203	4292	429	3	0,007	0,42	0,07	5,74	
030204	6592	659	12	0,018				
030206	4327	433	4	0,009	2,42	5,07	4,86	
030207	5597	560	8	0,014	2,35	4,79	4,54	
030208	4892	489	2	0,004	2,92	3,52	4,84	
030209	4843	484	8	0,017	1,23	0,70	5,97	

St. Bernard bowl

030300	2265	227	4	0,018	2,57	6,18	2,78	
030400	2731	273	4	0,015	1,13	1,21	3,75	
030500	3362	336	8	0,024	3,31	4,49	2,90	
030601	2743	274	6	0,022	3,68	7,56	3,21	
030602	4112	411	7	0,017	3,04	5,85	3,44	
030603	3441	344	2	0,006	3,02	9,13	3,58	
030700	2140	214	0	0,000	1,09	0,83	4,39	
030800	5173	517	8	0,015	2,06	3,42	4,03	
Totals	85423	8543	190					

Notes: # - tract codes for St. Bernard used; ##- This location is not included in the analysis of the relationship between flood characteristics and mortality because the 31 fatalities at one location (St. Rita's nursing home) were associated with specific conditions, i.e. lack of evacuation.

Neighborhood / tract	Popula- tion	Expo- sed	Reco- veries	Morta- lity	Water depth (m)	Rise rate (m/hr)	Arrival time (hr)	Remarks
Lake Catherine	1749	175	1	0,006				
Little Woods	44311	4425	21	0,005	2,89			
Pines Village	4972	497	4	0,008	2,73			
Plum Orchard	7026	703	6	0,009	2,91			
Read Blvd East	8240	824	11	0,013	3,60			
Read Blvd West	5564	556	5	0,009	2,78			
Viavant/Venetian Isles	1865	187	12	0,064				
Village de l'est	12968	1297	2	0,002	2,62			
West Lake Forest	9596	960	4	0,004	3,40			
			2					people found in the water
Total	96291	9624	68					

New Orleans East bowl

Appendix 8.II: Map indicating structural damage to buildings in New Orleans

Sources: Damage levels determined in FEMA's post Katrina damage assessments. Percentages indicate structural damage level. Map available at <u>http://www.unifiedneworleansplan.</u> <u>com/home2/section/24</u>, accessed January 2007.



Appendix 9.I: Model uncertainties in fatality estimates

Bounds for model uncertainty in the applied dose response functions have been derived in section 7. Based on these bounds confidence intervals are reported for each flood scenario for the situation without evacuation.

Flood scenario	5%	Average	95%	
Rotterdam – Kralingen	740	1070	1930	
Den Haag – Boulevard	30	110	380	
Den Haag - Scheveningen	20	230	610	
Katwijk	150	400	890	
Hoek van Holland	10	110	330	
Katwijk and Den Haag	320	550	1360	
Den Haag and Ter Heijde	1820	3460	5490	
Rotterdam West	30	190	430	
Rotterdam East	250	600	1090	
Katwijk, Den Haag and TerHeijde	3130	5090	8310	

Table A 4: Confidence intervals for fatality estimates by scenario, situation without evacuation

Appendix 9.II: Relationships between consequence categories

Based on the available calculation results, it is possible to investigate relationships between the magnitude three reported consequence categories: number of exposed, number of fatalities and economic damage (see also section 2.5). Figure A16 depicts the relationships between these consequence categories. The dots indicate the outcomes for different scenarios, the adjoining table summarizes the ratios between the categories.



Figure A 16: Relationships between numbers of fatalities, exposed and economic damage

Results show that there is a strong correlation ($R^2 \approx 0.9$) between the consequence categories. The existence of these relationships is logical. The number of exposed and fatalities are related via the dose response function. For the relationship between fatalities and exposed, the bestfit trendline is found for mortality value $F_D = 0.0055$ (⁵). The number of exposed people in an area will be related with the economic value. Variations between scenarios in evacuation possibilities could weaken this relationship. Such proposed relationships can be used to obtain first order estimates of the impacts without a detailed assessment with consequence models. For example, if it is known that an area with a certain number of exposed people is flooded, first order estimates of loss of life and economic damage can be made. However, it should be stressed that the above relationships might only be applicable to a specific type of flooding. Further investigation of actual damage from past disasters is recommended to see whether similar ratios can be observed in practice.

⁵ This value differs from the mortality averaged over all scenarios. In the least square derivation of the bestfit trendline larger weight is given to scenarios with larger consequences.

Appendix 9.III: Distribution of acceptable societal risk over installations: background

In this appendix background information is given on the approach for the distribution of acceptable societal risk over installations proposed in section 9.5.1. Firstly, it will be shown that the application of this approach does not affect the standard deviation of the number of fatalities at a national scale for small probability – large consequence events. The approach is is thereby consistent with the total risk criterion proposed by Vrijling *et al.* (1995). Secondly, it is shown how the proposed criterion can be used in combination with an FN limit line with a linear steepness of -1. Thirdly, an example is elaborated to show how the installation size affects the acceptable failure probability of an installation for the three proposed criteria in the framework (individual risk, societal risk, economic optimisation). This indicates that especially for very large installations the societal risk criterion is expected to become most stringent.

Appendix 9.III.1: Relationship between proposed societal risk limit and standard deviation of the number of fatalities

In this appendix it is shown how the proposed rule for distribution of societal risk over installations affects the expected number and standard deviation of fatalities at a national scale. Simplified examples are elaborated to illustrate this.

We assume the application to a system of flood prone areas, so-called polders. Different configurations for the distribution of inhabitants over the polders are examined, yet the total number of (expected) fatalities and inhabitants are kept constant for the whole system. Three cases are elaborated. Failures of the considered polders are mutually exclusive, i.e. simultaneous failure is impossible. The acceptable risk at the national level is limited by the following formula:

$$1 - F_N(n) < C_N / n^2$$

The acceptable probability of flooding of a single polder is determined by the value of constant C_r

$$C_I = \frac{I_I}{I_N} C_N$$

We assume a country with I_N =500.000 inhabitants and the value of C_N =1. In case of the flooding of an area it is assumed that a fraction of F_D =0,01 of the population will be killed.

Case 1: every polder the same number of inhabitants and fatalities.

The first case concerns 5 polders, with 100.000 inhabitants each. In case of a flood 1000 fatalities are expected:



Constant C₁ becomes:

$$C_I = \frac{I_I}{I_N} C_N = \frac{100.000}{500.000} 1 = 0,2$$

The acceptable flooding probability (*p*) becomes: $p_f = C_I / n^2 = 0, 2 / 1000^2 = 2 \cdot 10^{-7}$

At a national scale the expected value and standard deviation become:

$$E(N) = 5p_f n = 1 \cdot 10^{-3} fat / yr$$

$$\sigma(n) \approx \sqrt{5p_f n^2} = 1 fat / yr$$

Case 2: Population distributed over unequal polders

The population is distributed over three polders. Polder 1 with 300.000 inhabitants and 3000 potential fatalities. Polders 2 and 3 with 100.000 inhabitants each.



Constants become: $C_{I,I}$ =0,6; $C_{I,2}$ = $C_{I,3}$ =0,2 The acceptable flooding probabilities become:

$$p_{f1} = C_{I1} / n_1^2 = 0,6/3000^2 = 6,66 \cdot 10^{-8}$$
$$p_{f2} = p_{f3} = C_{I2} / n_2^2 = 0,2/1000^2 = 2 \cdot 10^{-7}$$

leading to:

$$E(N) = p_{f1}n_1 + 2p_{f2}n_2 = 6 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ fat / yr}$$

$$\sigma(n) \approx \sqrt{p_{f1}n_1^2 + 2p_{f2}n_2^2} = 1 \text{ fat / yr}$$

Case 3: all inhabitants and fatalities in one polder

In the last case all the people live in one polder, with 500.000 inhabitants, and 5000 potential fatalities.



The value of constant $C_I = C_N = 1$. The acceptable flooding probability is: $p_f = C_I / n^2 = 1/5000^2 = 4 \cdot 10^{-8}$

At a national scale the expected value and standard deviation become: $E(N) = p_f n = 2 \cdot 10^{-4} fat / yr$ $\sigma(n) \approx \sqrt{p_f n^2} = 1 fat / yr$

Discussion

The formula keeps the standard deviation of the number of fatalities constant at a national scale for installations with different sizes when $E(N) << \sigma(N)$. The three situations result in different expected values of fatalities, but expected values are negligibly small relative to the standard deviation. The approach is therefore consistent with the earlier proposed criteria for societal risk in the format of the total risk (Vrijling *et al.*, 1995).

More in general, it can be easily shown that the above approach limits the standard deviation. The standard deviation of fatalities at a national scale can be written as follows:

$$\sigma(N) \approx \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i N_i^2}$$

The acceptable failure probability for each installation is found as follows: $p_i = C_i / N_i^2$

Substitution yields:

$$\sigma(N) \approx \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i} = \sqrt{C_N}$$

Appendix 9.III.2: General formulation for acceptable societal risk by installation

Here, it is shown how the proposed formulation for the societal risk limit can be combined with an FN limit line with a linear steepness (α =1). The general formulation for the acceptable societal risk for an installation is:

$$1 - F_N(n) < C_I / n^{\alpha}$$

Where: α – steepness of the FN limit line

The value of constant C_1 can be determined with the following equation:

$$C_I = \frac{I_I}{I_N} C_N$$

We assume the example of a flood prone area (polder or dike ring) so that the number of exposed people by polder $(N_{EXP,I})$ becomes the indicator for the intensity. The number of fatalities for flooding of area I equals:

$$n = F_D N_{EXP,i}$$

It is assumed that the value of mortality F_D is identical for all areas, for example 1%. Now, the expression of acceptable societal risk by installation becomes:

$$1 - F_N(n) = \frac{C_I}{n^{\alpha}} = \frac{N_{EXP,I}}{N_{EXP,N}} \frac{C_N}{n^{\alpha}} = \frac{C_N}{N_{EXP,N}(F_D)^{\alpha} N_{EXP,I}^{(\alpha-1)}}$$

Where: N_{EXPN} - total number of exposed people at a national scale

This equation shows that for an FN limit line with a linear steepness ($\alpha = 1$) the acceptable failure probability becomes independent of the area size (represented by $N_{EXP,I}$). This can be explained as follows: When the installation size becomes smaller (and thus $N_{EXP,I}$) the FN limit line will translate downwards vertically. At the same time the number of fatalities will

reduce because it is linearly dependent on the number of exposed people $(N_{EXP,P})$. Because a linear FN limit line is chosen, these two effects will compensate each other, and the acceptable failure probability becomes independent of the installation size. This proves that the acceptable failure probability per installation becomes independent of the installation size for a limit line with linear steepness and a constant mortality.

Appendix 9.III.3 Effect of installation size on acceptable failure probability: example⁶

With the framework presented in section 9.5.1 an acceptable or optimal failure probability per installation is obtained for three criteria (individual and societal risk and economic optimisation). Following TAW (1984) it is proposed to use the most stringent of these three criteria as a standard for the installation. In this earlier work it has been investigated how these criteria work out jointly for an object or installation with a fixed size. It is interesting to investigate how the acceptable probability for all three criteria changes with the installation size. This is investigated conceptually for all three criteria for a simple and schematic case study for a flood prone area or dike ring.

Example: dike ring area

A circular and horizontal dike ring is assumed with radius *R* [m] (see figure A17).



Figure A 17: Schematic dike ring

It is assumed that:

- The population density $(m_o [\text{pers/m}^2])$ and density of economic value $(d_o [\epsilon/m^2])$ are constant over the whole area and independent of dike ring size;
- The area will flood due to dike breach if the outside water level exceeds the dike height;
- In case of dike breach the whole area is flooded regardless of the size of the area and location of breaching;
- In case of flooding all economic values are lost leading to damage value $D=d_0\pi R^2$ [€]
- In case of flooding the mortality fraction equals F_D , leading to the following number of fatalities $N = F_D m_0 \pi R^2$
- The only measure considered is the reduction of flooding probability. This can be achieved by integral strengthening of the dike around area.

⁶ The contents of this section are based on discussions with Ruben Jongejan (TU Delft).

In the example the total number of inhabitants and damage value are kept constant at a national scale. It is investigated how the acceptable flooding can be expressed as a function of varying size of the dike ring using the three risk criteria discussed in section 9.5.1.

The acceptable failure probability according to the **individual risk** standard becomes:

$$P_f \le \frac{\beta 10^{-4}}{F_D}$$

It is independent of the dike ring size.

The acceptable failure probability for one installation according to the **societal risk** criterion is:

$$P_f \leq \frac{C_I}{N^2} \implies P_f \leq \frac{C_I}{\left(F_D \pi m_0\right)^2 R^4}$$

A value for the constant C_I can be chosen based on the method presented in section 9.5.2. The value of C_I is determined based on the number of inhabitants of a dike ring relative to the total number of inhabitants in the country. The value of constant C_N is determined at a national scale:

$$C_I = \frac{N_I}{N_N} C_N = \frac{m_0 \pi R^2}{N_N} C_N$$

Where: N_N – number of inhabitants in flood prone areas in the country [person]; C_N – constant indicating the height of the acceptable societal risk at a national scale.

Substitution yields the following expression for acceptable failure probability for one installation:

$$P_f \leq \frac{C_N}{N_I m_0 F_D^2 \pi R^2}$$

The acceptable failure probability <u>decreases linearly</u> with the area size $(A = \pi R^2)$.

Finally, the acceptable (or optimal) failure probability according to the **economic optimisation** is considered. The investment costs and damage are formulated as a function of the dike ring size:

$$C_{tot} = I'Lh + P_f D / r'$$
$$C_{tot} = I'2\pi Rh + P_f d_0 \pi R^2 / r'$$

Where: I' – variable cost of dike improvement per unit of length [\in /m]; h – dike height [m]; r' – reduced interest rate [-]

An exponential distribution of the water level outside the area is considered. The economic optimum can be determined as follows:

$$P_{f} = e^{-\frac{h}{B}}$$

$$\frac{dC_{tot}}{dh} = 0 \implies P_{f,opt} = \frac{I'LBr'}{D} = \frac{I'LBr'}{d_{0}A} = \frac{I'2\pi RBr'}{d_{0}\pi R^{2}} = \frac{I'B2r'}{d_{0}R}$$

Where: B – constant in the exponential distribution [m]

The above equation for the optimal flooding probability illustrates that the optimal probability will be linearly dependent on length / damage. Eijgenraam (2005) also found this result for actual (but highly schematised) dike rings in the Netherlands. Other versions of the equation show that the optimal flooding probability will be proportional with length / area size, 1/radius or 1/(area size)^{0.5}.

It is possible to take the economic value of loss of life into account in the optimisation (see e.g. TAW, 1984 and section 2.6). Because both damage and loss of life are dependent on dike ring size, the expression for the optimal flooding probability becomes:

$$P_{f,opt} = \frac{I'LBr'}{(D+Nd_N)} = \frac{I'B2r'}{(d_0 + d_N F_D m_0)R}$$

Where: d_N – economic value of loss of life

Numerical example

An example is given for the circular dike ring using the numerical values shown in table A5. Figure A18 indicates the acceptable flooding probability for an individual dike ring as a function of the area size. The total number of inhabitants in the country is kept constant. Because area size has a linear relationship with fatalities and economic damage, these indicators can also be displayed at the horizontal axis, leading to the same figure.

Variable	Value	unit	variable	value	Unit
m _o	0,0005	pers/m2	ľ	10	€/m
F _D	0,001	-	В	4	-
N _N	1,00E+07	persons	r'	0,04	-
C _N	1	-	β	0,01	-
D ₀	0,1	€/m2	d _N	1,00e6	€



Figure A 18: Acceptable flooding probability for a single dike ring as a function of dike ring size according to different risk criteria

Discussion

Results show that acceptable for three criteria have a different dependence on dike ring size. Acceptable probability from individual risk is independent of dike ring size. The limit line from the economic analysis has a steepness of -0.5. Inclusion of the economic value of loss of life in the economic optimisation leads to a vertical shift of the line. The acceptable probability following from societal risk decreases linearly with the area size.

The analysis showed that the variation of area sizes does not affect the expected values of damage and fatalities at a national scale. However, it will affect the standard deviations of the number of fatalities and damages at a national scale. This difference is reflected in the different steepnesses of the limit lines for following from economic optimisation (which includes the expected value) and societal risk (which is based on the standard deviation). For very small dike rings the individual risk criterion could become relevant. Especially for larger dike rings it is expected that the societal risk criterion will become the most stringent. In practice this effect might be less strong than in the example, as the assumption that the whole area will floods is less appropriate for very large dike rings⁷. It is noted that the outcomes of the above example change substantially when a linear steepness is chosen for the FN limit (instead of a quadratic steepness), see previous part of this appendix. Overall, it is recommended to investigate the combined application of the three risk criteria further for actual dike rings in the Netherlands to further develop risk standards.

⁷ For example this was shown in the FLORIS project (Rijkswaterstaat, 2005) where it was shown that the largest polder in the Netherlands (South Holland) will not completely flood in case of a dike breach. This would lead to a reduction of damage and loss of life and thereby to higher acceptable probabilities following from the analysis of economic and societal risk.

List of symbols

The following list summarises the main symbols that have been used in this thesis. The list includes the main symbols. The following types of symbols have not been included:

- Distribution functions and probability density functions of already defined symbols, e.g. $f_{N}(n)$ or $F_{N}(n)$.
- Expected values and standard deviations of already defined symbols, e.g. E(N)
- Logical combinations and specific variations in notations of already defined symbols, e.g. $\sigma_{\rm R}$ (standard deviation of resistance) N|f (number of fatalities given failure) and IR_{AV} – average individual risk.
- Abbreviations only used in the text and in graphs, e.g. PLL potential loss of life. All individual symbols have been defined in the text of this thesis.

Roman symbols

- parameter of the exponential distribution [m] (section 2) А
- А exposed area due to a certain accident $[m^2]$ (section 3)
- В parameter of the exponential distribution [m] (section 2)
- В width of exposed area in polar coordinate system [rad] (section 3)
- В The average body width exposed normal to the flow [m] (section 6)
- С constant in disutility function [-]
- C_{c} constant in determination of size of breach zone [s/m²]
- C_D Drag coefficient [-]
- constant in the equation for friction instability $[m^3/(kg s^2)]$
- C_F C_I constant that determines the vertical position of the FN limit line for an installation [yr⁻¹ fat^{- α}]
- C_N constant that determines the vertical position of the FN limit line at a national scale [yr⁻¹ fat^{- α}]
- C_{s} constant in the equation for moment instability $[m^2/(s kg^{0.5})]$
- CSX cost of saving an extra statistical life [€/person]
- CSXY cost of saving an extra life year [€/yr]
- C_{tot} totals costs [€]
- D economic damage [€]
- DF debris factor [m²/s]
- F_B fraction of buildings collapsed [-]
- mortality (= number of fatalities / people exposed) [-] F_{D}
- F fraction of the population that is able to evacuate [-]
- F_{I} F_{I}^{*} injured fraction of the surviving exposed population [-]
- injured fraction of the original exposed population [-]
- F_o F_R fraction of fatalities due to other factors [-]
- fraction of fatalities near the breach [-]
- F_s fraction of the population that is able to find shelter [-]
- F_{buoy} buoyancy force [N]
- $\boldsymbol{F}_{\rm flow}$ the horizontal force of the flow on an object in the flow [N]
- F_{person} the person's weight [N]
- FED fractional effective dose [-]
- Ι investment in safety measures $[\in]$ (sections 2 and 9)
- Ι variable in the limit state function that represents the knowledge uncertainty (section 4)
- I production of object (can have various units, see table 9-4)
- production at a national scale (can have various units, see table 9-4) I
- IR individual risk [yr⁻¹]

IR _{AV}	average individual risk [yr-1]
IR _{MAX}	maximum individual risk [yr-1]
IR _T	individual risk for tunnels [yr ⁻¹]
K ₀	constant in limit state function for human instability in flood flows [kg ^{-1/2} m ² s ⁻¹]
L	a person's height [m]
Ν	number of fatalities
N _B	number of collapsed buildings
N _{EXP}	number of people exposed
N	number of injuries (section 2)
N _I	number of installations (section 9)
N _{par}	number of people at risk
N _{res}	number of people rescued
P _B	probability of dike breach nearby a residential area [-]
P _E	probability of exposure [-]
Ps	probability of a storm [-]
Pr	Probit value [-]
PV	present value factor [-]
Q	discharge [m ³ /s]
R	number of respondents [person] (section 2)
R	resistance in limit state function [-] (sections 3 and 4)
R	radius in polar coordinate system (section 3)
R _{1%}	effect distance [m]
R _C	radius of breach zone [m]
R _p	number of travels per year for a specific user through a tunnel
R _{res}	rescue capacity [persons/hr]
R _T	total number of travels per year through a tunnel
RI	Risk integral [fat ² /yr ²]
S	load in limit state function [-]
T _A	time available for evacuation [can have various units, e.g. seconds or hours]
T _{DD}	time required for detection and decision making before evacuation [can have various units,
	e.g. seconds or hours]
T _{EVAC}	time required for actual evacuation [can have various units, e.g. seconds or hours]
T _R	time required for evacuation [can have various units, e.g. seconds or hours]
TR	Total risk [fat/yr]
T _{resp}	time required for response to evacuation warning [can have various units, e.g. seconds or hours]
T _{warn}	time required for warning for evacuation [can have various units, e.g. seconds or hours]
U	disutility [-]
VoSL	Value of a Statistical Life [€/person]
WTP	willingness to pay [€/yr]
Z	limit state function
а	constant in the probit function [-] (section 2 and 7)
a	constant used in probability density function of intensity of initial effects (section 3)
b	constant in the probit function [-](section 2 and 7)
b	constant used in the dose response function (section 3)
С	intensity of physical effects [can have various units, e.g. mg/m ³]
с ₀	initial intensity of physical effects at a risk source [can have various units, e.g. mg/m ³]
C _{cr}	critical threshold level of physical effects [can have various units, e.g. mg/m³]
C _R	lethal resistance intensity of physical effects [can have various units, e.g. mg/m ³]
C	load of physical effects to which people are exposed [can have various units a σ mg/m ³]

- load of physical effects to which people are exposed [can have various units, e.g. mg/m³] Distance from person's pivot point to their centre of mass [m] $\begin{array}{c} c_{S} \\ d_{1} \end{array}$

- d., Distance from person's pivot point to the mass centre of mass of the submerged part of the body [m] Acceleration due to gravity $[m/s^2]$ g h water depth [m] tsunami wave height [m] h_r critical depth velocity product for instability [m²/s] hv k risk aversion coefficient [-] population density [person/m²] (section 3) m a person's mass [kg] (section 6) m m₀ constant for population density [person/m²] constant in the probit function [-] n number of vehicles per year [1/yr] n_ probability of failure [1/yr] p_{f} initial probability of failure [1/yr] $p_{f,0}$ optimal probability of failure following from an economic optimisation [1/yr] $p_{\rm f,opt}$ constant mortality value that occurs if the intensity c_{cr} is exceeded [-] q time [s] t time span until rescue actions reach their maximum capacity [s] t movement speed of an evacuating person [m/s] (section 2) v flow velocity of water [m/s] (sections 5-9) v dispersion velocity of physical effects [m/s] V_{effects} rise rate of floodwater [m/hr] W horizontal coordinate [m] Х horizontal dimension of the crash area of an airplane [m] X_A x' accident location [m] distance from the origin to a safe area [m] X_E second horizontal coordinate [m] у second horizontal dimension of the crash area of an airplane [m] \mathbf{y}_{A} vertical coordinate [m] 7. **Greek symbols** Cumulative normal distribution Φ_N risk aversion coefficient [-] α constant determining decrease of effects as a function of distance [m⁻¹] α^* β policy factor used to characterise the severity of an activity [-] θ angle in polar coordinate system [rad] wind direction [rad] θ_{w} λ_{f} failure intensity [1/m] average (sections 4, 7 and 8) μ coefficient of static friction (section 6) μ average used in the conversion of a probit value to a probability $(\mu_{\rm D}{=}5)$ $\mu_{\rm D}$ average of the normal distribution μ_{N} correlation coefficient [-] (section 4) ρ density of the flowing fluid [kg m⁻³] (section 6) ρ standard deviation σ
- σ_{c} standard deviation of the crash location relative to the flightpath centre line [m]
- $\sigma_{\rm D}$ standard deviation used in the conversion of a probit value to a probability ($\sigma_{\rm D}$ =1)
- σ_{N} standard deviation of the normal distribution

Curriculum Vitae

Bas Jonkman was born on April 6th, 1977 in 's-Gravenhage. After spending his youth in the town of Voorschoten, he received his school diploma from the Stedelijk Gymnasium in Leiden in 1995. In the same year he started his studies in civil engineering at Delft University, from which he graduated in March 2001 on an Msc. thesis that dealt with the quantification of flood risks in the Netherlands.



After his graduation he started to work for the Road and Hydraulic Engineering Institute of Rijkswaterstaat in Delft. Within the flood protection section he contributed to the development and application of methods for the analysis of damage, loss of life and flood risks. Since 2002 he has combined his work at Rijkswaterstaat with a position as a researcher at Delft University. During 2002 and 2003 he also worked for the Centre of Tunnel Safety (Civil Engineering Division, Rijkswaterstaat) where he was involved in the development of methods for the analysis of tunnel safety. During 2004 and 2005 Jonkman was a member of the board of young professionals at the Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Water Management.

After the tragic event of hurricane Katrina in the year 2005 the author was involved in research and advisory activities that followed this disaster. During February and March 2006 Jonkman worked in Southeast Louisiana with the Hurricane Centre of the Louisiana State University to analyse the levee failures and the consequences of the flooding of New Orleans. He participated in several workshops regarding the future planning of hurricane protection for South East Louisiana and he reviewed and contributed to reports of the United States Army Corps of Engineers on this topic. In the year 2006 he was involved in the initiation of the 'Dutch perspective for coastal Louisiana flood risk reduction and land-scape stabilization', a project by the Dutch water sector. Within this project he has worked on the application of the Dutch experiences with risk-based design of flood defences to Southeast Louisiana.

The author has published his research in both academic and popular publications. In December 2006 the results of his study on the catastrophic consequences of a flooding of South Holland received national media attention in both newspapers and on national radio and television.

Nawoord

Alleen door het met eigen ogen te zien kan iemand zich een voorstelling maken van de schade die een overstromingsramp veroorzaakt. De verwoestingen in en rondom New Orleans hebben diepe indruk op mij gemaakt. De nog herkenbare persoonlijke bezittingen die je tegenkomt in het veld, zoals het fotoboek op de omslag, en de gesprekken met getroffen mensen geven een indruk van het menselijk leed. De ervaringen uit New Orleans geven aan dat het belangrijk is om te blijven werken aan onze kennis over overstromingen, en juist ook aan het voorkomen van deze rampen. Ik hoop dan ook dat de kennis uit dit proefschrift zal bijdragen tot het nemen van goede en verstandige beslissingen over de beveiliging tegen overstromingen.

In de eerste plaats wil ik mijn werkgever Rijkswaterstaat bedanken voor de geboden mogelijkheid om mijn promotie onderzoek te kunnen combineren met werkzaamheden als adviseur / specialist binnen het werkveld veiligheid hoogwater.

Ik wil mijn promotoren Han Vrijling en Ton Vrouwenvelder bedanken voor hun stimulerende begeleiding. Han Vrijling kon met één opmerking of schets een hele nieuwe onderzoeksrichting uitzetten die soms resulteerde in een nieuw hoofdstuk in het proefschrift. Ton Vrouwenvelder heeft met zijn nauwkeurige en constructieve commentaar een belangrijke bijdrage geleverd aan de kwaliteit van dit proefschrift. Ik bedank ook Matthijs Kok, voor zijn commentaar en de prettige samenwerking in verschillende projecten, en Ben Ale voor zijn adviezen.

Veel dank gaat uit naar mijn collega's bij de afdeling veiligheid hoogwater van de Dienst Weg- en Waterbouwkunde van Rijkswaterstaat. Als eerste wil ik Plony Cappendijk noemen. Zij heeft een belangrijke bijdrage geleverd aan de analyses en figuren in de laatste hoofdstukken van dit proefschrift. Ook bedank ik Stephanie Holterman, Marcel van der Doef, Alex Roos, Diederik Timmer en de andere collega's van de afdeling veiligheid hoogwater. Ik ben Krystian Pilarczyk zeer erkentelijk voor het feit dat hij me betrokken heeft bij het internationale werk van Rijkswaterstaat.

Bij mijn andere werkgever, de sectie waterbouwkunde van de TU Delft, gaat speciale dank uit naar Ruben Jongejan voor de stimulerende discussies en Pieter van Gelder voor al zijn adviezen en tips gedurende de afgelopen jaren. Ik heb het genoegen gehad om vele getalenteerde afstudeerders te mogen begeleiden. Van hen heeft Bob Maaskant met zijn onderzoek naar slachtoffers bij de ramp in New Orleans een zeer gewaardeerde bijdrage geleverd aan dit proefschrift. Speciale dank gaat uit naar de Henk de Roij voor het ontwerp van de omslag. Maurits de Heer gaf advies over de engelse teksten in dit proefschrift en Tom Dingjan heeft de opmaak verzorgd.

One of the attractive elements of life as a researcher concerns the opportunities for travel and international collaboration. First of all I want to acknowledge the people of the LSU Hurricane Center, especially Marc Levitan, Bruce Sharky and Ivor van Heerden, for their hospitability and openness. In particular I want to thank Ezra Boyd for taking all the time to share his first-hand knowledge of New Orleans with me, both in the office and (probably even more importantly) in the field. I also want to thank Ilan Kelman and Fuminori Kato for the pleasant cooperation. I acknowledge the international members of my examination committee, Edmund Penning-Rowsell and Michael Faber, for their involvement and suggestions.

Veel dank gaat uit naar vrienden en familie, vooral ook naar Lodie en mijn ouders.